ACADEMIC, SOCIAL AND EMOTIONAL MALADJUSTMENT DUE TO THE USE AND ABUSE OF TECHNOLOGIES

EDITED BY: María Carmen Martínez Monteagudo, Beatriz Delgado, David Aparisi and Alexandra Leyrit PUBLISHED IN: Frontiers in Psychology and Frontiers in Education





Frontiers eBook Copyright Statement

The copyright in the text of individual articles in this eBook is the property of their respective authors or their respective institutions or funders. The copyright in graphics and images within each article may be subject to copyright of other parties. In both cases this is subject to a license granted to Frontiers.

The compilation of articles constituting this eBook is the property of Frontiers.

Each article within this eBook, and the eBook itself, are published under the most recent version of the Creative Commons CC-BY licence. The version current at the date of publication of this eBook is CC-BY 4.0. If the CC-BY licence is updated, the licence granted by Frontiers is automatically updated to the new version.

When exercising any right under the CC-BY licence, Frontiers must be attributed as the original publisher of the article or eBook, as applicable.

Authors have the responsibility of ensuring that any graphics or other materials which are the property of others may be included in the CC-BY licence, but this should be checked before relying on the CC-BY licence to reproduce those materials. Any copyright notices relating to those materials must be complied with.

Copyright and source acknowledgement notices may not be removed and must be displayed in any copy, derivative work or partial copy which includes the elements in question.

All copyright, and all rights therein, are protected by national and international copyright laws. The above represents a summary only. For further information please read Frontiers' Conditions for Website Use and Copyright Statement, and the applicable CC-BY licence.

ISSN 1664-8714 ISBN 978-2-83250-133-7 DOI 10.3389/978-2-83250-133-7

About Frontiers

Frontiers is more than just an open-access publisher of scholarly articles: it is a pioneering approach to the world of academia, radically improving the way scholarly research is managed. The grand vision of Frontiers is a world where all people have an equal opportunity to seek, share and generate knowledge. Frontiers provides immediate and permanent online open access to all its publications, but this alone is not enough to realize our grand goals.

Frontiers Journal Series

The Frontiers Journal Series is a multi-tier and interdisciplinary set of open-access, online journals, promising a paradigm shift from the current review, selection and dissemination processes in academic publishing. All Frontiers journals are driven by researchers for researchers; therefore, they constitute a service to the scholarly community. At the same time, the Frontiers Journal Series operates on a revolutionary invention, the tiered publishing system, initially addressing specific communities of scholars, and gradually climbing up to broader public understanding, thus serving the interests of the lay society, too.

Dedication to Quality

Each Frontiers article is a landmark of the highest quality, thanks to genuinely collaborative interactions between authors and review editors, who include some of the world's best academicians. Research must be certified by peers before entering a stream of knowledge that may eventually reach the public - and shape society; therefore, Frontiers only applies the most rigorous and unbiased reviews.

Frontiers revolutionizes research publishing by freely delivering the most outstanding research, evaluated with no bias from both the academic and social point of view. By applying the most advanced information technologies, Frontiers is catapulting scholarly publishing into a new generation.

What are Frontiers Research Topics?

Frontiers Research Topics are very popular trademarks of the Frontiers Journals Series: they are collections of at least ten articles, all centered on a particular subject. With their unique mix of varied contributions from Original Research to Review Articles, Frontiers Research Topics unify the most influential researchers, the latest key findings and historical advances in a hot research area! Find out more on how to host your own Frontiers Research Topic or contribute to one as an author by contacting the Frontiers Editorial Office: frontiersin.org/about/contact

1

ACADEMIC, SOCIAL AND EMOTIONAL MALADJUSTMENT DUE TO THE USE AND ABUSE OF TECHNOLOGIES

Topic Editors:

María Carmen Martínez Monteagudo, University of Alicante, Spain Beatriz Delgado, University of Alicante, Spain David Aparisi, University of Alicante, Spain Alexandra Leyrit, Université Jean Monnet Saint-Étienne, France

Citation: Monteagudo, M. C. M., Delgado, B., Aparisi, D., Leyrit, A., eds. (2022). Academic, Social and Emotional Maladjustment due to the Use and Abuse of Technologies. Lausanne: Frontiers Media SA. doi: 10.3389/978-2-83250-133-7

Table of Contents

- 04 The Influence of E-Learning and Emotional Intelligence on Psychological Intentions: Study of Stranded Pakistani Students Fahad Alam, Qing Yang, Muhammad Yaseen Bhutto and Nadeem Akhtar
- **15** *Risks in Adolescent Adjustment by Internet Exposure: Evidence From PISA* Beatriz Ortega-Ruipérez, Almudena Castellanos Sánchez and Beatriz Marcano
- 28 Internet Addiction and Emotional and Behavioral Maladjustment in Mainland Chinese Adolescents: Cross-Lagged Panel Analyses Xiaoqin Zhu, Daniel T. L. Shek and Carman K. M. Chu
- 38 Exploration of Psychological Mechanism of Smartphone Addiction Among International Students of China by Selecting the Framework of the I-PACE Model

Anam Mehmood, Tianyi Bu, Erying Zhao, Viktoriia Zelenina, Nikishov Alexander, Wantong Wang, Sultan Mehmood Siddiqi, Xiaohui Qiu, Xiuxian Yang, Zhengxue Qiao, Jiawei Zhou and Yanjie Yang

48 Mobile Phone Addiction and Academic Procrastination Negatively Impact Academic Achievement Among Chinese Medical Students

Jing Tian, Ji-yang Zhao, Jia-ming Xu, Qing-lin Li, Tao Sun, Chen-xi Zhao, Rui Gao, Li-yan Zhu, Hai-chen Guo, Li-bin Yang, De-pin Cao and Shu-e Zhang

56 Predictive Effect of Internet Addiction and Academic Values on Satisfaction With Academic Performance Among High School Students in Mainland China

Diya Dou and Daniel T. L. Shek

68 The Influence of Different Learning Strategies on Pupils' Learning Motivation: Is Augmented Reality Multimedia Learning Consistent With Traditional Text Learning?

Xiaojun Zhao, Miaozhuang Liu and Yaqing Liu

75 Influencing Factors of International Students' Anxiety Under Online Learning During the COVID-19 Pandemic: A Cross-Sectional Study of 1,090 Chinese International Students

Yejun Tan, Zhijian Wu, Xiangnan Qu, Yuzhuo Liu, Lele Peng, Yan Ge, Shu Li, Jinfeng Du, Qi Tang, Jia Wang, Xiaofei Peng, Jiafen Liao, Meiyan Song and Jin Kang

- 86 Improving the Behavioral Intention of Continuous Online Learning Among Learners in Higher Education During COVID-19
 Wei Xu, Zhi-Yi Shen, Shi-Jia Lin and Jia-Chen Chen
- 96 Fear and Challenges of Nursing Students Being in Hospital for Clinical Posting During the COVID-19 Pandemic: An Exploratory Survey Nimarta Rana, Nipin Kalal and Suresh K. Sharma
- Effects of Water, Sanitation, and Hygiene on the School Absenteeism of Basic Level Students in the Government School of Nepal Mohan Kumar Sharma and Ramesh Adhikari





The Influence of E-Learning and **Emotional Intelligence on Psychological Intentions: Study of** Stranded Pakistani Students

Fahad Alam¹, Qing Yang^{1*}, Muhammad Yaseen Bhutto² and Nadeem Akhtar³

¹ School of Economics and Management, University of Science and Technology Beijing, Beijing, China, ² Business School, Shandong Jianzhu University, Jinan, China, 3 School of Urban Culture, South China Normal University, Foshan, China

The COVID-19 pandemic has forced the government to close the educational institutions globally, to contain the infection of the disease, which has affected the academic activities of local and international students significantly. This unexpected shift from offline classes to online learning has created psychological disruption among the students. At that backdrop, this study aims to investigate the influence of e-learning and emotional intelligence (EI) on the study stress, burnout, and performance of Pakistani students by applying emotion regulation theory. The data (N = 387) is based on international students, enrolled in 10 different universities in China. The results indicate that both e-learning and EI have significantly affected perceived study stress, burnout, and performance of students. These findings have provided evidence that online classes and El can influence study stress, burnout, and performance of students. The study concludes that El has significant impact on the psychological pressure of a student.

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

David Aparisi. University of Alicante, Spain

Reviewed by:

Fawad Rasool. Bahauddin Zakariya University, Pakistan Khalid Almas Imam Abdulrahman Bin Faisal University, Saudi Arabia

*Correspondence: Qina Yana yangqing@manage.ustb.edu.cn

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Educational Psychology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Psychology

Received: 27 May 2021 Accepted: 26 July 2021 Published: 25 August 2021

Citation:

Alam F, Yang Q, Bhutto MY and Akhtar N (2021) The Influence of E-Learning and Emotional Intelligence on Psychological Intentions: Study of Stranded Pakistani Students. Front. Psychol. 12:715700. doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2021.715700

Keywords: e-learning, emotional intelligence, study stress, burnout, performance

INTRODUCTION

Psychological pressure is the foremost impediment to academic success. Psychological stress can impact the inspiration, concentration, awareness, and social interactions of students, which are considered critical factors for students to attain academic success (Unger, 1998). The COVID-19 pandemic crisis has brought into focus the psychological pressure of various affected populations. Due to the coronavirus, strict precautions and delays in starting colleges and universities worldwide are expected to affect the mental health and well-being of students (Cao et al., 2020; UNESCO Education, 2020). Emotions are considered an important trait of the psychology of a student. Students are bound with different emotionally demanding states, such as homework, assignments, quizzes, examinations, and deadlines, are connected that encompass their psychological intentions (Tyng et al., 2017). Students are expected to show patients and positive intentions toward the study. Positive emotions have enhanced the psychological behaviors of students that lead to better outcomes (Corradino and Fogarty, 2016). A few studies have reported the psychological impact of the COVID-19 epidemic on the general community, medical staff, patients, children, and adults (Chen et al., 2020; Yang et al., 2020). However, no comprehensive study on the psychological wellbeing of Pakistani students, facing the COVID-19 crises, has been conducted to date. Therefore, it is critical to explore what aspects can ease the high psychological pressure rate among students? Although much research has investigated the emotional influences on study devotion, learning and memory, and problem-solving in education sectors for longterm sustainability (Vuilleumier, 2005; Shen et al., 2009; Um et al., 2012), few are acknowledged the impact of e-learning (online classes), and emotional intelligence (EI) on psychological intentions of students, such as study stress, burnout, and performance (Berenson et al., 2008; Han and Johnson, 2012). The present study tends to expand on what is previously explored and identified the effect of e-learning and EI on the psychological pressure of students, such as study stress, burnout, and performance.

The feelings and emotions of students are directly linked with their study and career achievements, though career achievements demand a standard performance. Scholars realized that motivations of students direct their behavior toward educational achievements and academic success (Van Tilburg and Igou, 2013; Wigfield and Gladstone, 2019), but psychological pressure in terms of stress, tension, fear, and various psychosomatic problems are connected with a variety of destructive outcomes (Naquin and Gilbert, 1996). The psychological pressure is experienced when physical and emotional requirements of academic activities do not meet the competencies, needs, and resources of the students (Curran and Standage, 2017); hence, due to the COVID-19 outbreak, students educational activities have been dramatically affected in various aspects, such as online classes, postponing of physical events, and students mobility (Altbach and de Wit, 2020; Tesar, 2020), which caused strict travel restrictions and thousands of students psychological pressure influence their behavior negatively in term of canceling their plans for studying overseas. For instance, according to the Institute of International Education, nearly 90% of the US institutions have estimated a decrease in foreign student enrolment (Martel, 2020); British Council in 2020 indicated that 39% of Chinese scholars, which is a major source of overseas students in the United Kingdom, are hesitant about withdrawing their study plans (Durnin, 2020). Similarly, 59.95% of international students in China come from Asia, including more than 28,023 students from Pakistan (Ministry of Education in China, 2019). As a result, significant adverse psychological pressure has been reported among the study stress, burnout, and performance of students (Wang et al., 2020). No such research has been conducted in Pakistan yet. Therefore, this study aims to expand the existing literature by assessing the effect of e-learning (online classes) and EI on the psychological pressure (study stress, burnout, and performance) of students among overseas Pakistani students stranded in Pakistan.

The influence of online classes on work stress, burnout, and performance can be moderated by EI, but little existing research has observed direct and indirect impacts among these variables. The present study aimed to investigate the influence of e-learning (online classes) on work stress, burnout, and performance, and the potential moderation of EI of these effects. This research is based on emotion regulation theory (Gross, 1998), indicating that individuals assess the understanding, valence, and value relevance to control their feelings and emotions according to the existing situation. A person who possesses high emotional competencies is better tends to execute his or her skill (Kirk et al., 2008). A very valuable mechanism by which negative outcomes of sentiments can be coped is EI. Goleman (2001) recommended that individuals who possess strong social awareness are better at minimizing the destructive consequences of sentiments, and their overall performance also increased substantially. Garg et al. (2016) found that EI was directly related to adjustment to existing situations, and adjustment was directly connected to overall performance.

During uncertain situations, the EI supports individuals to identify their expectations and how to act appropriately. Students have to face such unanticipated situations quite often. They need to show positive feelings and emotions, such as patient, attention, hope, and prestige and encounter the requirement of their academic syllabus. These challenging situations enhance psychological pressure and might affect work performance, study stress, and burnout. However, EI can help to increase the work performance of students and simultaneously eliminate the effect of burnout and study stress.

CONCEPTUAL FRAMEWORK AND HYPOTHESES DEVELOPMENT

Emotional Intelligence

The concept of EI was originated in the 1920s, but it came to attention when it was categorized properly by Salovey and Mayer (1990). They stated, "the capability to observe one's own and other's mental state and sentiments, distinguish among them, and practice this information to guide individuals' thinking and actions" (Krishnan et al., 2018). EI intends psychological comfort and accomplishment in life (Carmeli et al., 2009), such as academic success (Petrides et al., 2004), work performance (Koman and Wolff, 2008), and work-related stress (Mikolajczak et al., 2007). By examining the link between EI and psychological pressure, Stevens et al. (2019) found that emotionally intelligent individuals are more confident, happy, and sociable; consequently, their EI traits inversely affect academic stress among students.

By examining the link between EI with psychological pressure coping with styles, Erözkan (2013) found that a high level of EI significantly coping with psychological pressure stress among students. Similarly, Fteiha and Awwad (2020) highlighted the positive relationship between EI and stress coping with methods in University students. Their research indicated that individuals with higher EI possess a greater capacity to withstand psychological pressure. Despite much research on the impact of EI on different work outcomes, the influence of EI on student performance, burnout, and study stress has been marginally considered in Pakistan.

Emotional Intelligence, Work Stress, Burnout, and Performance

Emotional intelligence is the internal capability of a human to understand manage the self-sensitive actions and reactions of an individual. Bar-On et al. (2006) refer to EI as a group of noncognitive abilities and skills, which diminish the environmental demands and pressures. A number of scholars found that EI skills effectively handle pressure situations more successfully. The academic requirements are extremely demanding and stressful; therefore, it is practical to suggest that EI coping with the psychological pressure of students and enhance their performance (Austin et al., 2005; Por et al., 2011). Besides other environmental and emotional demands, students have to handle academic demands, such as exams, assignments, presentations, maintain grades, and motivation for an academic career. In addition, the study of Enns et al. (2018) revealed that high EI is connected with good pressure management. He suggested that an emotionally intelligent individual can handle psychological pressure situations with a more efficient way to encounter challenges at school. Mohzan et al. (2013) found that the characteristics of high EI are related to positive educational development. They claimed that EI is dynamic to the health and academic success of a student.

The academic career of a student is associated with high work stress and burnout (Yucha et al., 2009; Jenaabadi et al., 2017). In an emerging country like Pakistan, due to the lack of resources, poor working environment, energy crises, and poor management, stress levels and burnout of a student further aggravate (Ali, 2012). Consequently, the physical and emotional problems of a student negatively affect their learning capabilities and academic performance. Friedman (2014) argued that excessive psychological pressure might arise physical problems for a student and possibly diminish his/her intellectual abilities. Karimi et al. (2014) study point out that the overall response to fight against stress and burnout is deeply reliant on feelings and emotions. Students having a high level of EI can attenuate burnout and work stress (Cazan and Năstasă, 2015) increase satisfaction level (Runcan and Iovu, 2013) and professional development (Năstasă, 2010). EI increases the psychological pressure resilience, well-being, and academic performance of students (MacCann et al., 2020).

Although it has been more than 15 months since Chinese universities were closed due to the coronavirus pandemic, student physical absenteeism increased due to stranded in their home countries, which caused psychological pressure, poorer academic achievement, huge gaps in practical skills, and development (Coe et al., 2020). Accordingly, Bonal and González (2020) indicated that not going to universities decreases learning opportunities and accelerate stress level for all, but specifically students from low developed nations. Suhaimi et al. (2014) study revealed that EI plays a big role in controlling crises in an emergency. Fiorilli et al. (2020) have posited that EI strongly prevents stress and burnout of students, enhancing academic performance. Bar-On et al. (2006) found that higher than average intellectual skills are more successful in coping with environmental and psychological pressure situations. EI indicated a direct effect to reduce the burnout level among the students during stressful environments; consequently, a high level of EI was significantly correlated with the performance of students (Yusoff et al., 2021). It is reasonably acceptable that several studies explored the relationship between EI on the work outcomes of nurses (Ioannidou and Konstantikaki, 2008; Alonazi, 2020; Mo et al., 2020). However, this study investigates the influence of EI on the performance, study stress, and burnout of students while stranded in Pakistan due to the COVID-19 crises. Therefore authors hypothesized:

H1: There is a significant positive relationship between emotional intelligence and work performance among students.
H2: There is a significant adverse relationship between emotional intelligence and study stress among students.

H3: There is a significant negative connotation between emotional intelligence and burnout among students.

Online Classes, Study Stress, Burnout, and Performance

The educational institution is advanced in the last few years, which is proved by the immense use during this COVID-19 (Chatterjee and Chakraborty, 2021). A lot of online platforms are available for classes (Nash, 2020). It was a challenge for an educational institution to organize its educational curriculum online. Mishra et al. (2020) stated that before the pandemic, online classes existed in advanced countries. However, no institution was prepared for a complete switch to online classes. Empirical research has proved that students feel that their learning skills improved through online classes as compared to physical education (Bojović et al., 2020), but the response is different from the perspective of Pakistani students. According to Williams et al. (2011), online learning systems are inadequate due to experiencing many challenges. Proper network adaptability is not possible, especially in rural areas where Internet facilities are barely found, and the learning experience is entirely different from physical classes (Williams et al., 2011). Adnan and Anwar (2020) observed the psychological burden of Pakistani students toward online courses during COVID-19. Their findings highlighted that online education can negatively affect desired performance in underdeveloped countries like Pakistan. Their psychological pressure influences the inability to access the Internet, technical issues, financial issues, and other educational resources, such as experimental labs (Adnan and Anwar, 2020).

The coronavirus pandemic is accompanied by strict measurement that has led students to confine in their homes; an alarming social life and education in quarantine have put students under psychological pressure. The lack of group learning activities, lab work activities, and experimental work is experienced by both instructors and students due to the online classes. All this has led to psychological stress and burnout by both students and teachers. Less physical involvement and spending most of the time at home create an immense negative impact on the performance of students (Chandra, 2020). Rohman et al. (2020) argued that online classes enhanced academic pressure, which directly impacts health, decisionmaking power, psychosomatic complaints, sleeping difficulties, worrying about the future, anxiety, depression, workload, etc. of students. According to Sahu (2020), the COVID-19 pandemics have brought many psychological shocks and a negative influence on the psychological well-being of students, which directly led to acute work stress and anxiety (Aktekin et al., 2001). Cao et al. (2020) examined the psychological influence on University students in China during the coronavirus pandemic. They found out a negative impact on the performance and a high level of psychological burdens for the students. The previous studies heightened that uncertainty negatively impacts the academic development of students and influences the psychological pressure of students (Bayram and Bilgel, 2008; Wang et al., 2020).

Jæger and Blaabæk (2020) argued that online classes discouraged the learning competencies of students due to discrimination compared with better family facilities. As universities adopted online classes (Yen, 2020), the query arises "how this approach benefits students with lower-income families and remote areas?" Where several students belong from lowerincome families (Fry and Cilluffo, 2019). Due to a lack of facilities and experimental lab work, students from rural and lower-income families have limited or no access to online classes. Similarly, the financial cost is another obstacle to take online classes (Adam et al., 2020). Sundarasen et al. (2020) study highlighted the significant contributor to stress and burnout was the sudden shift to online classes. They documented the financial constraints, online classes barriers, academic performance, and uncertainty about the future due to the lockdowns negatively affected the psychological intentions of students. According to Choi (2020), millions of students are worried about academic loss due to the unproductive way of learning. Hence, online classes indicated a strong impact on the psychological pressure and performance of a student (Jiang et al., 2021). Therefore, we constructed the following hypothesis:

H4: There is a significant negative relationship between online classes and work performance of student.

H5: There is a positive relationship between online classes and study stress.

H6: There is a positive association between online classes and student burnout.

THEORETICAL FRAMEWORK

Emotional intelligence is considered a pillar for educational, psychological, and management studies. The theory is rooted to understand oneself emotions and emotional reactions and identifying the experiences of different feelings and sentiments (Bliss, 2006). It also refers to tackling emotional disappointments, adapting behaviors, and the ability to avoid emotional stress, burnout, and learning to evade the negativity of feelings and emotions (Chandra and Mathur, 2016, p. 231). Richards and Pryce (2006) propose that individuals with a high level of EI are more proficient in reducing stress levels, burning out, and improving their performance. Higher level of EI more appropriately coping with the stress and burnout sources, which enhance work performance (Alonazi, 2020). According to Sadovyy et al. (2021), individuals with a high level of EI precisely use their emotional skills and abilities to diminish stress and burnout related to the pandemic. Accordingly, the work performance of emotionally intelligent individuals is superior to those with a low level of EI during the current pandemic (Alonazi, 2020; Rezvani et al., 2020). Educational activities are now switched into the new environment to maintain the development of students (Paloş et al., 2010). During the last decade, emotion has been considered a significant aspect of the learning process; past studies show that EI can stimulate the academic performance of students (Cleveland-Innes and Campbell, 2012). There is evidence that the emotional competencies of a student are associated with online learning. Students with emotional skills are expected to react more effectively than students with a low EI level. The emotional competencies reduce student psychological pressure, and consequently, the learning performance of students can be improved (McKnight, 2013). Similarly, Enns et al. (2018) found that a high EI is linked with better stress management. According to Enns et al. (2018), an emotionally intelligent individual can cope with stressful situations and encounter educational challenges effectively.

Previous studies on emotion regulation indicated that EI is directly associated with psychological management across multiple professions, including student learning (Pugh, 2008; Ergur, 2009) and academic performance (Williford, 2010). EI capabilities facilitate students to adapt the uncertain situation accurately and encouraging them to identify innovative solutions, which might influence their intellectual skills that lead to standard academic performance. According to Berenson et al. (2008), EI strongly moderates academic performance in distance and online classes. Another study by Grandey (2000) found that high levels of EI diminish work stress, burnout, and increase performance levels. Similarly, Wu et al. (2007) study results concluded that EI shows an effective role in reducing psychological pressure, interpersonal and environmental conflicts, and increasing positive work behavior and outcomes.

An increase in EI is connected to a decrease in stress. In the same vein, Márquez et al. (2006) collected a sample of students in Spain and found that higher EI is significantly associated with academic achievement. As stated above, psychologists claim that individuals who have EI skills are more successful than those who do not have EI. Despite its contributions toward success in other areas, there have a few studies conducted of EI as a predictor for success in online classes. The online classes continue due to COVID-19, which plays a greater role in the academic curriculum of students. Likewise, higher EI is connected with better psychological functioning (Zeidner and Matthews, 2018; Zysberg and Raz, 2019). Therefore, the authors investigate the possible moderating role of EI between online classes, study stress, burnout, and performance, as shown in **Figure 1**.

H7: Emotional intelligence moderates the impact of online classes on student's performance.

H8: Emotional intelligence moderates the impact of online classes on student's study stress.

H9: Emotional intelligence moderates the effect of emotional dissonance on student burnout.

RESEARCH METHODS

Data Collection Process

The study has used a quantitative approach to collect the data from stranded Pakistani students, due to COVID-19



and restriction of cross-border movements, studying at various universities in China. The survey was divided into two sections: (a) the construct measurement items and their corresponding measurement scales, and (b) demographic variables, as shown in Table 1. The convenience sampling technique was employed because it is appropriate when it is difficult to obtain a complete sampling frame. This type of sampling is suitable because it permits a theoretical generalization of the findings. To ensure valid data collection, the authors hired trained research assistants, who used different social platforms to collect the data, such as Google surveys and social media platforms like Facebook, WeChat, and WhatsApp. Before filling the questionnaire, participants were asked to give their voluntary consent to participate in this study. Out of 429 filled questionnaires, the authors found 387 questionnaires valid and useful for the present study.

Measurements

Emotional Intelligence

To measure EI, the Schutte Emotional Intelligence Scale was used, developed by Schutte et al. (1998). This test contained 32 self-report items. Students were asked to rate their agreement with all 32 statements using a 5-point Likert scale ranging from "1 = strongly disagree, 5 = strongly agree." A sample item include "When I am in a positive mood, I motivate myself and solving problems is easy for me." The Cronbach's alpha of the EI scale was 0.88.

Stress

The items for psychological stress were precisely developed to measure students' stress manifestations during the coronavirus

 TABLE 1 | Demographic characteristics of respondents.

Variables		Frequency (N = 387)	Percentage (%)
Gender	Male	296	76.5
	Female	91	23.5
Age of Respondents	18–25	148	38.2
	26–30	164	42.4
	30–35	62	16
	36–40	13	3.4
Education (currently pursuing)	Undergrad	luate 102	26.4
	Master	189	48.8
	PhD	96	24.8
Geographical representation	Eastern	189	48.83
	Western	67	17.31
	Northern	83	21.5
	Northern	48	12.4
Marital status	Single	169	43.7
	Married	212	54.8
	Others	6	1.5

pandemic. It includes seven items on a 5-point Likert scale rage, 0 "Not at all stressful" to 4 "Extremely stressful." The designed instrument was constructed based on emotional and psychological models of stress (Lazarus and Folkman, 1984). Each question was developed to cover the specific stress domains that were subjected to the COVID-19 pandemic (i.e., study burden, social isolation, relationship with colleagues and professors, classroom studying, and on-campus physical activities). A sample item contains "I feel frustration due to too much work and lack of resources." The Cronbach's alpha of this scale was 0.83.

Burnout

To measure burnout of students (Schaufeli et al., 2002), 15-item scales were used, which include three dimensions: exhaustion (five items), depersonalization (four items), and personal accomplishment (six items). A sample items include "Do you feel exhausted because of your online classes" and "how often do you feel emotionally drained during the classes." The overall Cronbach's alpha of the burnout scale was 0.87.

Performance

To assess the academic performance of students, 12-item scales measuring well-being, emotionality, self-control, and social skills of a student were adopted from the study of Cooper and Petrides (2010). The questions were constructed based on the EI correlations with the academic scores (e.g., I truly regulate my emotions, which can facilitate me to perform efficiently). The Likert scale ranging from "high-performance score" (0) to "poor performance" (4). The Cronbach's alpha of this scale was 0.89.

E-Learning

To consider this measurement (Chakraborty et al., 2020), 11item scale of e-learning was used to capture the academic performance, study stress, and burnout of a student (e.g., Learning in Physical classrooms are better than an online class). Moreover, students were enquired to specify how frequently they feel satisfaction or dissatisfaction. A Likert scale ranged from "frequently satisfaction" (0) to "frequently dissatisfaction" (4). The overall Cronbach's alpha was 0.86.

DATA ANALYSIS

Before analyzing the study hypotheses, we tested confirmatory factor analyses (CFAs) to compute the discriminant validities of reports of e-learning, EI, study stress, burnout, and academic performance of students. To analyze the model fit of CFA, we must consider the standard criteria of the various model fit indices. It has been recommended that root means square error of approximation (RMSEA) values <0.05 are better, however, values between 0.05 and 0.08 are indicated a satisfactory level of model fit (Mulaik et al., 1989). The CFI value that is close to 0.90, the Normed fit index (NFI) value and the incremental fit index (IFI) value that exceeds 0.90 recommended a satisfactory model fit (Bentler, 1990; Byrne, 1994). The root means square residual (RMR) value range 0-1 is acceptable, but a value <0.05 is considered well fit (Byrne, 1994). We run λ^2 differences among a single-factor and five-factor model to check which model appropriately fit to the data sample. The estimated five-factor model provided $[\chi^2 (113) = 268.4, p < 0.001, NFI = 0.914, CFI = 0.943,$ IFI = 0.952, RMR = 0.01, and RMSEA = 0.04] better results as compared with four-factor model shaped by linking study stress and burnout (χ^2 (116) = 585.6, p < 0.05, NFI = 0.825, CFI = 0.847, IFI = 0.838, RMR = 0.04, and RMSEA = 0.08) and more better compared to a singlefactor model (CFI = 0.517, NFI = 0.567, IFI = 0.518, and RMSEA = 0.12).

RESULTS

To measure the discriminant validity refers to the amount to which the measures do not reflect some other variables, which are specified by low correlations concerning the measure of interest and the measure of other constructs. The correlation along with the mean and SD of the targeted variables is given in **Table 2**. The correlation results show a significant positive relationship between EI and academic performance (0.48, p < 0.01) and a significant negative relationship between EI and study stress (0.39, p < 0.05). Similarly, the correlation between EI and burnout (-0.35, p < 0.01). The relation between e-learning and academic performance (-0.36, p < 0.01), e-learning and study stress (-0.43, p < 0.01), and e-learning and burnout (-0.41, p < 0.001) shows a significant negative correlation, respectively.

Structural Model

The structure model measurement was run to examine the relationship between the targeted variables. The standardized regression analysis of the parameter paths is shown in **Table 3**. The analysis outcomes show a positive and significant influence of EI on academic performance ($\beta = 0.37$, p < 0.001). The EI shows a negative and significant impact on study stress ($\beta = 0.18$, p < 0.001) and burnout ($\beta = 0.25$, p < 0.01); therefore, our results supported Hypotheses 1, 2, and 3. Additionally, the effect of e-learning on academic performance ($\beta = 0.21$, p < 0.01) shows a positive significant relationships, supporting Hypothesis 4, the effects of e-learning on study stress ($\beta = 0.45$, p < 0.001) and burnout ($\beta = 0.35$, p < 0.05) shows a significantly negative relationship, consequently, our findings supporting Hypotheses 5 and 6, respectively.

Moderation Analysis

Finally, the present study hypothesized the interaction (moderation) impact of EI with e-learning on academic performance, burnout, and study stress. The moderation analysis results show a significant impact of EI with e-learning on academic performance ($\beta = 0.21$; p < 0.05) as shown in **Table 3**; hence, hypothesis 7 is accepted.

Table 3 also provides a significant moderation impact of EI with e-learning on study stress ($\beta = -0.15$; p < 0.01) and burnout ($\beta = -0.17$; p < 0.01); therefore, our results supported Hypotheses 8 and 9, respectively. This signifies that EI with e-learning possesses a moderating impact on academic performance, study stress, and burnout.

In order to map the interaction, an average centered interaction term was shaped with the product of e-learning and EI and used for the interaction. When two standard variables are considered simultaneously, their interaction is a significant important predictor as provided in **Table 3**. Precisely, the interaction term anticipated academic performance ($\beta = 0.21$, Δ in $R^2 = 0.06$, p < 0.05), study stress ($\beta = -0.15$, Δ in $R^2 = 0.04$, p < 0.01), and burnout ($\beta = -0.17$, Δ in $R^2 = 0.05$, p < 0.01) showing comprehensive support for the moderation impact in the hypothesized model. Specifically, EI moderated the relationship between e-learning and academic performance such that those who possess a high level of EI

TABLE 2 | Correlations analysis.

Variables	Mean	(SD)	α	1	2	3	4	5
1. Academic performance	4.09	0.32	0.89	1				
2. Study stress	3.04	0.48	0.83	-0.17	1			
3. Burnout	3.02	0.35	0.87	-0.22*	0.27*	1		
4. El	4.15	0.89	0.88	0.48**	-0.39*	-0.35**	1	
5. E-Learning	3.97	0.48	0.86	-0.36**	0.43**	0.41***	-0.23**	1

El, emotional intelligence. *p < 0.05; **p < 0.01; ***p < 0.001.

TABLE 3 | Statistical analysis results.

Hypothesis	Beta	p-value	Decision
$EI \rightarrow Academic performance$	0.37***	0.00	Accepted
$EI \rightarrow Study stress$	-0.18***	0.00	Accepted
$EI \rightarrow Burnout$	-0.25**	0.01	Accepted
E-Learning \rightarrow Academic performance	-0.21**	0.01	Accepted
E-Learning \rightarrow Study stress	0.41***	0.01	Accepted
E-Learning \rightarrow Burnout	0.35*	0.05	Accepted
E-Learning * El \rightarrow Academic performance	0.21*	0.05	Accepted
E-Learning * El \rightarrow Study stress	-0.15**	0.01	Accepted
E-Learning * El \rightarrow Burnout	-0.17**	0.01	Accepted

El, emotional intelligence. *p < 0.05; **p < 0.01; ***p < 0.001.

demonstrated a weaker negative connection between e-learning and academic performance. Contrarily, those individuals having low EI displayed a stronger negative relationship between elearning and academic performance.

Our results found that EI shows a moderating impact between e-learning and study stress, indicating that students having less EI had a strong connection between e-learning and study stress, whereas students who possess high EI demonstrated a weak relationship between e-learning and study stress. Moreover, similar outcomes were found with burnout; e-learning and burnout show a stronger relationship with those students who have a low level of EI.

DISCUSSION

Currently, students observed that their academic performance had been interrupted due to the COVID-19 pandemic. This has forced thousands of students to stay away from their universities. The academic performance and psychological intentions of students are disturbed due to the lack of their college campuses, friends, professors, visiting the library, experimental activities in laboratories, group discussions, projects, etc.

Our finding confirms that Pakistani students show high psychological pressure toward online classes. They experience high levels of study stress and burnout and a low level of academic performance. In addition, students with high EI demonstrated a low level of study stress and burnout and better academic performance. The present study confirmed the influence of elearning on academic performance, study stress, and burnout moderated by EI. Specifically, we discovered that students were suffering high psychological pressure from online classes facing low levels of study stress and burnout and high academic performance when they possess a high level of EI. Therefore, the present study supported all our hypotheses.

Furthermore, the results have identified two critical factors helping to understand the psychological intentions of Pakistani students during this COVID-19 pandemic: (a) the findings of this research add to the literature by signifying that e-learning and EI are critically important for the academic outcomes of a student. Students may become frustrated, show intent to give up or withdraw from taking online classes, and engage in negative behaviors toward their studies due to the psychological pressure of online classes; (b) the findings of this research advocate that EI can moderate e-learning, consequently, cause less study stress, burnout, and the consequence of enhancing academic performance. EI is a skill that can be developed through training and gradually increasing over the years. Yilmaz (2009) conducted a study. He argues that providing EI training programs to University students can help handle their psychological pressure and enhance the level of EI of students.

The results of the present study claim that those students who are better to handle and manage positive and negative sentiments are more capable of reacting accurately according to the existing requirements and effectively regulating emotions to increase their well-being due to experience psychological stress and burnout. The outcomes obtained in this study can confirm that it is important to include an emotional training program in the educational institutions and online classes to improve the learning process. Furthermore, the study of EI allows the student to take more potential possibilities to adjust to different uncertain situations and crises to obtain academic success (Herrera et al., 2020). Our results are parallel to the Lam and Kirby (2002) study; they argued that EI could assist students to resolve academic and daily problems more efficiently and managing psychological pressure effectively (Herrera et al., 2020; Moreno-Fernandez et al., 2020). Less EI individuals have been experiencing high psychological stress during the learning process (Adeyemo and Ogunyemi, 2005).

Cazan and Năstasă (2015) suggest that one of the students' major aspects is showing enthusiasm and building a strong connection with the academic curriculum. For successful academic achievements, students have to proficiently display skills to cope with stressful situations, keep a positive work attitude, and interact with professors. In addition, it should be understood that physical and emotional demands emphasize building interpersonal capabilities, but they also include productive relationships with friends, families, teachers, and other professionals in extremely hard and uncertain situations. Pedrosa et al. (2020) observed the connection between emotional challenges with the perspectives of students; they found that the psychological stress and burnout of students become more obvious. Consequently, regulation, controlling, and managing feelings and emotions are deemed compulsory for successful academic performance (Suleman et al., 2019; Halimi et al., 2020; MacCann et al., 2020).

CONCLUSION AND LIMITATIONS OF THE STUDY

To conclude, the present study examines the relationships among e-learning, EI, study stress, burnout, and academic performance of students, during the global pandemic. Our findings significantly support the previous literature that EI effectively copes with a negative effect and stress arising from the COVID-19 pandemic (Chandra, 2020). Similarly, the results of Estrada et al. (2021) also parallel with our findings that EI enhances academic performance and reduces psychological stress among students. Based on the empirical results, the authors suggest that EI development and training programs might be included in the academic curriculum for students, which may help to control the serious effects (study stress and burnout) link to high levels of psychological pressure experienced by students during online classes. EI training and development programs can enhance the ability of a student to control and mitigate stressful situations (Drigas and Papoutsi, 2020), and also support the students to improve their social adjustment and academic performance (Wang, 2019). As a result, this might increase the ability of students to face and manage uncertain situations effectively and, ultimately, will enhance their academic performance.

This study had some limitations. First, rely on self-report assessment in this research could raise concerns of response biases. Second, to advance the generalizability of the current conclusions, a future study can imitate this model on other

REFERENCES

- Adam, T., Kaye, T., and Haßler, B. (2020). *The Maldives and Sri Lanka: Question and Answer Session* (EdTech Hub Helpdesk Response No. 18). EdTech Hub.
- Adeyemo, D. A., and Ogunyemi, B. (2005). Emotional intelligence and selfefficacy as predictors of occupational stress among academic staff in a Nigerian University. *J. Organiz. Learn. Leadersh.* 7, 1–14.
- Adnan, M., and Anwar, K. (2020). Online learning amid the COVID-19 pandemic: students' perspectives. Online Sub. 2, 45–51. doi: 10.33902/JPSP.2020261309
- Aktekin, M., Karaman, T., Senol, Y. Y., Erdem, S., Erengin, H., and Akaydin, M. (2001). Anxiety, depression and stressful life events among medical students: a prospective study in Antalya, Turkey. *Med. Educ.* 35, 12–17. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2923.2001.00726.x
- Ali, T. (2012). A case study of the common difficulties experienced by high school students in chemistry classroom in Gilgit-Baltistan (Pakistan). SAGE Open 2, 1–13. doi: 10.1177/2158244012447299

professionals, such as University teachers, organization leaders, and employees of multinational companies. Moreover, this research investigated the moderating role of EI between elearning and the psychological intentions of overseas students. Therefore, it would be fascinating to observe the impact of other variables (e.g., IQ and cultural intelligence). A noticeable limitation of the present study includes the sample size. We gathered and analyzed data from only 10 Chinese University students stranded in Pakistan, and the sample size was 387 students, which is not big data. Further study may consider a large sample of data, collecting from several different countries.

DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

The raw data supporting the conclusions of this article will be made available by the authors, without undue reservation.

ETHICS STATEMENT

Ethical review and approval was not required for the study on human participants in accordance with the local legislation and institutional requirements. Written informed consent for participation was not required for this study in accordance with the national legislation and the institutional requirements.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

All the authors contributed to the conceptualization, formal analysis, investigation, methodology, writing of the original draft, and writing review and editing. All the other authors contributed to the formal analysis, investigation, methodology, and writing review and editing. All authors have read and agreed to the published version of the manuscript.

FUNDING

This study was supported by the National Natural Science Foundation of China (Grant Nos. 71872011 and 71929101).

- Alonazi, W. B. (2020). The impact of emotional intelligence on job performance during COVID-19 crisis: a cross-sectional analysis. *Psychol. Res. Behav. Manag.* 13, 749–757. doi: 10.2147/PRBM.S263656
- Altbach, P. G., and de Wit, H. (2020). Pos pandemic outlook for HE is bleakest for the poorest. University World News. Available online at: fromhttps://www. universityworldnews.com/post.php?story=20200402152914362 (accessed April 4, 2020).
- Austin, E. J., Evans, P., Goldwater, R., and Potter, V. (2005). A preliminary study of emotional intelligence, empathy and exam performance in first year medical students. *Pers. Individ. Dif.* 39, 1395–1405. doi: 10.1016/j.paid.2005.04.014
- Bar-On, R., Handley, R., and Fund, S. (2006). "The impact of emotional intelligence on performance," in Linking Emotional Intelligence and Performance at Work: Current Research Evidence With Individuals and Group, eds V. U. Druskat, F. Sala, G. Mount (Mahwah, NJ: Lawrence Erlbaum), 3–19.
- Bayram, N., and Bilgel, N. (2008). The prevalence and socio-demographic correlations of depression, anxiety and stress among a group of

University students. Soc. Psychiatry Psychiatr. Epidemiol. 43, 667–672. doi: 10.1007/s00127-008-0345-x

- Bentler, P. M. (1990). Comparative fit indexes in structural models. *Psychol. Bull.* 107:238. doi: 10.1037/0033-2909.107.2.238
- Berenson, R., Boyles, G., and Weaver, A. (2008). Emotional intelligence as a predictor of success in online learning. *Int. Rev. Res. Open Distribut. Learn.* 9, 1–16. doi: 10.19173/irrodl.v9i2.385
- Bliss, S. E. (2006). The Affect of Emotional Intelligence on a Modern Organizational Leader's Ability to Make Effective Decisions. Available online at: http://eqi.org/ mgtpaper.~htm (accessed March 03, 2021).
- Bojović, Ž.,Bojović, P. D., Vujošević, D., and Šuh, J. (2020). Education in times of crisis: rapid transition to distance learning. *Comput. Appl. Eng. Educ.* 28, 1467–1489. doi: 10.1002/cae.22318
- Bonal, X., and González, S. (2020). The impact of lockdown on the learning gap: family and school divisions in times of crisis. *Int. Rev. Educ.* 66, 635–655. doi: 10.1007/s11159-020-09860-z
- Byrne, B. M. (1994). Structural Equation Modeling With EQS and EQS/Windows: Basic concepts, *Applications, and Programming*. Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage.
- Cao, W., Fang, Z., Hou, G., Han, M., Xu, X., Dong, J., et al. (2020). The psychological impact of the COVID-19 epidemic on college students in China. *Psychiatry Res.* 287, 1–5. doi: 10.1016/j.psychres.2020.112934
- Carmeli, A., Yitzhak-Halevy, M., and Weisberg, J. (2009). The relationship between emotional intelligence and psychological wellbeing. J. Manag. Psychol. 24, 66–78. doi: 10.1108/02683940910922546
- Cazan, A. M., and Năstasă, L. E. (2015). Emotional intelligence, satisfaction with life and burnout among University students. *Procedia* 180, 1574–1578. doi: 10.1016/j.sbspro.2015.02.309
- Chakraborty, P., Mittal, P., Gupta, M. S., Yadav, S., and Arora, A. (2020). Opinion of students on online education during the COVID-19 pandemic. *Hum. Behav. Emerg. Technol.* 3, 357–365. doi: 10.1002/hbe2.240
- Chandra, Y. (2020). Online education during COVID-19: perception of academic stress and emotional intelligence coping strategies among college students. *Asian Educ. Dev. Stud.* 10, 229–238. doi: 10.1108/AEDS-05-2020-0097
- Chandra, Y., and Mathur, K. (2016). Perception of entrepreneurial orientation, aspiration and its impact on emotional wellbeing: challenges for the future entrepreneurs. Research Trends in Economics, Finance and Human Resource Management, Nirma University, 227–237.
- Chatterjee, I., and Chakraborty, P. (2021). Use of information communication technology by medical educators amid covid-19 pandemic and beyond. *J. Educ. Technol. Syst.* 49, 310–324. doi: 10.1177/0047239520966996
- Chen, Q., Liang, M., Li, Y., Guo, J., Fei, D., Wang, L., et al. (2020). Mental health care for medical staff in China during the COVID-19 outbreak. *Lancet Psychiatry* 7, 15–16. doi: 10.1016/S2215-0366(20)30078-X
- Choi, B. (2020). I'm Afraid of not succeeding in learning: Introducing an instrument to measure higher education students' fear of failure in learning. *Stud. High. Educ.* doi: 10.1080/03075079.2020.1712691. [Epub ahead of print].
- Cleveland-Innes, M., and Campbell, P. (2012). Emotional presence, learning, and the online learning environment. *Int. Rev. Res. Open Distrib. Learn.* 13, 269–292. doi: 10.19173/irrodl.v13i4.1234
- Coe, R., Weidmann, B., Coleman, R., and Kay, J. (2020). *Impact of school closures* on the attainment gap: rapid evidence assessment. Education Endowment Foundation, London, 1–26. doi: 10.21820/23987073.2020.8.26
- Cooper, A., and Petrides, K. V. (2010). A psychometric analysis of the Trait Emotional Intelligence Questionnaire–Short Form (TEIQue– SF) using item response theory. J. Pers. Assess. 92, 449–457. doi: 10.1080/00223891.2010.497426
- Corradino, C., and Fogarty, K. (2016). Positive emotions and academic achievement. Available online at: https://wp.nyu.edu/steinhardt-appsych_opus/positive-emotions-and-academic-achievement/ (accessed January 11, 2021).
- Curran, T., and Standage, M. (2017). Psychological needs and the quality of student engagement in physical education: teachers as key facilitators. *J. Teach. Phys. Educ.* 36, 262–276. doi: 10.1123/jtpe.2017-0065
- Drigas, A., and Papoutsi, C. (2020). The need for emotional intelligence training education in critical and stressful situations: the case of Covid-19. *Int. J. Recent Contributions Eng. Sci. IT* 8, 20–36. doi: 10.3991/ijes.v8i3.17235
- Durnin, M. (2020). Covid-19 Update: China Survey Results. London: British Council. Available online at: https://education-services.britishcouncil.

org/insights-blog/covid-19-update-chinasurvey-results?_ga=2.183165667. 436377671.1596516253-~1764238916.1596516253. (accesses February 02, 2021).

- Enns, A., Eldridge, G. D., Montgomery, C., and Gonzalez, V. M. (2018). Perceived stress, coping strategies, and emotional intelligence: A cross-sectional study of university students in helping disciplines. *Nurse Educ. Today.* 68, 226–231. doi: 10.1016/j.nedt.2018.06.012
- Ergur, D. O. (2009). How can education professionals become emotionally intelligent?. *Procedia* 1, 1023–1028. doi: 10.1016/j.sbspro.2009.01.183
- Erözkan, A. (2013). Exploring the relationship between perceived emotional intelligence and coping skills of undergraduate students. J. Hum. Sci. 10, 1537–1549.
- Estrada, M., Monferrer, D., Rodríguez, A., and Moliner, M. Á. (2021). Does emotional intelligence influence academic performance? The role of compassion and engagement in education for sustainable development. Sustainability 13:1721. doi: 10.3390/su130 41721
- Fiorilli, C., Farina, E., Buonomo, I., Costa, S., Romano, L., Larcan, R., et al. (2020). Trait emotional *intelligence* and school burnout: the mediating role of resilience and academic anxiety in high school. *Int. J. Environ. Res. Public Health* 17:3058. doi: 10.3390/ijerph17093058
- Friedman, G. (2014). Student stress, burnout and engagement. Dissertation, 1–119.
- Fry, R., and Cilluffo, A. (2019). A rising share of undergraduates are from poor families, especially at less selective colleges. *Pew Research Center*.
- Fteiha, M., and Awwad, N. (2020). Emotional intelligence and its relationship with stress coping style. *Health Psychol. Open* 7, 1–9. doi:10.1177/2055102920970416
- Garg, R., Levin, E., and Tremblay, L. (2016). Emotional intelligence: impact on post-secondary academic achievement. *Soc. Psychol. Educ.* 19, 627–642. doi: 10.1007/s11218-016-9338-x
- Goleman, D. (2001). "An EI-based theory of performance," in *The Emotionally Intelligent Workplace: How to Select for, Measure, and Improve Emotional Intelligence in Individuals, Groups, and Organizations*, eds C. Cherniss and D. Goleman (San Francisco, CA: John Wiley & Sons), 27–44.
- Grandey, A. A. (2000). Emotional regulation in the workplace: a new way to conceptualize emotional labor. *J. Occup. Health Psychol.* 5, 95–110. doi:10.1037/1076-8998.5.1.95
- Gross, J. J. (1998). The emerging field of emotion regulation: an integrative review. *Rev. Gen. Psychol.* 2, 271–299. doi: 10.1037/1089-2680.2.3.271
- Halimi, F., AlShammari, I., and Navarro, C. (2020). Emotional intelligence and academic achievement in higher education. J. Appl. Res. High. Educ. 12, 377–402. doi: 10.1108/JARHE-11-2019-0286
- Han, H., and Johnson, S. D. (2012). Relationship between students' emotional intelligence, social bond, and interactions in online learning. *J. Educ. Technol. Soc.* 15, 78–89.
- Herrera, L., Al-Lal, M., and Mohamed, L. (2020). Academic achievement, self-concept, personality and emotional intelligence in primary education analysis by gender and cultural group. *Front. Psychol.* 10:3075. doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2019.03075
- Ioannidou, F., and Konstantikaki, V. (2008). Empathy and emotional intelligence: what is it really about?. *Int. J. Caring Sci.* 1, 118–123.
- Jæger, M. M., and Blaabæk, E. H. (2020). Inequality in learning opportunities during Covid-19: evidence from library takeout. *Res. Soc. Stratif. Mobil.* 68, 1–13. doi: 10.1016/j.rssm.2020.100524
- Jenaabadi, H., Nastiezaie, N., and Safarzaie, H. (2017). The relationship of academic burnout and academic stress with academic self-efficacy among graduate students. *Educ. Rev.* 49, 65–76. doi: 10.15804/tner.2017.49.3.05
- Jiang, H., Islam, A. A., Gu, X., and Spector, J. M. (2021). Online learning satisfaction in higher education during the COVID-19 pandemic: A regional comparison between Eastern and Western Chinese universities. *Educ. Inf. Technol.* 1–23. doi: 10.1007/s10639-021-10519-x. [Epub ahead of print].
- Karimi, L., Leggat, S. G., Donohue, L., Farrell, G., and Couper, G. E. (2014). Emotional rescue: the role of emotional intelligence and emotional labour on well-being and job-stress among community nurses. *J. Adv. Nurs.* 70, 176–186. doi: 10.1111/jan.12185
- Kirk, B. A., Schutte, N. S., and Hine, D. W. (2008). Development and preliminary validation of an emotional self-efficacy scale. *Pers. Individ. Dif.* 45, 432–436. doi: 10.1016/j.paid.2008.06.010

- Koman, E. S., and Wolff, S. B. (2008). Emotional intelligence competencies in the team and team leader: a multi-level examination of the impact of emotional intelligence on team performance. J. Manage. Dev. 27, 55–75. doi: 10.1108/02621710810840767
- Krishnan, R., Mahphoth, M. H., Ahmad, N. A. F., and A'yudin, N. A. (2018). The influence of emotional intelligence on employee job performance: a Malaysian case study. *Int. J. Acad. Res. Bus. Soc. Sci.* 8, 234–246. doi: 10.6007/IJARBSS/v8-i5/4097
- Lam, L. T., and Kirby, S. L. (2002). Is emotional intelligence an advantage? An exploration of the impact of emotional and general intelligence on individual performance. J. Soc. Psychol. 142, 133–143. doi: 10.1080/00224540209603891
- Lazarus, R. S., and Folkman, S. (1984). Stress, *Appraisal, and Coping*. New York, NY: Springer publishing company.
- MacCann, C., Jiang, Y., Brown, L. E., Double, K. S., Bucich, M., and Minbashian, A. (2020). Emotional intelligence predicts academic performance: a meta-analysis. *Psychol. Bull.* 146, 150–186. doi: 10.1037/bul0000219
- Márquez, P. G. O., Martín, R. P., and Brackett, M. A. (2006). Relating emotional intelligence to social competence and academic achievement in high school students. *Psicothema*. 18, 118–123.
- Martel, M. (2020). COVID-19 effects on U.S. higher education campuses: From emergency response to future student mobility. Report 2 March, 16.
- McKnight, J. (2013). Using emotional intelligence as a basis for developing an online faculty guide for emotional awareness. J. Instruct. Res. 2, 19–29. doi: 10.9743/JIR.2013.2.13
- Mikolajczak, M., Menil, C., and Luminet, O. (2007). Explaining the protective effect of trait emotional intelligence regarding occupational stress: exploration of emotional labour processes. J. Res. Pers. 41, 1107–1117. doi: 10.1016/j.jrp.2007.01.003
- Ministry of Education in China (2019). *Statistics of studying in China in 2018*. Available online at: http://en.moe.gov.cn/documents/reports/202102/ t20210209_513095.html (accessed February 24, 2021).
- Mishra, L., Gupta, T., and Shree, A. (2020). Online teaching-learning in higher education during lockdown period of COVID-19 pandemic. Int. J. Educ. Res. Open 1:100012. doi: 10.1016/j.ijedro.2020.100012
- Mo, Y., Deng, L., Zhang, L., Lang, Q., Liao, C., Wang, N., et al. (2020). Work stress among Chinese nurses to support Wuhan in fighting against COVID-19 epidemic. J. Nurs. Manag. 28, 1002–1009. doi: 10.1111/jonm.13014
- Mohzan, M. A. M., Hassan, N., and AbdHalil, N. (2013). The influence of emotional intelligence on academic achievement. *Procedia* 90, 303–312. doi: 10.1016/j.sbspro.2013.07.095
- Moreno-Fernandez, J., Ochoa, J., Lopez-Aliaga, I., Alferez, M., Gomez-Guzman, M., LopezOrtega, S., et al. (2020). Lockdown, emotional intelligence, academic engagement and burnout in pharmacy students during the quarantine. *Pharmacy* 8:194. doi: 10.3390/pharmacy8040194
- Mulaik, S. A., James, L. R., Van Alstine, J., Bennett, N., Lind, S., and Stilwell, C. D. (1989). Evaluation of goodness-of-fit indices for structural equation models. *Psychol. Bull.* 105:430. doi: 10.1037/0033-2909.105.3.430
- Naquin, M. R., and Gilbert, G. G. (1996). College students' smoking behavior, perceived stress, and coping styles. J. Drug Educ. 26, 367–376. doi: 10.2190/MTG0-DCCE-YR29-JLT3
- Nash, C. (2020). Report on digital literacy in academic meetings during the 2020 COVID-19 lockdown. *Challenges* 11:20. doi: 10.3390/challe11020020
- Năstasă, L. E. (2010). "Developing emotional intelligence of students in psychology through the experiential group," in Validation Studies and Applied Research of Psychology and Psychotherapy Unification (in Education, Personal Development and Clinical), ed I. Mitrofan (Bucharest: Bucharest University Press), 565–802.
- Paloş, R., Costea, I., Munteanu, A., and Drobot, L. (2010). The necessity to adapt instruction to the students' intellectual development. *Procedia* 5, 323–327. doi: 10.1016/j.sbspro.2010.07.097
- Pedrosa, A. L., Bitencourt, L., Fróes, A. C. F., Cazumbá, M. L. B., Campos, R. G. B., de Brito, S. B. C. S., et al. (2020). Emotional, behavioral, and psychological Impact of the COVID-19 Pandemic. *Front. Psychol.* 11:566212. doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2020.566212
- Petrides, K. V., Frederickson, N., and Furnham, A. (2004). The role of trait emotional intelligence in academic performance and deviant behavior at school. Pers. Individ. Differ. 36, 277–293. doi: 10.1016/S0191-8869(03)00084-9

- Por, J., Barriball, L., Fitzpatrick, J., and Roberts, J. (2011). Emotional intelligence: its relationship to stress, coping, well-being and professional performance in nursing students. *Nurse Educ. Today* 31, 855–860. doi: 10.1016/j.nedt.2010.12.023
- Pugh, E. (2008). Recognising emotional intelligence in professional standards for teaching. Pract. Res. High. Educ. 2, 3–12.
- Rezvani, A., Ashkanasy, N., and Khosravi, P. (2020). Key attitudes: unlocking the relationships between emotional intelligence and performance in construction projects. J. Construct. Eng. Manage. 146:1803. doi: 10.1061/(ASCE)CO.1943-7862.0001803
- Richards, D., and Pryce, J. (2006). EI, wellbeing and performance. *Comp. Emot. Intell. Q.* 13, 41–46.
- Rohman, M., Marji, D. A. S., Sugandi, R. M., and Nurhadi, D. (2020). Online learning in higher education during covid-19 pandemic: students' perceptions. *J. Talent Dev. Excell.* 12, 3644–3651.
- Runcan, P. L., and Iovu, M. B. (2013). Emotional intelligence and life satisfaction in Romanian University students: the mediating role of self-esteem and social support. *Rev. Cercetaresiinterventiesociala* 40, 137–148.
- Sadovyy, M., Sánchez-Gómez, M., and Bresó, E. (2021). COVID-19: How the stress generated by the pandemic may affect work performance through the moderating role of emotional intelligence. *Pers. Individ. Dif.* 180:110986. doi: 10.1016/j.paid.2021.110986
- Sahu, P. (2020). Closure of universities due to coronavirus disease 2019 (COVID-19): impact on education and mental health of students and academic staff. *Cureus* 12:7541. doi: 10.7759/cureus.7541
- Salovey, P., and Mayer, J. D. (1990). Emotional intelligence. *Imagin. Cogn. Pers.* 9, 185–211. doi: 10.2190/DUGG-P24E-52WK-6CDG
- Schaufeli, W. B., Salanova, M., González-Romá, V., and Bakker, A. B. (2002). The measurement of engagement and burnout: a two sample confirmatory factor analytic approach. J. Happiness Stud. 3, 71–92. doi: 10.1023/A:1015630930326
- Schutte, N. S., Malouff, J. M., Hall, L. E., Haggerty, D. J., Cooper, J. T., Golden, C. J., et al. (1998). Development and validation of a measure of emotional intelligence. *Pers. Individ. Dif.* 25, 167–177. doi: 10.1016/S0191-8869(98)00001-4
- Shen, L., Wang, M., and Shen, R. (2009). Affective e-learning: Using "emotional" data to improve learning in pervasive learning environment. J. Educ. Technol. Soc. 12, 176–189.
- Stevens, C., Schneider, E., Bederman-Miller, P., and Arcangelo, K. (2019). Exploring the relationship between emotional intelligence and academic stress among students at a small, private college. *Contemp. Iss. Educ. Res.* 12, 93–102. doi: 10.19030/cier.v12i4.10322
- Suhaimi, A. W., Marzuki, N. A., and Mustaffa, C. S. (2014). The relationship between emotional intelligence and interpersonal communication skills in disaster management context: a proposed framework. *Procedia* 155, 110–114. doi: 10.1016/j.sbspro.2014.10.265
- Suleman, Q., Hussain, I., Syed, M. A., Parveen, R., Lodhi, I. S., and Mahmood, Z. (2019). Association between emotional intelligence and academic success among undergraduates: a cross-sectional study in KUST, Pakistan. *PLoS ONE* 14:219648. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0219468
- Sundarasen, S., Chinna, K., Kamaludin, K., Nurunnabi, M., Baloch, G. M., Khoshaim, H. B., et al. (2020). Psychological impact of COVID-19 and lockdown among University students in Malaysia: implications and policy recommendations. *Int. J. Environ. Res. Public Health* 17:6206. doi: 10.3390/ijerph17176206
- Tesar, M. (2020). Towards a post-Covid-19 'new normality?':physical and social distancing, the move to online and higher education. *Policy Futures Educ.* 18, 556–559. doi: 10.1177/1478210320935671
- Tyng, C. M., Amin, H. U., Saad, M. N., and Malik, A. S. (2017). The influences of emotion on learning and memory. *Front. Psychol.* 8:1454. doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2017.01454
- Um, E., Plass, J. L., Hayward, E. O., and Homer, B. D. (2012). Emotional design in multimedia learning. J. Educ. Psychol. 104, 485–498. doi: 10.1037/a0026609
- UNESCO Education (2020). From Disruption to Recovery. Available online at: https://en.unesco.org/covid19/educationresponse (accessed June 12, 2020).
- Unger, K. V. (1998). Handbook on Supported Education: Providing Services for Students With Psychiatric Disabilities. Towson, MD: Paul H Brookes Publishing Company.

- Van Tilburg, W. A., and Igou, E. R. (2013). On the meaningfulness of behavior: an expectancy x value approach. *Motiv. Emot.* 37, 373–388. doi: 10.1007/s11031-012-9316-3
- Vuilleumier, P. (2005). How brains beware: neural mechanisms of emotional attention. *Trends Cogn. Sci.* 9, 585–594. doi: 10.1016/j.tics.2005.10.011
- Wang, C. J. (2019). Facilitating the emotional intelligence development of students: use of technological pedagogical content knowledge (TPACK). J. Hospital. Leis. Sport Tour. Educ. 25:100198. doi: 10.1016/j.jhlste.2019.100198
- Wang, G., Zhang, Y., Zhao, J., Zhang, J., and Jiang, F. (2020). Mitigate the effects of home confinement on children during the COVID-19 outbreak. *Lancet* 395, 945–947. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(20)30547-X
- Wigfield, A., and Gladstone, J. R. (2019). "What does expectancy-value theory have to say about motivation and achievement in times of change and uncertainty?," in *Motivation in Education at a Time of Global Change*, eds E. N. Gonida and M. S. Lemos (Bingley: Emerald Publishing Limited), 15–32. doi: 10.1108/S0749-74232019000020002
- Williams, K. C., Morgan, K., and Cameron, B. A. (2011). How do students define their roles and responsibilities in online learning group projects?. *Dist. Educ.* 32, 49–62. doi: 10.1080/01587919.2011.565498
- Williford, H. (2010). The Relationship Between Emotional Intelligence and Academic Achievement in Eleventh Graders. Edmond, OK: MedCrave Group LLC.
- Wu, S., Zhu, W., Wang, Z., Wang, M., and Lan, Y. (2007). Relationship between burnout and occupational stress among nurses in China. J. Adv. Nurs. 59, 233–239. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2648.2007.04301.x
- Yang, Y., Li, W., Zhang, Q., Zhang, L., Cheung, T., and Xiang, Y. T. (2020). Mental health services for older adults in China during the COVID-19 outbreak. *Lancet Psychiatry* 7:e19. doi: 10.1016/S2215-0366(20)30079-1
- Yen, T. F. T. (2020). The performance of online teaching for flipped classroom based on COVID-19 aspect. Asian J. Educ. Soc. Stud. 8, 57–64. doi: 10.9734/ajess/2020/v8i330229
- Yilmaz, M. (2009). The effects of an emotional intelligence skills training program on the consistent anger levels of Turkish University students. Soc. Behav. Person. 37, 565–576. doi: 10.2224/sbp.2009.37.4.565

- Yucha, C. B., Kowalski, S., and Cross, C. (2009). Student stress and academic performance: home hospital program. J. Nurs. Educ. 48, 631–637. doi: 10.3928/01484834-20090828-05
- Yusoff, M. S. B., Hadie, S. N. H., and Yasin, M. A. M. (2021). The roles of emotional intelligence, neuroticism, and academic stress on the relationship between psychological distress and burnout in medical students. *BMC Med. Educ.* 21, 1–10. doi: 10.21203/rs.3.rs-144736/v1
- Zeidner, M., and Matthews, G. (2018). "Grace under pressure in educational contexts: emotional intelligence, stress, and coping," in *Emotional Intelligence in Education*, eds K. Keefer, J. Parker, and D. Saklofske (Cham: Springer), 83–110. doi: 10.1007/978-3-319-90633-1_4
- Zysberg, L., and Raz, S. (2019). Emotional intelligence and emotion regulation in self-induced emotional states: physiological evidence. *Pers. Individ. Dif.* 139, 202–207. doi: 10.1016/j.paid.2018. 11.027

Conflict of Interest: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's Note: All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Copyright © 2021 Alam, Yang, Bhutto and Akhtar. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Risks in Adolescent Adjustment by Internet Exposure: Evidence From PISA

Beatriz Ortega-Ruipérez*, Almudena Castellanos Sánchez and Beatriz Marcano

Educational Technology Department, Faculty of Education, Universidad Internacional de La Rioja, Logroño, Spain

Problematic use and abuse of the Internet has manifested new risks among adolescents that affect academic, social, and emotional adjustment. In the academic domain, the role of Internet use on school performance and learning is studied, including the level of competence as a factor in this domain. On the social level, we measure how Internet use affects school climate and problems related to bullying. On the emotional aspect, the relationship between Internet use and satisfaction and positive feelings is studied, including wellbeing as a construct part of this domain. To find these relationships, data obtained from the Program for International Student Assessment survey, 2018 edition are used. Structural equation modeling was used to determine the most significant relationships between the aspects studied and Internet use. Internet use includes four independent variables: two on abuse (time of use on a weekday outside of class and on a weekend) and two on problematic use (perception about forgetting time and perceived discomfort if the Internet does not work). The results answer three research questions: (1) how the constructs created relate to the four independent variables on Internet usage, (2) how the observed variables respond to the latent constructs, and (3) how all these constructs are related to each other. These results highlight the need to teach young people to use the Internet in a useful and healthy way, as a preventive measure, and help professionals who detect technology abuse to act with effective measures to prevent the psychological consequences, working on the academic, social, and emotional aspects that have shown the greatest relationship. The problematic Internet use is a complex problem and it is impossible and imprudent to relate it to isolated factors: It is necessary to consider different factors to better understand the problem.

Keywords: adolescence, abuse technologies, academic achievement, social adaptation, emotional development

INTRODUCTION

Internet use and abuse can lead to Internet addiction in approximately 10 to 20% of users (Akar, 2017; Milková and Ambrožová, 2018). In addition, there are certain risks of Internet use related to problematic Internet use, such as cyberbullying, cyber dating abuse, online grooming, or sexting (Machimbarrena et al., 2018). The most frequent motivation for adolescents to use the Internet is the search for gratification (Cebollero et al., 2021), which in the case

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

David Aparisi, University of Alicante, Spain

Reviewed by:

Estefanía Estévez, Miguel Hernández University of Elche, Spain Lucia Granados Alos, Valencian International University, Spain

*Correspondence:

Beatriz Ortega-Ruipérez beatriz.ortega.ruiperez@unir.net

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Educational Psychology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Psychology

Received: 24 August 2021 Accepted: 15 September 2021 Published: 12 October 2021

Citation:

Ortega-Ruipérez B, Castellanos Sánchez A and Marcano B (2021) Risks in Adolescent Adjustment by Internet Exposure: Evidence From PISA. Front. Psychol. 12:763759. doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2021.763759

15

of boys is found in entertainment and in the case of girls through evasion. This would explain why boys tend to spend more time on playing social videogames and girls on social media (Twenge and Martin, 2020), resources where the search for social gratification can lead to the development of problematic Internet use.

Most studies on problematic Internet use and abuse focus on the study of individual factors (Anderson et al., 2016), and although there are also quite a few studies on the influence of social factors, individual factors seem to have greater influence (Fumero et al., 2018), such as, for example, low effortful control (Pace et al., 2018). In a study by Chen (2018), in the specific case of Smartphones, it is shown that people with low selfesteem and low social skills are more likely to develop an addiction if they desire the approval of others and a sense of belonging to a group, i.e., the search for gratifications described by Cebollero et al. (2021).

To evaluate all these factors in adolescents, the Programme for International Student Assessment (PISA), promoted by the Organization for Economic Co-operation and Development (OECD), collects and analyzes hundreds of variables in thousands of 15-year-old students around the world. The latest published report shows relationships between some of these factors, grouped in pairs, such as the influence of Internet usage time on wellbeing or the relationship between bullying and school climate (OECD, 2019a). With all these data available, a comprehensive study of which factors have a stronger relationship with Internet use and abuse is essential. For this purpose, individual factors, both academic and emotional, must be considered on the one hand, and social factors on the other.

In academic domain, Internet use should be assessed in terms of learning and performance. On the one hand, moderate and appropriate Internet use can be perceived as usefulness for learning (Huang et al., 2019, 2020). To have an appropriate behavior toward the use of the Internet and to prevent its abuse, it is claimed the need to teach adolescents technological literacy to enhance socio-emotional learning, as well as selfregulation strategies (Schilhab, 2017).

Among adolescents, informal learning with the Internet is motivated by their needs and the influence of their peers (Pereira et al., 2019). Most students feel that learning through YouTube is easier than in class, and many would like to include this tool as another classroom resource (Sulaimanu et al., 2019). In this sense, there are areas where videos can be a great resource because it is easier to understand abstract concepts or concepts that are difficult to understand without visual support. For example, science videos are often used for content enjoyment with an informational use of YouTube (Rosenthal, 2017).

In addition, for informal learning to occur, certain characteristics must be present. For example, this learning occurs more often from browser-based tools than from social media, and computers are used rather than mobile technologies (Lai and Smith, 2017). On the other hand, the use of the Internet for lifelong learning can be much more beneficial if it is approached with a community and social structure than individually (Eynon and Malmberg, 2021), as it can be for language learning in community forums (Clothey, 2017; Liu et al., 2020). With these studies, it is possible to glimpse the benefits that the use of the Internet can offer to learning, if it is approached in an appropriate way.

Performance and learning outcomes can be enhanced by using digital learning (Lin et al., 2017). A well-studied case is the use of virtual laboratories for science, technology, and engineering (Potkonjak et al., 2016). The use of the Internet is also beneficial, and if used in a non-problematic way, it is a good predictor of academic success (Maniaci et al., 2021). In addition, students who use interactive activities and use different tools in a balanced way have higher academic performance than those who only search for information (Torres-Díaz et al., 2016). The use of more tools according to the purpose refers to a high technological literacy, so this is related to greater performance.

However, abuse of the Internet, or problematic use, can have the opposite effect and be detrimental in the academic domain, especially in performance. At a general level, there are contradictory results that do not allow a generalization on how the Internet affects academic performance. In a study with PISA 2015 data, Hu et al. (2018) obtained that the use of information and communication technologies (ICT) at school was positively associated with academic performance, while the use of ICT at home was negatively associated with performance. However, in another study conducted by Rozgonjuk et al. (2021) found that mathematics performance declined the longer the time spent on the Internet, both in and out of school, suggesting that performance may depend more on the time spent on the Internet rather than on where it is used.

However, if other factors, such as emotional factors, are considered when analyzing this relationship, the results are even stronger. On the one hand, the negative effect on performance may be due to low motivation to study, given the effect that problematic Internet use can produce in terms of loneliness, which directly affects motivation to use learning strategies (Truzoli et al., 2020). On the other hand, another mechanism affecting academic performance could be low cognitive-behavioral control, which is related to the stress that excessive use of social media can generate (Masood et al., 2020). Finally, the influence of media multitasking self-efficacy on learning performance in personal learning environments has been seen if students perceive problems in attention and in their learning self-regulation strategies (Wu, 2017).

A strong relationship has also been found between academic performance and bullying, a very serious and quite widespread social problem in society. Bullying victimization is associated with poor academic performance and problems with school attendance (Gardella et al., 2017), also affecting study time and academic engagement (Yu and Zhao, 2021). Students who experience bullying may have worse performance in mathematics, reading, and science (Zhao and Yu, 2020).

At this point, it is necessary to highlight the mediating role of emotional intelligence between academic performance and bullying (Martínez-Martínez et al., 2020). In a study conducted by these authors, students suffering cyberbullying showed low emotional intelligence but did not always show low academic performance. Among all the students who suffered bullying, students with low emotional intelligence had the lowest performance, so that emotional intelligence seems to play an important role in the relationship between these variables. In addition, emotional intelligence plays a similar role for good emotional adjustment in adolescents who experience bullying (Cañas et al., 2020a), so this type of intelligence can be crucial to mitigate the effects of the Internet on poor academic, social, and emotional adjustment.

Internet abuse or its problematic use has a strong relationship with bullying, and especially cyberbullying. According to the results of PISA 2018 (OECD, 2019a), adolescents who spend more time on the Internet are more exposed to bullying, which suggests that in many cases it is cyberbullying, although it has not been measured as such in the study. Cyberbullying is a type of bullying through digital media (Clevenger et al., 2018).

Although an adolescent is more likely to become a victim of cyberbullying than a bully (Çevik et al., 2021), adolescents who are traditionally bullies and who spend more hours on the Internet are more likely to become cyberbullies (Brighi et al., 2019). Furthermore, as stated by Louw and Winter (2011), the characteristics of the internet, a private and unsupervised environment, may be conducive to students who desire acceptance and have a high need to belong, becoming cyberbullies, even if they are not traditionally bullies.

On the other hand, and in addition to the above, bullying is related to problems in social integration and online socialization, lack of school belonging, and loneliness (Yu and Zhao, 2021). So all these results are in line with what we have seen so far and underline the importance of creating a positive and safe school environment, which is known as school climate.

School climate has some predictive value for bullying, specifically the dimensions of academic self-esteem, teacher support, and feeling of affiliation (Ortega-Barón et al., 2016). The sense of approval and belonging to a group is a risk for people with low self-esteem to develop an Internet addiction (Chen, 2018), so having a good school climate can improve self-esteem and decrease the likelihood of developing such addiction. Therefore, at the social level, it is important to consider the school climate as a possible factor related to Internet abuse.

In a study conducted by Zhai et al. (2020), they found a negative association between the perception of school climate and problematic Internet use, mediated by the sense of belonging to the school and depressive symptoms, that is, the perception of a negative school climate reduced the sense of belonging to the school, thus generating depressive symptoms, and increasing problematic Internet use. Meanwhile, Li et al. (2020) obtained results in line with the previous ones, obtaining a negative association between an Internet use disorder and relationships between teachers and students, and relationships between schoolmates.

Regarding the emotional domain, the relationship between Internet use and wellbeing has been studied. On the one hand, the development of digital skills increases the perception of wellbeing among adolescents (Donoso et al., 2020) and leisure Internet use also has a positive association with wellbeing (Lifshitz et al., 2018). On the other hand, time spent on the Internet has a negative but non-significant relationship with wellbeing compared to other variables unrelated to technology (Orben and Przybylski, 2019). This idea is in line with other studies that relate Internet use and wellbeing through the mediation of psychological variables, abilities, and cultural beliefs, without finding a direct relationship between wellbeing and Internet use (Castellacci and Tveito, 2018). The influence of intrapersonal factors, such as low self-esteem, are greater than interpersonal factors on the risk of adolescents with higher Internet use to develop an addiction (Servidio et al., 2019).

As part of wellbeing, life satisfaction is a well-studied variable. No significant relationships have been found between the use of social networks and life satisfaction (Orben et al., 2019), although wellbeing does decrease if the use of social media is problematic (Marino et al., 2017). However, the relationship between higher smartphone and Internet use and lower wellbeing in adolescents has been shown (Twenge et al., 2018), especially when problematic Internet use leads to lower life satisfaction (Lachmann et al., 2018).

Moreover, within the emotional domain, the study of emotions and emotional regulation are of special interest to know how they are related to Internet abuse. The lack of emotional regulation is key to understanding the relationship between childhood trauma and Internet addiction (Evren et al., 2019). In cases of cyberbullying, where there is a clear problematic use of the Internet, both bullies and bullied show this lack of emotional regulation, in addition to more damaged emotional profiles (Cañas et al., 2020b).

In a study in adolescents carried out by Jensen et al. (2019), they found no significant relationship between an increased risk of mental health problems with the days that those adolescents spend more hours on the Internet. Furthermore, George et al. (2018) found that on the days with higher use of technology, there was an increase in symptoms of behavioral problems. So, it cannot be confirmed whether more sporadic Internet use influences mental health problems. However, in studies in which people with widespread problematic Internet and smartphone use are studied, problems of impulsivity, anxiety, and depression have been found (Cimadevilla et al., 2019; Grant et al., 2019).

Regarding the relationship between adolescents' emotions and the time of Internet use, the PISA 2018 study (OECD, 2019a) shows a clear association between higher negative feelings miserable and sad and higher Internet use, while feelings scared and afraid are slightly lower among heavy users [more than 40 hours(h)/week(w)] than among high users (30-39 h/w), although the trend is upward: the higher the use, the higher the negative feelings. As for the positive feelings: happy, lively, proud, joyful, and cheerful, there is a downward trend. That is, the more hours they spend on the Internet, the less they experience these feelings. There is a slight exception with low Internet users (0-9h/w) who experience less of these feelings than moderate Internet users.

This study aims to determine the relationship of all the variables described (academic: performance and learning; social:

bullying and school climate; and emotional: wellbeing and emotions) with the use and abuse of the Internet to determine which factors may have a greater influence and which may have a lesser influence.

To create this theoretical model, the starting point was reflection on the dimensions corresponding to each factor to be studied as: academic, social, and emotional. The resulting dimensions had to be composed of several study variables that adequately responded to the corresponding dimension and factor. For this purpose, the indices created by PISA 2018 were reviewed. Most of the study variables were taken directly from these indices, specifically from the Scale indices, which are variables constructed by scaling multiple items (OECD, 2019a). To construct these indices, PISA selected related questions from a broader set, which was based on theoretical considerations and previous research (OECD, 2019b), that is, each index part from a conceptual framework studied in depth. In the case of wellbeing, it was decided to construct an additional variable from items corresponding to life satisfaction that were not included in any of these scales.

The purpose is to better understand how problematic Internet use affects the development of a poor adjustment in any of these factors. This knowledge will serve to detect problems in time attending to the problematic use and abuse of the Internet, and thus be able to design interventions that promote a healthy and fruitful use of it, preventing adjustment problems in these factors.

The questions guiding the research fall into three broad groups: (1) how the constructs created relate to the four independent variables on Internet usage, (2) how the observed variables respond to the latent constructs, and (3) how all these constructs are related to each other.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Participants

Adolescents from 51 countries participant in PISA, in 2018. In total, there have been 612,004 students aged 15 years old who have participated in this program during the course 2017/2018. Of these, 292,946 participants did not answer any of the questions used for the analysis. Therefore, the data used in this study pertain to 319,058 participants, who answered all the questions.

Research Questions and Measures

To answer the research questions, a structural equation modeling (SEM) is used, a multivariate analysis technique to contrast models that propose causal relationships between variables (Ruiz et al., 2010), which arise to make regression models more flexible, and have a confirmatory rather than an exploratory function (Escobedo et al., 2016). This analysis is more appropriate than a confirmatory factor analysis because SEM expands the possibility of relationships between latent variables and encompasses a measurement model and a structural model (Schreiber et al., 2006). The purpose of SEM is to validate the theory that describes the relationships between variables

with empirical data, that is, to confirm a theoretical model based on real information.

This study aims to confirm the relationship between the use of the Internet, including four independent variables (IV): (1) time spent in Internet during a typical weekday (Time_weekday), (2) time spent in Internet during a typical weekend (Time_weekend), (3) perception of forgetting time when using digital devices (Perception_time), and (4) perceived discomfort if no Internet connection is possible (Perceived_discomfort), and different academic, social, and emotional factors.

The measurement model starts from the construction of the dimensions or factors (related to academic, social, and emotional), while the structural model refers to the analysis of the effects between factors and with the Internet use variables, independent variables.

The latent constructs correspond to the factors created and are composed of different observed variables:

- *Academic dimension* is composed of the performance and learning factors, which include the variables: Learning goals (MASTGOAL), Motivation to master tasks (WORKMAST), Enjoyment of reading (JOYREAD), and Value of school (ATTLNACT). For a more detailed explanation of how each of these and other variables was measured, see OECD (2019a). On the other hand, to adequately measure the performance construct, related to the academic dimension, another construct called competence has been included.
- *Competence construct* is composed of the observed variables: Global competence (GLOBAL), Math competencies (MATH), Read competencies (READ), and Science competencies (SCIENCE), which are the averaged results of the items corresponding to each of the tests performed in PISA to measure the level of students in these areas. The results had to be averaged manually because the program used does not do it automatically.
- Social dimension is composed of the climate and bullying factors, which include the observed variables: Disciplinary climate (DISCLIMA), Fear of failure (GFOFAIL), and Exposure to bullying (BEINGBULLIED).
- *Emotional dimension* is composed of the wellbeing and feelings factors, which include the variables: Meaning in life (EUDMO), Sense of belonging (BELONG), and Positive feelings (SWBP). On the other hand, to adequately measure the wellbeing construct, related to the emotional dimension, another construct called specifically wellbeing has been included.
- *Wellbeing construct* is composed of 10 observed variables: from Satisf_1 until Satisf_10, which are the 10 items about wellbeing in PISA questionnaire.

The questions guiding the research fall into three broad groups: (1) how the constructs created relate to the four independent variables on Internet usage, (2) how the observed variables respond to the latent constructs, and (3) how all these constructs are related to each other.

In the first question, we start from the general hypothesis that all factors will be related to problematic use and abuse

of the Internet, although some factors will be more related than others. In the second question, all the observed variables are expected to respond to the latent constructs, since they have been selected based on the theoretical model proposed in PISA. In the third question, no specific hypothesis is established, since the objective is to explore the possible relationships between constructs in order to gain knowledge about their behavior.

In the structural model, latent constructs can play the role of both independent and dependent variables, causes, and effects of other variables. In addition, this model includes factor loadings, relationships between constructs and error terms for proper interpretation. The model is assessed from factor loadings (measurement model) and regression (structural model) to point out the effects between variables.

On the other hand, different fit indices are analyzed to determine the quality of the model, both global fit and incremental fit. Global fit indices directly measure the ability of the defined model to reproduce the observed data by comparing the estimated variance-covariance matrix with the empirical one. If the difference is equal to zero, a perfect fit is obtained. Incremental fit indices evaluate the model fit by comparing it to an alternative baseline model, so it is a relative fit. This alternative model is usually a null model, which assumes that there is no correlation between the observed variables.

Procedure and Data Analysis

For quality data collection in all countries participating in the study, PISA provides a document of technical standards and guidelines that is based on consistency, accuracy, generalizability and timelines for test implementation, data management and national standards to ensure cross-national, cross-cultural, and linguistic validity (OECD, 2015).

The PISA assessment framework uses objective tests that allow to know the level of competence in the different domains studied (reading, mathematics, and science), with questions that cover different processes and contexts to achieve an objective assessment. On the other hand, a questionnaire composed of scales is used to assess school-level constructs and non-cognitive or metacognitive constructs. The perception of learning, the social perception of school climate and bullying, and the emotional perception of emotions, satisfaction, and wellbeing correspond to subjective constructs that are assessed through this questionnaire (OECD, 2019b).

In this study, the analysis strategy consisted of three main phases. The first phase had included find out the average scores of the competencies were calculated from the 10 plausible values. With this, we were obtained the four variables related to the competence construct, belonging to the performance factor of the academic dimension. Secondly, missing values were analyzed. Most of the variables could be used because there was no major impact of missing values that could affect the results. However, global competence has more than 50% of the cases without data and has been discarded for the analysis. This provided the definitive variables for the study. In the second phase, a first model was estimated that assumes that the IVs have effects on all the dependent variables, i.e., it analyzes the effects of the IV on each of the indexes in the database, without including the latent factors. With this first analysis, it was found that there were no significant relationships in general, and the model used in the study was developed, which includes the construction of the five dependent variables from the indexes and relates the IVs to these factors.

In the third and final phase, the model was improved, resulting in a definitive model that allows a much better adjustment of the relationships between the variables studied. To this end, non-significant effects (regression coefficients) were eliminated, and modification indexes were analyzed to check which possible effects could improve the model.

For data analysis, four main indices have been used for the overall assessment of the models, two of them are global fit indices and two are incremental fit indices.

The global fit indices used are Root Mean Square Error of Approximation (RMSEA) and Standardized Root Mean Square Residual (SRMR). The RMSEA reports how well the model fits the reference population. Lower values show better fit, and it is considered acceptable if this index is between 0.05 and 0.08. For its part, the SRMR summarizes the differences between the observed and estimated variance-covariance matrix, based on the study of the residuals. Although there are no fixed values established as cutoff points, finding a value above 0.1 indicates a problem of fit.

The incremental fit indexes used are Normed Fit index (NFI) and Comparative Fit Index (CFI). The NFI is the ratio between the chi-square values of the estimated model and the null model and varies between 0 and 1. To be considered an acceptable fit, the value should be above 0.9. The CFI is an improved version of the NFI, as it is less sensitive to the complexity of models with many parameters. Likewise, 0.9 is established as the cutoff point to consider a good fit.

RESULTS

The model used includes the effects of the IVs related to Internet use and among the five latent factors, that is, it studies the role of cause and effect of all the variables in the model (**Figure 1**). Based on this proposal, three models have been estimated as: The initial model does not include the effects among the latent factors. The intermediate model includes these effects but eliminates the non-significant effects of the initial model. To establish the effects between latent variables, I have used the modification indexes that indicate the improvement in the quality of the model if this effect is included, but it must also be justified with theory. The final model eliminates all non-significant effects and, as in the previous one, the intensity of the effect, not only the significance, must be checked.

The fit indices show a higher result for the models that include effects between latent factors (intermediate model and final model). The three models achieve acceptable values of the measured indices, becoming very good in the models that include the effects between factors (**Table 1**).



The global fit indices, RMSEA obtains a low score, which shows a good fit. Similarly, SRMR shows a low score and away from 0.1. Regarding the incremental fit indices, both NFI and CFI show values above 0.9, so we can consider that the intermediate model and the model have a good fit. Tables 2–5 include effects from latent factors to independent variables in the final model, and these tables show the regression coefficients for each factor. These first results make it possible to answer the first research question of the study: (1) How the constructs created relate to the four independent variables on Internet usage.

Model	NPAR	CMIN	DF	p	NFI	CFI	RMSEA	SRMR
Initial	76	809772.016	302	0	0.871	0.871	0.066	0.0698
Intermediate	86	616072.486	292	0	0.902	0.902	0.059	0.0424
Final	83	616100.928	295	0	0.902	0.902	0.059	0.0424

TABLE 1 | Fit indices for the three models.

TABLE 2 | Results (regression coefficients and significant effects) for the first independent variable: time spent in Internet during a typical weekday (Time_ weekday).

Parameter	Regression coefficient	E.T.	p
Academic	-0.063	0.002	0.009
Competence	0.112	0.004	0.007
Social	-0.113	0.005	0.015
Emotional	-0.025	0.002	0.009
Wellbeing (non- significant)	0	0	-

For the analysis, non-significant effects (p < 0.05) in previous models were eliminated for the final model analysis. The only non-significant factor for time spent on the Internet during a weekday was wellbeing (**Table 2**). On the other hand, if the values are significant, it means that the value of the coefficient is the same as that which would be obtained in the population, even if the observed effects are small.

This is the case of the academic and emotional factors, whose coefficients are less than 0.1, the effects are small, but they are applicable to the entire population. Both the academic and emotional factors have an inverse relationship with daily Internet use, that is, the higher the Internet use, it means lower scores on these factors. Regarding the effects that most explain the time spent on the Internet during a typical weekday, it can be seen how competence is positively related, while the social factor is negatively related.

In the case of the variable Internet use on weekends, **Table 3** shows that both the academic factor and the wellbeing factor are not significant. The other factors (competence, social, and emotional) are significant, but their effect is very small (less than 0.1). In this case, we see that the competence factor maintains a direct relationship and the emotional factor a slight inverse relationship, as occurred with the time of use during the week. However, in contrast to weekday use, the hours of Internet use on weekends have a positive relationship with the social factor.

For the variable perception of forgetting time when using digital devices, **Table 4** shows significant relationships with all factors. However, its effect is very small, being less than 0.1 in all cases. Interestingly, the academic and competence factors have a direct relationship, meaning that the higher the perception of forgetting time, better are the learning outcomes. While the social and emotional factors have an inverse relationship, the higher the perception of forgetting time, botter are the results in the social and emotional domains. The wellbeing factor has a regression coefficient that is too small to be considered (less than 0.01).

Finally, in the case of the variable perceived discomfort if no Internet connection is possible, the competence factor is not significant. The social factor has the greatest effect of all, with an inverse relationship, in other words, the greater the perceived discomfort, the lower the score on the social factor. The remaining factors have a very small effect (less than 0.1), but positive in all cases, i.e., a direct relationship. Being a variable related to discomfort, it is curious that it does not have an inverse relationship with a greater effect on the emotional and wellbeing factors.

On the other hand, in **Tables 6–10**, the regression results of each of the latent factors are collected to answer the other two research questions of the study: (2) how the observed variables respond to the latent constructs and (3) how these constructs are related to each other.

To answer how the observed variables respond to the latent constructs, we must look at the variables related to the academic factor (**Table 6**). While Learning goals (MASTGOAL) and Motivation to master tasks (WORKMAST) have a high effect on the factor (>0.6), Enjoyment of reading (JOYREAD) and Value of school (ATTLNACT) have a much lower effect (0.28 and 0.38). Moreover, as explained in the research method, the Competence construct is considered part of the academic factor, and this can be confirmed given the relatively high effect it has shown (0.57).

Additionally, to answer how the academic factor is explained by other factors, we obtained an inverse relationship with a strong effect with the social factor, meaning that a higher academic score is associated with a lower social score.

In the case of the competence construct, **Table** 7 shows that the three observed variables that respond to this construct (mathematics, reading, and science scores) explain the competence construct with a very high effect (>0.9). Since it is considered part of the academic domain, the relationship with the rest of the factors has not been measured.

Table 8 shows the observed variables that respond to the social factor. In this case, a medium-low effect (absolute values between 0.2 and 0.5) can be seen in the explanation of this factor due to the three variables. While Disciplinary climate (DISCLIMA) has a direct relationship with the social factor, that is, a higher score on the social factor, greater score on the school climate; Fear of failure (GFOFAIL) and Exposure to bullying (BEINGBULLIED) have an inverse relationship, with Exposure to bullying showing a stronger effect explaining the social factor. This means that if the fear of failure is lower and the exposure to bullying is lower, the social factor score will be higher.

In addition, Table 8 shows how other factors are related to the social factor. In this case, it is interesting to note

TABLE 3 | Results (regression coefficients and significant effects) for the second independent variable: time spent in Internet during a typical weekend (Time_weekend).

Parameter	Regression coefficient	E.T.	p
Academic (non- significant)	0	0	_
Competence	0.024	0.003	0.009
Social	0.055	0.004	0.013
Emotional	-0.019	0.002	0.005
Wellbeing (non- significant)	0	0	-

TABLE 4 | Results (regression coefficients and significant effects) for the third independent variable: perception of forgetting time when using digital devices (Perception_time).

Parameter	Regression coefficient	E.T.	p
Academic	0.072	0.005	0.005
Competence	0.075	0.003	0.007
Social	-0.065	0.003	0.006
Emotional	-0.028	0.002	0.009
Wellbeing	0.007	0.002	0.018

TABLE 5 | Results (regression coefficients and significant effects) for the fourth independent variable: perceived discomfort if no Internet connection is possible (Perceived_discomfort).

Parameter	Regression coefficient	E.T.	p
Academic	0.043	0.007	0.013
Competence (non-	0	0	-
significant)			
Social	-0.129	0.002	0.011
Emotional	0.018	0.002	0.023
Wellbeing	0.012	0.002	0.015

that the academic factor explains the social factor directly with a medium-low effect (0.35), but if we focus on the competence construct, it explains the social factor with a high effect (>0.7).

For the emotional factor, **Table 9** shows how the observed variables respond with a medium effect (between 0.48 and 0.58), a direct relationship on this factor. Specifically, from highest to lowest effect, we find as: Meaning in life (EUDMO), Sense of belonging (BELONG), and Positive feelings (SWBP).

Also, **Table 9** shows that the emotional factor is not significantly explained by wellbeing, although wellbeing is explained by the emotional factor (**Table 10**). In addition, we see how the emotional factor is explained with a significant effect by academic and social factors. The academic factor is the smallest, which explains the emotional factor with a medium effect (0.45). Meanwhile, competence construct explains the emotional factor inversely and with a very strong effect. This means that those who have a higher level of competence will have a lower score in the emotional factor, which would explain

 TABLE 6
 Results (regression coefficients and significant effects) for academic factor.

Parameter	Regression coefficient	E.T.	p
	coencient		
Competence	0.57	0.012	0.01
Social	-0.67	0.037	0.006
MASTGOAL	0.668	0.001	0.006
WORKMAST	0.631	0.002	0.009
JOYREAD	0.28	0.002	0.011
ATTLNACT	0.386	0.002	0.006

 TABLE 7
 Results (regression coefficients and significant effects) for competence construct.

Parameter	Regression coefficient	E.T.	p
MATH	0.933	0	0.007
READ	0.945	0	0.008
SCIENCE	0.979	0	0.005

 TABLE 8
 Results (regression coefficients and significant effects) for social factor.

Parameter	Regression coefficient	E.T.	р
Academic	0.354	0.058	0.008
Competence	0.716	0.013	0.009
DISCLIMA	0.326	0.003	0.012
GFOFAIL	-0.28	0.004	0.012
BEINGBULLIED	-0.432	0.002	0.006

why students with better grades may have more emotional problems.

In relation to this result, a very high effect of the social factor in explaining the emotional factor is observed. A possible hypothesis that could arise from the interaction between these last results is that students with higher grades (higher competence) are not always socially accepted, which would have a negative impact on their emotional side. Undoubtedly, these results need further investigation in subsequent studies.

Finally, **Table 10** shows how the observed variables that respond to the wellbeing construct all have a medium-high effect in explaining wellbeing (between 0.6 and 0.72), given that they are all specific items that have been chosen to evaluate wellbeing.

In the case of how this construct relates to others, as mentioned above, it has a direct relationship with a medium effect with the emotional factor. Initially, in the method, the wellbeing construct has been included as part of the emotional factor, so this relationship is confirmed. In addition, with the other factors, the wellbeing construct has a very low effect (less than 0.1), while the emotional factor had obtained quite high effects. This supports the theoretical proposal that wellbeing is part of the emotional factor, and the rest of the factors are explained by the emotional factor and not by the wellbeing construct. Future studies should confirm these relationships.

 TABLE 9
 Results (regression coefficients and significant effects) for emotional factor.

Parameter	Regression coefficient	E.T.	р
Academic	0.452	0.038	0.012
Competence	-0.924	0.018	0.018
Social	1.12	0.026	0.009
Wellbeing (non- significant)	0	0	-
EUDMO	0.584	0.002	0.009
SWBP	0.545	0.002	0.012
BELONG	0.48	0.002	0.007

TABLE 10 | Results (regression coefficients and significant effects) for wellbeing construct.

Parameter	Regression coefficient	E.T.	p
Academic	-0.012	0.002	0.006
Competence	0.043	0.003	0.005
Social	-0.019	0.003	0.003
Emotional	0.279	0.002	0.012
Satisf_1	0.653	0.003	0.025
Satisf_2	0.623	0.003	0.012
Satisf_3	0.602	0.004	0.018
Satisf_4	0.668	0.003	0.019
Satisf_5	0.668	0.003	0.021
Satisf_6	0.722	0.003	0.01
Satisf_7	0.628	0.003	0.013
Satisf_8	0.713	0.002	0.025
Satisf_9	0.664	0.003	0.016
Satisf_10	0.694	0.003	0.009

DISCUSSION

The results found allow us to establish interpretations that improve our knowledge of how different factors related to the academic, social, and emotional domains are affected by the development of problematic Internet use. To discuss the results, research questions 1 and 2 will be interpreted first, to know how the academic, competence, social, emotional, and wellbeing factors respond to the independent variables related to Internet use, and to be able to explain which observed variables best explain each of these factors. Question 3 is then interpreted to find out what significant relationships exist between the different latent factors.

Problematic Internet Use in Academic, Social, and Emotional Domains

First, with respect to time spent using the Internet, we must differentiate between Internet use during a typical weekday and Internet use during a typical weekend. It is notable that wellbeing does not have a significant relationship with the time spent using the Internet, neither on weekdays nor on weekends. In this sense, the results support the idea that the relationship between both variables is not direct but affects other aspects, such as cultural (Castellacci and Tveito, 2018) or intrapersonal variables (Servidio et al., 2019), variables not related to technology (Orben and Przybylski, 2019), contrary to the results of other authors who do certify the relationship between time of Internet use and wellbeing (Lifshitz et al., 2018; Donoso et al., 2020).

The use of the Internet during the week is explained to a greater extent by the social factor, meaning that students who spend more time on the Internet may have more problems in the social sphere. According to the results, students who spend more time on the Internet during the week may have greater exposure to bullying, worse perception of school climate, and/or feel more fear of failure.

Weekday Internet use is also largely explained by the competence construct: Students who use the Internet longer during the week have higher scores in math, reading, and science. These results are in line with the studies of Huang et al. (2019, 2020), if their use is not problematic, because ICT use can improve performance and outcomes (Lin and Chen, 2017).

However, students who use the Internet more during the week have greater problems with the academic domain in general, i.e., learning. Among these problems are that these students are less able to set their learning goals and are lower motivated to manage their homework, and that they value school less highly. Also, although with a smaller effect according to Internet use, they have less fun with reading.

At this point, it is remarkable that, while adolescents who use the Internet more during the week obtain better academic results (competence), they have more problems with learning and the academic domain, in general. Further inquiry is required to adequately deepen this finding, as it may depend on the type of tools they tend to use, some more suitable than others for learning, as Lai and Smith (2017) expose.

The emotional factor also has a significant, although small, relationship with weekday Internet use: the higher the weekday Internet use, the lower the emotional satisfaction. Emotional satisfaction is given by perceived meaning in life, sense of belonging, and experiencing positive feelings. This could be in line with the results of Chen (2018) who saw that people with low self-esteem are more likely to develop addiction to their smartphones, in search of improving their personal satisfaction through increasing their sense of belonging to a virtual group.

Regarding Internet use on weekends, there is also a significant relationship, although with a much smaller effect, between the construct of competence and Internet use: the greater the Internet use on a typical weekend, higher levels of competence. In line with the findings of Maniaci et al. (2021), Internet use is a good predictor of academic success, provided it is not used in a problematic way. The emotional factor also explains Internet use on weekends: more Internet use, decreased emotional satisfaction. Both the results regarding competence and the emotional domain are in line with the observed results for weekday Internet use.

However, those who use the Internet for more hours on weekends have higher scores in the social factor, as opposed to those who use it during the week. This could be explained by a differential use of the Internet: While during the week it would be used more for academic tasks, on weekends it would be used as a leisure resource. This hypothesis would also be supported by the fact that no significant relationship was found between Internet use on weekends and the academic factor. In view of these results, we do not share the findings of Hu et al. (2018) that greater use of ICT at home is associated with poor performance, nor the results of Rozgonjuk et al. (2021) students who spend more time on the Internet outside of school have lower math scores.

Time spent on the Internet can be considered as a problem related to Internet abuse. However, problematic Internet use can also occur even if only a few hours are spent on the Internet. For this reason, it was considered important to include other variables related to the perceptions of adolescents when they use it inappropriately. For this reason, the other two independent variables have been chosen to provide more clarity to the interpretation of the results.

An important issue in terms of problematic Internet use is the perception of forgetting time when using digital devices. In this case, although the effect of the factors is small, in all cases it is significant. In the case of the academic factor, and their related construct, competence, a direct relationship has been obtained with the perception of forgetting time. This means that, when this perception occurs more frequently, these factors are higher. Therefore, better students are more likely to develop this problem. At this point, the development of self-regulation strategies could help, as pointed out by Schilhab (2017). Meanwhile, the social and emotional factors have an inverse relationship with the perception of losing track of time occurs more often when the scores in the social and emotional domains are lower.

The other important question for detecting problematic Internet use is perceived discomfort if no Internet connection is possible. In this case, the level of competence does not have a significant relationship with this problem, although the academic factor is significant and has a considerable effect. The higher the perceived discomfort, the higher the scores on this factor. These results seem to be related to the results obtained in the problem of perception of forgetting time while surfing the Internet. Adolescents with more problems in the use of the Internet seem to have a greater predisposition to learning if we do not consider the rest of factors. However, it is also important to consider other factors that have a greater effect in explaining this problem. In the case of perceived discomfort if no Internet connection is possible, the social factor has a greater intensity in explaining this problem, with an inverse relationship. This means that adolescents with higher perceived discomfort have lower scores in the social domain, in line with previous studies (Li et al., 2020; Zhai et al., 2020).

In this problem, emotional and wellbeing factors also have a significant relationship, although with a much smaller effect than social and academic factors. In these two cases, the relationships are direct: those who experience higher perceived discomfort, higher emotional satisfaction, and/or wellbeing. It is quite possible that the satisfaction and/or wellbeing experienced are related to the possibilities offered to them by the Internet, such as the need for social interaction according to Chen (2018). In these cases, it would be appropriate to explore further how the problem is related to these factors and to include an intermediate explanatory variable to control the effect of experiencing satisfaction due to Internet use.

Relationship Between the Latent Factors

Regarding the third research question about how the relationship between the latent factors is, it has been obtained that the academic factor is more explained by the social factor, although in an inverse way, followed by the competence construct (which is part of the academic factor according to the theoretical proposal). These results are in line with proposals that there is a strong relationship between bullying and achievement and commitment to study (Gardella et al., 2017; Zhao and Yu, 2020; Yu and Zhao, 2021). At this point, it is worth recalling the need for training on emotional intelligence to mediate these effects (Martínez-Martínez et al., 2020; Cañas et al., 2020a).

For its part, the social factor is largely explained by the competence construct, but not as part of the academic factor, which has shown a much lower relationship with the social factor. The higher the level of competence, a positive and safe school environment is generated, increasing the sense of belonging to the school, which could explain the relationship with the social factor (Yu and Zhao, 2021).

On the other hand, the emotional factor is highly explained by the social factor, whose relationship can be explained by the high need for social approval experienced by many adolescents, which undoubtedly affects their emotional satisfaction and wellbeing, through obtaining gratifications, according to Cebollero et al. (2021). The emotional factor is also largely explained by the level of competence, although in an inverse manner. And, as has occurred with the social factor, the effect is much smaller if the academic factor is considered as a whole.

Finally, an unexpected result was that the wellbeing construct does not explain the emotional factor, since the relationship is not significant. However, the emotional factor does explain wellbeing, so the relationship to confirm the theoretical model between both constructs should be investigated in future studies.

As a conclusion to this study, it is confirmed that problematic Internet use is a complex problem, so there may be multiple relationships between factors related to academic, social, and emotional factors that are influenced by the way in which this resource is used. It is impossible and imprudent to relate the development of problems in the use of the Internet to isolated factors, and therefore, it is necessary to consider different factors to better understand the relationships between all of them and address the problem in a comprehensive manner.

The main practical implications of the results obtained are related to the aspects to which we should pay more attention when a problem is detected in a specific area. In other words, by obtaining stronger relationships between certain variables, we can interpret that if there is a problem in a given variable,

TABLE 11 | Summary of relevant practical implications.

If a problem is detected in	Be especially careful with problems in
Time spent during a typical weekday	Social factor
Perceived discomfort if no internet	Social factor
connection is possible	
Academic factor	Ambitious learning goals and
	motivation to master task
Competence factor	All domains: math, read, science
Social factor	Exposure to bullying
Emotional factor	Perception about meaning in life, and
	ability to sense positive feelings
Wellbeing factor	Emotional factor

the variables that have obtained stronger relationships will be the ones most likely to develop new problems.

Table 11 shows a summary of the main practical implications of the study. First, the problems with the Internet that can generate greater problems in specific factors are shown and, subsequently, each of the factors studied is shown, together with the dimensions that have obtained a greater relationship and, therefore, can develop the next problems.

Even so, it is important to re-emphasize that the relationships between all the factors and dimensions must always be considered, since all of them show relationships, whether major or minor, so that secondary problems may arise in any of them.

Therefore, this study brings to this field of research the importance of considering the influence of problematic Internet use and abuse on different factors in a related way, and not as isolated factors.

One limitation of the study may be that it worked with so many variables and so many data, which may have influenced the results of the analyses. To mitigate these drawbacks, as far as possible, new hypotheses and research questions have

REFERENCES

- Akar, F. (2017). Purposes and characteristics of internet use of adolescents. Pegem J. Educ. Instr. 7, 257–286. doi: 10.14527/pegegg.2017.010
- Anderson, E. L., Steen, E., and Stavropoulos, V. (2016). Internet use and problematic internet use: a systematic review of longitudinal research trends in adolescence and emergent adulthood. *Int. J. Adolesc. Youth* 22, 430–454. doi: 10.1080/02673843.2016.1227716
- Brighi, A., Menin, D., Skrzypiec, G., and Guarini, A. (2019). Young, bullying, and connected. Common pathways to cyberbullying and problematic internet use in adolescence. *Front. Psychol.* 10:1467. doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2019.01467
- Cañas, E., Estévez, J. F., Estévez, E., and Aparisi, D. (2020a). The role of emotional intelligence on psychological adjustment and peer victimization in a sample of Spanish adolescents. *Front. Psychol.* 11:600972. doi: 10.3389/ fpsyg.2020.600972
- Cañas, E., Estévez, E., Martínez-Monteagudo, M. C., and Delgado, B. (2020b). Emotional adjustment in victims and perpetrators of cyberbullying and traditional bullying. Soc. Psychol. Educ. 23, 917–942. doi: 10.1007/ s11218-020-09565-z
- Castellacci, F., and Tveito, V. (2018). Internet use and well-being: a survey and a theoretical framework. *Res. Policy* 47, 308–325. doi: 10.1016/j. respol.2017.11.007

been proposed throughout the discussion of the results, which will serve as future lines of research on problematic Internet use.

Another limitation has been the need to create an additional variable to measure wellbeing, since there is no specific scale among the scale indexes created by PISA. This implies less theoretical support, and less validity, given that no additional tests have been carried out. In this sense, a future line of action would be to test the consistency of the wellbeing variable created, in the same way that the rest of the scale indices have been validated by the PISA program.

DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

Publicly available datasets were analyzed in this study. This data can be found at: https://webfs.oecd.org/pisa2018/SPSS_STU_QQQ.zip.

ETHICS STATEMENT

Ethical review and approval was not required for the study on human participants in accordance with the local legislation and institutional requirements. Written informed consent to participate in this study was provided by the participants' legal guardian/next of kin.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

BO-R conducted the main literature search, drafted the theoretical framework, and wrote the results, discussion and conclusions. ACS and BM reviewed the theoretical framework, contributed complementary sources, reviewed the article, and provided complementary ideas. All authors agreed on the research approach and data analysis.

- Cebollero, A., Escoriaza, J. C., and Hernández, S. O. (2021). Abuso de Internet y adolescentes: gratificaciones, supervisión familiar y uso responsable. Implicaciones educativas y familiares. *Digit. Educ. Rev.* 39, 42–59. doi: 10.1344/der.2021.39.42-59
- Çevik, Ö., Rıdvan, A. T. A., and Çevik, M. (2021). Bullying and victimization among Turkish adolescents: the predictive role of problematic internet use, school burnout and parental monitoring. *Educ. Inf. Technol.* 26, 3203–3230. doi: 10.1007/s10639-020-10410-1
- Chen, C. Y. (2018). Smartphone addiction: psychological and social factors predict the use and abuse of a social mobile application. *Inf. Commun. Soc.* 23, 454–467. doi: 10.1080/1369118X.2018.1518469
- Cimadevilla, R., Jenaro, C., and Flores, N. (2019). Impact on psychological health of internet and mobile phone abuse in a Spanish sample of secondary students. *Rev. Argentina Clin. Psicol.* 28:339. doi: 10.24205/03276716.2019.1147
- Clevenger, S. L., Navarro, J. N., and Gilliam, M. (2018). Technology and the endless "cat and mouse" game: a review of the interpersonal cybervictimization literature. *Sociol. Compass* 12:e12639. doi: 10.1111/soc4.12639
- Clothey, R. A. (2017). The internet as a tool for informal education: a case of Uyghur language websites. *Compare* 47, 344–358. doi: 10.1080/03057925.2017.1281103
- Donoso, G., Casas, F., Oyanedel, J. C., and López, M. (2020). Relationship between digital development and subjective well-being in Chilean school children. *Comput. Educ.* 160:104027. doi: 10.1016/j.compedu.2020.104027

- Escobedo, M. T., Hernández, J. A., Estebané, V., and Martínez, G. (2016). Structural equation modeling: features, phases, construction, implementation, and results. *Ciencia Trabajo* 18, 16–22.
- Evren, C., Evren, B., Dalbudak, E., Topcu, M., Kutlu, N., and Elhai, J. D. (2019). Severity of dissociative experiences and emotion dysregulation mediate the relationship between childhood trauma and internet addiction symptom severity among young adults. *Neurol. Sci.* 32, 334–344. doi: 10.14744/ DAJPNS.2019.00048
- Eynon, R., and Malmberg, L. E. (2021). Lifelong learning and the internet: who benefits most from learning online? *Br. J. Educ. Technol.* 52, 569–583. doi: 10.1111/bjet.13041
- Fumero, A., Marrero, R. J., Voltes, D., and Penate, W. (2018). Personal and social factors involved in internet addiction among adolescents: a meta-analysis. *Comput. Hum. Behav.* 86, 387–400. doi: 10.1016/j. chb.2018.05.005
- Gardella, J. H., Fisher, B. W., and Teurbe-Tolon, A. R. (2017). A systematic review and meta-analysis of cyber-victimization and educational outcomes for adolescents. *Rev. Educ. Res.* 87, 283–308. doi: 10.3102/ 0034654316689136
- George, M. J., Russell, M. A., Piontak, J. R., and Odgers, C. L. (2018). Concurrent and subsequent associations between daily digital technology use and highrisk adolescents' mental health symptoms. *Child Dev.* 89, 78–88. doi: 10.1111/ cdev.12819
- Grant, J. E., Lust, K., and Chamberlain, S. R. (2019). Problematic smartphone use associated with greater alcohol consumption, mental health issues, poorer academic performance, and impulsivity. J. Behav. Addict. 8, 335–342. doi: 10.1556/2006.8.2019.32
- Hu, X., Gong, Y., Lai, C., and Leung, F. K. (2018). The relationship between ICT and student literacy in mathematics, reading, and science across 44 countries: a multilevel analysis. *Comput. Educ.* 125, 1–13. doi: 10.1016/j. compedu.2018.05.021
- Huang, F., Teo, T., and Scherer, R. (2020). Investigating the antecedents of university students' perceived ease of using the internet for learning. *Interact. Learn. Environ.* 28, 1–17. doi: 10.1080/10494820.2019.1710540
- Huang, F., Teo, T., and Zhou, M. (2019). Chinese students' intentions to use the internet-based technology for learning. *Educ. Technol. Res. Dev.* 68, 575–591. doi: 10.1007/s11423-019-09695-y
- Jensen, M., George, M. J., Russell, M. R., and Odgers, C. L. (2019). Young adolescents' digital technology use and mental health symptoms: little evidence of longitudinal or daily linkages. *Clin. Psychol. Sci.* 7, 1416–1433. doi: 10.1177/2167702619859336
- Lachmann, B., Sindermann, C., Sariyska, R. Y., Luo, R., Melchers, M. C., Becker, B., et al. (2018). The role of empathy and life satisfaction in internet and smartphone use disorder. *Front. Psychol.* 9:398. doi: 10.3389/ fpsyg.2018.00398
- Lai, K. W., and Smith, L. A. (2017). Tertiary students' understandings and practices of informal learning: a New Zealand case study. Australas. J. Educ. Technol. 33, 115–128. doi: 10.14742/ajet.2937
- Li, Y., Wang, Y., Ren, Z., Gao, M., Liu, Q., Qiu, C., et al. (2020). The influence of environmental pressure on Internet Use Disorder in adolescents: The potential mediating role of cognitive function. *Addict. Behav.* 101:105976. doi: 10.1016/j.addbeh.2019.04.034
- Lifshitz, R., Nimrod, G., and Bachner, Y. G. (2018). Internet use and well-being in later life: a functional approach. *Aging Ment. Health* 22, 85–91. doi: 10.1080/13607863.2016.1232370
- Lin, M. H., Chen, H. G., and Liu, K. S. (2017). A study of the effects of digital learning on learning motivation and learning outcome. *Eurasia J. Math. Sci. Technol. Educ.* 13, 3553–3564. doi: 10.12973/eurasia.2017.00744a
- Liu, Z. Y., Spitsyna, N., Zubanova, S., and Vekilova, A. (2020). Using internet resources for remote language learning. *Int. J. Emerg. Technol. Learn.* 15, 22–33. doi: 10.3991/ijet.v15i13.14653
- Louw, A. E., and Winter, M. (2011). The use and trends of information and communication technology (ICT) during middle childhood. J. Child Adolesc. Ment. Health 23, 29–42. doi: 10.2989/17280583.2011.594247
- Machimbarrena, J. M., Calvete, E., Fernández-González, L., Álvarez-Bardón, A., Álvarez-Fernández, L., and González-Cabrera, J. (2018). Internet risks: an overview of victimization in cyberbullying, cyber dating abuse, sexting, online grooming and problematic internet use. *Int. J. Environ. Res. Public Health* 15:2471. doi: 10.3390/ijerph15112471

- Maniaci, G., La Cascia, C., Giammanco, A., Ferraro, L., Palummo, A., Saia, G. F., et al. (2021). The impact of healthy lifestyles on academic achievement among Italian adolescents. *Curr. Psychol.* 40, 1–7. doi: 10.1007/s12144-021-01614-w
- Marino, C., Gini, G., Vieno, A., and Spada, M. M. (2017). The associations between problematic Facebook use, psychological distress and well-being among adolescents and young adults: A systematic review and meta-analysis. J. Affect. Disord. 226, 274–281. doi: 10.1016/j.jad.2017.10.007
- Martínez-Martínez, A. M., López-Liria, R., Aguilar-Parra, J. M., Trigueros, R., Morales-Gázquez, M. J., and Rocamora-Pérez, P. (2020). Relationship between emotional intelligence, cybervictimization, and academic performance in secondary school students. *Int. J. Environ. Res. Public Health* 17:7717. doi: 10.3390/ijerph17217717
- Masood, A., Luqman, A., Feng, Y., and Ali, A. (2020). Adverse consequences of excessive social networking site use on academic performance: explaining underlying mechanism from stress perspective. *Comput. Hum. Behav.* 113:106476. doi: 10.1016/j.chb.2020.106476
- Milková, E., and Ambrožová, P. (2018). Internet use and abuse: connection with internet addiction. *ERIES J.* 11, 22–28. doi: 10.7160/eriesj.2018.110201
- OECD (2015). *PISA 2018 Technical Standards*. Paris: PISA, OECD Publishing. Available at: https://www.oecd.org/pisa/pisaproducts/PISA-2018-Technical-Standards.pdf (23 August 2021).
- OECD (2019a). PISA 2018 Results. What School Life Means for Students's Lives Paris: PISA, OECD Publishing.
- OECD (2019b). PISA 2018 Assessment and Analytical Framework. Paris: PISA, OECD Publishing.
- Orben, A., Dienlin, T., and Przybylski, A. K. (2019). Social media's enduring effect on adolescent life satisfaction. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A.* 116, 10226–10228. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1902058116
- Orben, A., and Przybylski, A. K. (2019). The association between adolescent well-being and digital technology use. *Nat. Hum. Behav.* 3, 173–182. doi: 10.1038/s41562-018-0506-1
- Ortega-Barón, J., Buelga-Vasquez, S., and Cava-Caballero, M. J. (2016). The influence of school climate and family climate among adolescents victims of cyberbullying. *Comunicar* 24, 57–65. doi: 10.3916/C46-2016-06
- Pace, U., D'Urso, G., and Zappulla, C. (2018). Internalizing problems as a mediator in the relationship between low effortful control and internet abuse in adolescence: a three-wave longitudinal study. *Comput. Hum. Behav.* 92, 47–54. doi: 10.1016/j.chb.2018.10.030
- Pereira, S., Fillol, J., and Moura, P. (2019). Young people learning from digital media outside of school: the informal meets the formal. *Comunicar* 27, 41–50. doi: 10.3916/C58-2019-04
- Potkonjak, V., Gardner, M., Callaghan, V., Mattila, P., Guetl, C., Petrović, V. M., et al. (2016). Virtual laboratories for education in science, technology, and engineering: a review. *Comput. Educ.* 95, 309–327. doi: 10.1016/j. compedu.2016.02.002
- Rosenthal, S. (2017). Motivations to seek science videos on YouTube: freechoice learning in a connected society. Int. J. Sci. Educ. B 8, 22–39. doi: 10.1080/21548455.2017.1371357
- Rozgonjuk, D., Täht, K., and Vassil, K. (2021). Internet use at and outside of school in relation to low- and high-stakes mathematics test scores across 3 years. Int. J. STEM Educ. 8, 1–14. doi: 10.1186/s40594-021-00287-
- Ruiz, M. A., Pardo, A., and San Martín, R. (2010). Modelos de ecuaciones estructurales. Papeles Psicol. 31, 34–45.
- Schilhab, T. (2017). Impact of iPads on break-time in primary schools—a Danish context. Oxf. Rev. Educ. 43, 261–275. doi: 10.1080/03054985.2017.1304920
- Schreiber, J. B., Nora, A., Stage, F. K., Barlow, E. A., and King, J. (2006). Reporting structural equation modeling and confirmatory factor analysis results: a review. J. Educ. Res. 99, 323–338. doi: 10.3200/JOER.99.6.323-338
- Servidio, R., Bartolo, M. G., Palermiti, A. L., Casas, J. A., Ruiz, R. O., and Costabile, A. (2019). Internet addiction, self-esteem and the validation of the Italian version of the Internet Related Experiences Questionnaire. *Eur. Rev. Appl. Psychol.* 69, 51–58. doi: 10.1016/j.erap.2019.03.003
- Sulaimanu, U., Nelson, O., Emejulu, C., and Oyedepo, T. (2019). Internet, Youtube and informal learning among undergraduate students. *Int. J. Educ. Inf. Technol.* 13, 1–5.
- Torres-Díaz, J. C., Duart, J. M., Gómez-Alvarado, H. F., Marín-Gutiérrez, I., and Segarra-Faggioni, V. (2016). Internet use and academic success in university students. *Comunicar* 24, 61–70. doi: 10.3916/C48-2016-06

- Truzoli, R., Viganò, C., Galmozzi, P. G., and Reed, P. (2020). Problematic internet use and study motivation in higher education. J. Comput. Assist. Learn. 36, 480–486. doi: 10.1111/jcal.12414
- Twenge, J. M., and Martin, G. N. (2020). Gender differences in associations between digital media use and psychological well-being: Evidence from three large datasets. J. Adolesc. 79, 91–102. doi: 10.1016/j.adolescence.2019.12.018
- Twenge, J. M., Martin, G. N., and Campbell, W. K. (2018). Decreases in psychological well-being among American adolescents after 2012 and links to screen time during the rise of smartphone technology. *Emotion* 18, 765–780. doi: 10.1037/emo0000403
- Wu, J. Y. (2017). The indirect relationship of media multitasking self-efficacy on learning performance within the personal learning environment: implications from the mechanism of perceived attention problems and self-regulation strategies. *Comput. Educ.* 106, 56–72. doi: 10.1016/j.compedu.2016.10.010
- Yu, S., and Zhao, X. (2021). The negative impact of bullying victimization on academic literacy and social integration: evidence from 51 countries in PISA. Soc. Sci. Humanit. Open 4:100151. doi: 10.1016/j.ssaho.2021.100151
- Zhai, B., Li, D., Li, X., Liu, Y., Zhang, J., Sun, W., et al. (2020). Perceived school climate and problematic internet use among adolescents: mediating roles of school belonging and depressive symptoms. *Addict. Behav.* 110:106501. doi: 10.1016/j.addbeh.2020.106501

Zhao, X., and Yu, S. (2020). Exposure to bullying, academic literacy and social integration: evidences from PISA. Soc. Sci. Humanit. Open 24. doi: 10.2139/ ssrn.3676306

Conflict of Interest: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's Note: All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Copyright © 2021 Ortega-Ruipérez, Castellanos Sánchez and Marcano. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Internet Addiction and Emotional and Behavioral Maladjustment in Mainland Chinese Adolescents: Cross-Lagged Panel Analyses

Xiaoqin Zhu, Daniel T. L. Shek* and Carman K. M. Chu

Department of Applied Social Sciences, The Hong Kong Polytechnic University, Kowloon, Hong Kong SAR, China

Adolescence is a developmental stage when adolescents are vulnerable to addictive behaviors, such as Internet addiction (IA), which refers to pathological use of the Internet. Although there are views proposing that the links between IA and adolescent problem behavior may be bidirectional in nature, few studies have examined the reciprocal relationships between IA and other maladjustment indicators, and even fewer studies have simultaneously employed both emotional and behavioral maladjustment indicators in a single study. To address the above research gaps, the present study investigated how IA is associated with both depression and delinquency among Chinese adolescents. Two waves of data were collected at two consecutive years, respectively, with 1 year apart, from 3,010 students (Mean age=13.16, SD=0.81; 57.48% boys) in four junior high schools in mainland China. These students completed the same questionnaire containing measures of IA, depression, and delinquency at each wave. The proposed cross-lagged panel model fitted the data very well, and there were significant positive reciprocal effects between IA and depression as well as delinquency after controlling for background socio-demographic factors. Gender differences were also observed in multi-group comparisons. Specifically, IA showed a stronger longitudinal impact on delinquency among boys than among girls. While depression significantly predicted IA in 1 year among boys, such a prediction was not significant among girls. These findings delineate the bidirectionality of the associations between IA and emotional and behavioral maladjustment indexed by depression and delinguency, respectively. The findings also suggest that researchers and practitioners have to take gender differences as well as different developmental indicators in understanding the bidirectional influences between IA and adolescent behavioral and emotional development.

Keywords: internet addiction, depression, delinquency, longitudinal study, junior secondary school students

INTRODUCTION

The Internet has become an essential part of people's daily life, including children and adolescents. For example, 25.4% of the children aged 10–14 in Hong Kong were found to spend 20–50 h per week using the Internet in 2007; the figure increased to 42.0% in 2017 (Chung et al., 2019). With the fast-growing number of Internet users and increasing time online, the problem

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

María Carmen Martínez Monteagudo, University of Alicante, Spain

Reviewed by:

Konstanze Schoeps, University of Valencia, Spain Xiaoyu Lan, University of Oslo, Norway

*Correspondence: Daniel T. L. Shek daniel.shek@polyu.edu.hk

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Educational Psychology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Psychology

Received: 22 September 2021 Accepted: 19 October 2021 Published: 04 November 2021

Citation:

Zhu X, Shek DTL and Chu CKM (2021) Internet Addiction and Emotional and Behavioral Maladjustment in Mainland Chinese Adolescents: Cross-Lagged Panel Analyses. Front. Psychol. 12:781036. doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2021.781036

28

of Internet addiction (IA) and its adverse health consequences have become a major public concern (Caplan, 2003). IA, also known as "problematic Internet use," "pathological Internet use," or "compulsive Internet use," is characterized by having an excessive level of preoccupation or behaviors regarding Internet usage, which would usually result in distress and functional impairments (Weinstein et al., 2014). Some researchers considered IA a type of psychological disorder under the category of impulse-control and/or obsessive-compulsive disorder, as it shows symptoms similar to many substance use disorders, including "excessive use," "withdrawal phenomena," "tolerance," and "negative repercussions" (Young, 1998). However, Pies (2009) argued that there are no well-established physiological measures (e.g., blood pressure) or data for withdrawal or tolerance among individuals with IA. Further, as Internet is merely a medium or platform rather than a substance, the pathological need to use Internet may merely represent a behavioral manifestation of psychopathology or defense mechanisms (Pies, 2009). The enduring debate regarding the definition of IA has been mentioned in many studies, and scholars agree that the diagnostic criterion of IA is still open for discussion (Pies, 2009; Stip et al., 2016; Yu and Shek, 2018; Martins et al., 2020). However, a common consensus is that individuals can display different levels of addicted behavior related to Internet use, which has been commonly operationally conceived as a continuous construct indicated by integrated scores in different assessment tools (Liang et al., 2016; Yu and Shek, 2018; Tian et al., 2021).

Across various age groups, adolescents are most vulnerable to develop IA since they commonly lack effective self-regulation ability to control Internet surfing and they tend to be risktaking and impulsive (Cerniglia et al., 2017). Indeed, a relatively high and growing prevalence of IA among adolescents has been reported in both East and West societies, with the problems being most prevalent in Asian societies (Chung et al., 2019; Pan et al., 2020). In China, Wu et al. (2016) revealed a 10.4% prevalence rate of IA among 14–24-year-old young people in Anhui province; Xin et al. (2018) reported that the overall IA prevalence among adolescents aged 10–18 years in Guangzhou was as high as 26.5%; Xu et al. (2020) found that 32.5 and 19.8% of secondary school students in Macau and mainland China showed IA problems, respectively.

The worrying picture of the IA problem is not limited to its high and growing prevalence, but also related to its comorbidity with a wide range of other developmental issues. Ample findings demonstrated that IA co-exists with multiple adverse developmental outcomes. It was reported that IA and other addictive problems (e.g., gaming or substance addiction) shared common cognitive and behavioral characteristics, such as reward deficiency and impulsivity, changes in brain functions, such as hyperactivity of nucleus accumbens but diminished activity of ventral medial prefrontal cortex (Jorgenson et al., 2016; Cerniglia et al., 2017). In addition, IA was associated with social, emotional, and behavioral maladjustment. For example, In Xu et al.'s (2020) study, students categorized as having IA showed poorer academic performance and relationships with others (e.g., classmates, teachers and family), as well as more severe depressive symptoms and physical health issues. The positive linkage between IA and depression was also reported in many other studies (Kim et al., 2008; Wartberg et al., 2016; Wu et al., 2016). Furthermore, misconduct, such as delinquency characterized by rule-breaking or offenses carrying risks to oneself, others, family, school, and society, has also been found to be associated with IA. For example, Kim et al. (2008) considered delinquent behavior as one factor explaining significant variance in IA among Korean adolescents. Positive associations between IA and delinquent problems were also identified in other places such as China (Guo et al., 2021) and Europe (Evren et al., 2014; Wartberg et al., 2016).

Despite the observation on the association between IA and other maladjustment, the causal effects between these two domains remain inconclusive. On the one hand, the mood enhancement hypothesis (Zillmann, 1991) suggests that the use of Internet depends on the user's mood. When an individual has developmental problems, such as depression and delinquency, he or she is more likely to experience negative feelings and frustrations in the social world. As a result, the individual would prefer interacting with others online rather than off-line as the former is less threatening (Xin et al., 2018). The Internet -mediated virtual world provides a more comfortable and safer environment where the depressed or delinquent adolescents can "meet" and share feelings with others who may have similar experiences. To some extent, Internet is used to relieve negative feelings and escape real-life problems. In such a context, adolescents with developmental adjustment problems may gradually spend more time online, leading to excessive and compulsive use of Internet. In this line of reasoning, most previous studies considered IA a consequence of other developmental problems (Evren et al., 2014; Lam, 2014; Fayazi and Hasani, 2017).

On the other hand, a growing body of literature has also regarded IA as a predictor of negative development (Lam and Peng, 2010; Shek et al., 2018a; Yu and Zhou, 2021). This line of research usually upholds the social displacement hypothesis (Kraut et al., 1998). This framework suggests that the overuse of Internet would compete one's time and energy to engage in face-to-face interactions with friends and family, creating neglect of daily routines, impairment of social skills, isolation from social life, which eventually leads to social and emotional problems such as depression and delinquency (El Asam et al., 2019). In line with this notion, IA was found to negatively influence adolescents' social and emotional skills (Brunborg and Andreas, 2019; Yu and Zhou, 2021). Furthermore, young people's social comparisons through online platforms (e.g., social media) tend to be unrealistic, resulting in feelings of failure and frustration that would create subsequent emotional and behavioral problems (Brunborg and Andreas, 2019).

Although there are theoretical accounts and empirical evidence suggesting the bidirectional relationships between IA and depression and delinquency, only few longitudinal studies have tested this possibility (particularly depression) and the findings are not consistent. For example, van den Eijnden et al. (2008) found no significant cross-lagged predictions between IA and depression in a 6-month longitudinal study. Gámez-Guadix (2014) only found a reciprocal relationship between depressive symptoms and one specific component of IA (i.e., social problems associated with Internet use) but no such effect was found between depression and other components of IA, such as deficient selfregulation and preference for online interactions. In a more recent study, IA was found to significantly predict adolescents' hopelessness and low satisfaction but no evidence was found for the reverse effects (Yu and Shek, 2018). Nevertheless, another two recent studies identified significant reciprocal predictions between IA and depression among Chinese adolescents (Lau et al., 2018; Tian et al., 2021). While the bidirectional relationship between IA and depression is equivocal, no research to date has ever investigated the reciprocal effects between IA and delinquency. As depression and delinquency are important indicators of adolescent maladjustment in emotional and behavioral domains, respectively, there is a call for more longitudinal studies in this field to test the reciprocal relationships between IA and both depression and delinquency.

The previously mentioned equivocal findings regarding the IA-depression association may be partially attributable to gender effect, which was not examined in those studies showing inconsistent findings. While some studies observed that adolescent boys reported higher levels of IA but a lower level of depression than did adolescent girls (Evren et al., 2014; Ha and Hwang, 2014; Bağatarhan and Siyez, 2020), other studies identified no gender difference in the prevalence of IA (Yu and Zhou, 2021) or depression (Zhu et al., 2021). Similarly, gender differences in the relationship between IA and depression also remain unclear. Liang et al. (2016) identified a significant prediction of depression on subsequent IA only among boys but not among girls. The authors thus argued that boys may be more likely to turn to Internet for mood regulation, while girls may tend to seek help from others in the surrounding environment when they are not happy. However, in another two studies, girls with depressive symptoms were at a higher risk of developing IA than boys with similar problems (Ha and Hwang, 2014; Bağatarhan and Siyez, 2020). The authors also found that most girls used Internet for social networking, whereas boys used it for entertainment (e.g., playing online games). This observation suggests that when girls are faced with emotional difficulties, they are also likely to express unhappy feelings through the Internet.

As for delinquency, while adolescent boys have been found to typically report more delinquent behavior than do adolescent girls (Kofler et al., 2011; Stockdale and Coyne, 2020; Zhu and Shek, 2021a), gender differences in IA-delinquency association remain unknown. Some scholars contended that compared with girls, boys are more likely to act out stresses, difficulties, or unhappy feelings through deviant and rule-breaking behavior such as delinquency (Kofler et al., 2011). In this sense, boys, rather than girls, are more likely to express negative experiences related to IA through delinquent behavior, leading to a stronger IA-delinquency association among boys than among girls. Unfortunately, no research has ever examined this possibility. In view of the current inconclusive findings and the lack of research, it is necessary to investigate gender differences in the bidirectional relationships between IA and maladjustment in different domains.

In response to the call for addressing the above-mentioned issues, we attempted to investigate the possible reciprocal effects between adolescent IA and their emotional (i.e., depression) and behavioral (i.e., delinquency) maladjustment simultaneously in one single study. To do so, cross-lagged panel modeling (CLPM) analyses were carried out to analyze two waves of longitudinal data. In view of the existing literature showing positive linkages between IA and other problem behaviors (Lam, 2014; Liang et al., 2016), we hypothesized positive reciprocal relationships between IA and both delinquency (Hypothesis 1) and depression (Hypothesis 2). We would also explore gender invariance on the expected reciprocal impacts using multi-group comparisons.

Following previous practice (Yu and Shek, 2018; Zhu and Shek, 2021b), we tested four competing models (see Figure 1) to check whether the reciprocal effects model would best fit the data. In Model 1, only autoregressions were modeled (i.e., no predictions effects between IA and other problem behavior). Compared with Model 1, prospective effects of IA on depression and delinquency were further specified in Model 2, while prospective effects from depression and delinquency to IA were added in Model 3. The last model (Model 4) further modeled reciprocal longitudinal relationships between IA and depression and delinquency. Based on our hypotheses, we expected that Model 4 would show the best model fit.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Participants and Procedures

We tested the above hypotheses among junior secondary school students (i.e., early adolescents) who have to face growing developmental challenges in different domains, such as academic stress, peer pressure, conflicts with parents, difficulties in managing emotions, and so on. It is widely agreed that IA and emotional and behavioral maladjustment (e.g., depression





and delinquency) are more common in adolescents than in children, and there is a steady increase in IA, depression, and delinquency over time among some early adolescents (Houghton et al., 2018; Shore et al., 2018; Yu and Shek, 2018; Zhu and Shek, 2021a). Thus, it is theoretically and practically (e.g., early intervention) meaningful to address the research gaps regarding the relationship between IA and depression and delinquency among this group of students.

This study used two waves of data collected from junior secondary school students in four schools in mainland China (Shanwei, Zhaoqing, Jiujiang, and Suzhou). In September 2016 (i.e., Time 1), a total of 3,010 Grade 7 and Grade 8 students (age range = 11-15 years; Mean age = 13.16, SD = 0.81; 57.48% adolescent boys) in these schools completed a survey investigating their psychosocial adjustment (e.g., delinquency, depression, and IA). The majority of these respondents (83.26%) reported that they lived in an intact family. Besides, 2,648 students responded to the same survey in 1 year (i.e., Time 2), suggesting a total of 362 dropouts and thus an attrition rate of 12.03%. The retained sample (N=2,648) and the dropouts (N=362)did not differ in their demographic attributes (age, gender, and family intactness) and baseline IA, delinquency, and depression. Nevertheless, the whole sample (N=3,010) was used for final data analysis. A 1-year interval between the two assessments is convenient in terms of school administrative operations (i.e., not to disturb the school too frequently), and such "short-term" longitudinal study is not uncommon in the research field (Lam, 2014; Yu and Shek, 2018; Stockdale and Covne, 2020).

This study obtained ethical approval from the "Human Subjects Ethics Subcommittee" at the authors' institution. Before launching the project, all involved parties, including schools, adolescents, and parents, were well informed about the study objectives, the confidentiality of data collected, voluntary participation, free withdrawal at any time, and anonymous data analyses and dissemination. All parties had given their consent to join the study before data collection.

Measures

Internet Addiction

The Chinese Internet Addiction Test (CIAT) was translated and validated by Shek et al. (2008) based on Kimberly Young's 10-item questionnaire that included 10 typical symptoms of IA (Suler, 2004). Students responded "Yes" or "No" to the 10 questions based on their experience in the past 1 year. The sample questions included "Do you feel preoccupied with the Internet or online services and think about it while off-line?" and "Have you repeatedly made unsuccessful efforts to control, cut back, or stop Internet use?" Participants' IA was indexed by the number of "yes" answers they provided in the CIAT. Thus, the score has a possible range between 0 and 10, with a higher score indicating a higher level of IA symptoms. In this study, we treated CIAT scores as continuous variables because cutoff scores were not validated in Hong Kong. Further, this scale has been frequently used in previous studies to assess adolescents' IA level as a continuous variable (Chi et al., 2016; Shek et al., 2018b; Yu and Shek, 2018; Yu and Zhou, 2021). In this study, Cronbach's α s of the scale (0.78 and 0.80 at Wave 1 and Wave 2, respectively) indicated adequate scale reliability. McDonald's omegas (ω) also indicated adequate reliability.

Depression

The 20-item validated Chinese "Center for Epidemiological Studies-Depression" scale (CES-D) was employed to measure students' depression (Radloff, 1977; Zhu et al., 2021). Among the 20 items, 16 items assessed negative symptoms (e.g., "I felt lonely") and the other four were reversely coded positive items (e.g., "I enjoyed life"). Students indicated the frequency they showed each symptom in the previous week using responses from "0" ("rarely or less than 1 day") to "3" ("most or all of the time or 5-7 days"). Although the scale items assessed depressive symptoms from different dimensions (e.g., somatic complaints and negative affect), an overall score (e.g., average score or total score) is commonly used to indicate the level of depression in literature (Lau et al., 2018; Chi et al., 2019; Przepiorka et al., 2019). In our study, an average score was computed for each participant to indicate the level of depression. Cronbach's as of this scale in the present study were 0.87 and 0.89 at two waves, respectively. McDonald's omegas (ws) showed similar results.

Delinquency

We measured students' delinquency in terms of how frequently ("0=never"; "6=more than 10 times") they had engaged in 12 misconducts (e.g., "cheating," "stealing," "running away from home," and "trespassing") in the past 1 year (Shek and Zhu, 2019). Some of the listed delinquent behaviors, such as "stealing" and "damaging others' properties," are illegal behavior violating the law. However, some behaviors, such as "having sexual intercourse with others" and "running away from home," are minor offenses but still considered adolescent problem behavior in mainland China. The average score across the items was used in the present study. Cronbach's α values of this scale (0.74 and 0.78 in Wave 1 and Wave 2, respectively) suggest adequate scale reliability in the present study. McDonald's omegas (ω s) also suggested adequate reliability of the scale.

Several control variables were also measured in this study. These included age, gender, and non-intact family. These control variables were commonly used in previous studies (Yu and Shek, 2018; Zhu and Shek, 2021b).

Data Analysis

Mplus 8.5 was used to analyze cross-lagged panel models with the "full information maximum likelihood estimation" employed to handle missing values. This method makes use of all available information for each participant, and it has been proved to yield unbiased results in analyzing longitudinal data (Muthén and Muthén, 2018). First, the four competing models shown in **Figure 1** were tested using path analysis and adequate model fit was decided by following indices and criteria proposed by Kline (2015): "Comparative Fit Index" (CFI>0.95), "Tucker-Lewis Index" (TLI>0.95), "Root Mean Square Error of Approximation" (RMSEA <0.08), and "Standardized Root Mean Square Residual" (SRMR <0.08). As the four models were nested models, chi-square difference tests were used to examine which model best fit the data (Schermelleh-Engel et al., 2003). Second, multi-group (boys vs. girls) analyses were conducted based on the best-fitted model to explore adolescent gender effect. Before the above-mentioned formal analyses, we also performed confirmatory factor analyses (CFA) with invariance tests across gender and over time for each key measure (i.e., one-factor structure for IA and delinquency and three-factor structure for depression). Results showed that the measures were invariant across gender and over time (i.e., changes in CFI and RMSEA were less than 0.01), allowing us to use the scale score (e.g., the average or total score) of each measure for boys and girls at the two waves in the path analyses of the cross-lagged panel models. As scale validation is not the focus of the present study, related findings have been reported elsewhere (Zhu and Shek, 2020b; Zhu et al., 2021).

RESULTS

As shown in **Table 1**, IA was positively correlated with depression and delinquency in both cross-sectional and longitudinal levels after Bonferroni correction (p = 0.05/9 = 0.006). There were also positive correlations between depression and delinquency among adolescents. These results are in line with our expectations. Besides, three covariates also had significant associations with adolescent IA, depression, and delinquency, except for an insignificant relationship between gender and depression. Specifically, younger adolescents, or girls, or those who live in intact families reported lower levels of IA and delinquency, and younger or those who live in intact families reported lower levels of depression.

Results of model comparisons of the four competing models are presented in **Table 2**. All models demonstrated acceptable model fit. However, Model 2 (with IA effects) and Model 3 (with depression and delinquency effects) yielded a better model fit than did Model 1 (only autoregressions), with $\Delta \chi^2_{(2)} > 32$, p < 0.001. As predicted, Model 4 (i.e., reciprocal effects between IA and emotional as well as behavioral problem) better fitted

the data than did Model 2 and Model 3, with $\Delta \chi^2_{(2)} > 25$, p < 0.001. Thus, in line with our expectation, the reciprocal impacts model showed best model fit ($\chi^2_{(11)} = 56.517$, CFI = 0.986, TLI = 0.959, RMSEA = 0.038, SRMR = 0.020). Regression coefficients suggested positive reciprocal effects between IA and depression as well as between IA and delinquency (β ranged between 0.06 and 0.13, ps < 0.001; see **Table 3**, the whole sample). These results support Hypothesis 1 and Hypothesis 2.

Several multi-group tests by gender on the reciprocal effects model (i.e., Model 4) were performed to explore adolescent gender effect. Results are shown in Table 2. From Model 4b to Model 4c, one cross-lagged path was constrained to be equal between boys and girls in each comparison model. Compared to the unconstrained model (Model 4a) where all cross-lagged paths were freely estimated, Model 4b (an equality constraint on the cross-lagged path from IA to depression) and Model 4e (an equality constraint on the cross-lagged path from delinquency to IA) did not show significant chi-square differences ($\Delta \chi^2_{(1)} < 3.84$, p > 0.05). However, Model 4c (an equality constraint on the cross-lagged path from IA to delinquency) and Model 4d (an equality constraint on the cross-lagged path from IA to delinquency) yielded significant chi-square differences from Model 4a: $\Delta \chi^2_{(1)} = 7.68$ and 6.93 (ps < 0.01). As such, the final model (Model 4f) freely estimated predictive effects from IA to delinquency as well as that from depression to IA while constrained the other two paths to be equal across gender.

Regression coefficients of cross-lagged paths in Model 4f are depicted in **Table 3**. Although the positive prospective predictions of IA on delinquency were significant for both boys and girls (boys: $\beta = 0.14$, p < 0.001; girls: $\beta = 0.07$, p < 0.05), the effect appeared stronger among boys. In addition, the longitudinal effect of depression on IA was significant only among boys (boys: $\beta = 0.10$, p < 0.001; girls: $\beta = 0.02$, p = 0.59). These results implied that the IA and emotional and behavioral problems had reciprocal effects on each other, and some effects were similar among boys and girls while some showed significant gender differences.

S. No. Variable	Variables		Descripti	ons	Correlations							
	variables	Mean	SD	α/ω	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8
1.	Age	13.16	0.81									
2.	Gender ^a				-0.08***							
3.	Family intactness ^b				0.02	0.003						
4.	T1 IA	2.31	2.36	0.78/0.78	0.09***	-0.15***	0.09***					
5.	T1 DP	1.80	0.49	0.87/0.87	0.08***	0.03	0.07***	0.33***				
5.	T1 DE	0.45	0.54	0.74/0.75	0.11***	-0.15***	0.09***	0.38***	0.27***			
7.	T2 IA	2.30	2.44	0.80/0.80	0.06**	-0.10***	0.05***	0.46***	0.23***	0.25***		
3.	T2 DP	1.79	0.52	0.89/0.89	0.06**	0.04	0.05**	0.24***	0.47***	0.23***	0.35***	
9.	T2 DE	0.42	0.57	0.78/0.76	0.07***	-0.12***	0.06**	0.27***	0.21***	0.43***	0.32***	0.26**

TABLE 1 | Descriptions of variables and correlations among the variables.

^a1 = male and 2 = female.

^b1=intact; 2=non-intact; T1=Time 1; T2=Time 2. **p<0.01; ***p<0.001.

IA, internet addiction; DP, depression; DE, delinquency.

Models	χ²	df	CFI	TLI	RMSEA (90% CI)	SRMR	Model comparison	$\Delta \chi^2$	∆df
Model 1: No cross-lagged effects	153.132	15	0.958	0.908	0.056 (0.048, 0.064)	0.045			
Model 2: Internet addiction effects	82.042	13	0.979	0.947	0.043 (0.034, 0.052)	0.028	M2 vs. M1	71.09***	2
Model 3: Depression and delinquency effects	120.845	13	0.967	0.917	0.053 (0.045, 0.062)	0.037	M3 vs. M1	32.29***	2
Model 4: Reciprocal effects	56.517	11	0.986	0.959	0.038 (0.028, 0.048)	0.020	M4 vs. M1	96.62***	4
							M4 vs. M2	25.53***	2
							M4 vs. M3	64.33***	2
Multi-group (boys vs. girls) tests	on the recip	orocal mo	odel						
Model 4a: Unconstrained model	48.050	16	0.990	0.966	0.037 (0.025, 0.049)	0.022			
Model 4b: Constrain internet	48.827	17	0.990	0.969	0.036 (0.024, 0.048)	0.022	M4b vs. M4a	0.77	1
addiction → depression Model 4c: Constrain internet addiction → delinquency	55.730	17	0.988	0.962	0.039 (0.028, 0.051)	0.024	M4c vs. M4a	7.68**	1
Model 4d: Constrain depression \rightarrow internet addiction	54.975	17	0.988	0.963	0.039 (0.028, 0.051)	0.023	M4d vs. M4a	6.93**	1
Model 4e: Constrain delinquency \rightarrow internet addiction	48.156	17	0.990	0.969	0.035 (0.024, 0.047)	0.022	M4e vs. M4a	0.11	1
Model 4f: free internet addiction \rightarrow delinquency, and depression \rightarrow internet addiction, constrain other paths (final model)	48.934	18	0.990	0.971	0.034 (0.023, 0.046)	0.022	M4f vs. M4a	0.88	2

p<0.01; *p<0.001.

TABLE 3 | Regression weights of paths in the reciprocal model for the whole sample, boys, and girls.

Predictor	Dependent	β					
Predictor	variable	Whole sample	Boys	Girls			
Time 1 Internet addiction	Time 2 Depression	0.10***	0.11***	0.09***			
Time 1 Internet addiction	Time 2 Delinquency	0.13***	0.14***	0.07*			
Time 1 Depression	Time 2 Internet addiction	0.06**	0.10***	0.02			
Time 1 Delinquency	Time 2 Internet addiction	0.06**	0.06**	0.05**			

p < 0.05; p < 0.01; p < 0.01.

DISCUSSION

The present study investigated cross-lagged effects between Internet addiction (IA) and emotional and behavioral problems (depression and delinquency) over 2 years among Chinese adolescents. The results reveal that baseline IA measured at Time 1 significantly and positively predicted depression and delinquency in 1 year (i.e., at Time 2). Meanwhile, higher levels of depression and delinquency at Time 1 also significantly predicted a higher level of IA at Time 2. These results indicate that the associations between IA and depression and delinquency were bidirectional, echoing previous findings which suggested that pathological use of Internet can be caused by emotional and behavioral maladjustment in adolescence (Cerruti et al., 2017; Bağatarhan and Siyez, 2020) and also further worsen these problems (Yu and Shek, 2018; Chi et al., 2019). While most previous studies focused on one of the two predictions, especially the association between IA and depression (Lam, 2014), our study investigated the two aspects simultaneously and included delinquency as well, thus providing additional and comprehensive evidence for the dynamic relationship between IA and other developmental issues.

In line with previous findings, our results suggest that some adolescents are more vulnerable to the development of IA than others, including those having other emotional and behavioral symptoms (Cerniglia et al., 2017; Chung et al., 2019). It has been found that adolescents with depression and/ or delinquency would suffer from increased negative experiences and painful feelings in personal and social life, such as loneliness, hopelessness, poor academic performance, conflicts with parents, and parent-child relationships (Kofler et al., 2011; Cerniglia et al., 2017; Zhang et al., 2018). As a result, Internet surfing may serve as a dissociative strategy to cope with the distress and frustrations (Davis, 2001; Cerniglia et al., 2017), as adolescents can share feelings with others in a virtual world and get recognition and responses as well. This may allow the adolescents feel accompanied and satisfied, which they are not able to have in the real world due to insufficient effective social connections (Yao and Zhong, 2014). Thus, adolescents with developmental problems tend to spend more time on the Internet, using a seemingly adaptive "self-soothing" for resolution of problems they are facing and relief of associated negative feelings. Obviously, future studies should further explore whether coping mechanisms would mediate the impact of negative emotions on IA.

Despite the possibility that Internet may benefit depressed and delinquent adolescents to some extent (such as providing peer support and a sense of achievement), the cross-lagged effects from IA to depression and delinquency were also significant in the current study, with relatively larger coefficients than the reverse effects. These findings indicate that overuse of the Internet could worsen developmental problems even to a larger extent. This echoes the previous observations that IA among adolescents acts as a precursor of low well-being, poor self-esteem, and loneliness rather than an outcome (Yao and Zhong, 2014; Yu and Shek, 2018). One interpretation is that addictive behavior, including IA, is associated with significant structural changes in brain regions involving in cognitive control and reward processing (Jorgenson et al., 2016). Such changes further result in impairments in adolescents' emotional and behavioral capacity, leading to ineffective coping and developmental problems (Fayazi and Hasani, 2017; Yu and Zhou, 2021). Meanwhile, excessive Internet usage inevitably reduces face-to-face interactions with parents and peers, which may impair relationships with peers and family members and reduce social support (Wang et al., 2018; Xin et al., 2018), all of which in turn damper adolescent healthy development but lead to maladjustment in multiple aspects (Wang et al., 2018; Shek and Zhu, 2019; Zhu and Shek, 2021a).

While the overall bidirectional relationships between IA and depression and delinquency are supported in the present study, some previous findings failed to identify cross-lagged effects between IA and depression (Yao and Zhong, 2014) or only supported one direction causality (Yu and Shek, 2018). We argued that such inconsistent findings may partially be attributed to gender differences that were not examined in the previous studies. The present study found that boys reported higher levels of delinquency and IA than did girls, while gender was not significantly related to depression level. Besides, baseline depression significantly predicted subsequent IA in 1 year only among boys but not among girls, which is in line with Liang et al.'s (2016) observation. These findings suggest that the relationship between adolescent IA and depression is dependent on gender. In particular, male adolescents are more prone to turn to Internet (e.g., playing online games) to alter or escape negative feelings associated with depression. It is possible that compared with girls, boys are less inclined to seek social support and use effective emotional regulation strategies and they are more likely to suppress or avoid emotional expression (Gross and John, 2003; Nolen-Hoeksema, 2012). This is particularly the case in Chinese contexts where boys are socialized to be tough and emotionally suppressive while girls are encouraged to be more sensitive (Yeh et al., 2017).

The reciprocal relationship between IA and delinquency did not vary across gender, although the effect of IA on delinquency appeared to be stronger among boys. These observations are not consistent with Liang et al.'s (2016) study, which found that IA significantly predicted future depression only among girls. The authors argued that compared with boys, girls with IA are more likely to reduce off-line social contact and suffer from social isolation, which often leads to depression. However, in our study, boys were more likely to show negative consequences of IA, especially behavioral problems. There are several explanations for this observation. First, it may be due to relatively higher levels of IA among boys. Second, it might be related to different ways in which the Internet is used by boys and girls. Previous studies found that compared with girls who usually use Internet to search and exchange information, boys use Internet more for pleasure through multiple online activities such as playing online games (Jones et al., 2009; Liang et al., 2016). It can be argued that the unique behavioral pattern underlying IA among boys may be more closely related to poor self-regulation and cognitive impulsivity, which eventually elevates the likelihood of delinquency. Nevertheless, the exact mechanisms underlying the present gender differences warrant further investigation in the future.

The present findings suggest that scholars, educators, youth workers, and parents need to pay attention to adolescents' emotional and behavioral issues when designing prevention and intervention programs to deal with excessive use of Internet. At the same time, regulating adolescent children's online activities may be a way to help prevent depression and delinquency. However, it is noteworthy that the values of regression coefficients between IA and delinquency and depression were not large, which suggests that IA can explain only a small proportion of variance in depression and delinquency and vice versa. Similar observations have been reported in previous studies (Liang et al., 2016; Tian et al., 2021). It is noted that the cross-lagged model is a conservative analytic tool that controls the effects of autoregression (i.e., the stability of key constructs) and covariates (age, gender, and family intactness in this study). Thus, the lagged path coefficients in cross-lagged models are normally not high (Adachi and Willoughby, 2015; Wu et al., 2020; Zhou et al., 2020). Researchers recommended that the so-called "small" effect in the longitudinal study should not be treated as "trivial" but actually "meaningful" (Adachi and Willoughby, 2015, p. 116).

Nevertheless, it can be argued that IA, depression, and delinquency are complex developmental disorders shaped by multiple ecological factors and causal pathways. For example, these developmental problems may be affected by individual (e.g., positive youth development attributes) and contextual factors (e.g., parenting and family functioning) simultaneously (Shek et al., 2018b; Zhou et al., 2020; Zhu and Shek, 2021a,b; Dou and Shek, 2021), which may lead to the associations among IA, depression, and delinquency. In this case, effective prevention and intervention youth programs may need to focus more on promoting adolescents' competence and skills in a holistic manner instead of only targeting at eliminating one specific disorder, including IA (Shek et al., 2018a, 2020; Chung et al., 2019; Shek, 2019). Evidence in positive youth development research field strongly suggests that strengthening protective factors on both intrapersonal (e.g., emotional competence) and interpersonal (e.g., social skills) levels is a promising way to prevent and curb adolescent developmental problems, including depression, delinquency, and IA (Ciocanel et al., 2017; Taylor et al., 2017; Zhu and Shek, 2020a).

Although the reciprocal associations between IA and depression and delinquency and the gender differences elucidated in the present study have valuable theoretical and practical implications, the findings should be interpreted in light of several limitations. First, only two waves of data were collected for each variable, which makes it impossible to test whether the reciprocal associations would change over time. Obviously, there is a need to collect more waves of data over a longer time span in the future. Second, with two waves of data, we employed traditional CLPM, which could have poor performance when there is correlated trait variance in the constructs under investigation (Hamaker et al., 2015). Thus, random-intercepts CLPM (RI-CLPM) is recommended to partial out any between-person differences and ensure that the cross-lagged effects reliably reflect withinperson fluctuations (Mulder and Hamaker, 2021). Therefore, in future studies, RI-CLPM should be used with at least three waves of data to further clarify the reciprocal relationships between IA and other emotional and behavioral problems. Third, this study did not examine why there are gender differences in the associations between IA and other developmental issues. Future research will benefit from including additional variables that may help explain the identified gender effect. Fourth, given that the participants in this study were recruited from four cities located in East, South, and Central China, the current findings may not be generalized to all Chinese adolescents. Future research could further involve Chinese adolescents living in other regions, such as North and West China, Hong Kong, and Macau. Fifth, because of administrative convenience for each participating school, we collected data at the beginning of a new semester, when adolescents may face increasing adaptation challenges and thus might report high levels of emotional and behavioral maladjustment. Although no such adverse effect was reported by the schools, future research could consider collecting data at a different time point (e.g., at the end of a semester).

REFERENCES

- Adachi, P., and Willoughby, T. (2015). Interpreting effect sizes when controlling for stability effects in longitudinal autoregressive models: implications for psychological science. *Eur. J. Dev. Psychol.* 12, 116–128. doi: 10.1080/17405629.2014.963549
- Bağatarhan, T., and Siyez, D. M. (2020). Rumination and internet addiction among adolescents: the mediating role of depression. *Child Adolesc. Soc. Work J.* doi: 10.1007/s10560-020-00715-y [Epub ahead of print].
- Brunborg, G. S., and Andreas, B. J. (2019). Increase in time spent on social media is associated with modest increase in depression, conduct problems, and episodic heavy drinking. J. Adolesc. 74, 201–209. doi: 10.1016/j. adolescence.2019.06.013
- Caplan, S. E. (2003). Preference for online social interaction: A theory of problematic internet use and psychosocial well-being. *Commun. Res.* 30, 625–648. doi: 10.1177/0093650203257842
- Cerniglia, L., Zoratto, F., Cimino, S., Laviola, G., Ammaniti, M., and Adriani, W. (2017). Internet addiction in adolescence: neurobiological, psychosocial and clinical issues. *Neurosci. Biobehav. Rev.* 76, 174–184. doi: 10.1016/j. neubiorev.2016.12.024
- Cerruti, R., Spensieri, V., Presaghi, F., Valastro, C., Fontana, A., and Guidetti, V. (2017). An exploratory study on internet addiction, somatic symptoms and emotional and behavioral functioning in school-aged adolescents. *Clin. Neuropsychiatry* 14, 374–383.
- Chi, X., Lin, L., and Zhang, P. (2016). Internet addiction among college students in China: prevalence and psychosocial correlates. *Cyberpsychol. Behav. Soc. Netw.* 19, 567–573. doi: 10.1089/cyber.2016.0234
- Chi, X., Liu, X., Guo, T., Wu, M., and Chen, X. (2019). Internet addiction and depression in Chinese adolescents: A moderated mediation model [original research]. *Front. Psychol.* 10:816. doi: 10.3389/fpsyt.2019.00816

DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

The raw data supporting the conclusions of this article will be made available by the authors, without undue reservation.

ETHICS STATEMENT

The studies involving human participants were reviewed and approved by Human Subjects Ethics Subcommittee at The Hong Kong Polytechnic University. Written informed consent to participate in this study was provided by the participants' legal guardian/next of kin.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

XZ contributed to the design of the project, data collection, and data interpretation of the work, drafted the work, and revised it based on the critical comments provided by DS. DS conceived the project, obtained the funding, and edited the manuscript. CC drafted the work. All authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

FUNDING

This paper and the two-wave longitudinal study in the Tin Ka Ping P.A.T.H.S. Project are financially supported by Tin Ka Ping Foundation.

- Chung, T. W. H., Sum, S. M. Y., and Chan, M. W. L. (2019). Adolescent internet addiction in Hong Kong: prevalence, psychosocial correlates, and prevention. J. Adolesc. Health 64, S34–S43. doi: 10.1016/j.jadohealth.2018.12.016
- Ciocanel, O., Power, K., Eriksen, A., and Gillings, K. (2017). Effectiveness of positive youth development interventions: A meta-analysis of randomized controlled trials. J. Youth Adolesc. 46, 483–504. doi: 10.1007/s10964-016-0555-6
- Davis, R. A. (2001). A cognitive-behavioral model of pathological internet use. Comput. Hum. Behav. 17, 187–195. doi: 10.1016/S0747-5632(00)00041-8
- Dou, D., and Shek, D. T. L. (2021). Concurrent and longitudinal relationships between positive youth development attributes and adolescent internet addiction symptoms in Chinese mainland high school students. *Int. J. Environ. Res. Public Health* 18, 1937. doi: 10.3390/ijerph18041937
- El Asam, A., Samara, M., and Terry, P. (2019). Problematic internet use and mental health among British children and adolescents. *Addict. Behav.* 90, 428–436. doi: 10.1016/j.addbeh.2018.09.007
- Evren, C., Dalbudak, E., Evren, B., and Demirci, A. C. (2014). High risk of internet addiction and its relationship with lifetime substance use, psychological and behavioral problems among 10th grade adolescents. *Psychiatr. Danub.* 26, 330–339.
- Fayazi, M., and Hasani, J. (2017). Structural relations between brain-behavioral systems, social anxiety, depression and internet addiction: with regard to revised reinforcement sensitivity theory (r-RST). Comput. Hum. Behav. 72, 441–448. doi: 10.1016/j.chb.2017.02.068
- Gámez-Guadix, M. (2014). Depressive symptoms and problematic internet use among adolescents: analysis of the longitudinal relationships from the cognitive-behavioral model. *Cyberpsychol. Behav. Soc. Netw.* 17, 714–719. doi: 10.1089/cyber.2014.0226
- Gross, J. J., and John, O. P. (2003). Individual differences in two emotion regulation processes: implications for affect, relationships, and well-being. J. Pers. Soc. Psychol. 85, 348–362. doi: 10.1037/0022-3514.85.2.348
- Guo, L., Shi, G., Du, X., Wang, W., Guo, Y., and Lu, C. (2021). Associations of emotional and behavioral problems with internet use among Chinese young adults: the role of academic performance. J. Affect. Disord. 287, 214–221. doi: 10.1016/j.jad.2021.03.050
- Ha, Y.-M., and Hwang, W. J. (2014). Gender differences in internet addiction associated with psychological health indicators among adolescents using a national web-based survey. *Int. J. Ment. Heal. Addict.* 12, 660–669. doi: 10.1007/s11469-014-9500-7
- Hamaker, E. L., Kuiper, R. M., and Grasman, R. P. P. P. (2015). A critique of the cross-lagged panel model. *Psychol. Methods* 20, 102–116. doi: 10.1037/ a0038889
- Houghton, S., Lawrence, D., Hunter, S. C., Rosenberg, M., Zadow, C., Wood, L., et al. (2018). Reciprocal relationships between trajectories of depressive symptoms and screen media use during adolescence. J. Youth Adolesc. 47, 2453–2467. doi: 10.1007/s10964-018-0901-y
- Jones, S., Johnson-Yale, C., Millermaier, S., and Pérez, F. S. (2009). U.S. college students' internet use: Race, gender and digital divides. J. Comput.-Mediat. Commun. 14, 244–264. doi: 10.1111/j.1083-6101.2009.01439.x
- Jorgenson, A. G., Hsiao, R. C., and Yen, C. F. (2016). Internet addiction and other behavioral addictions. *Child Adolesc. Psychiatr. Clin. N. Am.* 25, 509–520. doi: 10.1016/j.chc.2016.03.004
- Kim, N. H., Shin, Y. M., Cho, S. M., Lee, Y. M., Lim, K. Y., Chung, Y. K., et al. (2008). Sociodemographic characteristics and emotional and behavioral problems related with internet addiction tendency in adolescents. *J. Korean Neuropsychiatr. Assoc.* 47, 378–383.
- Kline, R. B. (2015). Principles and Practice of Structural Equation Modeling. 4th Edn. New York, NY: The Guilford Press.
- Kofler, M. J., McCart, M. R., Zajac, K., Ruggiero, K. J., Saunders, B. E., and Kilpatrick, D. G. (2011). Depression and delinquency covariation in an accelerated longitudinal sample of adolescents. *J. Consult. Clin. Psychol.* 79, 458–469. doi: 10.1037/a0024108
- Kraut, R., Patterson, M., Lundmark, V., Kiesler, S., Mukophadhyay, T., and Scherlis, W. (1998). Internet paradox: A social technology that reduces social involvement and psychological well-being? *Am. Psychol.* 53, 1017–1031. doi: 10.1037/0003-066X.53.9.1017
- Lam, L. T. (2014). Risk factors of internet addiction and the health effect of internet addiction on adolescents: a systematic review of longitudinal and prospective studies. *Curr. Psychiatry Rep.* 16:508. doi: 10.1007/ s11920-014-0508-2
- Lam, L. T., and Peng, Z.-W. (2010). Effect of pathological use of the internet on adolescent mental health: a prospective study. Arch. Pediatr. Adolesc. Med. 164, 901–906. doi: 10.1001/archpediatrics.2010.159
- Lau, J. T. F., Walden, D. L., Wu, A. M. S., Cheng, K. M., Lau, M. C. M., and Mo, P. K. H. (2018). Bidirectional predictions between internet addiction and probable depression among Chinese adolescents. *J. Behav. Addict.* 7, 633–648. doi: 10.1556/2006.7.2018.87
- Liang, L., Zhou, D., Yuan, C., Shao, A., and Bian, Y. (2016). Gender differences in the relationship between internet addiction and depression: a cross-lagged study in Chinese adolescents. *Comput. Hum. Behav.* 63, 463–470. doi: 10.1016/j. chb.2016.04.043
- Martins, M. V., Formiga, A., Santos, C., Sousa, D., Resende, C., Campos, R., et al. (2020). Adolescent internet addiction–role of parental control and adolescent behaviours. *Int. J. Pediatr. Adolesc. Med.* 7, 116–120. doi: 10.1016/j. ijpam.2019.12.003
- Mulder, J. D., and Hamaker, E. L. (2021). Three extensions of the random intercept cross-lagged panel model. *Struct. Equ. Model. Multidiscip. J.* 28, 638–648. doi: 10.1080/10705511.2020.1784738
- Muthén, L. K., and Muthén, B. O. (2018). Mplus User's Guide. 8th Edn. Los Angeles, CA: Muthén & Muthén.
- Nolen-Hoeksema, S. (2012). Emotion regulation and psychopathology: the role of gender. Annu. Rev. Clin. Psychol. 8, 161–187. doi: 10.1146/annurevclinpsy-032511-143109
- Pan, Y.-C., Chiu, Y.-C., and Lin, Y.-H. (2020). Systematic review and metaanalysis of epidemiology of internet addiction. *Neurosci. Biobehav. Rev.* 118, 612–622. doi: 10.1016/j.neubiorev.2020.08.013
- Pies, R. (2009). Should DSM-V designate "internet addiction" a mental disorder? Psychiatry 6, 31–37.
- Przepiorka, A., Blachnio, A., and Cudo, A. (2019). The role of depression, personality, and future time perspective in internet addiction in adolescents

and emerging adults. *Psychiatry Res.* 272, 340-348. doi: 10.1016/j. psychres.2018.12.086

- Radloff, L. S. (1977). The CES-D scale: a self-report depression scale for research in the general population. *Appl. Psychol. Meas.* 1, 385–401. doi: 10.1177/014662167700100306
- Schermelleh-Engel, K., Moosbrugger, H., and Müller, H. (2003). Evaluating the fit of structural equation models: tests of significance and descriptive goodnessof-fit measures. *Methods Psychol. Res. Online* 8, 23–74.
- Shek, D. T. L. (2019). The "ABCDE" of video gaming control: arguments, basic research, conceptual models, documented lessons, and evaluation. J. Behav. Addict. 8, 3–6. doi: 10.1556/2006.8.2019.13
- Shek, D. T. L., Lin, L., Ma, C. M. S., Yu, L., Leung, J. T. Y., Wu, F. K. Y., et al. (2020). Perceptions of adolescents, teachers and parents of life skills education and life skills in high school students in Hong Kong. *Appl. Res. Qual. Life* doi: 10.1007/s11482-020-09848-9 [Epub ahead of print].
- Shek, D. T. L., Tang, V. M. Y., and Lo, C. Y. (2008). Internet addiction in Chinese adolescents in Hong Kong: assessment, profiles, and psychosocial correlates. *Sci. World J.* 8, 776–787. doi: 10.1100/tsw.2008.104
- Shek, D. T. L., Yu, L., and Chai, W. (2018a). The relationship between internet addiction and problem behaviors amongst Hong Kong adolescents: a threeyear longitudinal study. J. Concurrent Disord. 1, 2–22.
- Shek, D. T. L., and Zhu, X. (2019). Paternal and maternal influence on delinquency among early adolescents in Hong Kong. Int. J. Environ. Res. Public Health 16:1338. doi: 10.3390/ijerph16081338
- Shek, D. T. L., Zhu, X., and Ma, C. M. S. (2018b). The influence of parental control and parent-child relational qualities on adolescent internet addiction: a 3-year longitudinal study in Hong Kong. *Front. Psychol.* 9:642. doi: 10.3389/ fpsyg.2018.00642
- Shore, L., Toumbourou, J. W., Lewis, A. J., and Kremer, P. (2018). Review: longitudinal trajectories of child and adolescent depressive symptoms and their predictors – a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Child Adolesc. Mental Health* 23, 107–120. doi: 10.1111/camh.12220
- Stip, E., Thibault, A., Beauchamp-Chatel, A., and Kisely, S. (2016). Internet addiction, hikikomori syndrome, and the prodromal phase of psychosis. *Front. Psychol.* 7:6. doi: 10.3389/fpsyt.2016.00006
- Stockdale, L. A., and Coyne, S. M. (2020). Bored and online: reasons for using social media, problematic social networking site use, and behavioral outcomes across the transition from adolescence to emerging adulthood. *J. Adolesc.* 79, 173–183. doi: 10.1016/j.adolescence.2020.01.010
- Suler, J. (2004). Computer and cyberspace "addiction". Int. J. Appl. Psychoanal. Stud. 1, 359–362. doi: 10.1002/aps.90
- Taylor, R. D., Oberle, E., Durlak, J. A., and Weissberg, R. P. (2017). Promoting positive youth development through school-based social and emotional learning interventions: a meta-analysis of follow-up effects. *Child Dev.* 88, 1156–1171. doi: 10.1111/cdev.12864
- Tian, Y., Qin, N., Cao, S., and Gao, F. (2021). Reciprocal associations between shyness, self-esteem, loneliness, depression and internet addiction in Chinese adolescents. *Addict. Res. Theory* 29, 98–110. doi: 10.1080/16066359.2020.1755657
- van den Eijnden, R. J. J. M., Meerkerk, G.-J., Vermulst, A. A., Spijkerman, R., and Engels, R. C. M. E. (2008). Online communication, compulsive internet use, and psychosocial well-being among adolescents: a longitudinal study. *Dev. Psychol.* 44, 655–665. doi: 10.1037/0012-1649.44.3.655
- Wang, W., Li, D., Li, X., Wang, Y., Sun, W., Zhao, L., et al. (2018). Parentadolescent relationship and adolescent internet addiction: a moderated mediation model. *Addict. Behav.* 84, 171–177. doi: 10.1016/j.addbeh.2018.04.015
- Wartberg, L., Brunner, R., Kriston, L., Durkee, T., Parzer, P., Fischer-Waldschmidt, G., et al. (2016). Psychopathological factors associated with problematic alcohol and problematic internet use in a sample of adolescents in Germany. *Psychiatry Res.* 240, 272–277. doi: 10.1016/j.psychres.2016.04.057
- Weinstein, A., Curtiss Feder, L., Rosenberg, K. P., and Dannon, P. (2014). "Internet addiction disorder: overview and controversies," in *Behavioral Addictions*. eds. K. P. Rosenberg and L. C. Feder (San Diego, CA: Academic Press), 99–117.
- Wu, Y., Sang, Z. Q., Zhang, X. C., and Margraf, J. (2020). The relationship between resilience and mental health in Chinese college students: a longitudinal cross-lagged analysis. *Front. Psychol.* 11:108. doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2020.00108
- Wu, X.-S., Zhang, Z.-H., Zhao, F., Wang, W.-J., Li, Y.-F., Bi, L., et al. (2016). Prevalence of internet addiction and its association with social support and other related factors among adolescents in China. J. Adolesc. 52, 103–111. doi: 10.1016/j.adolescence.2016.07.012

- Xin, M., Xing, J., Pengfei, W., Houru, L., Mengcheng, W., and Hong, Z. (2018). Online activities, prevalence of internet addiction and risk factors related to family and school among adolescents in China. *Addict. Behav. Rep.* 7, 14–18. doi: 10.1016/j.abrep.2017.10.003
- Xu, D.-D., Lok, K.-I., Liu, H.-Z., Cao, X.-L., An, F.-R., Hall, B. J., et al. (2020). Internet addiction among adolescents in Macau and mainland China: prevalence, demographics and quality of life. *Sci. Rep.* 10:16222. doi: 10.1038/ s41598-020-73023-1
- Yao, M. Z., and Zhong, Z.-J. (2014). Loneliness, social contacts and internet addiction: a cross-lagged panel study. *Comput. Hum. Behav.* 30, 164–170. doi: 10.1016/j.chb.2013.08.007
- Yeh, K.-H., Bedford, O., Wu, C.-W., Wang, S.-Y., and Yen, N.-S. (2017). Suppression benefits boys in Taiwan: the relation between gender, emotional regulation strategy, and mental health. *Front. Psychol.* 8:135. doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2017.00135
- Young, K. S. (1998). Internet addiction: the emergence of a new clinical disorder. *Cyber Psychol. Behav.* 1, 237–244. doi: 10.1089/cpb.1998.1.237
- Yu, L., and Shek, D. T. L. (2018). Testing longitudinal relationships between internet addiction and well-being in Hong Kong adolescents: cross-lagged analyses based on three waves of data. *Child Indic. Res.* 11, 1545–1562. doi: 10.1007/s12187-017-9494-3
- Yu, L., and Zhou, X. (2021). Emotional competence as a mediator of the relationship between internet addiction and negative emotion in young adolescents in Hong Kong. *Appl. Res. Qual. Life* doi: 10.1007/s11482-021-09912-y [Epub ahead of print].
- Zhang, Y., Qin, X., and Ren, P. (2018). Adolescents' academic engagement mediates the association between internet addiction and academic achievement: The moderating effect of classroom achievement norm. *Comput. Hum. Behav.* 89, 299–307. doi: 10.1016/j.chb.2018.08.018
- Zhou, Z., Shek, D. T. L., and Zhu, X. (2020). The importance of positive youth development attributes to life satisfaction and hopelessness in mainland Chinese sdolescents. *Front. Psychol.* 11:553313. doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2020.553313
- Zhu, X., and Shek, D. T. L. (2020a). Impact of a positive youth development program on junior high school students in mainland China: a pioneer study. *Child Youth Serv. Rev.* 114:105022. doi: 10.1016/j.childyouth.2020.105022

- Zhu, X., and Shek, D. T. L. (2020b). Predictive effect of positive youth development attributes on delinquency among adolescents in mainland China. *Front. Psychol.* 11:615900. doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2020.615900
- Zhu, X., and Shek, D. T. L. (2021a). Parental control and adolescent delinquency based on parallel process latent growth curve modeling. *Int. J. Environ. Res. Public Health* 18:8916. doi: 10.3390/ijerph18178916
- Zhu, X., and Shek, D. T. L. (2021b). Problem behavior and life satisfaction in early adolescence: longitudinal findings in a Chinese context. *J. Happiness Stud.* 22, 2889–2914. doi: 10.1007/s10902-020-00346-1
- Zhu, X., Shek, D. T. L., and Dou, D. (2021). Factor structure of the Chinese CES-D and invariance analyses across gender and over time among Chinese adolescents. J. Affect. Disord. 295, 639–646. doi: 10.1016/j. jad.2021.08.122
- Zillmann, D. (1991). "Television viewing and physiological arousal," in *Responding to the Screen: Reception and Reaction Processes*. eds. J. Bryant and D. Zillmann (Hillsdale, NJ: Lawrence Erlbaum Associate), 103–133.

Conflict of Interest: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's Note: All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Copyright © 2021 Zhu, Shek and Chu. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Exploration of Psychological Mechanism of Smartphone Addiction Among International Students of China by Selecting the Framework of the I-PACE Model

Anam Mehmood¹, Tianyi Bu¹, Erying Zhao¹, Viktoriia Zelenina¹, Nikishov Alexander¹, Wantong Wang¹, Sultan Mehmood Siddiqi², Xiaohui Qiu¹, Xiuxian Yang¹, Zhengxue Qiao¹, Jiawei Zhou^{1*} and Yanjie Yang^{1*}

¹ Department of Medical Psychology, Psychology and Health Management Center, Harbin Medical University, Harbin, China, ² Department of Nutrition and Food Hygiene, College of Public Health, Harbin Medical University, Harbin, China

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

María Carmen Martínez Monteagudo, University of Alicante, Spain

Reviewed by:

María Pilar Aparicio Flores, University of Alicante, Spain María Del Mar Simón Márquez, University of Almería, Spain

*Correspondence:

Jiawei Zhou christinazhou@yeah.net Yanjie Yang Yanjie1965@163.com

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Psychology for Clinical Settings, a section of the journal Frontiers in Psychology

Received: 14 August 2021 Accepted: 19 October 2021 Published: 12 November 2021

Citation:

Mehmood A, Bu T, Zhao E, Zelenina V, Alexander N, Wang W, Siddiqi SM, Qiu X, Yang X, Qiao Z, Zhou J and Yang Y (2021) Exploration of Psychological Mechanism of Smartphone Addiction Among International Students of China by Selecting the Framework of the I-PACE Model. Front. Psychol. 12:758610. doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2021.758610 The I-PACE (interaction of person-affect-cognition-execution) model explains that the causes of addiction are the result of individual susceptibility (genetic and personality), psychopathological factors (negative emotions), and cognitive and affective factor interaction. The issue of smartphone addiction and its emerging effects are now becoming an essential social enigma. This study is aimed at exploring how personal, affective, cognitive, and execution factors accelerate the mechanism of smartphone addiction among international students. Randomly selected, six hundred international students have constituted the population for our study. All participants were asked to complete self-administered questionnaires. The questionnaire included demographics (gender, place of stay, educational level, and reason for smartphone usage), Mobile Phone Addiction Index, Loneliness Scale (UCLA), Rosenberg Self-Esteem Scale, Beck Depression Inventory, Perceived Stress Scale, Eysenck Personality Questionnaire, and Simplified Coping Style Questionnaire. Statistical analysis was performed using SPSS. 20.3% (n = 122) of international students are agonized with smartphone addiction, while 79.7% (n = 478) use smartphones at an average level. Students' place of stay, neuroticism personality, social desirability, self-esteem, loneliness, depression, perceived stress, and passive coping are associated with smartphone addiction. Loneliness and depression show a strong positive significant correlation, among other variables while loneliness, neurotic personality, depression, low self-esteem, stress, and passive coping are risk factors for smartphone addiction. This study reveals that international students are a high-risk group for smartphone addiction. It has a great deal of impact on students' behavior and psyche. Multiple social, psychological, affective, and cognitive factors affect smartphone addiction. It would be beneficial to direct the students to limit their phone usage and indulge in other healthy physical activities to complete academic goals.

Keywords: I-PACE model, international student, smartphone addiction, lonelineness, stress

INTRODUCTION

A smartphone is the groundbreaking technology of our time. A smartphone is a portable device with ever-increasing advanced features, including a portable computer system, recording and relaying devices, and enhanced memory. These characteristics make the use and ownership of smartphones a common social phenomenon (Smartphone, 2016). According to an international analysis report (2011), smartphones' penetration rate among adults aged 21-30 in China was 68.4%, increasing with each passing year (Xinhua Net, 2011). As per the New York Times (2017), adults and teenagers check their smartphones 150 times a day, or after every 6 min (Kiran et al., 2019). The latest Filipino survey found that the prevalence of smartphone addiction was as high as 60% in the adult population (Buctot et al., 2020). There is no doubt that smartphones bring convenience and positive results. On the other hand, it has been observed that, especially among the young population, its excessive use is causing addiction at an alarming rate. The issue of smartphone addiction and its' emerging effects are now becoming an essential social conundrum.

Furthermore, Smartphone addiction, a kind of behavioral addiction, refers to the uncontrollable overuse of smartphones, and preoccupation with it leads to obsession. It may be due to tackling problems in real life, concealment of the actual use from friends and family, or abating the withdrawal symptoms. The addiction prompts continuing usage even after knowing adverse corollaries. Smartphone addiction is also distinguished as a disorder of smartphone usage or smartphone dependence (Billieux, 2012; Billieux et al., 2015).

College students experience high levels of stress which may be due to the frequency of exams, long and tedious academic coursework, and concern about the future (Gazzaz et al., 2018). When confronting with these stresses, students are more likely to turn to their smartphones for stress relief. College students also use more smartphones because of extra leisure time and less parental control. Due to smartphones' frequent use, Students might become addicted to the virtual world and disengaged from real life, affecting their physical and mental health (Schwebel et al., 2012). A Chinese survey (2016) has found that 21.3% of college students have smartphone addiction (Long et al., 2016). In addition, a survey report from South Korea (2013) reported that 25.5% of college students were at risk of smartphone dependence (Jun, 2015). Therefore, smartphone addiction among students had already aroused widespread attention.

Regarding international students, Smartphones are invaluable for connecting with family and friends. International students become more vulnerable to smartphone addiction due to loneliness, cultural adaptation, and adjustment stress (Yeh and Inose, 2003; Lee and Rice, 2007; Poyrazli and Lopez, 2007; Wang, 2009; Poyrazli, 2014). As international students spend their time in a new culture far away from their families and hometown. They experience boredom, loneliness, stress, and anxiety about their family's health. As a way of coping, they often use smartphones. Smartphone usage can alleviate their stress and worries, as well as academic burden, admiration, breakup, and so on (Lin et al., 2015).

However, smartphone addiction is likely to create a series of health problems such as distorted vision, neck stiffness, wrist or back pain (Kim and Kang, 2013; Lee et al., 2015) psychological troubles (Demirci et al., 2015) sleep disorders, interpersonal conflicts, academic failure, and other issues (Lam et al., 2009; Mok et al., 2014). Kim et al. (2015) investigated that smartphone addicts are most likely to have health-related issues, such as physical complaints (headache, dry eyes, and carpal tunnel syndrome) and psychological problems (fear, depression, sadness, and anxiety) (Küçer, 2008; Lee and Seo, 2014). A range of studies conducted on personality factors affecting smartphone overuse had concluded that self-esteem acts as a mediator (Wang et al., 2017) while neuroticism and extraversion personalities, and self-control play an intermediary role in Smartphone addiction (Cho et al., 2017). Also, some exploratory surveys have shown that depression and loneliness are factors leading to smartphone addiction (Mok et al., 2014; Demirci et al., 2015). Similarly, HyunChul Youn and his co-workers have confirmed that levels of depression are positively correlated with smartphone addiction (Choi et al., 2015). Stress is the risk factor of addictive behavior and cause of addiction recurrence (Sinha, 2008; Lam et al., 2009). Numerous explorations have discovered that there is a positive correlation between using smartphones and stress (Harwood et al., 2014), while various epidemiological researches have also reconnoitered the impact of coping styles on smartphone addiction. Cheng et al. pointed out that the lack of positive coping strategies led to smartphones' excessive use (Cheng et al., 2015), and Tang et al. (2014) alleged that a negative coping style was significantly associated with the risk of smartphone addiction.

The formation and maintenance process of psychological mechanisms of smartphone addiction is still unclear. In 2014, Brand proposed the I-PACE (interaction of person-affect-cognition-execution) model; he believed that the causes of addiction were the result of individual susceptibility (genetic and personality), psychopathological factors (negative emotions), cognitive and affective factors interaction (Brand et al., 2014). This model was latterly used to study gambling addiction and Internet addiction (Dong et al., 2019; Ioannidis et al., 2019). I-PACE model is adopted because this theoretical model has the goal to summarize the main processes underlying both the development and the maintenance of smartphone addiction (Brand et al., 2016). This model also provides a theoretical basis for addictive behaviors and clinical practice (Brand, 2017).

The significance of our study let off from the fact that the number of smartphone users is seriously escalating which means that more and more individuals are expected to become smartphone addicts. Therefore, We attempt to hit this growing field of interest and expect to provide researchers with a theoretical framework on smartphone addiction. Another expected contribution of our study is the detection of the frequency of smartphone addiction among international students. This may provide awareness for rational use of the smartphone for both physical and mental health. We also hope to illuminate psychological therapy and counseling by edifying the characteristics of smartphone addicts and the relationship between smartphone addiction and several variables.

Based on the I-PACE model, the study aims to analyze the problems of smartphone addiction from multiple aspects. I-PACE model is elected to explain the personal (personality and self-esteem), affective (loneliness and depression), cognitive (stress perception), and execution (coping style) factors interaction in smartphone addiction. International students are selected as China is the world's leading country and offers a research-oriented forum for international students worldwide (Ye, 2006; Zhang and Zhou, 2010; Henze and Zhu, 2012) and to learn about various cultures, psychosocial development, and multicultural competence. And there are only a few pieces of research on this ever-expanding population of international students. The research outcome will elucidate the psychological mechanism of the development and maintenance of smartphone addiction among international students in China. Moreover, will also provide a theoretical basis for the prevention and intervention of smartphone addiction among college students. This is the first study to explore the psychological mechanism of smartphone addiction based on the I-PACE model and targeted international students of Harbin, China The purpose of the present research is to explore the current status of smartphone addiction among college students based on different demographic characteristics, investigate the relationship between various components of I-PACE model and smartphone addiction, examine the effect of personality, biological psychology, psychopathology, and social cognition on smartphone addiction and to identify the risk factors of smartphone addiction.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Participants

This observational population study adopted cluster sampling to recruit international students with bachelor's, master and doctoral programs living in Harbin, China. The participants who met the conditions for inclusion in this study were international students living only in Harbin, China, and participated voluntarily. Exclusion criteria include living outside Harbin, under the age of 18, voluntary problems, and jobholders. The study included 700 students, of which 100 chose to withdraw due to the exclusion criteria, so 600 students finally constituted the study sample. The average age of the participants was 23.63 years (SD = 3.862), with a range of 18–38 years. A total of 59.5% (n = 357) of the study population were male and 40.5% (n = 243) were female.

Procedure

The data collection period was from August 2019 to December 2019. The well-trained graduate students sent complete questionnaires and an instruction package to different universities in Harbin, China. It was requested to give 25 to 30 min after class to complete the questionnaire package. Before participation, informed consent was distributed among all participants. Participants were informed that they were not obliged to participate; all responses were anonymous and they were free to refuse to answer any questions. Questionnaires

were collected immediately after completion and checked to ensure quality and avoid errors. All records were kept in a locked computer and under strict supervision.

Informed Consent Statement

Informed consent was obtained from all subjects involved in the study.

Ethical Approval

Before data collection, ethical approval was obtained from the Institutional Review Board of the School of Public Health, Harbin Medical University. Before collecting data, participants were informed about the research and their role in participation.

Psychological Measures

A questionnaire package designed to obtain sociodemographic information (gender, place of stay, educational level, and reason for smartphone usage) was given to the participants. Furthermore, the participants were requested to complete the Mobile Phone Addiction Index, Loneliness Scale (UCLA), Rosenberg Self-Esteem Scale, Beck Depression Inventory, Perceived Stress Scale, Eysenck Personality, and Simplified Coping Style questionnaires. All questionnaires were in the self-report format.

Mobile Phone Addiction

Louis Leung of Hong Kong University developed Mobile Phone Addiction Index (Leung, 2008). This scale consists of 17 items that measure four dimensions of smartphone addiction: inability to control cravings (seven items), anxiety and feeling lost (four items), withdrawal and escape (three items), and productivity loss (three items). Participants answered these items on a 5-point scale (ranging from 1 = never to 5 = always). MPAI has good validity and reliability and is widely used in the diagnosis of smartphone addiction. The higher the score, the higher was smartphone addiction. In our research, the measure showed good reliability (Cronbach's $\alpha = 0.86$).

Personality

Personality was assessed using the Eysenck Personality Questionnaire (EPQ; Eysenck and Eysenck, 1975). The original English version contains 90 items; however, the Chinese version has 88 items because some unnecessary elements have been eliminated. The EPQ questions elicit dichotomous responses (e.g., "Do you have a lot of different hobbies?"). Expert translators translated the Chinese version of EPQ into the English language and used it to collect international data. EPQ measured individuals' personalities across four dimensions: neuroticism/anxiety, psychoticism, extroversion, and social desirability (a lie scale). The measure presented good reliability in our study (Cronbach's α is 0.89, 0.79, 0.81, and 0.82 for neuroticism/anxiety, psychoticism, extroversion, and social desirability, respectively).

Self-Esteem

The Rosenberg Self-Esteem Scale evaluated the respondent's judgment of his or her self-worth (e.g., "On the whole, I am satisfied with myself") (Rosenberg, 2015). This scale consists

of 10 items. The participants rated each item on a 4-point scale ranging from strongly disagree to strongly agree, with higher scores indicating a higher level of self-esteem. In the current study, the measure showed good reliability (Cronbach's $\alpha = 0.96$).

Loneliness

A short form of the UCLA Loneliness Scale developed by Russell (1996) was used to access loneliness Respondents were asked to express how they feel about eight statements using a 4-point Likert-type scale, ranging from 0 = never to 3 = always (e.g., "How often do you feel unhappy doing so many things alone?"). The greater the score, the higher would be the loneliness. The measure exhibited good reliability in our survey (Cronbach's $\alpha = 0.81$).

Depression

The Beck Depression Inventory consists of 21 items to assess the severity of depression (Beck et al., 1961). Each question uses a 4-point scale to ask about the specific symptoms of the recent feelings (e.g., "sadness, hopelessness"). The total score indicated the degree of depression. In the current study, the measure showed good reliability (Cronbach's $\alpha = 0.86$).

Stress Perception

The Perceived Stress Scale consists of 14 items to evaluate stress perception (e.g., "Feeling nervous and stress?") (Cohen et al., 1983). The participants rated each item on a 5-point Likert scale ranging from 1 = never to 5 = very much, with higher scores indicating a higher level of perceived stress. In the current study, the measure showed good reliability (Cronbach's $\alpha = 0.94$).

Coping Strategies

Coping style was measured by Simplified Coping Style Questionnaire (SCSQ; Xiao and Xu, 1996). It consists of 20 items, and respondents responded on a four-point Likert scale rated from 0 (never) to 3 (always) (e.g., "Let the pressure off through work or study and activities"). It measured both active coping and passive coping styles. Positive coping style consisted of prosocial approach behaviors that focused on the stressor itself which included 12 items. The negative coping style consisted of some avoidant behaviors that were not focused on the negative events which included eight items. For the current study, the measures showed good reliability (Cronbach's α is 0.88 and 0.84 for positive and negative coping styles, respectively).

Statistical Analysis

Statistical analysis was performed using SPSS 22.0. Both smartphone addicts and non-addicts were included in our study. Demographic data including age, gender, place of stay, educational level, and smartphone usage reasons were recorded as numbers and percentages. The proportion of missing data was less than 1%, which was handled through mean imputation. A chi-square test was used to compare smartphone addiction in different demographic variables, and correlation analysis was used to measure the strength of the relationship between variables (Prematunga, 2012; McHugh, 2013). Bivariate logistic regression was used to analyze the risk factors of smartphone addiction (Denis, 2018).

RESULTS

Sociodemographic Data of Participants

The present study comprised 600 international students from Harbin, China. The incidence of smartphone addiction was 59 and 41% in male and female students, respectively. Out of these participants, 6.3% lived with parents/family, 83.7% alone in the dormitory, and 10% alone in a rented apartment. 61.7% (n = 370) of the participants were bachelor students, 20.3% (n = 122) were studying master courses and 18% (n = 108) were Ph.D. students. 26.0% of the subjects used smartphone for social media, 18.2% for calls, 49.3% for internet, 0.3% for mail, 0.2% for short message services, 0.8% for playing games, 0.7% for making videos/pictures and 4.5% used smartphone for other purposes (**Table 1**).

Prevalence of Mobile Phone Addiction

20.3% (n = 122) of international students was smartphone addicts while 79.7% (n = 478) used smartphone at normal level.

Comparison Between Demographic Variables and Smartphone Addiction

Table 1 explains the comparison between demographic variables and smartphone addiction. Students' place of stay ($\chi 2 = 13.51$, p = 0.036) had a significant positive impact on smartphone addiction while gender and level of education had no significant correlation for smartphone addiction.

Strength of the Relationship Between Smart Phone Addiction and Components of I-PACE Model

Personality components (extrovert personality, psychoticism personality, lying personality, and self-esteem) were negatively correlated with smartphone addiction, while active coping revealed no significant correlation for smartphone addiction. In contrast, neuroticism personality, affective (loneliness and depression), cognitive (perceived stress), and executive (passive coping style) components of the I-PACE model had a significant positive correlation with smartphone addiction. Loneliness

TABLE 1 | Smartphone addiction based on demographics.

Demographic variables	Smartphone addicts n (%)	Smartphone non-addicts n (%)	χ2	P-value
Gender				
Female	50 (41%)	193 (40.3%)	0.204	0.903
Male	72 (59%)	285 (59.7%)		
Place of stay				
With parents/family	11 (9%)	27 (5.6%)	13.151	0.011
Alone in dormitory	100 (82%)	402 (84.2%)		
Alone in apartment	11 (9%)	49 (10.2%)		
Educational level				
Bachelor	82 (67.2%)	288 (60.3%)	3.712	0.446
Masters	22 (18%)	100 (20.9%)		
Ph.D.	18 (14.8%)	90 (18.8%)		

and depression presented a strong positive relationship with smartphone addiction, among other variables (**Table 2**).

Predicting Smartphone Addiction

Based on a bivariate logistic model, the possibility of smartphone addiction was significantly higher in those international students who have loneliness, neurotic personality, stress, depression, low self-esteem, and passive coping style (**Table 3**).

DISCUSSION

China has become the topmost destination for international students, but little is known about this escalating and diversified community of higher education in China. Compared with the smartphone addiction rate of different populations in various countries, the risk of smartphone addiction among international students in China is higher (Jiang et al., 2018). The present study interposes empirical evidence relating to the psychological mechanism of development and maintenance of smartphone addiction in the light of the I-PACE model. The I-PACE model includes pre-disposing variables, affective and cognitive responses to internal or external stimuli, executive and inhibitory control, and decision-making behavior, resulting in the practice of specific internet applications (Brand et al., 2016). With an increasing interest in the I-PACE model, to our knowledge, no study to date has yet assessed I-PACE-based smartphone addiction among international students of various cultural origins in a collectivistic culture or else attempted to integrate all the components of the I-PACE model in single research about smartphone addiction.

The current study illustrated that the prevalence rate of smartphone addiction in international students was 20.3%. Similarly, a Chinese study (2018) revealed that international students in China are at high risk for severe loneliness and smartphone addiction, more than 5% of the participants reported intense loneliness, and more than half of the participants exhibited smartphone addiction symptoms (Jiang et al., 2018). Moreover, we found no significant association between smartphone addiction and gender, but the number of smartphone addicts was higher among males (59%) than females (41%). Similar findings were reported by Devís-Devís et al. (2009). In contrast, some researchers have reported that female participants have more prevalence of smartphone addiction than males (Tavakolizadeh et al., 2014; Demirci et al., 2015; De-Sola Gutiérrez et al., 2016). However, some studies observed no significant difference between females and males regarding smartphone addiction (Yen et al., 2009; Dixit et al., 2010; Ahmed and Qazi, 2011). A large number of male participants in our study could explain why a high proportion of males were addicted. Furthermore, additional studies still need to unravel the inconsistent prevalence of smartphone addiction in males and females.

There was no significant association between education and smartphone addiction, but smartphone addiction varied by education. Specifically, we found that users displayed the highest smartphone addiction levels with the lowest educational attainment. Our results are consistent with the evidence suggesting that adolescents seem to be more addicted to smartphones than other age groups (Selian and Srivastava, 2004; Bianchi and Phillips, 2005; Assabawy, 2006; Wajcman et al., 2007; Attamimi, 2011; Ishii, 2011; Divan et al., 2012; Goundar, 2012; Samaha and Hawi, 2016). It's not entirely clear why smartphone users with relatively low education levels are more addicted; Maybe these adolescents have poor self-regulation ability to compulsive use of smartphones. Our research also found that students living in dormitories were more addicted to smartphones than students living with their families. Considering previous researches on the theme, Moore and Schultz's study (1983) yields a similar result (Moore and Schultz, 1983). The logic behind the scenes may be students who were alone and stay away from home use more smartphones to keep themselves busy and overwhelm loneliness.

Almost half of the participants in the research group stated the main reason for using smartphones was internet surfing. Our results are consistent with a previous survey conducted by Toda et al. (2004) which found that messaging and connecting to the internet were the most common causes of using smartphones (Toda et al., 2004). Furthermore, Roberts et al. (2014) also reclaimed that females use smartphones for messaging and social

Variables	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	10	11
1. Smartphone addiction	-										
2. Extrovert personality	-0.018**	-									
3. Neuroticism personality	0.214**	0.385**	_								
4.psychotics personality	-0.017**	0.236**	0.339**	-							
5. Lying personality	-0.013**	-0.073**	-0.185**	-0.057	-						
6. Self-esteem	-0.151**	0.003**	-0.011	0.089**	0.081**	-					
7. Loneliness	0.327**	-0.10**	-0.166**	-0.225**	-0.021	-0.081**	-				
8.Depression	0.368**	-0.12**	-0.143**	-0.135**	-0.005	-0.213	0.382**	-			
9. Perceived stress	0.113**	-0.115**	-0.233**	-0.257**	0.042	-0.039	0.323**	0.297**	-		
10. Active coping	-0.063	-0.052	-0.106**	-0.061**	0.004	-0.067**	0.140**	0.169**	-0.006	-	
11. Passive coping	0.107**	0.025	-0.009	0.037	0.02	-0.095**	-0.071	0.008	-0.088**	0.036	_

**Correlation is significant at the 0.05 level.

TABLE 3 Risk factors for development and maintenance of
smartphone addiction.

Variables	В	SE	P-value	Exp (<i>B</i>)	LC	UC
Intercept	0.960	1.223	0.433			
Extrovert personality	0.051	0.047	0.275	1.053	0.960	1.154
Neuroticism personality	0.049	0.040	0.031	1.050	0.971	1.136
Psychoticism personality	-0.068	0.053	0.198	1.071	0.965	1.188
Lying personality	-0.072	0.051	0.052	1.074	0.972	1.187
Self-esteem	-0.065	0.183	0.015	0.937	0.654	1.343
Loneliness	0.141	0.033	0.001	0.869	0.814	0.927
Depression	0.193	0.106	0.005	0.825	0.670	1.015
Perceived stress	0.001	0.020	0.043	0.999	0.960	1.039
Active coping	-0.022	0.028	0.426	1.022	0.968	1.079
Passive coping	0.048	0.018	0.007	0.953	0.920	0.987

networks (Nazir, 2017). Similarly, Albiar and his co-workers (2012) explored that for males, smartphone use is simultaneously based on text messages, voice conversations, and surfing internet applications (Billieux et al., 2008; Albiar et al., 2012). In our study, self-esteem was negatively correlated with smartphone addiction. This finding is congruent with the cognitive-behavioral model of pathological usage of the Internet, which indicates that people with maladaptive cognitions such as low self-esteem are inclined to get addicted to the internet (Davis, 2001). Our results are braced by some empirical studies, which show that low self-esteem can predict smartphone addiction (Walsh et al., 2011; Hong et al., 2012; Park and Kim, 2015).

According to our research, smartphone addiction has a significant positive relationship with neuroticism and a significant negative correlation with psychoticism, extroversion, and social desirability (Lie personality). Likewise, a study conducted on Chinese adolescents reported that those who were addicted to the internet scored higher on the neuroticism and psychoticism dimensions of personality while scoring lower on the Lie dimension (Cao and Su, 2007). Furthermore, another survey verified that typical internet addicts exhibit anxiousness (neuroticism) and social contact problems (Van Rooij et al., 2010). Eysenck and Eysenck (1975) findings also support our study, that is, people who scored high on the Lie scale tend to score low on psychoticism and extraversion. Highly neurotic people are often afraid, sad, embarrassed, nervous, stressed, and anxious (McElroy et al., 2007; Devaraj et al., 2008), they use more smartphones to overwhelm stress and keep themselves busy. Moreover, Montag et al. (2010) found a significant negative correlation between internet addiction and the Lie dimension.

Affective components (Loneliness and Depression) of the I-PACE model have a strong positive correlation with smartphone addiction, among other components. Our verdicts resonate well with prior results from multiple studies that looked at the relationship between affective psychological traits (Depression and loneliness) and smartphone addiction. Association between smartphone addiction and depression in this study corresponds to another study among university students in Turkey by Orsal et al. (2013) who reported an alarming association between phone addiction and depression. Smartphone addiction was detected to increase as the severity of depression increased among the students (Chen and Katz, 2009; Thomée et al., 2011; Harwood et al., 2014). The link between Depression and smartphone addiction may not just be established among university students, but it may apply to the general adult population. Due to a sense of disconnection from both the host and their native countries, international students have to deal with and endure a certain level of loneliness: due to this, they become smartphone-addicted (Wei et al., 2005; Janta et al., 2014; Matar Boumosleh and Jaalouk, 2017). In a study of Chinese university students, loneliness was positively associated with depression, which emerged as the most potent independent trigger of smartphone addiction (Bian and Leung, 2015). Similarly, in a Turkish university student survey, loneliness demonstrated a significant positive association with smartphone addiction. It appeared as an independent indicator of the cyberspace-oriented relationship score (Enez Darcin et al., 2016).

In addressing the significant positive relationship between smartphone addiction and perceived stress, outcomes were consistent with the opinion of Beranuy et al. (2009) who believed that using a smartphone in a situation of stress can be looked upon as a form of substitute gratification or as a kind of addiction (Beranuy et al., 2009). The more stress students perceive, the more likely they are to become addicted to the smartphone. This is consistent with the general strain theory which holds that all kinds of strain or stress experienced by individuals will lead to negative emotions and then lead to problem behavior (Jun and Choi, 2015). Many studies have shown that stress is an important risk factor for individual addictive behavior (Mai et al., 2012; Wang et al., 2021). The influence of perceived stress on smartphone addiction has begun to gain empirical support (Chiu, 2014; Yang et al., 2020). Correspondingly, researchers also linked smartphone usage as a way of coping with stress and contentment with life (Lepp et al., 2014, 2015). So, the perceived stress has positive predictive power for smartphone addiction (Chiu, 2014).

Based on a bivariate logistic model, the possibility of having smartphone addiction symptoms was significantly higher in those international students who had a neurotic personality, low self-esteem, loneliness, depression, stress, and passive coping style. Passive coping was positively linked with smartphone addiction, while active coping was negatively related. The reason behind this may be that those who are more vulnerable to stress have passive coping strategies and use more smartphones to overcome stress (Brand, 2017). Likewise, previous surveys have shown a moderate positive association between negative coping style and smartphone addiction in students (Zhao et al., 2017) and a moderate negative association between active coping style and smartphone addiction (Li et al., 2016; Yang et al., 2017). Results were also consistent with previous findings, suggesting that emotion-focused or negative coping style is a significant predictor of internet addiction (Sugiarta and Dewi, 2021).

Overall results supported the I-PACE model that specific personal characteristics (low self-esteem, neuroticism, and social desirability), affective (loneliness and depression), cognitive (perceived stress), executive (passive coping style) components resulted in adverse emotional reactions through the perception of the situation and lead to certain addictive tendencies (Brand et al., 2016).

Using a smartphone can take people away from the social world to the world of fantasy. While the smartphone provides an excellent opportunity to socialize on the surface, they fetch people into a large virtual world. Students' communities, whose emotional and cognitive development has not yet been completed, are heading away from the real world and constructing a virtual world for themselves. Moreover, with the extent of their absorption into the charisma of this virtual world, they move away from their families and friends and become more depressed. Also, within the virtual world of smartphones, In addition, they become depressed and expectant in the virtual world of smartphones. They express their thoughts and feelings in a few words superficially and cannot express themselves adequately. All this demonstrated that the longer students stay in the virtual world they set up for themselves, the more depressed they will be in this situation (Çağan et al., 2014).

When explaining the findings of this study, some limitations should be considered. Firstly, the research is based on participants' self-reports, which may be vulnerable to commonmethod variance. Future researchers could correct this bias by measuring smartphone addiction and other dimensions behaviorally. Secondly, this study was cross-sectional and cannot infer causality. Further studies should apply longitudinal or experimental designs to confirm the causal assumptions in this study. Thirdly, the model in this study was tested on a sample of college students rather than a clinical sample. Thus, these results should not be generalized in other samples. Future research can benefit from testing the model in other samples, such as the clinical samples. Lastly, the sample was not large enough, and the sample was collected from Harbin, China, only. So, we cannot generalize it to the whole, and the questionnaires were too large, which was very difficult for respondents. Thus, future studies can expand the size of the samples and shorten the inventory size to validate the findings.

CONCLUSION

Our research contributes to the literature by examining the psychological mechanisms of smartphone addiction development based on the I-PACE model. Multiple social, psychological, and cognitive factors accelerate the mechanism of smartphone addiction. In China, international students are a high-risk group for smartphone addiction. Loneliness, depression, neurotic personality, passive coping, low selfesteem, and perceived stress are menace factors for smartphone

REFERENCES

- Ahmed, I., and Qazi, T. F. (2011). Mobile phone adoption & consumption patterns of university students in Pakistan. Int. J. Bus. Soc. Sci. 2, 205–213.
- Albiar, M. I. J., Rodríguez, J. A. P., Martínez, O. M., Crespo, J. L. C., Amorós, M. O., and Sánchez, J. P. E. (2012). Diferencias de sexo, característica de personalidad y afrontamiento en el uso de internet, el móvil y los videojuegos

addiction. Smartphone addiction intrudes on their academic performance and affects their mental and physical health to varying degrees. It would be beneficial for the education department to guide students to use smartphones scientifically and rationally to improve their physical and mental health. It would also direct students to establish good social adaptability for happy and smooth completion of university study and life escort. This finding would have some important implications for policymakers who develop means to prevent and intervene in smartphone addiction among college students. It would be also advantageous for mental health improvement and clinical settings.

DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

The raw data supporting the conclusions of this article will be made available by the authors, without undue reservation.

ETHICS STATEMENT

The studies involving human participants were reviewed and approved by Harbin Medical University. The patients/participants provided their written informed consent to participate in this study.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

AM designed the study, interpreted and analyzed the data, and drafted the manuscript. TB and WW contributed to data analysis and data interpretation. VZ, NA, SS, EZ, XQ, XY, ZQ, JZ, and YY helped draft the manuscript. All authors contributed to the design of the survey and read and approved the final manuscript.

FUNDING

This research was supported by the Project of Heilongjiang Science Foundation (JZ, Grant No. LBH-Z18210) and China Postdoctoral Science Foundation (JZ, Grant No. 2019M65311).

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

We wish to thank YY for her help.

- Assabawy, H. (2006). Social effects of cellphones (a field study in Mosul City). *Mosulian Studies* 14, 77–105.
- Attamimi, A. (2011). "The reasons for the prevalence of BlackBerry cellphones and the resulting educational effects from the perspective of secondary school students in Abo-Dhabi," in *Proceedings of the Conference on the Negative Effects* of Cellphones on Secondary School Students, UAE, 105–130.

en la adolescencia. *Health Addict. Salud Drogas* 12, 61–82. doi: 10.21134/haaj. v12i1.10

- Beck, A. T., Ward, C. H., Mendelson, M., Mock, J., and Erbaugh, J. (1961). An inventory for measuring depression. Arch. Gen. Psychiatry 4, 561–571. doi: 10.1001/archpsyc.1961.01710120031004
- Beranuy, M., Oberst, U., Carbonell, X., and Chamarro, A. (2009). Problematic internet and mobile phone use and clinical symptoms in college students: the role of emotional intelligence. *Comput. Hum. Behav.* 25, 1182–1187. doi: 10.1016/j.chb.2009.03.001
- Bian, M., and Leung, L. (2015). Linking loneliness, shyness, smartphone addiction symptoms, and patterns of smartphone use to social capital. *Soc. Sci. Comput. Rev.* 33, 61–79. doi: 10.1177/0894439314528779
- Bianchi, A., and Phillips, J. G. (2005). Psychological predictors of problem mobile phone use. *Cyberpsychol. Behav.* 8, 39–51. doi: 10.1089/cpb.2005.8.39
- Billieux, J. (2012). Problematic use of the mobile phone: a literature review and a pathways model. *Curr. Psychiatry Rev.* 8, 299–307. doi: 10.2174/ 157340012803520522
- Billieux, J., Maurage, P., Lopez-Fernandez, O., Kuss, D. J., and Griffiths, M. D. (2015). Can disordered mobile phone use be considered a behavioral addiction? an update on current evidence and a comprehensive model for future research. *Curr. Addict. Rep.* 2, 156–162. doi: 10.1007/s40429-015-0054-y
- Billieux, J., Van der Linden, M., and Rochat, L. (2008). The role of impulsivity in actual and problematic use of the mobile phone. *Appl. Cogn. Psychol.* 22, 1195–1210. doi: 10.1002/acp.1429
- Brand, M. (2017). "Theoretical models of the development and maintenance of internet addiction," in *Internet Addiction*, eds C. Montag, and M. Reuter (Cham: Springer), 19–34. doi: 10.1007/978-3-319-46276-9_2
- Brand, M., Young, K. S., and Laier, C. (2014). Prefrontal control and internet addiction: a theoretical model and review of neuropsychological and neuroimaging findings. *Front. Hum. Neurosci.* 8:375. doi: 10.3389/fnhum.2014. 00375
- Brand, M., Young, K. S., Laier, C., Wölfling, K., and Potenza, M. N. (2016). Integrating psychological and neurobiological considerations regarding the development and maintenance of specific internet-use disorders: an Interaction of Person-Affect-Cognition-Execution (I-PACE) model. *Neurosci. Biobehav. Rev.* 71, 252–266. doi: 10.1016/j.neubiorev.2016.08.033
- Buctot, D., Kim, N., and Kim, J. (2020). Factors associated with smartphone addiction prevalence and its predictive capacity for health-related quality of life among Filipino adolescents. *Child. Youth Serv. Rev.* 110:104758. doi: 10.1016/j. childyouth.2020.104758
- Çağan, Ö, Ünsal, A., and Çelik, N. (2014). Evaluation of college students' level of addiction to cellular phone and investigation on the relationsship between the addiction and the level of depression. *Procedia Soc. Behav. Sci.* 114, 831–839. doi: 10.1016/j.sbspro.2013.12.793
- Cao, F., and Su, L. (2007). Internet addiction among Chinese adolescents: prevalence and psychological features. *Child Care Health Dev.* 33, 275–281. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2214.2006.00715.x
- Chen, Y.-F., and Katz, J. E. (2009). Extending family to school life: college students' use of the mobile phone. *Int. J. Hum. Comput. Stud.* 67, 179–191. doi: 10.1016/j.ijhcs.2008.09.002
- Cheng, C., Sun, P., and Mak, K.-K. (2015). Internet addiction and psychosocial maladjustment: avoidant coping and coping inflexibility as psychological mechanisms. *Cyberpsychol. Behav. Soc. Netw.* 18, 539–546. doi: 10.1089/cyber. 2015.0121
- Chiu, S.-I. (2014). The relationship between life stress and smartphone addiction on Taiwanese university student: a mediation model of learning self-efficacy and social self-efficacy. *Comput. Hum. Behav.* 34, 49–57. doi: 10.1016/j.chb.2014. 01.024
- Cho, H. Y., Kim, D. J., and Park, J. W. (2017). Stress and adult smartphone addiction: mediation by self-control, neuroticism, and extraversion. *Stress Health* 33, 624–630. doi: 10.1002/smi.2749
- Choi, S. W., Kim, D. J., Choi, J. S., Ahn, H., Choi, E. J., Song, W. Y., et al. (2015). Comparison of risk and protective factors associated with smartphone addiction and Internet addiction. *J. Behav. Addict.* 4:308. doi: 10.1556/2006.4. 2015.043
- Cohen, S., Kamarck, T., and Mermelstein, R. (1983). A global measure of perceived stress. J. Health Soc. Behav. 385–396. doi: 10.2307/2136404
- Davis, R. A. (2001). A cognitive-behavioral model of pathological Internet use. Comput. Hum. Behav. 17, 187–195. doi: 10.1016/S0747-5632(00)00041-8

- Demirci, K., Akgönül, M., and Akpinar, A. (2015). Relationship of smartphone use severity with sleep quality, depression, and anxiety in university students. *J. Behav. Addict.* 4, 85–92. doi: 10.1556/2006.4.2015.010
- Denis, D. J. (2018). SPSS Data Analysis for Univariate, Bivariate, and Multivariate Statistics. Hoboken, NJ: John Wiley & Sons. doi: 10.1002/9781119465775
- De-Sola Gutiérrez, J., Rodríguez de Fonseca, F., and Rubio, G. (2016). Cell-phone addiction: a review. Front. Psychiatry 7:175. doi: 10.3389/fpsyt.2016.00175
- Devaraj, S., Easley, R. F., and Crant, J. M. (2008). Research note—how does personality matter? Relating the five-factor model to technology acceptance and use. *Inf. Syst. Res.* 19, 93–105. doi: 10.1287/isre.1070.0153
- Devís-Devís, J., Peiró-Velert, C., Beltrán-Carrillo, V. J., and Tomás, J. M. (2009). Screen media time usage of 12-16 year-old Spanish school adolescents: effects of personal and socioeconomic factors, season and type of day. J. Adolesc. 32, 213–231. doi: 10.1016/j.adolescence.2008.04.004
- Divan, H. A., Kheifets, L., Obel, C., and Olsen, J. (2012). Cell phone use and behavioural problems in young children. J. Epidemiol. Community Health 66, 524–529. doi: 10.1136/jech.2010.115402
- Dixit, S., Shukla, H., Bhagwat, A., Bindal, A., Goyal, A., Zaidi, A. K., et al. (2010). A study to evaluate mobile phone dependence among students of a medical college and associated hospital of central India. *Indian J. Community Med.* 35:339. doi: 10.4103/0970-0218.66878
- Dong, G., Wang, Z., Wang, Y., Du, X., and Potenza, M. N. (2019). Gender-related functional connectivity and craving during gaming and immediate abstinence during a mandatory break: implications for development and progression of internet gaming disorder. *Prog. Neuropsychopharmacol. Biol. Psychiatry* 88, 1–10. doi: 10.1016/j.pnpbp.2018.04.009
- Enez Darcin, A., Kose, S., Noyan, C. O., Nurmedov, S., Yılmaz, O., and Dilbaz, N. (2016). Smartphone addiction and its relationship with social anxiety and loneliness. *Behav. Inf. Technol.* 35, 520–525. doi: 10.1080/0144929x.2016. 1158319
- Eysenck, H. J., and Eysenck, S. B. G. (1975). Manual of the Eysenck Personality Questionnaire (Junior & Adult). London: Hodder and Stoughton Educational.
- Gazzaz, Z. J., Baig, M., Al Alhendi, B. S. M., Al Suliman, M. M. O., Al Alhendi, A. S., Al-Grad, M. S. H., et al. (2018). Perceived stress, reasons for and sources of stress among medical students at Rabigh Medical College, King Abdulaziz University, Jeddah, Saudi Arabia. *BMC Med. Educ.* 18:29. doi: 10.1186/s12909-018-1133-2
- Goundar, S. (2012). "Cloud computing: understanding the technology before getting "Clouded"," in *Recent Progress in Data Engineering and Internet Technology*, ed. F. Gaol (Berlin: Springer), 217–222. doi: 10.1007/978-3-642-28798-5_30
- Harwood, J., Dooley, J. J., Scott, A. J., and Joiner, R. (2014). Constantly connected– the effects of smart devices on mental health. *Comput. Hum. Behav.* 34, 267–272. doi: 10.1016/j.chb.2014.02.006
- Henze, J., and Zhu, J. (2012). Current research on Chinese students studying abroad. Res. Comp. Int. Educ. 7, 90-104. doi: 10.2304/rcie.2012.7.1.90
- Hong, F.-Y., Chiu, S.-I., and Huang, D.-H. (2012). A model of the relationship between psychological characteristics, mobile phone addiction, and use of mobile phones by Taiwanese university female students. *Comput. Hum. Behav.* 28, 2152–2159. doi: 10.1016/j.chb.2012.06.020
- Ioannidis, K., Hook, R., Wickham, K., Grant, J. E., and Chamberlain, S. R. (2019). Impulsivity in gambling disorder and problem gambling: a meta-analysis. *Neuropsychopharmacology* 44, 1354–1361. doi: 10.1038/s41386-019-0393-9
- Ishii, K. (2011). Examining the adverse effects of mobile phone use among Japanese adolescents. *Keio Commun. Rev.* 33, 69–83.
- Janta, H., Lugosi, P., and Brown, L. (2014). Coping with loneliness: a netnographic study of doctoral students. J. Furth. High. Educ. 38, 553–571. doi: 10.1080/ 0309877x.2012.726972
- Jiang, Q., Li, Y., and Shypenka, V. (2018). Loneliness, individualism, and smartphone addiction among international students in China. *Cyberpsychol. Behav. Soc. Netw.* 21, 711–718. doi: 10.1089/cyber.2018.0115
- Jun, S., and Choi, E. (2015). Academic stress and internet addiction from general strain theory framework. *Comput. Hum. Behav.* 49, 282–287. doi: 10.1016/j. chb.2015.03.001
- Jun, W. (2015). "An analysis study on correlation of internet addiction and school age," in Proceedings of the 2015 2nd International Conference on Information Science and Security (ICISS) (Seoul: IEEE). doi: 10.1109/ICISSEC.2015.7370977

- Kim, S.-E., Kim, J.-W., and Jee, Y.-S. (2015). Relationship between smartphone addiction and physical activity in Chinese international students in Korea. J. Behav. Addict. 4, 200–205. doi: 10.1556/2006.4.2015.028
- Kim, T.-H., and Kang, M.-S. (2013). Type analysis and countermeasures of side effects of using a smartphone. *J. Korea Inst. Inf. Commun. Eng.* 17, 2984–2994. doi: 10.6109/jkiice.2013.17.12.2984
- Kiran, S., Sanjana, J., and Reddy, N. (2019). Mobile phone addiction: symptoms, impacts and causes-a review. Int. Conf. Trends Ind. Value Eng. Bus. Soc. Innov., 81.
- Küçer, N. (2008). Some ocular symptoms experienced by users of mobile phones. Electromagn. Biol. Med. 27, 205–209. doi: 10.1080/15368370802072174
- Lam, L. T., Peng, Z.-W, Mai, J.-C, and Jing, J. (2009). Factors associated with internet addiction among adolescents. *Cyberpsychol. Behav.* 12, 551–555. doi: 10.1089/cpb.2009.0036
- Lee, J., and Seo, K. (2014). The comparison of cervical repositioning errors according to smartphone addiction grades. J. Phys. Ther. Sci. 26, 595–598. doi: 10.1589/jpts.26.595
- Lee, J. J., and Rice, C. (2007). Welcome to America? International student perceptions of discrimination. *High. Educ.* 53, 381–409. doi: 10.1007/s10734-005-4508-3
- Lee, S., Kang, H., and Shin, G. (2015). Head flexion angle while using a smartphone. Ergonomics 58, 220–226. doi: 10.1080/00140139.2014.967311
- Lepp, A., Barkley, J. E., and Karpinski, A. C. (2014). The relationship between cell phone use, academic performance, anxiety, and satisfaction with life in college students. *Comput. Hum. Behav.* 31, 343–350. doi: 10.1016/j.chb.2013.10.049
- Lepp, A., Li, J., Barkley, J. E., and Salehi-Esfahani, S. (2015). Exploring the relationships between college students' cell phone use, personality, and leisure. *Comput. Hum. Behav.* 43, 210–219. doi: 10.1016/j.chb.2014.11.006
- Leung, L. (2008). Linking psychological attributes to addiction and improper use of the mobile phone among adolescents in Hong Kong. J. Child. Media 2, 93–113. doi: 10.1080/17482790802078565
- Li, H., Zou, Y., Wang, J., and Yang, X. (2016). Role of stressful life events, avoidant coping styles, and neuroticism in online game addiction among college students: a moderated mediation model. *Front. Psychol.* 7:1794. doi: 10.3389/ fpsyg.2016.01794
- Lin, Y.-H., Lin, Y.-C., Lee, Y.-H., Lin, P.-H., Lin, S.-H., Chang, L.-R., et al. (2015). Time distortion associated with smartphone addiction: identifying smartphone addiction via a mobile application (App). J. Psychiatr. Res. 65, 139–145. doi: 10.1016/j.jpsychires.2015.04.003
- Long, J., Liu, T. Q., Liao, Y. H., Qi, C., He, H. Y., Chen, S. B., et al. (2016). Prevalence and correlates of problematic smartphone use in a large random sample of Chinese undergraduates. *BMC Psychiatry* 16:408. doi: 10.1186/s12888-016-1083-3
- Mai, Y., Hu, J., Yan, Z., Zhen, S., Wang, S., and Zhang, W. (2012). Structure and function of maladaptive cognitions in pathological internet use among Chinese adolescents. *Comput. Hum. Behav.* 28, 2376–2386. doi: 10.1016/j.chb.2012. 07.009
- Matar Boumosleh, J., and Jaalouk, D. (2017). Depression, anxiety, and smartphone addiction in university students-A cross sectional study. *PLoS One* 12:e0182239. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0182239
- McElroy, J. C., Hendrickson, A. R., Townsend, A. M., and DeMarie, S. M. (2007). Dispositional factors in internet use: personality versus cognitive style. *MIS Q*. 809–820. doi: 10.2307/25148821
- McHugh, M. L. (2013). The chi-square test of independence. *Biochem. Med.* 23, 143–149. doi: 10.11613/bm.2013.018
- Mok, J.-Y., Choi, S.-W., Kim, D.-J., Choi, J.-S., Lee, J., Ahn, H., et al. (2014). Latent class analysis on internet and smartphone addiction in college students. *Neuropsychiatr. Dis. Treat.* 10:817. doi: 10.2147/NDT.S59293
- Montag, C., Jurkiewicz, M., and Reuter, M. (2010). Low self-directedness is a better predictor for problematic internet use than high neuroticism. *Comput. Hum. Behav.* 26, 1531–1535. doi: 10.1016/j.chb.2010.05.021
- Moore, D., and Schultz, N. R. Jr. (1983). Loneliness at adolescence: correlates, attributions, and coping. J. Youth Adolesc. 12, 95–100. doi: 10.1007/bf02088307
- Nazir, T. (2017). Attitude and emotional response among university students of Ankara towards Phubbing. Int. J. Multidiscip. Educ. Res. 6:5,
- Orsal, O., Orsal, O., Unsal, A., and Ozalp, S. S. (2013). Evaluation of internet addiction and depression among university students. *Procedia Soc. Behav. Sci.* 82, 445–454. doi: 10.1016/j.sbspro.2013.06.291

- Park, S., and Kim, Y. (2015). Prevalence, correlates and associated psychological problems of substance use in Korean adolescents. *BMC Public Health* 16:79. doi: 10.1186/s12889-016-2731-8
- Poyrazli, S. (2014). Psychological symptoms and concerns experienced by international students: Outreach implications for counseling centers. J. Int. Stud. 5, 306–312. doi: 10.32674/jis.v5i3.424
- Poyrazli, S., and Lopez, M. D. (2007). An exploratory study of perceived discrimination and homesickness: a comparison of international students and American students. J. Psychol. 141, 263–280. doi: 10.3200/JRLP.141.3.263-280
- Prematunga, R. K. (2012). Correlational analysis. Aust. Crit. Care 25, 195–199. doi: 10.1016/j.aucc.2012.02.003
- Roberts, J. A., Yaya, L. H. P., and Manolis, C. (2014). The invisible addiction: cell-phone activities and addiction among male and female college students. J. Behav. Addict. 3, 254–265. doi: 10.1556/JBA.3.2014.015
- Rosenberg, M. (2015). Society and the Adolescent Self-Image. Princeton, NJ: Princeton university press.
- Russell, D. (1996). UCLA loneliness scale version 3 (description of measure). J. Pers. Soc. Psychol. 39, 3-4.
- Samaha, M., and Hawi, N. S. (2016). Relationships among smartphone addiction, stress, academic performance, and satisfaction with life. *Comput. Hum. Behav.* 57, 321–325. doi: 10.1016/j.chb.2015.12.045
- Schwebel, D. C., Stavrinos, D., Byington, K. W., Davis, T., O'Neal, E. E., and De Jong, D. (2012). Distraction and pedestrian safety: how talking on the phone, texting, and listening to music impact crossing the street. *Accid. Anal. Prev.* 45, 266–271. doi: 10.1016/j.aap.2011.07.011
- Selian, A. N., and Srivastava, L. (2004). Mobile Phones and Youth: A Look at the US Student Market. Geneva: International Telecommunication Union, 5–31.
- Sinha, R. (2008). Chronic stress, drug use, and vulnerability to addiction. Ann. N. Y. Acad. Sci. 1141:105–130. doi: 10.1196/annals.1441.030
- Smartphone (2016). Definition of Smartphone in English by Oxford Dictionaries. Available online at: https://en.oxforddictionaries.com/definition/smartphone (accessed December 17, 2018).
- Sugiarta, R., and Dewi, F. I. R. (2021). "The correlation between the bigfive personality and internet addiction among early-adult individuals," in *Proceedings of the International Conference on Economics, Business, Social, and Humanities (ICEBSH 2021)* (Dordrecht: Atlantis Press). doi: 10.2991/assehr.k. 210805.226
- Tang, J., Yu, Y., Du, Y., Ma, Y., Zhang, D., and Wang, J. (2014). Prevalence of internet addiction and its association with stressful life events and psychological symptoms among adolescent internet users. *Addict. Behav.* 39, 744–747. doi: 10.1016/j.addbeh.2013.12.010
- Tavakolizadeh, J., Atarodi, A., Ahmadpour, S., and Pourgheisar, A. (2014). The prevalence of excessive mobile phone use and its relation with mental health status and demographic factors among the students of Gonabad University of Medical Sciences in 2011-2012. *Razavi Int. J. Med.* 2:e15527. doi: 10.5812/rijm. 15527
- Thomée, S., Härenstam, A., and Hagberg, M. (2011). Mobile phone use and stress, sleep disturbances, and symptoms of depression among young adultsa prospective cohort study. *BMC Public Health* 11:6. doi: 10.1186/1471-2458-11-66
- Toda, M., Monden, K., Kubo, K., and Morimoto, K. (2004). Cellular phone dependence tendency of female university students. *Nippon Eiseigaku Zasshi* 59, 383–386. doi: 10.1265/jjh.59.383
- Van Rooij, A. J., Schoenmakers, T. M., Van de Eijnden, R. J., and Van de Mheen, D. (2010). Compulsive internet use: the role of online gaming and other internet applications. *J. Adolesc. Health* 47, 51–57. doi: 10.1016/j.jadohealth.2009. 12.021
- Wajcman, J., Bittman, M., Jones, P., Johnstone, L., and Brown, J. (2007). The Impact of the Mobile Phone on Work/Life Balance. Available online at: http:// www.kiwanja.net/database/document/report_mobiles_work_life.Pdf (accessed January 1, 2007).
- Walsh, S. P., White, K. M., Cox, S., and Young, R. M. (2011). Keeping in constant touch: the predictors of young Australians' mobile phone involvement. *Comput. Hum. Behav.* 27, 333–342. doi: 10.1016/j.chb.2010. 08.011
- Wang, J. (2009). A study of resiliency characteristics in the adjustment of international graduate students at American universities. J. Stud. Int. Educ. 13, 22–45. doi: 10.1177/1028315307308139

- Wang, P., Zhao, M., Wang, X., Xie, X., Wang, Y., and Lei, L. (2017). Peer relationship and adolescent smartphone addiction: the mediating role of selfesteem and the moderating role of the need to belong. J. Behav. Addict. 6, 708–717. doi: 10.1556/2006.6.2017.079
- Wang, W., Mehmood, A., Li, P., Yang, Z., Niu, J., Chu, H., et al. (2021). Perceived stress and smartphone addiction in medical college students: the mediating role of negative emotions and the moderating role of psychological capital. *Front. Psychol.* 12:660234–660234. doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2021.660234
- Wei, M., Russell, D. W., and Zakalik, R. A. (2005). Adult attachment, social selfefficacy, self-disclosure, loneliness, and subsequent depression for freshman college students: a longitudinal study. *J. Couns. Psychol.* 52:602. doi: 10.1037/ 0022-0167.52.4.602
- Xiao, J., and Xu, X. (1996). Reliability and validity of coping style questionnaire. *Chin. Ment. Health J.* 10, 164–168.
- Xinhua Net (2011). Smartphone is Become a Close Partner to Chinese People. Available online at: http://news.xinhuanet.com/tech/2011-12/04/c_111215700. htm (accessed April 12, 2011).
- Yang, L., Cao, H., Ma, X., Geng, Y., Xu, J., and Fu, Y. (2017). The relationship between childhood trauma and internet addiction among college students: the mediating effect of coping styles. *Psychol. Tech. Appl.* 5, 19–25.
- Yang, X., Wang, P., and Hu, P. (2020). Trait procrastination and mobile phone addiction among chinese college students: a moderated mediation model of stress and gender. *Front. Psychol.* 11:614660. doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2020.614660
- Ye, J. (2006). Traditional and online support networks in the cross-cultural adaptation of Chinese international students in the United States. J. Comput. Mediat. Commun. 11, 863–876. doi: 10.1111/j.1083-6101.2006.00039.x
- Yeh, C. J., and Inose, M. (2003). International students' reported English fluency, social support satisfaction, and social connectedness as predictors of acculturative stress. *Couns. Psychol. Q.* 16, 15–28. doi: 10.1080/ 0951507031000114058

- Yen, C.-F., Tang, T.-C., Yen, J.-Y., Lin, H.-C., Huang, C.-F., Liu, S.-C., et al. (2009). Symptoms of problematic cellular phone use, functional impairment and its association with depression among adolescents in Southern Taiwan. J. Adolesc. 32, 863–873. doi: 10.1016/j.adolescence.2008.10.006
- Zhang, Z., and Zhou, G. (2010). Understanding Chinese international students at a Canadian university: perspectives, expectations, and experiences. *Comp. Int. Educ.* 39:5. doi: 10.5206/cie-eci.v39i3.9162
- Zhao, F., Zhang, Z.-H., Bi, L., Wu, X.-S., Wang, W.-J., Li, Y.-F., et al. (2017). The association between life events and internet addiction among Chinese vocational school students: the mediating role of depression. *Comput. Hum. Behav.* 70, 30–38. doi: 10.1016/j.chb.2016. 12.057

Conflict of Interest: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's Note: All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Copyright © 2021 Mehmood, Bu, Zhao, Zelenina, Alexander, Wang, Siddiqi, Qiu, Yang, Qiao, Zhou and Yang. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Mobile Phone Addiction and Academic Procrastination Negatively Impact Academic Achievement Among Chinese Medical Students

Jing Tian^{1†}, Ji-yang Zhao^{1†}, Jia-ming Xu^{2†}, Qing-lin Li¹, Tao Sun³, Chen-xi Zhao¹, Rui Gao¹, Li-yan Zhu¹, Hai-chen Guo¹, Li-bin Yang¹, De-pin Cao^{1*} and Shu-e Zhang^{1*}

¹ Department of Health Management, School of Health Management, Harbin Medical University, Harbin, China, ² Party Committee Office, Chengdu Second People's Hospital, Chengdu, China, ³ Department of Health Management, School of Medicine, Hang Zhou Normal University, Hangzhou, China

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

David Aparisi, University of Alicante, Spain

Reviewed by:

Dongmei Wu, University of Electronic Science and Technology of China, China Stella Conte, University of Cagliari, Italy

*Correspondence:

De-pin Cao caodp211@126.com Shu-e Zhang hydzhangshue@163.com †These authors have contributed equally to this work

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Educational Psychology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Psychology

Received: 13 August 2021 Accepted: 04 November 2021 Published: 23 November 2021

Citation:

Tian J, Zhao J-y, Xu J-m, Li Q-I, Sun T, Zhao C-x, Gao R, Zhu L-y, Guo H-c, Yang L-b, Cao D-p and Zhang S-e (2021) Mobile Phone Addiction and Academic Procrastination Negatively Impact Academic Achievement Among Chinese Medical Students. Front. Psychol. 12:758303. doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2021.758303 The problem of mobile phone addiction and academic procrastination among medical students has been widely acknowledged. This study aimed to explore the influence of demographic factors on mobile phone addiction, academic procrastination, and academic achievement among medical students. Further, it investigated the association between mobile phone addiction, academic procrastination, and academic achievement. This cross-sectional study was conducted between May and June 2019. A total of 3 511 medical students participated in an online questionnaire survey (effective response rate = 81.7%). Demographic factors, the Scale of Academic Achievement, the short scale of the Mobile Phone Problem Use (MPPUS-10), and the Academic Procrastination Scale-Short (APS-S) were used. Hierarchical multiple regression analysis revealed that the average scores for academic procrastination, mobile phone addiction, and academic achievement were 2.66 \pm 0.91, 5.13 \pm 1.53, and 4.51 \pm 0.71, respectively. Moreover, there were significant differences in gender, grade, leadership experience, and family monthly income across mobile phone addiction, academic procrastination, and academic achievement. Mobile phone addiction was negatively associated with learning dedication, learning performance, and relationship facilitation. Academic procrastination was negatively associated with learning dedication, learning performance, relationship facilitation, and objective achievement. Mobile phone addiction and academic procrastination was revealed as prevalent among Chinese medical students, and negatively influences their academic achievement. It is critical to establish a more efficient learning environment for Chinese medical students to minimize the negative impact of mobile phone addiction and academic procrastination.

Keywords: medical students, academic achievement, mobile phone addiction, academic procrastination, medical education

INTRODUCTION

Medical education is essential for promoting the development of healthcare systems worldwide. Its primary objective is to train medical personnel to provide high-quality services to the public during their careers. Academic learning in medical school is crucial for students to acquire the knowledge and skills to become qualified doctors. Additionally, most countries lack talented

48

and qualified physicians, resulting in a sustained demand to cultivate qualified medical students. Academic achievement is defined as the sum of medical students' learning consequences, attitudes, and behaviors (Yanfei et al., 2011). It comprises two aspects: behavioral performance and objective achievement. Academic achievement is often regarded as an index for evaluating training outcomes in theoretical and practical courses (Özcan et al., 2019). Studies suggest that academic achievement is associated with learning strategies (Rugutt, 2005), outcome expectations (Nabizadeh et al., 2019), thinking skills, learning styles (Shirazi and Heidari, 2019), lifestyle (Heidari, 2017), selfesteem (Jirdehi et al., 2018), family support (Abdulghani et al., 2014), and social and psychological factors (Džubur et al., 2020). Conversely, academic procrastination is a psychological factor, which is negatively correlated with academic achievement among college students as reported by a study done on Turkish medical students (Karatas, 2015). Moreover, with the rapid development of the Internet, mobile phone addiction has emerged as an important factor affecting students' academic achievement (Ibrahim et al., 2018). Considering cross-cultural differences, continuous attention should be given to academic achievement and its influencing factors among medical students in China.

According to the 47th Statistical Report on Internet Development in China, "As of December 2020, the number of online surfers by cellphone in China has reached 986 million."1 Simultaneously, the penetration rate of mobile phones in Chinese university campuses is close to 100% (Rong and Hong, 2018). Mobile phones have proven useful for medical students as practical learning tools that enable them to "learn anywhere" (Payne et al., 2012). Moreover, mobile phones have a wide range of functionality in elevating the accessibility of learning and realizing equal opportunities for education. However, excessive and problematic use has caused adverse effects on the learning behavior of medical students (Ibrahim et al., 2018). Mobile phone addiction is defined as the uncontrolled use of mobile phones in inappropriate or harmful situations (Bianchi and Phillips, 2005) and is common among contemporary college students (Gao et al., 2018). Studies have found that adolescents and young people have been exposed to mobile phone addiction, which hinders their academic performance (Lepp et al., 2015; Xavier et al., 2018). Moreover, mobile phone addiction is negatively associated with academic performance among university students globally, and high-frequency mobile phone users spent less time on academic attention, interest, and investment (Amez and Baert, 2020). The study of medicine presents unique challenges with numerous courses and immense amounts of necessary scientific knowledge and practical skills, requiring medical students to dedicate more time and energy to studying it (Reed et al., 2014; Yeh and Park, 2015). However, in China, medical students with mobile phone addiction dedicate their limited energy resources to their mobile phones, resulting in decreased academic performance and a series of negative outcomes that potentially impact the medical profession (Siyu et al., 2020). Based on the characteristics of medical students, this study aimed to investigate the relationship between mobile

phone addiction and academic achievement among medical students in China.

Procrastination is a common phenomenon, often occurring in a pragmatic and technologically advanced society (Steel, 2007), causing poor mental health, diminished success, increased stress, and reduced well-being (Jaffe, 2013; Glick and Orsillo, 2015). Academic procrastination is a type of situational procrastination (Karimi Moonaghi and Baloochi Beydokhti, 2017), and is defined as an initiative delay in the learning process and intended course (Steel, 2007). Although many studies have explored academic procrastination in different educational settings, the university context has been the most common (Karimi Moonaghi and Baloochi Beydokhti, 2017). For example, the prevalence of academic procrastination was 68% among college students in Iran (Rafii et al., 2014) and between 70 and 80% in Sweden (Rozental and Carlbring, 2014). Recent research has focused on academic procrastination and academic achievement among college students, finding a negative correlation between them (Karatas, 2015). Moreover, medical students are more prone to academic procrastination than college students (Forough et al., 2015; Hayat et al., 2020). Medical students must manage course schedules, teaching content, and academic tasks; thus, they are subjected to longer schooling, containing multiple courses and academic tasks. They therefore experience heavy academic burdens, and high pressure (Ross et al., 2010; Kötter et al., 2017), resulting in negative emotions and academic procrastination (Artino et al., 2012). In China, academic procrastination occurs more among medical than non-medical college students, and academic procrastination is further influenced by gender, life satisfaction, and anxiety among this population (Yao et al., 2021). However, few studies have directly explored the relationship between academic procrastination and academic achievement among Chinese medical students.

Therefore, this study aimed to explore the influence of demographic factors on mobile phone addiction, academic procrastination, and academic achievement among medical students. We further explored the association between mobile phone addiction, academic procrastination, and academic achievement.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Study Design and Procedures

A cross-sectional online survey was conducted in Heilongjiang Province, China, ensuring time-effectiveness, cost-effectiveness, and accessibility of the research (Chang and Vowles, 2013). Four medical colleges were selected as survey sites: Harbin Medical University, Jiamusi Medical College, Mudanjiang Medical University, and Qiqihar Medical University. The colleges differed in size, major setting, and academic competence. Moreover, medical students from the selected colleges came from different provinces in China. We used a multistage stratified convenient sampling method; participants from different classes and grades were randomly selected. The procedures of this survey were approved by the Ethics Committee of the Institutional Review Board of Harbin Medical University before starting the online

¹http://www.cnnic.net.cn/hlwfzyj/hlwzzbg/hlwtjbg/

investigations and observed throughout the questionnaire survey process. Before the formal investigation commenced, Harbin Medical University was selected as our pilot survey site, and 300 questionnaires were issued and collected via the Internet. These pilot data were used for questionnaire improvement and hence were excluded from the main analysis. Finally, we consulted medical education experts, college administrators, and medical teachers (a total of four experts); based on their feedback, the questionnaire was modified.

Data Collection

The minimum sample size was calculated as 1,824 medical students, according to the standard requirements and calculation method recommended by Zhou et al. (2017). Furthermore, considering the response rate and data quality, the recommended sample size was expanded to 5,000. The survey was conducted between May and June 2019. Before the investigation commenced, we obtained informed consent from the participants. The online questionnaire survey was hosted by "Questionnaire Star."2 Each medical student who agreed to participate in the study was informed of the topic and content of the survey. The questionnaire URL was distributed to participants to complete in their spare time; each participant could only reply once. We carefully monitored the questionnaire collection process and effectively managed the data on Questionnaire Star. Additionally, we checked the collected questionnaires daily for quality control purposes. Such a survey method has been successfully employed in other completed studies (Zhang et al., 2018; Shi et al., 2021). Questionnaires were distributed to a total of 5,921 participants, and 4,297 questionnaires were successfully returned. The inclusion criteria were: (1) medical students studying at the selected medical college, (2) voluntarily and truthfully responding to the online questionnaire survey, and (3) having complete answers. The exclusion criteria were: (1) taking less than 8 minutes (which was confirmed as the minimum answering time in the preliminary survey) to answer the questionnaire, and (2) answering quality control questions incorrectly (for example, "Did you fill out the questionnaire carefully?"). Ultimately, 3 511 questionnaires were valid (effective response rate = 81.7%).

Measures

Demographic Characteristics

Information on five demographic characteristics was collected from a self-designed questionnaire, comprising sex, region, year of study, leadership experience, and family income. Region was divided into two categories: "rural" and "urban." The year of study was recorded as a continuous variable, from 1 to 5. Leadership experience was divided into "student leaders" and "ordinary students." Options for family income included " \leq ¥5,000," "¥5,001–¥10,000," "¥10,001–¥20,000," and " \geq ¥20,001."

Academic Achievement

Academic achievement was measured using 19 items developed by Yanfei et al. (2011). Academic achievement was divided into

²http://www.wenjuan.com/

two sides: behavior performance and objective achievement. Behavior performance included three subscales: learning performance (6 items), relationship facilitation (6 items), and learning dedication (3 items), totaling to 15 items. Each item of behavioral performance was rated on a 6-point Likert scale (1 = strongly unapplicable, and 6 = strongly applicable). Objective achievement comprised four items for the participants' selfevaluation of achievement (recreational and sports activities, moral education, intellectual education, and total score) using a 5-point Likert scale. The higher the participants' self-evaluation, the higher their subjective achievement. Cronbach's alpha for the overall scale was 0.936 and those for the subscales were 0.895 (learning performance), 0.907 (relationship facilitation), 0.902 (learning dedication), and 0.874 (objective achievement).

Mobile Phone Addiction

Mobile phone addiction was measured using the Chinese adaptation (Hongjuan et al., 2017) of the short scale of Mobile Phone Problem Use (MPPUS-10) (Milena et al., 2015). The MPPUS-10 is a 10-item scale consisting of five dimensions: craving (1 item), negative life consequences (2 items), peer acceptance (1 item), withdrawal (3 items), and loss of control (3 items). Answers are recorded on a 5-point Likert scale (1 = strongly unapplicable to 5 = strongly applicable), with higher scores indicating higher mobile phone addiction. The MPPUS-10 has demonstrated adequate reliability and validity in previous studies in China (Hongjuan et al., 2017; Jianfang, 2018). For example, Hongjuan et al. (2017) used the MPPUS-10 to investigate middle school students in Beijing, and Cronbach's alpha was 0.87 (Hongjuan et al., 2017). Additionally, the MPPUS-10 was used for stratified sampling to investigate problematic mobile phone use among high school students in China, where Cronbach's alpha was 0.83 (Jianfang, 2018). In this study, Cronbach's alpha was 0.825.

Academic Procrastination

The Academic Procrastination Scale–Short (APS-S) was adopted to measure the severity of the effect of procrastination on students' academic tasks (Yockey, 2016). It has a total of five items, with each item examining the respondent's learning experience. Answers were rated on a 5-point Likert scale (1 = totally agree and 5 = totally disagree). Higher scores indicated a greater tendency to procrastinate on academic tasks. Cronbach's alpha was 0.901 in this study.

Statistical Analysis

IBM SPSS Statistics 23.0 was used to analyze the data. Participants' demographic characteristics (sex, region, grade, leadership experience, and family income [RMB]) were collected to provide sample information. Variance analysis was used to test for associations between demographic characteristics and mobile phone addiction, academic procrastination, and academic achievement. Multiple linear hierarchical regression analysis was performed to examine the relationships among the variables. P < 0.05 (two-tailed significance test) was considered significant for all statistical tests in this study.

RESULTS

Demographics and Characteristics

The percentages of participants who were female, lived in urban areas, and were student leaders were 65.99, 54.09, and 35.46%, respectively. There were 30.82, 28.51, 22.67, 6.69, and 11.31% participants in grades one, two, three, four, and five, respectively. Regarding participants' family monthly income levels, 41.81, 48.45, 9.00, and 0.74% participants indicated incomes \leq ¥5,000, ¥5,001–10,000, ¥10,001–20,000, and \geq ¥20,001, respectively.

Descriptive Statistics

As shown in **Table 1**, descriptive statistical analysis was used to analyze the mean distribution of mobile phone addiction, academic procrastination, and the four dimensions of academic achievement. This included objective achievement, relationship facilitation, learning performance, and learning dedication.

Difference Between Participants' Characteristics and Scores of Multiple Variables

Scores for learning dedication differed significantly according to participants' demographics, including sex, grade, and leadership experience. The descriptive associations between participants' characteristics and mobile phone addiction, academic procrastination, objective achievement, relationship facilitation, and learning performance scores are shown in **Table 2**.

Multiple Linear Hierarchical Regression Analysis Models for Participants' Academic Achievement

Academic achievement was negatively correlated with mobile phone addiction (r = -0.780, p < 0.01) and academic procrastination (r = -0.285, p < 0.01). Additionally, mobile phone addiction was positively correlated with academic procrastination (r = 0.457, p < 0.01). Subsequently, a multiple linear hierarchical regression analysis was performed to examine the influence of mobile phone addiction and academic procrastination on academic achievement after controlling for the effects of the demographic variables.

Table 3 represents the influence of mobile phone addiction on academic achievement, and Table 4 shows the influence

TABLE 1 | Means (*M*) and standard deviations (*SD*) of the basic variables and dimensional inventory of academic achievement (n = 3,511).

$M \pm SD$	Min-Max
5.13 ± 1.53	1–10
2.66 ± 0.91	1–5
3.42 ± 0.77	1–5
4.62 ± 0.77	1–6
4.52 ± 0.77	1–6
4.29 ± 0.92	1–6
	2.66 ± 0.91 3.42 ± 0.77 4.62 ± 0.77 4.52 ± 0.77

of academic procrastination on academic achievement. We found that mobile phone addiction was significantly negatively associated with learning dedication ($\beta = -0.080$, p < 0.01), learning performance ($\beta = -0.112$, p < 0.01), and relationship facilitation ($\beta = -0.033$, p < 0.05). Meanwhile, academic procrastination was significantly negatively related to learning dedication ($\beta = -0.220$, p < 0.01), learning performance ($\beta = -0.322$, p < 0.01), relationship facilitation ($\beta = -0.171$, p < 0.01), and objective achievement ($\beta = -0.154$, p < 0.01).

DISCUSSION

This study investigated the association between academic procrastination, mobile phone addiction, and academic achievement among Chinese medical students. Further, the scores for academic procrastination and academic achievement were higher than those reported by previous studies examining college students from non-medical universities in China (Haiqin et al., 2013; Jiajia et al., 2014). These differences may be attributed to different survey tools and variations in target populations, such as medical versus non-medical students. Moreover, the score for mobile phone addiction was higher than that reported among adults aged 18-34 years using MPPUS-10 in a Lebanese study (Marc et al., 2018). Chinese medical students are influenced by professional and environmental factors and are faced with immense academic pressure and strict standards; thus, they are prone to social anxiety and are vulnerable to mobile phone addiction (Linlin et al., 2015). These findings suggest that academic procrastination and mobile phone addiction levels among Chinese medical students are above the average and should be given increased attention.

Influence of Sociodemographic Characteristics on Mobile Phone Addiction, Academic Procrastination, and Academic Achievement

Sex, grade, leadership experience, and family monthly income were found to affect male medical students. This may lead to anxiety and poor sleep quality, which may subsequently cause higher mobile phone addiction (Chen et al., 2017). Studies have suggested that males score higher than females in their locus of control and that both groups differ in their learning styles, which may impact their levels of learning dedication and objective achievement (Khan and Iqbal, 2014; Wehrwein et al., 2015). Additionally, medical students with leadership experience have better self-awareness, self-planning, self-execution, self-assessment, and self-correction skills (Dan, 2013) and serve as role models to other students. Therefore, they need to have better academic achievement and thereby have a low level of academic procrastination (Yao et al., 2021). Understanding the influence of demographics on mobile phone addiction, academic procrastination, and academic achievement can inform interventions and policies aimed at medical students to reduce their mobile phone addiction and academic procrastination.

						Academic a	chievement	
Variables		N (%)	Mobile phone addiction	Academic procrastination	Learning dedication	Learning performance	Relationship facilitation	Objective achievement
			$M \pm SD$	$M \pm SD$	$M \pm SD$	$M \pm SD$	M ± SD	$M \pm SD$
Gender	Male	1,194 (34.01)	5.24 ± 1.64	2.68 ± 0.98	4.35 ± 1.00	4.51 ± 0.86	4.64 ± 0.84	3.37 ± 0.84
	Female	2,317 (65.99)	5.07 ± 1.48	2.64 ± 0.88	4.27 ± 0.87	4.52 ± 0.72	4.60 ± 0.73	3.44 ± 0.73
	t/F		9.536**	1.624	6.175*	0.169	1.774	6.585*
	Р		0.002	0.203	0.013	0.681	0.183	0.010
Region	Rural	1,612 (45.91)	5.16 ± 1.54	2.66 ± 0.90	4.28 ± 0.89	4.53 ± 0.73	4.60 ± 0.75	3.41 ± 0.76
	Urban	1,899 (54.09)	5.11 ± 1.53	2.65 ± 0.93	4.30 ± 0.94	4.51 ± 0.80	4.63 ± 0.79	3.43 ± 0.78
	t/F		1.032	0.088	0.425	0.833	0.918	-0.142
	Р		0.310	0.767	0.515	0.361	0.338	0.706
Grade	One	1,082 (30.82)	5.16 ± 1.49	2.65 ± 0.92	4.36 ± 0.87	4.56 ± 0.74	4.70 ± 0.73	3.42 ± 0.72
	Two	1,001 (28.51)	5.14 ± 1.51	2.60 ± 0.88	4.31 ± 0.93	4.54 ± 0.79	4.62 ± 0.79	3.42 ± 0.79
	Three	796 (22.67)	5.21 ± 1.56	2.71 ± 0.93	4.19 ± 0.99	4.47 ± 0.810	4.52 ± 0.80	3.38 ± 0.81
	Four	235 (6.69)	4.90 ± 1.55	2.63 ± 0.90	4.24 ± 0.89	4.40 ± 0.73	4.54 ± 0.72	3.40 ± 0.79
	Five	397 (11.31)	5.00 ± 1.63	2.70 ± 0.94	4.32 ± 0.86	4.54 ± 0.73	4.65 ± 0.75	3.49 ± 0.80
	t/F		2.760*	1.853	4.347**	3.048*	7.052**	1.292
	Р		0.026	0.116	0.002	0.016	< 0.001	0.271
Leadership experience	Student leaders	1,245 (35.46)	5.12 ± 1.55	2.58 ± 0.94	4.44 ± 0.94	4.62 ± 0.79	4.81 ± 0.77	3.67 ± 0.75
	Ordinary students	2,266 (64.54)	5.14 ± 1.53	2.70 ± 0.90	4.21 ± 0.89	4.47 ± 0.75	4.51 ± 0.75	3.28 ± 0.75
	t/F		0.173	13.154**	49.398**	30.673**	126.183**	225.279**
	Р		0.677	< 0.001	< 0.001	< 0.001	< 0.001	<0.001
Family monthly income (RMB)	≤5,000	1,468 (41.81)	5.13 ± 1.55	2.66 ± 0.94	4.28 ± 0.92	4.50 ± 0.77	4.60 ± 0.78	3.39 ± 0.77
	5,001-10,000	1,701 (48.45)	5.14 ± 1.51	2.64 ± 0.89	4.29 ± 0.89	4.51 ± 0.75	4.62 ± 0.75	3.43 ± 0.76
	10,001–20,000	316 (9.00)	5.08 ± 1.57	2.67 ± 0.94	4.34 ± 1.03	4.62 ± 0.84	4.66 ± 0.83	3.49 ± 0.82
	≥20,001	26 (0.74)	4.90 ± 1.85	2.80 ± 1.12	4.74 ± 0.94	4.69 ± 0.80	4.71 ± 0.88	3.77 ± 0.89
	t/F		0.309	0.405	2.552	2.558	0.519	3.672*
	Р		0.819	0.749	0.054	0.051	0.669	0.012

TABLE 2 | Variance analysis and description of each variable.

 $^{*}P < 0.05, ~^{**}P < 0.01$, Pearson Correlation is significant at the 0.01 level (2-tailed).

Impact of Mobile Phone Addiction on Academic Achievement

In this study, academic achievement was divided into four dimensions. Learning performance examined students' completion of learning; relationship facilitation assessed students' interpersonal communication ability; learning dedication focused on students' enthusiasm and initiative for learning; and objective achievement involved the selfevaluation of moral education, intellectual education, arts and sports, and comprehensive achievements (Yanfei et al., 2011). The four dimensions of academic achievement are considered to accurately assess medical students' learning consequences, learning attitude, and learning behaviors under medical education standards in China (Li et al., 2020). Our results revealed that mobile phone addiction has a negative impact on learning dedication, learning performance, and relationship facilitation. One study posited that a relationship exists between mobile phone use and academic achievement among university students (Ahmed et al., 2020). Another study involving college students in Hainan showed a 40.5% mobile phone addiction rate (Yan et al., 2017). Similarly, in our survey of medical students in Northeast China, we found that the problem of mobile phone addiction was widespread (Yan et al., 2017). Therefore, Chinese medical students with mobile phone addiction were likelier to report problems in learning dedication, learning performance, and relationship facilitation. Further, incorrect and excessive mobile phone use may lead to a higher risk of depression (Alhassan et al., 2018), poor sleep quality (Liu et al., 2017), loneliness (Li et al., 2016), and academic burnout (Ma et al., 2020). This negatively impacts medical students' learning and life, and affects their learning dedication, learning performance, and relationship facilitation. However, our study also found that mobile phone addiction did not affect objective achievement. This may be because mobile phones are regarded as study tools that are used to access course materials, search for library catalogs, discuss course assignments with peers, take notes, and so on. Moreover, as the use of mobile phones is often closely related to college studies, students may believe that there is little or no correlation between mobile phone use and objective achievement (Dukic et al., 2015).

TABLE 3 Influence of mobile phone addiction on academic achiev	ement.
--	--------

Variables	<i>M</i> ₁ (β)	Å	Academic a	chieveme	nt
		M ₂ (β)	M ₃ (β)	Μ4 (β)	<i>M</i> ₅ (β)
Control variables					
Gender	-0.039*	-0.043*	0.004	-0.020	0.049**
Grade	-0.027	-0.030	-0.025	-0.033*	0.033*
Region	-0.005	-0.006	-0.036*	-0.001	-0.027
Family monthly income	0.023	0.022	0.042*	0.012	0.054**
Leadership experience	-0.115**	-0.114**	-0.092**	-0.183**	-0.249**
Predictor variable					
Mobile phone addiction		-0.080**	-0.112**	-0.033*	-0.018
F	11.938**	13.788**	14.312**	22.667**	41.658**
R^2	0.017**	0.021**	0.022**.	0.036*	0.065
ΔR^2	0.015**	0.023**	0.024**	0.037*	0.067

 M_1 : control variables, including gender, grade, region, family monthly income, and leadership experience. M_2 : explains the influence of mobile phone addiction on learning dedication. M_3 : explains the influence of mobile phone addiction on learning performance. M_4 : explains the influence of mobile phone addiction on relationship facilitation. M_5 : explains the influence of mobile phone addiction on objective achievement.

*P < 0.05, **P < 0.01, Pearson Correlation is significant at the 0.01 level (2-tailed).

TABLE 4 Influence of academic procrastination on academic achievement.

Variables	M ₆ (β)	A	cademic a	achieveme	nt
		Μ 7 (β)	<i>M</i> 8 (β)	M ₉ (β)	M ₁₀ (β)
Control variables					
Gender	-0.039*	-0.044**	0.003	-0.023	0.046**
Grade	-0.027	-0.023	-0.015	-0.029	0.036*
Region	-0.005	-0.005	-0.035*	-0.001	-0.027
Family monthly income	0.023	0.024	0.044**	0.012	0.054**
Leadership experience	-0.0115**	-0.102**	-0.073**	-0.173**	-0.240**
Predictor variable					
Academic procrastination		-0.220**	-0.322**	-0.171**	-0.154**
F	11.938**	40.628**	75.775**	40.919**	57.715**
R^2	0.017**	0.063**	0.113**	0.064**	0.088**
ΔR^2	0.015**	0.065**	0.115**	0.065**	0.090**

 M_6 : control variables, including gender, grade, region, family monthly income, and leadership experience. M_7 : explains the influence of academic procrastination on learning dedication. M_8 : explains the influence of academic procrastination on learning performance. M_9 : explains the influence of academic procrastination on relationship facilitation. M_{10} : explains the influence of academic procrastination on objective achievement.

*P < 0.05, **P < 0.01, Pearson Correlation is significant at the 0.01 level (2-tailed).

Impact of Academic Procrastination on Academic Achievement

Our results also confirm that academic procrastination has a significant negative influence on academic achievement. This is consistent with the findings of previous studies (Steel and Ones, 2002; Karatas, 2015). Procrastination is a negative defense mechanism that is characterized by escaping or postponing learning tasks (Hoare, 1986). During the process of studying, procrastination may lead to academic failure, and chronic procrastination can cause negative emotions such as tiredness, anxiety, guilt, among others (Ferrari, 2010). Therefore, once medical students show signs of procrastination, it may directly, passively impact their learning dedication and learning performance. However, procrastinators suffer from persistent anxiety about completing tasks, which can lead to other negative emotional reactions; thus, relationship facilitation is affected to some extent (Ferrari et al., 2009). Consequently, educators and teachers should focus on the negative effects of medical students' academic procrastination.

Implications for Medical Education

Instructors should consider their students' demographic factors in addressing mobile phone addiction and academic procrastination among medical students, and accordingly suggest interventions such as cognitive appraisals. Cognitive appraisals can provide insight into medical students' mobile phone addiction and academic procrastination and can be used by students and educators alike (Ann et al., 2019). Instructors can also guide medical students to learn and practice reducing their academic procrastination, and have regular face-to-face conversations with students who are addicted to their mobile phones (Yanting et al., 2018).

Limitations

There are several limitations in this study. First, the participants were from four medical schools in the same Chinese province, which may limit the generalizability of this study to other regions. Additionally, we used several scales that were developed for use among Western cohorts, requiring additional academic attention in the Chinese context. Finally, this cross-sectional study reveals the relationship between mobile phone addiction, academic procrastination, and academic achievement at one point, but does not explain the causal relationship between the variables.

CONCLUSION

This study revealed that the problems of mobile phone addiction and academic procrastination are prevalent among Chinese medical students, and these negatively influences their academic achievement. Based on these results, we offer guidance for reducing the negative effects of mobile phone addiction and academic procrastination on academic achievement. Future studies are required to identify the factors associated with mobile phone addiction and academic procrastination.

DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

The original contributions presented in the study are included in the article/supplementary material, further inquiries can be directed to the corresponding author/s.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

D-PC, S-EZ, and JT contributed to conception and design of the study. J-MX and S-EZ organized the database. Q-LL, C-XZ,

and H-CG performed the statistical analysis. J-MX, J-YZ, and JT wrote the first draft of the manuscript. L-BY, L-YZ, and RG wrote sections of the manuscript. All authors contributed to manuscript revision, read, and approved the submitted version.

REFERENCES

- Abdulghani, H. M., Al-Drees, A. A., Khalil, M. S., Ahmad, F., Ponnamperuma, G. G., and Amin, Z. (2014). What factors determine academic achievement in high achieving undergraduate medical students? A qualitative study. *Med. Teach.* 36, 43–48. doi: 10.3109/0142159X.2014.886011
- Ahmed, R. R., Salman, F., Malik, S. A., Streimikiene, D., Soomro, R. H., and Pahi, M. H. (2020). Smartphone use and academic performance of university students: a mediation and moderation analysis. *Sustainability* 12:439. doi: 10. 3390/su12010439
- Alhassan, A. A., Alqadhib, E. M., Taha, N. W., Alahmari, R. A., Mahmoud, S., and Almutairi, A. F. (2018). The relationship between addiction to smartphone usage and depression among adults: a cross sectional study. *BMC Psychiatry* 18:148. doi: 10.1186/s12888-018-1745-4
- Amez, S., and Baert, S. (2020). Smartphone use and academic performance: a literature review. *Int. J. Educ. Res.* 103:101618.
- Ann, K., Cassandra, G., Leonie, S., and Oliver, D. (2019). How to reduce test anxiety and academic procrastination through inquiry of cognitive appraisals: a pilot study investigating the role of academic self-efficacy. *Front. Psychol.* 10:1917. doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2019.01917
- Artino, A. R. J., Dong, T., DeZee, K. J., Gilliland, W. R., Waechter, D. M., Cruess, D., et al. (2012). Achievement goal structures and self-regulated learning: relationships and changes in medical school. *Acad. Med.* 87, 1375–1381. doi: 10.1097/ACM.0b013e3182676b55
- Bianchi, A., and Phillips, J. G. (2005). Psychological predictors of problem mobile phone use. *Cyberpsychol. Behav.* 8, 39–51. doi: 10.1089/cpb.2005.8.39
- Chang, T. Z., and Vowles, N. (2013). Strategies for improving data reliability for online surveys: a case study. Int. J. Electron. Commer. Stud. 4, 121–129. doi: 10.7903/ijecs.1121
- Chen, B., Liu, F., Ding, S., Ying, X., Wang, L., and Wen, Y. (2017). Gender differences in factors associated with smartphone addiction: a cross-sectional study among medical college students. *BMC Psychiatry* 17:341. doi: 10.1186/ s12888-017-1503-z
- Dan, L. (2013). Intervention research on time management disposition of the student cadres in colleges and universities. J. Jiangsu Normal Univ. 4, 26–29.
- Dukic, Z., Chiu, D. K. W., and Lo, P. (2015). How useful are smartphones for learning? Perceptions and practices of Library and Information Science students from Hong Kong and Japan. *Libr. Hi Tech* 33, 545–561. doi: 10.1108/ LHT-02-2015-0015
- Džubur, A., Lisica, D., Abdulahović, D., and Ejubović, M. (2020). Impact of social and psychological factors on academic achievement of university students. *Med. Glas.* 17, 234–238.
- Ferrari, J. R. (2010). Procrastination as self-regulation failure of performance: effects of cognitive load, self-awareness, and time limits on 'working best under pressure'. *Eur. J. Pers.* 15, 391–406. doi: 10.1002/per.413
- Ferrari, J. R., Özer, B. U., and Demir, A. (2009). Chronic procrastination among Turkish adults: exploring decisional, avoidant, and arousal styles. J. Soc. Psychol. 149, 402–408. doi: 10.3200/SOCP.149.3.402-408
- Forough, M., Mortazavi, S. S., and Razieh, K. (2015). Psychometric properties of the procrastination Assessment Scale-Student (PASS) in a student sample of Sabzevar University of medical sciences. *Iran. Red Crescent Med. J.* 17:e28328. doi: 10.5812/ircmj.28328
- Gao, T., Li, J., Zhang, H., Gao, J., Kong, Y., Hu, Y., et al. (2018). The influence of alexithymia on mobile phone addiction: the role of depression, anxiety and stress. J. Affect. Disord. 225, 761–766. doi: 10.1016/j.jad.2017.08.020
- Glick, D. M., and Orsillo, S. M. (2015). An investigation of the efficacy of acceptance-based behavioral therapy for academic procrastination. J. Exp. Psychol. Gen. 144, 400–409. doi: 10.1037/xge0000050
- Haiqin, Y., Chen, L., and Haimei, S. (2013). The Impact of Learning Environment on Undergraduates' Learning Style and Academic Achievement: based on the

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

We thank all the students for their generous contributions to this research. We would like to thank Editage (www.editage.cn) for English language editing.

Empirical Research of Top-notch Innovative Talents Cultivation. J. High. Educ. 34, 62–70.

- Hayat, A. A., Kojuri, J., and Amini, M. (2020). Academic procrastination of medical students: the role of Internet addiction. J. Adv. Med. Educ. Prof. 8, 83–89. doi: 10.30476/JAMP.2020.85000.1159
- Heidari, M. (2017). Relationship of lifestyle with academic achievement in nursing students. J. Clin. Diagn. Res. 11, 1–3. doi: 10.7860/JCDR/2017/24536.9501
- Hoare, T. (1986). Freudian psychology and western literature. Changsha: Hunan Literature and Art Publishing House.
- Hongjuan, Z., Rude, L., and Ying, L. (2017). The impact of peer attachment on problematic mobile phone use among adolescents: moderated mediation effect of loneliness and self-construal. J. Psychol. Sci. 40, 89–95.
- Ibrahim, N. K., Baharoon, B. S., Banjar, W. F., Jar, A. A., Ashor, R. M., Aman, A. A., et al. (2018). Mobile phone addiction and its relationship to sleep quality and academic achievement of medical students at King Abdulaziz University, Jeddah, Saudi Arabia. J. Res. Health Sci. 18:e00420.

Jaffe, E. (2013). Why wait? The science behind procrastination. APS Obs. 26, 12–16.

- Jiajia, D., Yan, W., and Xuehong, T. (2014). The relationship among mobile phone dependence, academic procrastination and subjective well-being of college students. J. Hangzhou Norm. Univ. 13, 482–487.
- Jianfang, H. (2018). A study on the corelation among problematic mobile phone use, positive psychological capital, and self-consistency and congruence of high school students. China: Shenzhen University.
- Jirdehi, M. M., Asgari, F., Tabari, R., and Leyli, E. K. (2018). Study the relationship between medical sciences students' self-esteem and academic achievement of Guilan university of medical sciences. J. Educ. Health Promot. 7:25. doi: 10. 4103/jehp.jehp_136_17
- Karatas, H. (2015). Correlation among academic procrastination, personality traits, and academic achievement. Anthropologist 20, 243–255.
- Karimi Moonaghi, H., and Baloochi Beydokhti, T. (2017). Academic procrastination and its characteristics: a narrative review. *Future Med. Educ. J.* 7, 43–50.
- Khan, A. S., and Iqbal, N. (2014). Effects of locus of control on gender. J. Pharm. Sci. 101, 2194–2203.
- Kötter, T., Wagner, J., Brüheim, L., and Voltmer, E. (2017). Perceived medical school stress of undergraduate medical students predicts academic performance: an observational study. *BMC Med. Educ.* 17:256. doi: 10.1186/ s12909-017-1091-0
- Lepp, A., Barkley, J. E., and Karpinski, A. C. (2015). The Relationship between cell phone use and academic performance in a sample of U.S. college students. SAGE Open 1, 1–9. doi: 10.1177/2158244015573169
- Li, D., Xu, H., Wang, Y., and Wei, M. (2020). The development of Chinese medical education. J. Craniofac. Surg. 31, 453–455. doi: 10.1097/SCS.00000000006333
- Li, L., Songli, M., Zhimin, N., and Yuting, S. (2016). Loneliness and sleep quality in university students: mediator of smartphone addiction and moderator of gender. *Chin. J. Clin. Psychol.* 24, 345–348.
- Linlin, M., Lin, Z., and Wenjuan, W. (2015). Relationship between social anxiety and emotional intelligence in medical students. J. Bengbu Med. Coll. 40, 100– 102. doi: 10.13898/j.cnki.issn.1000-2200.2015.01.033
- Liu, Q. Q., Zhou, Z. K., Yang, X. J., Kong, F. C., Niu, G., and Fan, C. Y. (2017). Mobile phone addiction and sleep quality among Chinese adolescents: a moderated mediation model. *Acta Psychol. Sin.* 72, 108–114. doi: 10.1016/j.chb. 2017.02.042
- Ma, P., He, B., Pan, W., Qin, P., and Zhao, S. (2020). The influence of undergraduate's mobile phone addiction on learning burnout: based on latent moderated structural equation. *Psychology* 11, 966–979. doi: 10.4236/psych. 2020.116062
- Marc, N., Sani, H., and Chantal, S. (2018). Problematic smartphone use among Lebanese adults aged 18 to 65 years using MPPUS-10. Comput. Hum. Behav. 87, 348–353. doi: 10.1016/j.chb.2018.06.009

- Milena, F., Katharina, R., Anna, S., and Martin, R. (2015). Problematic mobile phone use in adolescents: derivation of a short scale MPPUS-10. *Int. J. Public Health* 60, 277–286. doi: 10.1007/s00038-015-0660-4
- Nabizadeh, S., Hajian, S., Sheikhan, Z., and Rafiei, F. (2019). Prediction of academic achievement based on learning strategies and outcome expectations among medical students. *BMC Med. Educ.* 19:99. doi: 10.1186/s12909-019-1527-9
- Özcan, M., Yeniçeri, N., and Çekiç, E. (2019). The impact of gender and academic achievement on the violation of academic integrity for medical faculty students, a descriptive cross-sectional survey study. *BMC Med. Educ.* 19:427. doi: 10. 1186/s12909-019-1865-7
- Payne, K. F. B., Wharrad, H., and Watts, K. (2012). Smartphone and medical related App use among medical students and junior doctors in the United Kingdom (UK): a regional survey. *BMC Med. Inform. Decis. Mak.* 12:121. doi: 10.1186/ 1472-6947-12-121
- Rafii, F., Rasouli, F. S., Ghezeljeh, T. N., and Haghani, H. (2014). The relationship between academic procrastination, academic achievement, and self-efficacy in nursing students of Tehran University of medical sciences. *Iran. J. Med. Educ.* 1, 32–40.
- Reed, S., Shell, R., Kassis, K., Tartaglia, K., Wallihan, R., Smith, K., et al. (2014). Applying adult learning practices in medical education. *Curr. Probl. Pediatr. Adolesc. Health Care* 44, 170–181. doi: 10.1016/j.cppeds.2014.01.008
- Rong, Z., and Hong, L. (2018). Studying on the interaction among motivation of using mobile phone, mobile phone dependence and interpersonal contact efficacy of medical college students. *Chin. J. Soc. Med.* 35, 147–150. doi: 10.3969/ j.issn.1673-5625.2018.02.012
- Ross, S., Cleland, J., and Macleod, M. J. (2010). Stress, debt and undergraduate medical student performance. *Med. Educ.* 40, 584–589. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2929.2006.02448.x
- Rozental, A., and Carlbring, P. (2014). Understanding and treating procrastination: a Review of a common self-regulatory failure. *Psychology* 5, 1488–1502. doi: 10.4236/psych.2014.513160
- Rugutt, J. K. (2005). A study of factors that influence college academic achievement: a structural equation modeling approach. J. Educ. Res. Policy Stud. 5, 66–90.
- Shi, Y., Zhang, S. E., Fan, L., and Sun, T. (2021). What motivates medical students to engage in volunteer behavior during the covid-19 outbreak? a large crosssectional survey. *Front. Psychol.* 11:569765. doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2020.569765
- Shirazi, F., and Heidari, S. (2019). The relationship between critical thinking skills and learning styles and academic achievement of nursing students. J. Nurs. Res. 27:e38. doi: 10.1097/jnr.0000000000000307
- Siyu, Z., Zhihui, C., Xuanyi, L., Lulu, Z., and Anqi, Z. (2020). Studying on the current status of smartphone addiction among medical students in the era of smart phones and its influence on learning and sleep. *Educ. Teach. Forum* 16, 127–128.
- Steel, P. (2007). The nature of procrastination: a meta-analytic and theoretical review of quintessential self-regulatory failure. *Psychol. Bull.* 133, 65–94. doi: 10.1037/0033-2909.133.1.65
- Steel, P., and Ones, D. S. (2002). Personality and happiness: a national-level analysis. J. Pers. Soc. Psychol. 83, 767–781. doi: 10.1037//0022-3514.83.3.767

- Wehrwein, E. A., Lujan, H. L., and Dicarlo, S. E. (2015). Gender differences in learning style preferences among undergraduate physiology students. Adv. Physiol. Educ. 31, 153–157. doi: 10.1152/advan.00060.2006
- Xavier, C., Andrés, C., Ursula, O., Beatriz, R., and Mariona, P. (2018). Problematic use of the internet and smartphones in university students: 2006–2017. Int. J. Environ. Res. Public Health 15:475. doi: 10.3390/ijerph15030475
- Yan, C., Shanjiao, C., Qian, D., Hong, W., Xin, X., Shanshan, J., et al. (2017). Current situation of mobile phone addiction and its relationship with personality in Hainan University students. *Chin. J. Health Psychol.* 25, 1372– 1375.
- Yanfei, W., Yunjian, L., and Yuexin, H. (2011). A study on the relationship between psychological capital achievement goal orientation and academic achievement of college students. *High. Educ. Explor.* 6, 128–136.
- Yanting, Z., Siqin, D., Wenjie, F., Xiaohui, C., Jiaojiao, M., and Xiuzhen, F. (2018). Self-efficacy for self-regulation and fear of failure as mediators between self-esteem and academic procrastination among undergraduates in health professions. Adv. Health Sci. Educ. Theory Pract. 23, 817–830.
- Yao, X., Siyu, W., Yanyan, F., Depin, C., Wenyu, L., Zhinan, Z., et al. (2021). Analysis of the current situation and influencing factors of medical students' academic procrastination. *Chin. J. Med. Educ. Res.* 20, 236–240. doi: 10.3760/ cma.j.cn116021-20200225-00413
- Yeh, D. D., and Park, Y. S. (2015). Improving learning efficiency of factual knowledge in medical education. J. Surg. Educ. 72, 882–889.
- Yockey, R. D. (2016). Validation of the short form of the academic procrastination scale. *Psychol. Rep.* 118, 171–179. doi: 10.1177/0033294115626825
- Zhang, S. E., Liu, W., Wang, J., Shi, Y., and Fan, L. (2018). Impact of workplace violence and compassionate behaviour in hospitals on stress, sleep quality and subjective health status among chinese nurses: a cross-sectional survey. BMJ Open 8:e019373. doi: 10.1136/bmjopen-2017-019373
- Zhou, X., Liao, X., and Spiegelman, D. (2017). "Cross-sectional" stepped wedge designs always reduce the required sample size when there is no time effect. *J. Clin. Epidemiol.* 83, 108–109. doi: 10.1016/j.jclinepi.2016.12.011

Conflict of Interest: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's Note: All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Copyright © 2021 Tian, Zhao, Xu, Li, Sun, Zhao, Gao, Zhu, Guo, Yang, Cao and Zhang. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Predictive Effect of Internet Addiction and Academic Values on Satisfaction With Academic Performance Among High School Students in Mainland China

Diya Dou and Daniel T. L. Shek*

Department of Applied Social Sciences, The Hong Kong Polytechnic University, Hong Kong, Hong Kong SAR, China

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

María Carmen Martínez Monteagudo, University of Alicante, Spain

Reviewed by:

Sai-fu Fung, City University of Hong Kong, Hong Kong SAR, China Lei Chang, University of Macau, China

> ***Correspondence:** Daniel T. L. Shek

daniel.shek@polyu.edu.hk

Specialty section: This article was submitted to Educational Psychology, a section of the journal

Frontiers in Psychology

Received: 19 October 2021 Accepted: 24 November 2021 Published: 15 December 2021

Citation:

Dou D and Shek DTL (2021) Predictive Effect of Internet Addiction and Academic Values on Satisfaction With Academic Performance Among High School Students in Mainland China. Front. Psychol. 12:797906. doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2021.797906 Academic performance occupies an important role in adolescent development. It reflects adolescents' cognitive ability and also shapes their academic and career paths. Students who are satisfied with their school performance tend to show higher self-esteem, confidence, and motivation. Previous research has suggested that students' problem behaviors, such as Internet Addiction (IA), and academic values, including intrinsic and utility values, could predict satisfaction with academic performance. However, the influence of IA and academic values has not been thoroughly explored in Chinese contexts where the pressure for academic success is heavy. This study examined the relationships between IA, academic values (intrinsic and utility value), and satisfaction with academic performance using two waves of data collected from secondary school students in four cities in mainland China. The matched sample included a total of 2,648 Grade 7 or 8 students (57.1% were boys with a mean age of 13.1 years at Wave 1). Participants completed the same questionnaire containing validated measures at both waves with a 1-year interval. In line with the hypotheses, multiple regression analyses showed that Wave 1 IA was a significant negative predictor of Wave 2 intrinsic value, utility value, and satisfaction with academic performance and their changes. Results of mediation analyses revealed that only intrinsic value, but not utility value, positively predicted satisfaction with academic performance. Structural equation modeling (SEM) analyses also showed similar findings. Two observations are concluded from the present findings: IA impaired students' intrinsic value, utility value, and perceived satisfaction with academic performance; two aspects of academic values demonstrated different influences on satisfaction with academic performance. These findings provide implications for the promotion of academic satisfaction experienced by students and the prevention of negative effects of IA.

Keywords: internet addiction, academic value, satisfaction with academic performance, high school students, mainland China

INTRODUCTION

The Internet has significantly changed people's lives nowadays. Despite the profound benefits of the Internet, the public is aware of the negative influence of its overuse of misuse on health and well-being. One common problem is Internet addiction (IA), which refers to one's inability to control Internet use that consequently causes social, psychological, academic, and work difficulties in life (Chou and Hsiao, 2000). IA has drawn growing concerns of the public and professionals worldwide.

Among different age groups, adolescents are considered more vulnerable to IA as their cognitive ability, self-control, and coping strategies are not fully developed (Long et al., 2018). Many studies have revealed that adolescents have a higher tendency to develop addictive behaviors such as playing online games or using social media in comparison to adults (Long et al., 2018). As the Internet penetration rate has dramatically increased nowadays, more than 80% of the adolescent population in the United Kingdom, United States, and Asia can access the Internet (Cerniglia et al., 2017). According to a national report, around 940 million Chinese people were Internet users, and among them were 172 million children and adolescents (China Internet Network Information Center, 2020). Research has revealed a relatively high prevalence of IA among Chinese adolescents. Shek et al. (2008) conducted research with 6,121 Chinese primary and high school students in Hong Kong, revealing that around 20% of the respondents met the criteria for IA based on two assessment measures. The study of Tan et al. (2016) involving 1,772 high school students in southern China also showed that around 17.2% of participants demonstrating problematic Internet use.

Many studies have documented the negative impact of IA on different aspects of adolescent development, such as sleeping quality (Tan et al., 2016), mental health (Ko et al., 2012), subjective well-being (Allen and Anderson, 2018), social development (Cerniglia et al., 2017), emotional development (Truzoli et al., 2020), and interpersonal relationship (Zeng et al., 2021). For adolescents, IA is particularly associated with low levels of school performance. Empirical evidence showed that students with IA experience more academic failure than their counterparts (Nemati and Matlabi, 2017). For example, students' online gambling habits were positively related to low levels of school achievements and less prosocial behaviors (Floros et al., 2015). Online pornography watching also impaired adolescents' academic performance as it reduces their interest, concentration, and involvement in academic activities (Beyens et al., 2015). Similar results were found among Chinese adolescents. For example, a longitudinal study examined the relationship between Internet behavior and students' academic development based on a sample of 9,949 Chinese students revealed that IA could lead to lower academic achievement, dropout, and absenteeism (Anthony et al., 2021). Another study evaluating IA and negative emotions also reported that IA negatively influenced academic problems by undermining students' mental and psychological health (Bu et al., 2021). The study of Bai et al. (2020) based on 1,794 adolescents from low-income families in China revealed that IA was linked to depression and detrimental to students' academic performance.

In Chinese schools, students are evaluated publicly by peers and teachers in terms of whether their behavioral and academic performance reaches school standards, which largely influences students' psychological health and adjustment (Chen et al., 2012). Undoubtedly, academic performance is considered the most important standard in Chinese school context. Researchers have adopted different approaches to assess academic performance. Primarily, test scores are considered an objective indicator of academic performance and have been often used in previous studies. Although the use of test scores is helpful to suggest education improvement and school accountability, researchers have questioned whether test scores reflect the stable status of individual students' overall development (Goldhaber and Özek, 2019). An alternative is to use subjective indicators, such as perceived performance level, which reflects one's overall subjective evaluation of normative performance level compared to peers (Saw et al., 2016). Researchers have pointed out the importance of subjective perceptions of one's academic performance for its close association with students' psychological adjustment (Haraldsen et al., 2020). Researchers also argued that satisfaction with perceived academic performance as an element of school adjustment provides a better indication of one's appraisal of academic achievement in schools (Shek, 2002). Research has shown that dissatisfaction with one's academic performance constitutes developmental problems for adolescents, particularly when the failure occurs repetitively (Enns et al., 2001; Lee et al., 2016). As the present study was interested in the roles of perceived academic values and motivation, we used satisfaction with academic performance as the indicator.

Scientific studies have been conducted to unravel the mechanisms of the negative impacts of IA on academic performance among adolescents. Earlier research has focused on the distraction and divergence behaviors in learning among students with IA, which often directly lead to a decline in school performance. Besides, anxiety and depression have been found to mediate the adverse effect of IA on academic performance (Ko et al., 2012; Bai et al., 2020; Bu et al., 2021). Recent evidence suggests that IA may also interrupt students' psychological learning process and create problems in academic values and motivation (Reed and Reay, 2015; Truzoli et al., 2020). For example, problematic Internet use was found to exert a negative effect on academic motivation, learning productivity, and psychosocial status, which have negative effects on academic performance (Truzoli et al., 2020).

Academic motivation includes intrinsic value and utility value (Eccles, 1983; Neel and Fuligni, 2013). Intrinsic value involves a sense of satisfaction rooted in the study or learning procedure itself, while utility value refers to students' sense of the instrumental value of the school courses (such as getting higher grades or material rewards) rather than finding the courses interesting. Ryan and Deci (2000) also categorized motivation into intrinsic motivation and extrinsic motivation. Intrinsic motivation refers to an individuals' aspiration for doing something from the inner heart, while extrinsic motivation defines the concept of getting rewards from outside to stimulate someone to behave (Benabou and Tirole, 2003).

Previous studies have found that IA may impair intrinsic value, as studying is often not as attractive as surfing the Internet

(Hanus and Fox, 2015; Reed and Reay, 2015). The various attractive and interesting sensory stimulations derived from the Internet could undermine students' learning interest, self-control, and self-efficacy in learning. Wang et al. (2021) argued that problematic use of short-form video applications was associated with a sole focus on immediate hedonic rewards and a lack of understanding of future harmful consequences. The research of Anthony et al. (2021) found a close relationship between IA and a lack of interest in school learning. A study conducted with Chinese students also revealed the mediating role of intrinsic motivation in the positive relationship between social media use and academic performance (Malik et al., 2020). Previous studies have mainly focused on the negative influence of IA and intrinsic value but paid less attention to the relationships between IA and utility value. Theoretically speaking, IA could also undermine utility value or extrinsic motivation as the intensive reinforcement and reward schedules in Internet activities (e.g., online games) provide instant extrinsic rewards to adolescents (Truzoli et al., 2020), while students may not necessarily receive instant extrinsic rewards (e.g., high grades or praise) even if they study hard.

Although IA has been commonly considered a risk factor for academic values and performance, how the two types of academic values are associated with performance are less conclusive. Theoretically speaking, intrinsic value promotes academic performance through positive and active engagement in learning with enjoyment, autonomy, deep learning, task arrangement, and time spending in learning (Vansteenkiste et al., 2005; Froiland and Oros, 2014; Liu et al., 2020). Intrinsic value is considered to have a relatively long-term effect on academic performance because it reinforces students' self-concepts and values, which are vital for students to maintain healthy psychological status and deal with academic failures (Cheo, 2017). On the contrary, utility value is constrained by the existence of external rewards and thus believed to have an instant but short-term positive effect on academic performance. In other words, once external rewards are terminated, utility value may become ineffective in stimulating adolescents' continuous efforts into their study.

However, empirical evidence supporting the distinctive effects of the two types of values has been equivocal. For example, the study of Baker (2004) on university students found no significant relationships between intrinsic or extrinsic motivation and academic achievement. Some studies revealed that both intrinsic and utility value were positively linked to school performance (Afzal et al., 2010). Some other studies revealed differential effects of intrinsic and utility value on academic outcomes (Moneta and Siu, 2002). For example, a longitudinal study conducted with 13,799 Chinese high school students revealed the different effects of intrinsic and utility value on academic performance. Students with high levels of intrinsic value were more attentive, focused on learning interests, arranged flexible learning strategies, and spent more time learning to improve their academic performance (Liu et al., 2020). It was argued that utility value might undermine the academic performance of students with high intrinsic value because utility value made students feel of being controlled, which damaged ones' intrinsic values (Wang and Guthrie, 2004; Liu et al., 2020). Similarly, Kuvaas et al. (2017) found that intrinsic value was positively associated with better performance, while extrinsic motivation showed a modest negative effect on performance. These inconclusive findings call for further exploration on how academic values might be differently related to adolescent development.

This study aimed to fill some research gaps. First, this study explored the effects of IA on perceived satisfaction of academic performance and the mediating roles of both intrinsic and utility values. This helps reveal the underlying mechanism of the influence of IA on academic performance and clarify the function of two types of academic values, which would fill the above-mentioned theoretical gaps. Second, most existing studies on adolescent IA and academic outcomes have been conducted with Western samples, hence calling for devoting more efforts to these issues in non-Western societies, particularly in Chinese contexts (Shek et al., 2008; Shek and Yu, 2016). As academic excellence is highly emphasized in Chinese societies, academic motivation may be perceived differently. In fact, both intrinsic and utility values are emphasized in traditional Chinese culture. Regarding intrinsic value, Confucian stated that "wasn't it a pleasure to learn and practice often?" ("xue er shi xi zhi, bu. yi yue hu?") in the Analects of Confucius, highlighting the satisfaction of learning, practical application, and self-improvement (Waley, 2005). As to utility value, the Chinese saying, "one who excels in the study can follow an official career" ("xue er you ze shi"), emphasizes the benefits of academic excellence in future career development. In contemporary Chines societies, "an official career" may no longer be the ultimate goal of studying. However, the value of education still receives great recognition among the public despite the development of ideology and philosophy in China (Wang and Ross, 2010). At the national level, China's Education Modernization 2035 plan sets the direction for developing the education sector to strengthen its overall capacity and international influence and makes China a powerhouse of education, human resources, and talents. At the family and individual levels, parents and students believe that "knowledge changes fate" and thus highly emphasize academic success (Xiang, 2018). Third, as most studies have not collected longitudinal data, it is difficult to establish the causal relationships between IA and academic performance. In particular, although longitudinal studies have examined the antecedents of IA (e.g., Yu and Shek, 2013), limited research has examined the longitudinal prediction of IA on adolescent developmental outcomes in Chinese adolescents. This research aims to understand the relationship between IA and academic performance and examine the mediating role of academic motivation (intrinsic and utility values) in this relationship using two waves of data.

RESEARCH HYPOTHESES

Based on the literature, we proposed the following hypotheses for each research question.

Research Question 1 (RQ1)

What are the concurrent and longitudinal relationships between IA and academic motivation? Based on the previous findings (Truzoli et al., 2020), we proposed that IA would be negatively

associated with intrinsic value concurrently (Hypothesis 1a) and longitudinally (Hypothesis 1b). Besides, with reference to the existing literature (Ryan and Deci, 2000; Truzoli et al., 2020), we expected negative concurrent and longitudinal relationships between IA and utility value (Hypotheses 1c,d, respectively).

Research Question 2 (RQ2)

What are the concurrent and longitudinal relationships between IA and satisfaction with academic performance? In line with studies conducted with Chinese students (Anthony et al., 2021), we proposed that IA would be negatively related to satisfaction with academic performance concurrently (Hypothesis 2a) and longitudinally (Hypothesis 2b).

Research Question 3 (RQ3)

What are the concurrent and longitudinal relationships between academic motivation and satisfaction with academic performance? In line with previous research (Anthony et al., 2021), we proposed that intrinsic value would be positively linked to satisfaction with academic performance concurrently (Hypothesis 3a) and longitudinally (Hypothesis 3b). Similarly, utility value would also show positive associations with satisfaction with academic performance concurrently (Hypothesis 3c) and over time (Hypothesis 3d).

Research Question 4 (RQ4)

Does academic motivation mediate the relationship between IA and satisfaction with academic performance? According to previous studies suggesting the mediating role of academic motivation (Malik et al., 2020), we hypothesized that intrinsic value and utility value would mediate the impact of IA on satisfaction with academic performance (Hypotheses 4a,b, respectively).

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Participants and Procedure

The data of this study were derived from a project examining adolescent adjustment and development in mainland China. The participants were recruited from four junior high schools in three provinces. Two waves of data were collected at the beginning of the school year of 2016/2017 (Wave 1) and 1 year later (Wave 2). A survey questionnaire was administered to students during school hours. Students were informed of the research aims, data collection, and the principles that the data collected will be anonymous, confidential, and only used for academic purposes. We obtained written consent from students, their parents, teachers, and school heads before data collection. This study has been reviewed and granted ethical approval by the authors' university.

In total, 3,010 students completed the questionnaire at Wave 1. Among them, 1,362 were in Grade 7, and 1,648 were in Grade 8. The data at Wave 2 were collected from 2,648 students, including 1,305 Grade 8 students and 1,343 Grade 9 students.

The matched sample consisted of 2,648 students (Boys=1,513; Girls=1,109) with a mean age of 13.12 years at Wave 1. The attrition rates were 4.2 and 18.5% for Grade 7 and Grade 8 students, respectively, which were more favorable compared with studies reported in longitudinal studies with adolescents (Epstein and Botvin, 2000). Results of attrition analysis revealed non-significant differences between students in the matched sample (n=2,648) and the dropouts (N=362) in terms of age, IA, intrinsic and utility values, and satisfaction with academic performance in both grades.

Measures

Internet Addiction

The Chinese version of the Internet Addiction Scale developed by Young (1998) was adopted to evaluate participants' IA symptoms. This scale has been used and validated in previous studies and showed good psychometric properties (Shek et al., 2008; Yu and Shek, 2013; Chi et al., 2020). It includes 10 items assessing different IA symptoms, such as "Have you lied to family members, teachers, social workers, or others to conceal the extent of involvement with the Internet?" Participants indicated whether they exhibited each of the symptoms in the past 12 months on a dichotomous scale (i.e., yes/no). The total score equals the counts of "yes" answers to 10 questions. The values of Cronbach's α of IA were 0.77 at Wave 1 and 0.80 at Wave 2.

Academic Values

Students' academic values were measured via two aspects, including intrinsic value and utility value (Eccles, 1983; Neel and Fuligni, 2013). This scale has been validated in the Chinese context (Guo et al., 2017). Intrinsic value depicts how students perceive schoolwork as interesting and how much they like schoolwork in general. It includes two items: "In general, I find working on schoolwork is..." (1 = "very boring" and 5="very interesting") and "How much do you like working on schoolwork?" (1 = a little and 5 = alot"). On the other hand, the utility value describes the perceived usefulness of schoolwork through three items: "Right now, how useful do you find things you learn in school to be in your everyday life," "In the future, how useful do you think the things you have learned in school will be in your everyday life?" and "How useful do you think the things you have learned in school will be for what you want to be after you graduate" on a five-point Likert scale (1="not useful at all" and 5="very useful"). The Cronbach's α estimates for the two scales ranged between 0.87 and 0.91 at the two waves, suggesting good internal consistency of the scales in this study.

Satisfaction With Academic Performance

Satisfaction with academic performance was measured by a single item, "I am satisfied with my academic performance as compared to my classmates," on a six-point reporting scale ("1=strongly disagree"; "6=strongly agree"). This item was developed by authors based on literature (Education and

Manpower Bureau, 2003) and has been used in previous studies (Shek, 2002).

Data Analysis

We first conducted descriptive analyses. **Table 1** summarizes the means, SDs, and correlations among variables. Hierarchical multiple regression analyses were conducted to examine the concurrent and longitudinal relationships between research variables (RQ1, RQ2, and RQ3). This approach has been commonly adopted in the field (Zhou et al., 2020; Dou and Shek, 2021). Particularly, we examined the longitudinal effects of IA at Wave 1 on academic outcomes at Wave 2 with the corresponding outcomes at Wave 1 controlled. By controlling the influence of the initial levels of academic outcomes, this method suggests the effect of the predictor variables on the dependent variables over time.

For RQ4, we first analyzed the mediational role of intrinsic and utility value through a series of regression models using PROCESS macro in SPSS (Hayes, 2017). We calculated biascorrected (BC) bootstrap 95% CIs using 2,000 re-samplings in the mediation analyses (Hayes, 2017). We first examined the mediating effects of intrinsic and utility values in two models separately, and then simultaneously added them to one model. This conservative method is helpful to explore the relationships between research variables in line with research questions and also suggest potential interactions. Besides, we used Structural Equation Modeling (SEM) to test the complete hypothesized model via Lavaan package in R software (Rosseel, 2012). SEM models can accommodate latent variables, multiple predictors, and outcomes, which allow a comprehensive analysis of the relationships between research variables. Multiple indices were used to indicate model goodness of fit, including Comparative Fit Index ("CFI"), Tucker-Lewis Index ("TLI"), Root Mean Square Error of Approximation ("RMSEA"), and Standardized Root Mean Square Residual ("SRMR"). Based on Hu and Bentler (1999) and Kline (2015), the cutoff criteria should be above 0.90 for CFI and TFI values, and lower than 0.08 for RMSEA and SRMR values.

RESULTS

Descriptive Results and Correlations

Table 1 shows the means, SDs, and correlations for IA, intrinsic value, utility value, and satisfaction with school performance over the two time points. The correlations between the research variables were significant and in line with the hypotheses. IA was negatively associated with intrinsic and utility value concurrently and longitudinally (*r* ranged between -0.20 and -0.30, *ps* < 0.001), and was negatively correlated with satisfaction with academic performance at each wave (*rs* ranged between -0.09 and -0.17, *ps* < 0.001). Both intrinsic and utility values were positively correlated with satisfaction with academic performance at two waves (*rs* ranged between 0.127 and 0.232, *ps* < 0.001).

Predictive Effects of IA on Academic Values

Results of hierarchical multiple regression analyses revealed significant concurrent negative effects of IA on intrinsic value (Wave 1: b = -0.30, p < 0.001, Cohen's $f^2 = 0.096$; Wave 2: b = -0.27, p < 0.001, Cohen's $f^2 = 0.080$, see Table 2) and utility value (Wave 1: b = -0.28, p < 0.001, and Cohen's $f^2 = 0.079$; Wave 2: b = -0.21, p < 0.001, and Cohen's $f^2 = 0.046$, see Table 3) at each wave after controlling gender, age, and family intactness. As to the longitudinal effect, Wave 1 IA had significant longitudinal effects on Wave 2 intrinsic value (b=-0.21, p<0.001, and Cohen's $f^2 = 0.042$, see Table 4) and Wave 2 utility value (b = -0.28, p < 0.001, and Cohen's $f^2 = 0.079$, see Table 5). Additionally, after controlling Wave 1 intrinsic and utility values, IA at Wave 1 significantly predicted a decrease in both academic values over time (b was -0.09 and -0.21, ps < 0.001, and Cohen's f^2 was 0.007 and 0.046 for intrinsic and utility value, respectively, see Tables 4, 5). Hypotheses 1a, 1b, 1c, and 1d were supported.

Predictive Effects of IA on Satisfaction With Academic Performance

Results of multiple regression analyses demonstrated that IA had a significantly negative influence on satisfaction with academic performance at each wave (*b* was -0.15 and -0.18, ps < 0.001, and Cohen's f^2 was 0.022 and 0.034 for Wave 1 and 2, respectively, see **Table 6**). In addition, IA showed significant and negative prediction on Wave 2 satisfaction with academic performance (b=-0.11, p < 0.001, and Cohen's $f^2=0.011$, see **Table 6**). After controlling Wave 1 satisfaction with academic performance, IA significantly predicted a decrease in satisfaction with academic performance (b=-0.07, p < 0.001, and Cohen's $f^2=0.004$, see **Table 6**). Hypotheses 2a and 2b were supported.

Predictive Effects of Academic Values on Satisfaction With Academic Performance

Results of multiple regression analyses revealed that intrinsic value and utility value positively predicted each wave's satisfaction with academic performance (*b* ranged between 0.15 and 0.23, ps < 0.001, Cohen's f^2 ranged from 0.022 to 0.057, see **Table 6**). Results also showed a longitudinal prediction of intrinsic value and utility value on satisfaction with performance (b=0.20 and 0.14, ps < 0.001, and Cohen's $f^2 = 0.039$ and 0.019 for intrinsic and utility value, respectively, see **Table 7**). Moreover, both intrinsic and utility values predicted an increase in Wave 2 satisfaction with academic performance when Wave 1 satisfaction was controlled (b=0.15 and 0.10, ps < 0.001, and Cohen's $f^2 = 0.020$ and 0.010 for intrinsic and utility value, respectively, see **Table 7**). Results supported Hypotheses 3a, 3b, 3c, and 3d.

Mediating Roles of Academic Values

Results of mediation analyses *via* PROCESS are summarized in **Table 8**. When intrinsic and utility values were examined in two separate models, results revealed significant mediating effects of both intrinsic value (see Model 1a in **Table 8**) and utility value (see Model 1b in **Table 8**). When they were added to the model simultaneously, results showed that IA

	Moon	5					Correlations	ations				
Measures	Mean	70	-	N	n	4	5	Q	7	ω	6	9
Age	13.124	0.809										
Gender ^a	I	I	-0.081***									
Family intactness ^b	I	I	0.019	0.009								
W1 IA	2.308	2.344	0.088***	-0.168***	0.081***							
W2 IA	2.300	2.434	0.057**	-0.097***	0.051**	0.451 ***						
W1 Intrinsic value	3.386	1.356	-0.094***	0.012	-0.066***	-0.304***	-0.217***					
W2 Intrinsic value	3.292	1.304	-0.050**	-0.010	-0.042*	-0.200***	-0.269***	0.411***				
W1 Utility value	4.145	0.988	-0.097***	0.039*	-0.080***	-0.288***	-0.184***	0.514***	0.275***			
	3.929	1.036	-0.073***	0.008	-0.052**	-0.181***	-0.215***	0.337***	0.625***	0.388***		
W1 Academic												
performance	3.781	1.483	-0.092***	-0.101***	-0.042*	-0.139***	-0.088***	0.226***	0.131***	0.154***	0.127***	
satisfaction												
W2 Academic												
performance	3.967	1.484	-0.066***	-0.126***	-0.028	-0.087***	-0.172***	0.199***	0.232***	0.138***	0.166***	0.269***
satisfaction												

at Wave 1 negatively predicted intrinsic value and utility value at Wave 2. However, only intrinsic value, not utility value, positively predicted satisfaction with academic performance, suggesting the potential mediating effect of intrinsic value only (see Model 2 in **Table 8**). The indirect effect of IA on academic performance *via* intrinsic value was significant (b=-0.03, p<0.001, see Model 2 in **Table 8**). The mediating effect of utility value was not significant (see Model 2 in **Table 8**).

We further developed a SEM model to comprehensively understand the relationships between variables under investigation (see Figure 1). The SEM model included IA at Wave 1 and satisfaction with academic performance at Wave 2 as observed variables, and intrinsic and utility values at Wave 2 as latent variable. The SEM model showed adequate model fit ($\chi^2 = 47.243$, df = 9, CFI = 0.996, TFI = 0.990, NNFI=0.990, RMSEA=0.040, and SRMR=0.011; Kline, 2015). Figure 1 shows the standardized coefficients in this model. IA at Wave 1 significantly and negatively predicted Wave 2 intrinsic value ($\beta = -0.09$, p < 0.001), utility value ($\beta = -0.08$, p < 0.001), but not satisfaction with academic performance (p=0.064). Wave 2 intrinsic value, but not utility value, demonstrated a significant and positive prediction on academic performance ($\beta = 0.33$, p < 0.001). Results of SEM were in line with the PROCESS findings, which supported Hypothesis 4a but rejected Hypothesis 4b.

DISCUSSION

In this study, we examined the predictive effect of IA on satisfaction with academic performance, with academic values hypothesized as mediators. With reference to the research gaps in the literature, this study has several strengths. First, instead of focusing on objective academic performance indexed by test scores, we adopted students' satisfaction with academic performance, an indication of students' appraisal of overall academic achievement, to better understand the research questions concerning students' psychological motivation and values. Second, this study examined two potential mechanisms through which having IA symptoms potentially predict students' satisfaction with academic performance through intrinsic and/or utility value. Third, a short-term longitudinal design was used to understand the predictive effects of IA on satisfaction with academic performance. Fourth, we employed a relatively large sample to enhance the generalizability of the findings. Fifth, as very few studies in this field have been conducted in the Chinese context, this study contributes to the understanding of the negative influence of IA on academic performance and the underlying mechanisms in an educational system that highly emphasizes academic success. Finally, analyses based on both multiple regression and SEM were used to address research questions in a comprehensive manner.

Findings based on multiple regression analyses generally support the proposed hypotheses, which are consistent with the existing literature. First, IA negatively predicted satisfaction with academic performance and its change over

TABLE 2 Cross-sectional regression analyses for intrinsic value.

	Due di starre	Intrinsic value (Wave 1)						Inti	rinsic value (V	Vave 2)	
Model	Predictors	β	t	Cohen's f ²	R ² change	F change	β	t	Cohen's f ²	R ² change	F change
1	Age	-0.09	-4.77***	0.009	0.012	10.52***	-0.05	-2.42*	0.002	0.004	3.77*
	Gender ^a	0.00	0.21	0.000			-0.01	-0.68	0.000		
	Family intactness ^b	-0.05	-2.78**	0.003			-0.04	-2.22*	0.002		
2	IA	-0.30	-15.98***	0.096	0.088	255.35***	-0.27	-14.52***	0.080	0.074	210.75***

In model 2, control variables were statistically controlled. IA at Wave 1 and Wave 2 were included as predictors to predict academic performance at Wave 1 and Wave 2, respectively. a1 = boy, 2 = girl.

^b1 = intact, 2 = non-intact. IA = Internet Addiction.

*p<0.05; **p<0.01; ***p<0.001.

TABLE 3 | Cross-sectional regression analyses for utility value.

	Predictors		Utility value (Wave 1) Utility value (Wav							ve 2)	
Model	Predictors	β	t	Cohen's f ²	R ² change	F change	β	t	Cohen's f ²	R ² change	F change
1	Age	-0.09	-4.65***	0.008	0.016	14.57***	-0.07	-3.43***	0.005	0.007	6.14***
	Gender ^a	0.03	1.66	0.001			0.00	0.11	0.000		
	Family intactness ^b	-0.08	-4.1***	0.006			-0.05	-2.44*	0.002		
2	IA	-0.28	-14.54***	0.079	0.074	211.49***	-0.21	-11.07***	0.046	0.044	122.46***

In model 2, control variables were statistically controlled. IA at Wave 1 and Wave 2 were included as predictors to predict academic performance at Wave 1 and Wave 2, respectively. a1 = boy, 2 = girl.

^b1 = intact, 2 = non-intact. IA = Internet Addiction.

*p<0.05; ****p<0.001.

TABLE 4 | Longitudinal regression analyses for intrinsic value.

Model			Intri	insic value (W	/ave 2)			Intri	insic value (W		
	Predictors	β	t	Cohen's f ²	R ² change	F change	β	t	Cohen's f ²	R ² change	F change
1	Age	-0.047	-2.42*	0.002	0.004	3.77*	-0.009	-0.48	0.000	0.170	540.66***
	Gender ^a	-0.013	-0.68	0.000			-0.015	-0.84	0.000		
	Family intactness ^b	-0.043	-2.22*	0.002			-0.021	-1.17	0.000		
	W1 intrinsic value						0.415	23.25***	0.206		
2	W1 IA	-0.21	-10.51***	0.042	0.040	110.54***	-0.09	-4.61***	0.007	0.007	21.22***

In model 2, control variables were statistically controlled. a1 = boy, 2 = girl.

^b1 = intact, 2 = non-intact. W1 = Wave 1. IA = Internet addiction.

*p<0.05; ****p<0.001.

TABLE 5 | Longitudinal regression analyses for utility value.

			Ut	ility value (Wa	ave 2)			Ut	ility value (Wa	ve 2)		
Model	Predictors	β	t	Cohen's f ²	R ² change	F change	β	t	Cohen's f ²	R² change F c 0.148 45i	F change	
	Age	-0.067	-3.43***	0.004	0.007	6.14***	-0.032	-1.77	0.001	0.148	458.77***	
-	Gender ^a	0.002	0.11	0.000			-0.010	-0.57	0.000			
1	Family intactness ^b	-0.048	-2.44*	0.002			-0.017	-0.93	0.000			
	W1 utility value						0.388	21.42***	0.174			
2	W1 IA	-0.17	-8.92***	0.030	0.029	79.5***	-0.07	-3.82***	0.005	0.005	14.6***	

In model 2, control variables were statistically controlled. *1 = boy, 2 = girl.

^b1 = intact, 2 = non-intact. W1 = Wave 1. IA = Internet addiction.

*p<0.05; ****p<0.001.

TABLE 6 Cross-sectional regression analyses for academic performance.

		Ac	cademic per	formance sat	isfaction (Wa	ve 1)	Ad	cademic perf	ormance sati	e 2)	
Model	Predictors	β	t	Cohen's f ²	R ² change	F change	β	t	Cohen's f ²	R ² change	F change
1	Age	-0.10	-5.13***	0.010	0.022	18.93***	-0.08	-4.00***	0.006	0.023	20.08***
	Gender ^a	-0.11	-5.55***	0.012			-0.13	-6.79***	0.018		
	Family intactness ^b	-0.03	-1.73	0.001			-0.03	-1.35	0.001		
2	IA	-0.15	-7.64***	0.022	0.022	58.41***	-0.18	-9.48***	0.034	0.033	89.78***
	Intrinsic value	0.22	11.45***	0.050	0.048	131.04***	0.23	12.21***	0.057	0.054	149.11***
	Utility value	0.15	7.67***	0.022	0.022	58.87***	0.17	8.56***	0.028	0.027	73.2***

In model 2, control variables were statistically controlled. Predictors at Wave 1 and Wave 2 were included as predictors to predict academic performance at Wave 1 and Wave 2, respectively. ^a1 = boy, 2 = girl.

^b1 = intact, 2 = non-intact. IA = Internet Addiction.

****p<0.001.

TABLE 7 | Longitudinal regression analyses for academic performance.

		Ac	ademic perf	ormance sati	sfaction (Way	ve 2)	Ac	ademic perf	rformance satisfaction (Wave 2)			
Model	Predictors	β	t	Cohen's f ²	R ² change	F change	β	t	Cohen's f ²	R ² change	F change	
1	Age Gender ^a	-0.076 -0.135	-3.85*** -6.86***	0.006 0.019	0.023	20.12***	-0.050 -0.107	-2.62** -5.55***	0.002 0.011	0.063	173.07***	
	Family intactness ^b W1 academic performance satisfaction	-0.027	-1.35	0.001			-0.017 0.253	-0.91 13.16***	0.000			
2	IA Intrinsic value Utility value	-0.11 0.20 0.14	-5.31*** 10.14*** 7.07***	0.011 0.039 0.019	0.011 0.038 0.019	28.24*** 102.9*** 49.98***	-0.07 0.15 0.10	-3.40*** 7.53*** 5.37***	0.004 0.020 0.010	0.004 0.020 0.010	11.54*** 56.64*** 28.84***	

In model 2, control variables were statistically controlled. ^a1 = boy, 2 = girl.

^b1 = intact, 2 = non-intact. IA = Internet addiction.

p<0.01; *p<0.001.

time. The findings support previous evidence suggesting negative associations between IA and academic performance (Nemati and Matlabi, 2017; Anthony et al., 2021; Bu et al., 2021). Second, IA positively predicted both intrinsic and utility values and the changes over time. These findings are also in line with previous studies revealing negative influences of problem Internet use on students' learning motivation (Truzoli et al., 2020; Anthony et al., 2021). Third, results of multiple regression showed that both intrinsic and utility values positively predicted satisfaction with academic performance and its change over time. Although some previous studies have emphasized the downside of utility value on adolescent development, the results of the present study corroborate previous evidence highlighting the positive influence of both intrinsic and utility values (Afzal et al., 2010). As mentioned earlier, Chinese cultures acknowledge both intrinsic and utility values of study. Although the education system in China has been criticized for the examination orientation, it is still perceived as the most accessible and fair approach for disadvantaged students to beat the odds and seek academic access (Wang and Ross, 2010). For these students, schooling means much more than individual interests or satisfaction but "a future of comfort and dignity, a family responsibility and collective investment, and a path toward individual freedom and actualization" (Xiang, 2018, p. 81). These beliefs reflect instrumental value but are also rooted in spirits of hard-working and persistence that are vital for academic success. Finally, when both intrinsic and utility values were included in the mediation models, only intrinsic value, but not utility value, served as a mediator in the relationship between IA and satisfaction with academic performance. Results based on multiple regression and SEM are consistent, which generate triangulated findings for the study. The results are consistent with the widely held belief that intrinsic and utility values are distinct constructs and have different associations with adolescents' maladjustment and psychological well-being (Moneta and Siu, 2002). Students demonstrating more IA symptoms tended to regard school work as boring and consequently felt less satisfied with their academic performance, which is in agreement with previous findings (Liu et al., 2020). Additionally, the mediating effect of utility value was not significant when intrinsic value was taken into account. One explanation is that utility value may include different subtypes depending on how one internalizes the extrinsic goals as a personal pursuit.

TABLE 8 | Longitudinal mediating effect analyses of intrinsic value and utility value at Wave 2 (the mediators) for the effect of IA at Wave 1 on academic performance satisfaction at Wave 2.

		Model 1a		Model 1b				
Regression models		Intrinsic value		Utility value				
	β	SE	t	β	SE	t		
otal effect of IV on DV	-0.05	0.01	-4.43***	-0.05	0.01	-4.43***		
/ to Mediator	-0.11	0.01	-10.48***	-0.08	0.01	-9.47***		
lediator to DV	0.25	0.02	11.46***	0.22	0.03	7.90***		
rect effect of IV n DV	-0.03	0.01	-2.16*	-0.04	0.01	-2.98*		
	- · · · · ·	Bootstrappir	ng (BC 95% CI)	- · · · · ·	Bootstrapping (BC 95% CI)			
lediating effect	Point estimate	Lower	Upper	Point estimate	Lower	Upper		
	-0.04***	-0.06	-0.03	-0.00	-0.01	0.00		
		M	lodel 2 (intrinsic and	utility values as mediator	s)			
egression models		Intrinsic value			Utility value			
Immary	β	SE	t	β	SE	t		
tal effect of IV on DV	-0.09	0.01	-4.43***	-0.09	0.01	-4.43***		
to Mediator	-0.20	0.01	-10.48***	-0.18	0.01	-9.47***		
ediator to DV	0.20	0.03	8.30***	0.03	0.03	1.27		
rect effect of IV n DV	-0.04	0.01	-2.07*	-0.04	0.01	-2.07*		
adjusting affact	Deint estimate	Bootstrappir	ng (BC 95% CI)	Doint actimat-	Bootstrapping (BC 95% CI)			
lediating effect	Point estimate	Lower	Upper	Point estimate	Lower	Upper		
	-0.03***	-0.03	-0.02	-0.00	-0.01	0.00		

Model 1a and Model 1b examined the mediating effects of intrinsic and utility values separately. In Model 2, intrinsic value and utility value were simultaneously added to the model as mediators. BC, bias corrected; Cl, confidence interval. *p<0.05; ***p<0.001.



If students regard the striving for performance excellence as a personal commitment, it reflects high levels of autonomy and self-determination (Ryan and Deci, 2000). As results of the correlational analysis revealed a significant positive association between intrinsic and utility value, students may accept the utility of schooling and endorse the external goals. This finding echoes the idea that intrinsic value has an immediate effect on study performance, while ulitity value contributes to performance through its close association with intrinsic motivation (Wang and Guthrie, 2004). We should also investigate the linkages between the two types of academic value in future studies.

There are several theoretical implications of the present findings. First, the study suggests that the negative effects of IA on academic values and satisfaction with academic performance concurrently and over time, which strengthens the theoretical proposition that IA has longitudinal adverse effects on academic outcomes (Zhang et al., 2018). Second, the results underscore the importance of academic values, particularly intrinsic value, in mediating the influence of IA on satisfaction with academic performance. Students possessing high levels of intrinsic value perceive learning as exploratory, playful, and curiosity driven. According to Self-determination Theory (Ryan and Deci, 2000), intrinsic value serves as "a natural wellspring of learning." However, many online activities, including short videos, social media networks, and online games, have been designed or presented to be mentally stimulating to give users high levels and continual enjoyment (King and Delfabbro, 2018). Students' basic psychological needs for competence, autonomy, and relatedness may be better satisfied by Internet use rather than by traditional learning activities, which may lead to a decrease in their engagement in school work and an increase in Internet use (Salmela-Aro et al., 2017; Zhang et al., 2018). As existing research has paid much attention to the direct relationship between the Internet and academic performance, our results highlight the importance of examining how psychological factors mediate the relationship between adolescent problem behaviors and their development and well-being in the long run.

The finding has practical implications for teachers and social workers to help adolescents and their parents understand the negative consequences of IA in undermining academic values (i.e., meaning of study) and academic performance. Given that many teaching and learning activities are online nowadays, adolescents and parents commonly hold the belief that Internet is an indispensable part of life, and thus it cannot be addictive and the "prolonged" use of IA is not problematic. Instead, adolescents should be aware of the potential dark side of Internet use, such as the adverse effects of IA on academic values and perceived school performance (Salmela-Aro et al., 2017). Furthermore, to promote satisfaction with academic performance, we need to cultivate the meaning of studying in students. In school practices, it is trendy for teachers to adopt various pedagogical strategies to spark students' intrinsic value and cultivate active learners. Utility value, on the contrary, is often regarded as ineffective or even detrimental in adolescent development and is often associated with unhealthy teaching or parenting styles, such as excessive involvement (Rivers et al., 2012). As Benabou and Tirole argued, "external incentives are weak reinforcers in the short run, and negative reinforcers in the long run" (2003, p. 489). However, our results did not reveal any negative associations between utility value and intrinsic value or academic performance. As suggested by Lin et al. (2003), we believe it is important that teachers and parents need not eliminate all perceived utility values for high performance, especially when students accepting utility value of schooling based on a sense of commitment and self-determination.

There are several limitations of the study. First, because only two waves of data were collected, the findings are based on a short-term longitudinal study. As such, more time points should be added in future studies. Second, the scale of academic values only included a few items for the two types of values. As suggested by Ryan and Deci (2000), it is meaningful to explore different subtypes of extrinsic motivation based on the perceived locus of causality. We recommend that more items and subtypes of utility value should be examined in future studies. Third, the present study only adopted a subjective indicator of academic performance. We believe satisfaction with performance better reflects adolescents' self-evaluation on schooling and is closely associated with their psychological well-being. Although satisfaction with academic performance is closely correlated with GPA (Bradley, 2006), it would be helpful to include test scores and/or teacher-rated performance in future studies. Fourth, this study mainly focused on academic values as mediators. Other important factors, such as academic stress, could be taken into account in future studies (Baker, 2004). Finally, only self-report data were collected, which may lead to common-method variance bias. Future studies should use multiple informants' reports to assess adolescent IA symptoms and academic performance.

DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

The raw data supporting the conclusions of this article will be made available by the authors, without undue reservation.

ETHICS STATEMENT

The studies involving human participants were reviewed and approved by Human Subjects Ethics Subcommittee at The Hong Kong Polytechnic University. Written informed consent to participate in this study was provided by the participants' legal guardian/next of kin.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

DS designed the research project and contributed to all the steps of the work. DD conducted data analyses, prepared the first draft, and revised the manuscript based on the comments and editing provided by DS. All authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

FUNDING

This paper and the two-wave longitudinal study in the Tin Ka Ping Project P.A.T.H.S. were financially supported by Tin Ka Ping Foundation. The APC was funded by a start-up grant to DD (Project ID: P0035101).

REFERENCES

- Afzal, H., Ali, I., Aslam Khan, M., and Hamid, K. (2010). A study of university students' motivation and its relationship with their academic performance. SSRN Electron. J. 5:9. doi: 10.2139/ssrn.2899435
- Allen, J. J., and Anderson, C. A. (2018). Satisfaction and frustration of basic psychological needs in the real world and in video games predict internet gaming disorder scores and well-being. *Comput. Hum. Behav.* 84, 220–229. doi: 10.1016/j.chb.2018.02.034
- Anthony, W. L., Zhu, Y. H., and Nower, L. (2021). The relationship of interactive technology use for entertainment and school performance and engagement: evidence from a longitudinal study in a nationally representative sample of middle school students in China. *Comput. Hum. Behav.* 122:106846. doi: 10.1016/j.chb.2021.106846
- Bai, C., Chen, X. M., and Han, K. Q. (2020). Mobile phone addiction and school performance among Chinese adolescents from low-income families: A moderated mediation model. *Child Youth Serv. Rev.* 118:105406. doi: 10540610.1016/j.childyouth.2020.105406
- Baker, S. R. (2004). Intrinsic, extrinsic, and amotivational orientations: their role in university adjustment, stress, well-being, and subsequent academic performance. *Curr. Psychol.* 23, 189–202. doi: 10.1007/s12144-004-1019-9
- Benabou, R., and Tirole, J. (2003). Intrinsic and extrinsic motivation. *Rev. Econ. Stud.* 70, 489–520. doi: 10.1111/1467-937x.00253
- Beyens, I., Vandenbosch, L., and Eggermont, S. (2015). Early adolescent boys' exposure to internet pornography: relationships to pubertal timing, sensation seeking, and academic performance. J. Early Adolesc. 35, 1045–1068. doi: 10.1177/0272431614548069
- Bradley, G. (2006). Work participation and academic performance: A test of alternative propositions. J. Educ. Work. 19, 481–501. doi: 10.1080/ 13639080600988756
- Bu, H., Chi, X. L., and Qu, D. Y. (2021). Prevalence and predictors of the persistence and incidence of adolescent internet addiction in mainland China: A two-year longitudinal study. *Addict. Behav.* 122:107039. doi: 10703910.1016/j. addbeh.2021.107039
- Cerniglia, L., Zoratto, F., Cimino, S., Laviola, G., Ammaniti, M., and Adriani, W. (2017). Internet addiction in adolescence: neurobiological, psychosocial and clinical issues. *Neurosci. Biobehav. Rev.* 76, 174–184. doi: 10.1016/j. neubiorev.2016.12.024
- Chen, X., Huang, X., Wang, L., and Chang, L. (2012). Aggression, peer relationships, and depression in Chinese children. J. Child Psychol. Psychiatry 53, 1233–1241. doi: 10.1111/j.1469-7610.2012.02576.x
- Cheo, R. (2017). Small rewards or Some encouragement? Using an experiment in China to test extrinsic motivation on academic performance. *Singap. Econ. Rev.* 62, 797–808. doi: 10.1142/S0217590817400276
- Chi, X., Hong, X., and Chen, X. (2020). Profiles and sociodemographic correlates of internet addiction in early adolescents in southern China. *Addict. Behav.* 106:106385. doi: 10.1016/j.addbeh.2020.106385
- China Internet Network Information Center (2020). Statistical Report on Internet Development in China.
- Chou, C., and Hsiao, M.-C. (2000). Internet addiction, usage, gratification, and pleasure experience: the Taiwan college students' case. *Comput. Educ.* 35, 65–80. doi: 10.1016/S0360-1315(00)00019-1
- Dou, D., and Shek, D. T. L. (2021). Concurrent and longitudinal relationships between positive youth development attributes and adolescent internet addiction symptoms in Chinese mainland high school students. *Int. J. Environ. Res. Public Health* 18:1937. doi: 10.3390/ijerph18041937
- Eccles, J. (1983). Expectancies, Values and Academic Behaviors. Achievement and Achievement Motives. San Francisco, CA: Free man.
- Education and Manpower Bureau (2003). Users' and training manual for measuring secondary students' performance in affective and social domains.
- Enns, M. W., Cox, B. J., Sareen, J., and Freeman, P. (2001). Adaptive and maladaptive perfectionism in medical students: a longitudinal investigation. *Med. Educ.* 35, 1034–1042. doi: 10.1046/j.1365-2923.2001.01044.x
- Epstein, J. A., and Botvin, G. J. (2000). Methods to decrease attrition in longitudinal studies with adolescents. *Psychol. Rep.* 87, 139–140. doi: 10.2466/ pr0.2000.87.1.139
- Floros, G., Paradisioti, A., Hadjimarcou, M., Mappouras, D. G., Karkanioti, O., and Siomos, K. (2015). Adolescent online gambling in Cyprus: associated

school performance and psychopathology. J. Gambl. Stud. 31, 367-384. doi: 10.1007/s10899-013-9424-3

- Froiland, J. M., and Oros, E. (2014). Intrinsic motivation, perceived competence and classroom engagement as longitudinal predictors of adolescent reading achievement. *Educ. Psychol.* 34, 119–132. doi: 10.1080/01443410.2013.822964
- Goldhaber, D., and Özek, U. (2019). How much should we rely on student test achievement as a measure of success? *Educ. Res.* 48, 479–483. doi: 10.3102/0013189X19874061
- Guo, J., Marsh, H. W., Parker, P. D., Morin, A. J. S., and Dicke, T. (2017). Extending expectancy-value theory predictions of achievement and aspirations in science: dimensional comparison processes and expectancy-by-value interactions. *Learn. Instr.* 49, 81–91. doi: 10.1016/j.learninstruc.2016.12.007
- Hanus, M. D., and Fox, J. (2015). Assessing the effects of gamification in the classroom: A longitudinal study on intrinsic motivation, social comparison, satisfaction, effort, and academic performance. *Comput. Educ.* 80, 152–161. doi: 10.1016/j.compedu.2014.08.019
- Haraldsen, H. M., Solstad, B. E., Ivarsson, A., Halvari, H., and Abrahamsen, F. E. (2020). Change in basic need frustration in relation to perfectionism, anxiety, and performance in elite junior performers. *Scand. J. Med. Sci. Sports* 30, 754–765. doi: 10.1111/sms.13614
- Hayes, A. F. (2017). Introduction to Mediation, Moderation, and Conditional Process Analysis: A Regression-Based Approach. New York: Guilford publications.
- Hu, L. T., and Bentler, P. M. (1999). Cutoff criteria for fit indexes in covariance structure analysis: conventional criteria versus new alternatives. *Struct. Equ. Model. Multidiscip. J.* 6, 1–55. doi: 10.1080/10705519909540118
- King, D., and Delfabbro, P. (2018). Internet Gaming Disorder: Theory, Assessment, Treatment, and Prevention. Cambridge, MA: Academic Press.
- Kline, R. B. (2015). Principles and Practice of Structural Equation Modeling. 4th Edn. New York: The Guilford Press.
- Ko, C. H., Yen, J. Y., Yen, C. F., Chen, C. S., and Chen, C. C. (2012). The association between internet addiction and psychiatric disorder: a review of the literature. *Eur. Psychiatry* 27, 1–8. doi: 10.1016/j.eurpsy.2010.04.011
- Kuvaas, B., Buch, R., Weibel, A., Dysvik, A., and Nerstad, C. G. (2017). Do intrinsic and extrinsic motivation relate differently to employee outcomes? *J. Econ. Psychol.* 61, 244–258. doi: 10.1016/j.joep.2017.05.004
- Lee, C. Y. S., Anderson, J. R., and Klimes-Dougan, B. (2016). Potentially traumatic experiences, academic performance, and psychological distress: The role of shame. J. Couns. Dev. 94, 41–50. doi: 10.1002/jcad.12060
- Lin, Y.-G., McKeachie, W. J., and Kim, Y. C. (2003). College student intrinsic and/or extrinsic motivation and learning. *Learn. Individ. Differ.* 13, 251–258. doi: 10.1016/S1041-6080(02)00092-4
- Liu, Y., Hau, K. T., Liu, H. Y., Wu, J., Wang, X. F., and Zheng, X. (2020). Multiplicative effect of intrinsic and extrinsic motivation on academic performance: A longitudinal study of Chinese students. *J. Pers.* 88, 584–595. doi: 10.1111/jopy.12512
- Long, J., Liu, T., Liu, Y., Hao, W., Maurage, P., and Billieux, J. (2018). Prevalence and correlates of problematic online gaming: a systematic review of the evidence published in Chinese. *Curr. Addict. Rep.* 5, 359–371. doi: 10.1007/ s40429-018-0219-6
- Malik, M. J., Ahmad, M., Kamran, M. R., Aliza, K., and Elahi, M. Z. (2020). Student use of social media, academic performance, and creativity: the mediating role of intrinsic motivation. *Interact. Technol. Smart Educ.* 17, 403–415. doi: 10.1108/ITSE-01-2020-0005
- Moneta, G. B., and Siu, C. M. (2002). Trait intrinsic and extrinsic motivations, academic performance, and creativity in Hong Kong college students. J. Coll. Stud. Dev. 43, 664–683.
- Neel, C. G. O., and Fuligni, A. (2013). A longitudinal study of school belonging and academic motivation across high school. *Child Dev.* 84, 678–692. doi: 10.1111/j.1467-8624.2012.01862.x
- Nemati, Z., and Matlabi, H. (2017). Assessing behavioral patterns of internet addiction and drug abuse among high school students. *Psychol. Res. Behav. Manag.* 10, 39–45. doi: 10.2147/Prbm.S123224
- Reed, P., and Reay, E. (2015). Relationship between levels of problematic internet usage and motivation to study in university students. *High. Educ.* 70, 711–723. doi: 10.1007/s10734-015-9862-1
- Rivers, J., Mullis, A. K., Fortner, L. A., and Mullis, R. L. (2012). Relationships between parenting styles and the academic performance of adolescents. *J. Fam. Soc. Work.* 15, 202–216. doi: 10.1080/10522158.2012.666644

- Rosseel, Y. (2012). Lavaan: An R package for structural equation modeling and more. Version 0.5–12 (BETA). J. Stat. Softw. 48, 1–36. doi: 10.18637/ jss.v048.i02
- Ryan, R. M., and Deci, E. L. (2000). Intrinsic and extrinsic motivations: classic definitions and new directions. *Contemp. Educ. Psychol.* 25, 54–67. doi: 10.1006/ceps.1999.1020
- Salmela-Aro, K., Upadyaya, K., Hakkarainen, K., Lonka, K., and Alho, K. (2017). The dark side of internet use: two longitudinal studies of excessive internet use, depressive symptoms, school burnout and engagement Among Finnish early and late adolescents. J. Youth Adolesc. 46, 343–357. doi: 10.1007/s10964-016-0494-2
- Saw, A. E., Main, L. C., and Gastin, P. B. (2016). Monitoring the athlete training response: subjective self-reported measures trump commonly used objective measures: a systematic review. *Br. J. Sports Med.* 50, 281–291. doi: 10.1136/bjsports-2015-094758
- Shek, D. T. (2002). Family functioning and psychological well-being, school adjustment, and problem behavior in Chinese adolescents with and without economic disadvantage. J. Genet. Psychol. 163, 497–502. doi: 10.1080/ 00221320209598698
- Shek, D. T., Tang, V. M., and Lo, C. Y. (2008). Internet addiction in Chinese adolescents in Hong Kong: assessment, profiles, and psychosocial correlates. *Sci. World J.* 8, 776–787. doi: 10.1100/tsw.2008.104
- Shek, D. T., and Yu, L. (2016). Adolescent internet addiction in Hong Kong: prevalence, change, and correlates. J. Pediatr. Adolesc. Gynecol. 29, S22–S30. doi: 10.1016/j.jpag.2015.10.005
- Tan, Y., Chen, Y., Lu, Y., and Li, L. (2016). Exploring associations between problematic internet use, depressive symptoms and sleep disturbance among southern Chinese adolescents. *Int. J. Environ. Res. Public Health* 13:313. doi: 10.3390/ijerph13030313
- Truzoli, R., Vigano, C., Galmozzi, P. G., and Reed, P. (2020). Problematic internet use and study motivation in higher education. J. Comput. Assist. Learn. 36, 480–486. doi: 10.1111/jcal.12414
- Vansteenkiste, M., Simons, J., Lens, W., Soenens, B., and Matos, L. (2005). Examining the motivational impact of intrinsic versus extrinsic goal framing and autonomy-supportive versus internally controlling communication style on early adolescents' academic achievement. *Child Dev.* 76, 483–501. doi: 10.1111/j.1467-8624.2005.00858.x
- Waley, A. (2005). The Analects of Confucius. London: Routledge.
- Wang, J. H. Y., and Guthrie, J. T. (2004). Modeling the effects of intrinsic motivation, extrinsic motivation, amount of reading, and past reading achievement on text comprehension between US and Chinese students. *Read. Res.* Q. 39, 162–186. doi: 10.1598/RRQ.39.2.2
- Wang, Y., and Ross, H. (2010). Experiencing the change and continuity of the college entrance examination: A case study of Gaokao County,

1996-2010. Chin. Educ. Soc. 43, 75-93. doi: 10.2753/CED1061-1932430407

- Wang, X., Zhao, S., Zhang, M. X., Chen, F., and Chang, L. (2021). Life history strategies and problematic use of short-form video applications. *Evol. Psychol. Sci.* 7, 39–44. doi: 10.1007/s40806-020-00255-9
- Xiang, X. (2018). My future, my family, my freedom: meanings of schooling for poor, rural Chinese youth. *Harv. Educ. Rev.* 88, 81–102. doi: 10.17763/1943-5045-88.1.81
- Young, K. S. (1998). Caught in the Net: How to Recognize the Signs of Internet Addiction--and a Winning Strategy for Recovery. New York: John Wiley and Sons.
- Yu, L., and Shek, D. T. (2013). Internet addiction in Hong Kong adolescents: a three-year longitudinal study. J. Pediatr. Adolesc. Gynecol. 26, S10–S17. doi: 10.1016/j.jpag.2013.03.010
- Zeng, G., Zhang, L., Fung, S.-F., Li, J., Liu, Y.-M., Xiong, Z.-K., et al. (2021).
 Problematic internet usage and self-esteem in Chinese undergraduate students: The mediation effects of individual affect and relationship satisfaction. *Int. J. Environ. Res. Public Health* 18:6949. doi: 10.3390/ijerph18136949
- Zhang, Y., Qin, X., and Ren, P. (2018). Adolescents' academic engagement mediates the association between internet addiction and academic achievement: The moderating effect of classroom achievement norm. *Comput. Hum. Behav.* 89, 299–307. doi: 10.1016/j.chb.2018.08.018
- Zhou, Z., Shek, D. T. L., Zhu, X., and Dou, D. (2020). Positive youth development and adolescent depression: A longitudinal study based on mainland Chinese high school students. *Int. J. Environ. Res. Public Health* 17:4457. doi: 10.3390/ ijerph17124457

Conflict of Interest: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's Note: All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Copyright © 2021 Dou and Shek. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





The Influence of Different Learning Strategies on Pupils' Learning Motivation: Is Augmented Reality Multimedia Learning Consistent With Traditional Text Learning?

Xiaojun Zhao, Miaozhuang Liu and Yaqing Liu*

College of Education, Hebei University, Baoding, China

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

David Aparisi, University of Alicante, Spain

Reviewed by:

Milan Kubiatko, J. E. Purkyne University, Czechia Sara Filipiak, Marie Curie-Sklodowska University, Poland Darwin Cortes, Rosario University, Colombia

> ***Correspondence:** Yaqing Liu 329032524@qq.com

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Educational Psychology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Psychology

Received: 06 November 2021 Accepted: 31 January 2022 Published: 25 February 2022

Citation:

Zhao X, Liu M and Liu Y (2022) The Influence of Different Learning Strategies on Pupils' Learning Motivation: Is Augmented Reality Multimedia Learning Consistent With Traditional Text Learning? Front. Psychol. 13:810345. doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2022.810345 How to reduce pupils' burden and improve learning efficiency? Research shows that non-intelligence factors and learning strategies are the key factors in the effective learning process, and external intervention can play a greater role in these two aspects. The purpose of this study is to explore the effects of different learning strategies on learning motivation under the presentation of augmented reality (AR) multimedia or traditional text learning. Sixty third-grade pupils in Hebei Province were selected, and 2 (learning materials: AR materials and text materials) × 3 (learning strategies: restudying strategies, retrieval practicing strategies, and self-generated drawing strategies) between-subjects design was adopted. The dependent variable is learning motivation, which includes three dimensions: surface motivation, deep motivation and achievement motivation. The results showed that (1) Learning strategies had a significant impact on deep motivation. The deep motivation aroused by retrieval practicing strategies was significantly higher than that aroused by restudying strategies and self-generated drawing strategies. (2) The interaction between learning materials and learning strategies was marginally significant. When learning with AR materials, the achievement motivation of pupils in the restudying strategy group was higher (marginal significant) than that in the retrieval practicing strategy group. Retrieval practicing strategies have positive significance in cultivating deep motivation. The combination of different learning modes and learning strategies will impact achievement motivation.

Keywords: AR multimedia learning, text learning, learning strategy, learning motivation, self-generated drawing strategies

INTRODUCTION

In recent years, how to reduce pupils' burden and improve learning efficiency has become a key issue in quality education. Previous studies have confirmed that the psychological structure of efficient learning includes five main internal factors: selective attention, metacognition, learning strategies, nonintellectual factors and implicit cognition (Shen and Bai, 2006). Studies have shown that non-intelligence factors are the driving force of efficient learning, while learning

strategies provide guarantee for efficient learning process. Improving the level of both will improve students' learning efficiency. At the same time, external intervention can play a greater role in these two aspects (Shen and Bai, 2006). Lu (2007) also proposed that scientific learning methods, appropriate use of learning strategies and fun in learning are the three basic characteristics of students' efficient learning. In other words, studying how to combine specific material content with learning strategies to promote students' learning motivation is an important topic in efficient learning. Previous studies have proven that learning strategies, teaching environment and learning motivation affect the learning effect and interact with each other.

The psychological state of children in primary school is at a critical stage of development. In late childhood, children's thinking transitions from concrete image to abstract logical thinking. At this time, children's internal language is also developing, but it cannot be as perfect as adults, and still has great concrete image. There is a critical age in the transition stage, approximately 9-11 years old, when dialectical thinking begins to emerge. The second or third grade is the key period for the development of pupils' written language. Before that, the written language level lags behind the oral language level, while the written language gradually shows advantages after the fourth grade. As for children's learning motivation, generally speaking, the lower the grade, the more specific their learning motivation is. With the growth of grade, their learning interest has gradually shifted from external activities, such as games, to internal learning content (Lin, 2009). However, this change is not necessarily formed naturally. According to the viewpoint of evolutionary psychology, children's natural interest lies in exploring the environment and social interpersonal relationships, which conflicts with the motivation to master learning ability. In other words, the development of students' learning motivation in the critical period of development needs external forces, such as family and school education, to guide and intervene (Wang and Tan, 2014).

Stimulating and maintaining learning motivation is a teaching focus in primary school. Motivation is the internal driving force to stimulate individual action and guide it to a certain goal. Therefore, learning motivation can be defined as the internal motivation for students to learn spontaneously, which is a key factor affecting students' academic performance (Lin et al., 2003; Steinmayr and Spinath, 2009). Biggs (1987) divided learning motivation into three dimensions: surface motivation (SM), deep motivation (DM), and achievement motivation (AM). Surface motivation refers to the motivation to learn due to surface material stimuli, such as rewards. Students with high surface motivation usually take coping with exams or classroom tests as their learning goals. Deep motivation refers to the motivation to learn due to deeper non-material stimuli, such as mastering knowledge and acquiring skills, which originates from the real interest in the learned content. Achievement motivation refers to an individual's drive to achieve goals and achieve success (Zhang and Yang, 1999; Jia et al., 2012). The impact of learning motivation on learning performance is significant. Learning motivation drives students to conduct learning activities. The motivation pointing results of different dimensions are different; that is, there are differences in learning objectives, so the efforts and actions are not consistent (Zhang and Shen, 2005).

Learning strategies are also an important dimension affecting learning efficiency. There are many types of learning strategies, and the most commonly used strategies in the classroom are restudying strategies and retrieval practicing strategies. Tests are a form of retrieval practicing strategy. In daily learning activities, students consciously use restudying strategies for learning, but by adding retrieval practice between learning and a final test, students' learning effect is significantly better than pure repetition learning (Roediger and Karpicke, 2006; Karpicke and Roediger, 2008). Retrieval practicing strategies are helpful to maintain long-term memory so as to improve the learning effect. In recent years, the self-generated drawing strategy with high popularity has to be mentioned. The self-generated drawing strategy refers to students expressing what they have learned through drawing when learning content without pictures, that is, learning content visualization. The key points of the selfgenerated drawing strategy are self-generation and drawing representation. According to the Generative Theory of Drawing Construction (GTDC), this process requires students to carry out some constructive activities. In this process, learners will select, organize and integrate materials, and self-monitoring and regulation will also be activated, so that learners can more deeply understand the text content and help master knowledge (van Meter and Garner, 2005; Wang et al., 2019).

With the development of science and technology, multimedia technology is also being updated and iteratively applied to learning activities. The new learning method based on AR enhancement technology has good interaction and brings learners a completely different experience from the traditional learning method. The basic characteristics of AR technology mainly include three points: the integration of virtual and real environment, real-time interaction and 3D registration. Augmented reality (AR) can make users experience a strong sense of authenticity and presence. In educational psychology, the impact of the application of AR technology on teachers' instructional design and students' cognitive strategies is an important direction of scientific research (Zhao et al., 2014; Zhou et al., 2015). AR (augmented reality) technology can realize the transformation of students' knowledge from abstract to concrete, display the text content in a concrete and realistic way, make the text content easier to understand and enhance interest, and compensate for the shortcomings of traditional learning methods (Liu and Chen, 2019). The benefits of applying augmented reality technology to teaching activities have been studied in recent years. Students learn through AR materials, and the visualization effect generated by 3D model greatly enhances students' understanding and perception of the learned abstract concepts. In addition, the presence and interactivity brought by AR materials make students feel like they are on the scene, which can improve students' sense of existence and concentration (Cai et al., 2016).

According to previous studies, learning motivation, learning strategies, and the types of learning materials can affect the



FIGURE 1 | The front and back of augmented reality (AR) cognitive card.



learning effect; and previous studies have stated that there is a certain correlation between learning strategies and learning motivation. The two promote each other. Students with strong learning motivation will use more meta learning strategies, and the use of learning strategies will also enhance students' learning motivation (Sun and Meng, 2021). However, research on the relationship between the three is still relatively rare. Therefore, this study is expected to explore the influence of different types of learning modes and learning strategies on learning motivation, and use the experimental method to study whether the three learning strategies of restudying, retrieval practicing, and selfgenerated drawing have different effects on pupils' learning motivation under the presentation of two different learning materials of AR multimedia and traditional text. The possible reasons for the existence of different effects also will be discussed.

METHODS

Participants

Sixty pupils in grade 3 were recruited by cluster random sampling from one public primary school in Hebei Province, China. The gender ratio was balanced (27 girls and 33 boys). The age range was 8–11 years old (two pupils aged 8, 38 pupils aged 9, 19 pupils aged 10, one pupil aged 11), and the average age was 9.32 years old (SD=0.57). All subjects were native speakers of Chinese and had normal vision or corrected vision.

They had not participated in similar experiments before and voluntarily participated in this study.

Materials

Vocabulary Test Questions

The 10 English words used in the experiment were compiled into vocabulary test questions. The subjects were asked to review whether they had learned the corresponding English words according to the Chinese words provided, score the words they had not learned "×" and tick " $\sqrt{}$ " and write the English spelling of the words they had learned. In order to ensure that the subjects had the same initial level of learning, those pupils who could write English spelling by dictation were eliminated.

Augmented Reality Materials

Ten AR cognitive cards, the front and back of which are shown in **Figure 1**, were selected. Each card corresponds to a type of animal. The animal was scanned with AR software, and the screen presented a color 3D image of the corresponding animal equipped with an English teaching voice, thus making full use of the interactivity of AR technology. In the experiment, the AR cognitive card was scanned and made into an AR video presentation. The video content includes 3D dynamic animal images, Chinese and English words and English teaching pronunciations (as shown in **Figure 2**).

Text Materials

The participants used the text materials made by the researchers and followed the teaching textbooks. The learning content was the same 10 Chinese and English words as with the AR materials and was presented in the form of text, including 2D static animal images and Chinese and English words. In order to simulate traditional text learning conditions, pronunciation is not taught.

Pupils' Learning Motivation Questionnaire

This questionnaire was revised by Jia et al. (2012), and the original questionnaire was adapted from the Learning Process Questionnaire of Biggs (1987). The content includes three motivation dimensions: surface type, deep type, and achievement type. This questionnaire consists of 16 questions and uses four-point scoring. The revised questionnaire has good reliability and validity, the correlation coefficient between each subscale is low, and the correlation coefficient with the total scale is high, which represents good structural validity.

Display Equipment

A 15.6-inch laptop with the screen resolution set to 1920×1080 was used.

Design

A 2 (learning materials: AR materials and text materials) \times 3 (learning strategies: restudying strategies, retrieval practicing strategies, and self-generated drawing strategies) between-subjects design was adopted, and the dependent variable was learning motivation.

Procedure

Firstly, the subjects were randomly divided into six groups, text restudying group, text retrieval practicing group, text drawing group, AR restudying group, AR retrieval practicing group and AR drawing group, so as to ensure the randomness of the learning materials and learning strategies used, with 10 people in each group. All subjects were screened using vocabulary test questions. In order to ensure the same initial level, subjects who could dictate any English word were excluded.

Secondly, in the learning stage, the subjects in each group learned the corresponding materials first, the text group learned according to the distributed text materials, and the AR group learned according to the AR video materials for 80s. After learning, the text repetition group and AR repetition group repeated learning, that is, they repeated the learned content twice for 80s each time. The text extraction group and AR extraction group randomly extracted the learned content. That is, Chinese clue words were presented in the text or screen; the subjects were asked to recall the corresponding English words, such as "Peacock -?"; and each word was addressed for 16s. The text drawing group and the AR drawing group conducted self-generated drawing. That is, the text prompts were combined with the materials learned above to generate corresponding images in the mind and those images were drawn. An example is the following: "A dragon is a mythical animal and can spit fire. Its body is like a lion and its head is like a horse. Its two huge wings are like bats." The subjects drew by themselves according to the requirements, and the time was 160s.

Finally, all subjects completed the pupils' learning motivation questionnaire according to the same guidance. The questionnaire includes three dimensions, surface motivation, deep motivation and achievement motivation; and collected learners' learning motivation level data under different conditions. In the measurement results, the total scores of all items are the indicators to measure the overall level of learning motivation, and the total scores of each dimension are the indicators to measure the level of different sub-types of learning motivation.

Data Processing

The experimental data were processed and analyzed using SPSS 26.0. For the abnormal data, the box chart is used to filter the abnormal values, and the group average value is used for replacement processing. When processing the data, firstly, the learning motivation under different learning modes is described and statistically analyzed. Secondly, multivariate analysis of variance was used to test the main effects of learning materials and learning strategies on learning motivation and their interaction effects.

RESULTS

The learning motivation of grade 3 pupils when using different learning materials and learning strategies was described and counted. The specific results were shown in **Tables 1, 2**.

Taking learning materials and learning strategies as independent variables and deep motivation as dependent

 TABLE 1
 Descriptive statistics of learning motivation under different learning materials.

	AR (<i>M</i> ± <i>SD</i>)	Text (<i>M</i> ± <i>SD</i>)	t	d
Surface motivation	8.27 ± 1.87	7.37 ± 2.30	1.66	0.429
Deep motivation	26.13 ± 3.79	27.37 ± 3.15	-1.37	-0.356
Achievement motivation	12.70 ± 3.42	12.30 ± 3.64	0.44	0.113
Total learning motivation	47.10 ± 6.77	47.03 ± 6.45	0.04	0.011

*p<0.05, **p<0.01, ***p<0.001.

variables, multivariate analysis of variance was carried out. The results showed that the main effect of learning strategies was significant [$F(2, 54) = 8.313, p < 0.01, \eta_p^2 = 0.235$]. Furthermore, pupils' deep motivation using retrieval practicing strategies (M = 28.95, SD = 2.35) was the highest, which was significantly higher than when using restudying strategies (M = 26.20, SD = 3.21), p < 0.01, and self-generated drawing strategies (M = 25.10, SD = 3.77), p < 0.001.

Taking learning materials and learning strategies as independent variables and achievement motivation as dependent variables, multivariate analysis of variance was carried out. The results showed that the interaction between learning materials and learning strategies was marginally significant [F(2, 54) = 2.916, $0.05 , <math>\eta_p^2 = 0.097$]. The simple effect analysis (**Figure 3**) showed that when learning with AR materials, the students' achievement motivation in the restudying strategy group (M=14.10, SD=3.76) was higher than (marginal significant) that in the retrieval practicing strategy group (M=11.40, SD=2.88).

DISCUSSION

Significance of Learning Strategies for Cultivating Pupils' Deep Motivation

The use of learning strategies is closely related to students' learning motivation (Zhang and Guo, 2001; Zhou et al., 2005). Compared with restudying strategies, retrieval practicing strategies have obvious advantages in promoting meaningful learning. They can trigger the deep processing of learning materials and encourage students to form the goal orientation of mastering knowledge and skills (Ma et al., 2014). Deep processing strategies can effectively improve pupils' perceived ease of use of learning content. That is, deep processing strategies affect students' cognition of learning ease, reduce their learning frustration, make them think actively and explore actively, and have a good effect on cultivating deep motivation (Zhang and Yang, 1999; Liu et al., 2015). The deep motivation of selfgenerated drawing strategy in text material learning is higher than that in AR material. According to cognitive load theory, the increase of cognitive load will hinder the individual information processing process, and the size of internal cognitive load (ICL) is related to the complexity of the material itself.
TABLE 2	Descriptive statistics	of learning motivation un	der different learning strategies.
		or loarning mouvation a	all anoion loanning on atogioo.

	Restudying strategies (<i>M</i> ± <i>SD</i>)	Retrieval practicing strategies (<i>M</i> ± <i>SD</i>)	Self-generated drawing strategies (<i>M</i> ± <i>SD</i>)	F	η^2
Surface motivation	7.45 ± 2.06	8.15 ± 1.87	7.85 ± 2.46	0.537	0.018
Deep motivation	26.20 ± 3.21	28.95 ± 2.35	25.10 ± 3.77	7.866**	0.216
Achievement motivation	12.45 ± 3.98	12.35 ± 3.34	12.70 ± 3.33	0.051	0.002
Total learning motivation	46.10 ± 6.50	49.45 ± 5.86	45.65 ± 6.92	2.079	0.068

*p<0.05, **p<0.01, ***p<0.001.



Self-generated drawing is mainly a process in which individuals form psychological images by word processing, and draw them. Compared with the plane images presented by text materials, the processing complexity of 3D dynamic images presented by AR materials increases, and its ICL also increases, which may reduce students' learning efficiency and further lead to the reduction of deep motivation (Ding and Luo, 2009; Sweller et al., 2011). Cao et al. (2005) also pointed out that the correct rate of working memory resource strategy used by grade 3 primary school students will decrease significantly with the increase of cognitive load difficulty. Therefore, the disadvantages of the application of AR technology in education also need to be considered. The learning strategies discussed in this study are mainly based on visual presentation. Previous studies on multimedia learning pointed out that learning strategies from the perspective of hearing will also affect learners' learning process and results. Xiong et al. (2018) proved through experiments that when presenting multimedia learning materials, reducing the pitch by 0.5 ERB can effectively induce learners' positive emotions. Mayer (2009) also proposed that compared with a single visual channel material, the presentation of audiovisual dual channel materials in multimedia learning is conducive to learners' memory and transfer, that is, to produce a Modality Effect. Are the research results in the field of multimedia learning consistent with those in the field of AR learning? Future research can further explore the impact of learning strategies on children's learning motivation in AR learning based on multi-sensory channels such as hearing and touch.

The Combination of Different Learning Modes and Learning Strategies Leads to a Change in Pupils' Achievement Motivation

As can be seen from **Figure 3**, when learning with text materials, students' achievement motivation of using extraction practice strategy is higher than that of repeated learning strategy. Perhaps because the sample size does not reach the ideal level, the significance of this trend can not be verified, which needs to be tested by expanding the sample in follow-up research. According to the theory of achievement motivation, when the probability of success is equal, the attraction of goals is the main factor affecting individual achievement motivation (Jia and Liu, 2011; Anderman, 2020). When learning with text materials, compared with retrieval practicing strategies, restudying strategies are more boring, consumes pupils' passion for learning and may reduce pupils' achievement

motivation. AR materials are presented in 3D. Although the materials appear repeatedly during learning, pupils can still maintain a high degree of attention. However, the presentation time of 3D animation in the retrieval practicing strategy is short, and the interest cannot be sustained, so pupils' achievement motivation is relatively low. Among the students who adopt restudying strategies, the achievement motivation when using AR materials is higher than that when using text materials, which also proves that presenting learning materials in the form of AR video can effectively stimulate students' achievement motivation and then help to improve their academic performance (Schüler et al., 2021).

Therefore, in order to cultivate pupils' positive learning motivation in primary school, teachers need to guide pupils to adopt diversified learning strategies to transform different learning contents of different disciplines. For the learning materials that need to be understood and explored, the effect of using retrieval practicing strategies will be more prominent. Finally, the application of AR multimedia technology in the field of education can process boring text materials and present them in the form of animation images, which is helpful to improve pupils' achievement motivation.

CONCLUSION

(1) Retrieval practicing strategies have positive significance in cultivating deep motivation. (2) The combination of different learning modes and learning strategies will impact achievement motivation.

REFERENCES

- Anderman, E. M. (2020). Achievement motivation theory: balancing precision and utility. *Contemp. Educ. Psychol.* 61:101864. doi: 10.1016/j. cedpsych.2020.101864
- Biggs, J. B. (1987). *The Learning Process Questionnaire (LPQ): Manual.* Hawthorn, Victoria: Australian Council for Educational Research.
- Cai, S., Wang, P. W., Yang, Y., and Liu, E. R. (2016). Review on augmented reality in education. J. Dist. Educ. 34, 27–40. doi: 10.15881/j.cnki.cn33-1304/ g4.2016.05.003
- Cao, B. L., Liu, H. J., and Lin, C. D. (2005). Cognitive load influenced the pupil's strategies selection of distributing working memory resources. *Psychol. Dev. Educ.* 1, 36–42. doi: 10.3969/j.issn.1001-4918.2005.01.007
- Ding, D. Q., and Luo, Y. M. (2009). The effect of cognitive style and information's presentation format on cognitive load. *Psychol. Explor.* 29, 37–40, 68. doi: 10.3969/j.issn.1003-5184.2009.03.009
- Jia, X. J., Hu, W. J., and Wu, B. J. (2012). The cultivation of pupils' learning motivation: a five-year longitudinal study. *Psychol. Dev. Educ.* 28, 184–192. doi: 10.16187/j.cnki.issn1001-4918.2012.02.007
- Jia, L. X., and Liu, D. Y. (2011). Achievement goal: theory. Appl. Res. Trend. Psychol. Explor. 31, 499–502. doi: 10.3969/j.issn.1003-5184.2011.06.004
- Karpicke, J. D., and Roediger, H. L. (2008). The critical importance of retrieval for learning. *Science* 319, 966–968. doi: 10.1126/science.1152408
- Lin, C. D. (2009). Developmental Psychology. Beijing: People's Education Press.
- Lin, C. D., Yang, Z. L., and Huang, X. T. (2003). Dictionary of Psychology. Shanghai: Shanghai Educational Publishing House.
- Liu, X. F., and Chen, L. (2019). Primary and secondary cognition: research on cognitive expansion in Wisdom era. *E-Educ. Res* 40, 33–38. doi: 10.13811/j. cnki.eer.2019.01.004
- Liu, Y., Wu, M. H., and Sun, Z. (2015). Analysis of the relationship among students' acceptance to e-textbook technology, learning strategies and self-

DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

The raw data supporting the conclusions of this article will be made available by the authors, without undue reservation.

ETHICS STATEMENT

The studies involving human participants were reviewed and approved by the academic and ethics committee of school of education in Hebei University. The participants provided their written informed consent to participate in this study. Written informed consent was obtained from the individual(s) for the publication of any potentially identifiable images or data included in this article.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

XZ: conceived the study. XZ, ML, and YL: carried out the study and wrote the paper. All authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

FUNDING

This study was supported from Education General Project of National Social Science Foundation of China in 2020 "The Research on Cognitive and Emotional Mechanism of Augmented Reality (AR) Multimedia Learning and Its Promotion to Primary School Students' Efficient Learning" (Project approval number: BBA200031).

efficacy. Open Educ. Res. 21, 105–113. doi: 10.13966/j.cnki.kfjyyj.2015. 01.012

- Lu, J. M. (2007). Another successful example of psychological research serving quality education. *Psychol. Explor.* 27:93. doi: 10.3969/j. issn.1003-5184.2007.04.019
- Ma, X. F., Zhou, A. B., Cui, D., and Zhang, R. H. (2014). Promoting meaningful learning through retrieval practice: experimental evidences and pedagogical application. *Adv. Psychol. Sci.* 22, 279–287. doi: 10.3724/SPJ.1042.2014. 00279
- Mayer, R. E. (2009). *Multimedia Learning. 2nd Edn.* New York: Cambridge University Press.
- Roediger, H. L., and Karpicke, J. D. (2006). The power of testing memory: basic research and implications for educational practice. *Perspect. Psychol. Sci.* 1, 181–210. doi: 10.1111/j.1745-6916.2006.00012.x
- Schüler, J., Wegner, M., Assländer, L., Haufler, A., Krauss, T., Lang, M., et al. (2021). Moved to action? Gender differences in perceived effort and motor performance after video-based achievement motive arousal. *Psychol. Sport Exerc.* 57:102046. doi: 10.1016/j.psychsport.2021.102046
- Shen, D. L., and Bai, X. J. (2006). The metal mechanism of high-efficiency learning. J. Psychol. Sci. 29, 2–6. doi: 10.16719/j.cnki.1671-6981.2006.01.001
- Steinmayr, R., and Spinath, B. (2009). The importance of motivation as a predictor of school achievement. *Learn. Individ. Differ.* 19, 80–90. doi: 10.1016/j.lindif.2008.05.004
- Sun, S. J., and Meng, H. R. (2021). A study on the correlation between pupils' English vocabulary learning strategies and their motivation. J. Tianjin Norm. Univ. 2, 40–44. doi: 10.16826/j.cnki.1009-7228.2021.02.009
- Sweller, J., Ayres, P., and Kalyuga, S. (2011). Cognitive Load Theory. New York: Springer Science and Business Media.
- Van Meter, P., and Garner, J. (2005). The promise and practice of learnergenerated drawing: literature review and synthesis. *Educ. Psychol. Rev.* 17, 285–325. doi: 10.1007/s10648-005-8136-3

- Wang, H. R., and Tan, D. L. (2014). The educational ideals of evolutionary psychology and their enlightenments. J. Nantong Univ. 30, 107-112.
- Wang, Y. Q., Wang, F. X., Xie, H. P., Chen, J. X., Li, W. J., and Hu, X. E. (2019). A picture is worth a thousand words: self-generation drawing for multimedia learning. *Adv. Psychol. Sci.* 27, 623–635. doi: 10.3724/ SPJ.1042.2019.00623
- Xiong, J. M., Xin, L., Gao, M. M., Wang, F. X., Zhou, L., and Gong, S. Y. (2018). Impact of visual and aural emotional design on multimedia learning. *J. Psychol. Sci.* 41, 1124–1129. doi: 10.16719/j.cnki.1671-6981.20180515
- Zhang, Y. L., and Guo, J. D. (2001). Research on the influence of learning strategy teaching on learning motivation. J. Psychol. Sci. 24, 352–353. doi: 10.16719/j.cnki.1671-6981.2001.03.029
- Zhang, H. R., and Shen, L. M. (2005). Impacts of motivation and metacognition on study performance. J. Psychol. Sci. 28, 114–116. doi: 10.16719/j. cnki.1671-6981.2005.01.029
- Zhang, Y. L., and Yang, S. L. (1999). Research on middle school students' learning motivation and learning strategies. *Psychol. Dev. Educ.* 4, 35–39.
- Zhao, X. J., You, X. Q., and Zhang, W. (2014). Augmented reality technology in psychological research. *Chinese J. Ergon.* 20, 86–90. doi: 10.13837/j. issn.1006-8309.2014.02.0019
- Zhou, Y. L., Han, Y. C., and Zhang, K. (2005). The influence of learning motivation on learning strategy of the students with learning difficulty.

Chin. J. Clin. Psych. 13, 200–202. doi: 10.3969/j.issn.1005-3611.2005. 02.026

Zhou, Z., Zhou, Y., and Xiao, J. J. (2015). Survey on augmented virtual environment and augmented reality. *Sci. Sin. Inf.* 45, 157–180. doi: 10.1360/ N112014-00076

Conflict of Interest: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's Note: All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Copyright © 2022 Zhao, Liu and Liu. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.



Influencing Factors of International Students' Anxiety Under Online Learning During the COVID-19 Pandemic: A Cross-Sectional Study of 1,090 Chinese International Students

Yejun Tan^{1,2}, Zhijian Wu³, Xiangnan Qu⁴, Yuzhuo Liu⁵, Lele Peng⁶, Yan Ge¹, Shu Li¹, Jinfeng Du¹, Qi Tang¹, Jia Wang¹, Xiaofei Peng¹, Jiafen Liao¹, Meiyan Song¹ and Jin Kang^{1*}

¹Department of Rheumatology and Immunology, The Second Xiangya Hospital of Central South University, Changsha, China, ²School of Mathematics, University of Minnesota Twin Cities, Minneapolis, MN, United States, ³Department of Cardiovascular Medicine, The Second Xiangya Hospital of Central South University, Changsha, China, ⁴Xiangya School of Medicine, Changsha, China, ⁶Department of Psychiatry, The Second Xiangya Hospital of Central South University, Changsha, China, ⁶Department of Endocrinology, Wangwang Hospital of Hunan, Changsha, China

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by: David Aparisi.

David Aparisi, University of Alicante, Spain

Reviewed by:

Vsevolod Konstantinov, Penza State University, Russia Vincent Hooper, Xiamen University, China

> *Correspondence: Jin Kang kangjin2015@csu.edu.cn

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Educational Psychology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Psychology

Received: 22 January 2022 Accepted: 28 March 2022 Published: 14 April 2022

Citation:

Tan Y, Wu Z, Qu X, Liu Y, Peng L, Ge Y, Li S, Du J, Tang Q, Wang J, Peng X, Liao J, Song M and Kang J (2022) Influencing Factors of International Students' Anxiety Under Online Learning During the COVID-19 Pandemic: A Cross-Sectional Study of 1,090 Chinese International Students. Front. Psychol. 13:860289. doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2022.860289 **Objective:** We conducted the following cross-sectional study to comprehensively assess the anxiety among Chinese international students who studied online during the COVID-19 pandemic and its influencing factors.

Methods: Questionnaires were distributed through "Sojump," and a total of 1,090 valid questionnaires were collected. The questionnaire was divided into two parts: general situation and anxiety assessment of students. The former used a self-made questionnaire, and the international general GAD-7 scale was used to measure anxiety. Chi-square test was used to analyze the differences between groups, and logistic regression analysis was performed for the factors with differences.

Results: Anxiety was found in 707 (64.9%) of 1,090 international students. Chi-square test and multivariate Logistic regression analysis showed that the incidence of anxiety was higher in the group under 22 years of age than in the group over 22 years of age (68% vs. 61%, p = 0.015; OR=1.186, 95% Cl 1.045–1.347, p = 0.008); International students living in big cities had a higher incidence of anxiety than those living in rural areas (67% vs. 60%, p = 0.022; OR=1.419, 95%Cl 1.038–1.859, p = 0.011); international students who socialized 3 times or less monthly had a higher incidence of anxiety than those who socialized more than 3 times per month (68% vs. 58%, p = 0.003; OR=1.52, 95%Cl 1.160–1.992, p = 0.002); international students who expected purely online teaching had a higher incidence of anxiety than those who expected purely offline teaching or dual-track teaching (72% vs. 64%, p = 0.037; OR=1.525, 95%Cl 1.069–2.177, p = 0.02); international students with a subjective score of online learning experience of 6 or less had a higher incidence of anxiety than those with subjective scores of more than 6 (70% vs. 60%,

75

p = 0.001, OR = 1.25, 95%Cl 1.099–1.422, p = 0.001). However, gender, emotional status, BMI, major of study, vaccination status, and degree type had no significant difference in the incidence of anxiety among international students who studied online during the COVID-19 pandemic.

Conclusion: During COVID-19, international students who were younger, came from big cities, had low social frequency, expected purely online teaching, and had poor experience of online classes were risk factors for anxiety during online classes.

Keywords: international students, anxiety, COVID-19, online learning, public health emergency, mental health, online survey, cross-sectional study

INTRODUCTION

In January 2020, the World Health Organization listed COVID-19 as a public health emergency of international concern (Yue et al., 2020). As of 2 August 2021, COVID-19 has rapidly spread to 208 countries and territories, making it a global pandemic with over 200 million infections and over 4 million deaths worldwide. Studies have shown that COVID-19 has caused a psychological crisis in the public that urgently needs to be addressed (Choi et al., 2020; Dong and Bouey, 2020; Gao et al., 2020; Gómez-Salgado et al., 2020; Huang and Zhao, 2020; Wang et al., 2020; Yang et al., 2020). The COVID-19 pandemic has triggered a psychological crisis among the public because of the increased prevalence of mental illness, including anxiety and depression (Asmundson and Taylor, 2020; González-Sanguino et al., 2020; Kola, 2020; Ozamiz-Etxebarria et al., 2020; Ahn et al., 2021). The public's positive psychological response to COVID-19 has played a crucial role in reducing anxiety. Positive thoughts and attitudes can help individuals cope with stressors (Görgen et al., 2014). A recent study found that the hope helps prevent anxiety (Mirhosseini et al., 2020). The theory of rational emotive behavioral therapy suggests that rational beliefs can relieve anxiety and other symptoms of mental distress (David et al., 2018; Eseadi, 2019). In addition, cognitive-behavioral models of health anxiety suggest that negative emotions and misunderstanding of health-related stimuli may increase the chance of developing anxiety (Gautreau et al., 2015; Hagger et al., 2017; Schäfer et al., 2017). Therefore, promoting positive psychological response, initiating emotional regulation, and positive cognition of health-related information, such as maintaining a positive attitude and rationality, is necessary for the public to better cope with stress (Grecucci et al., 2015). It is worth noting that the psychological impact of COVID-19 on students is significant. Previous studies have also shown that after the government blockaded the city for a week, the rating of anxiety and depression among students increased significantly and reached a stable state in the second week but remained at a poor level (Jin and Fung, 2021). Two months after online learning, the anxiety and depression among students still increased significantly (Magson et al., 2021). So, after implementing online courses for a year, what is the students' psychological state? However, no relevant literature has been reported so far.

International students, primarily college students, are a huge and leading group for world cultural and academic exchanges. According to the Ministry of Education, PRC, there were 700,000 Chinese students studying abroad in 2019. With the increasing demand for academic qualifications in society, international students have increased yearly. The mental health of this particular group has attracted more and more attention (Wang et al., 2015).

To avoid infection or implement border blockade policies, many schools worldwide have transferred traditional offline teaching to online. The outbreak of COVID-19 has also forced many Chinese international students to stay in China for online learning. When the teaching mode changed from the expected foreign campus to the computer at home, such large-scale online teaching came as suddenly as COVID-19, international students were significantly affected both physically and mentally. Therefore, as a particular group, the anxiety and its influencing factors of international students under online learning during the COVID-19 pandemic are worthy of our attention. However, for example, previous studies have not focused on issues of mental health among international students or the context of online learning among international students during the COVID-19 pandemic. To better understand the anxiety among international students under online learning and its influencing factors during the COVID-19 pandemic, we conducted a crosssectional study on the anxiety and its influencing factors of international students.

The main objective of this study was to assess anxiety and its influencing factors in a sample of 1,090 Chinese international students who studied online during the outbreak of COVD-19. In this study, A standardized mental health measure (GAD-7) was used to assess acute anxiety symptoms. Our study found that age, cities of residence, the frequency of socialization, expected teaching mode, and subjective experience of online learning influenced the anxiety of international students.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Research Object and Procedures

To investigate the anxiety among international students who studied online during the COVD-19 pandemic, we adopted a

Abbreviations: GAD-7, Generalized Anxiety Disorder 7-item; OR, Odds ratio.

cross-sectional study design and questionnaires through the "Sojump," an Internet-based questionnaire application in mainland China. We distributed questionnaires on the platform of 15 WeChat international student groups with a total of about 15*500 = 7,500 people. This survey adopted the principle of voluntary participation, and 1,101 questionnaires were collected. 11 questionnaires were invalid for interfering with common sense problems, and 0 were excluded within 2 min. A total of 1,090 valid questionnaires were collected, and the recovery rate was 99%. The WeChat group of international students was established spontaneously by Chinese international students to facilitate communication in all aspects of study and life abroad. The person in charge of this survey is in charge of the WeChat group mentioned above. During the outbreak of COVID-19, we distributed questionnaires in the name of the person in charge to understand the psychological conditions of the students during online learning.

The survey was conducted from August 15 to 25, 2021, during which we obtained a sufficient sample size in accordance with previous related studies (Hu et al., 2007; Kamangar and Islami, 2013; Zhang et al., 2017; Liu et al., 2020). The questionnaire consisted of two parts: the internationally recognized Chinese Version of the Generalized Anxiety Disorder Scale (GAD-7) and the self-designed general situation of international Students who studied online due to the outbreak of the COVID-19 pandemic. It takes about 3-5 min to complete the questionnaire. The inclusion criteria for participating in this study were: international students who have taken online courses for a certain period, have Chinese reading and writing ability, can use smartphones to complete the questionnaire, and were willing to participate. Exclusion criteria were any treatment for mental illness, any history of drug dependence, and any diagnosis of illness or injury that might prevent them from completing the questionnaire independently.

The questionnaire was submitted after the participants had answered all the questions. Only data from the complete questionnaires were analyzed.

Moral Statement

The study was carried out by the Declaration of Helsinki (1989). This study was approved by the Ethics Committee of Xiangya Hospital of Central South University. In the process of informed consent in the preamble of the questionnaire, we left the contact information of the project team members for the respondents. If the international students need professional psychological consultation, they can contact us through our contact information.

Demographics and the General Situation of International Students Who Studied Online During the COVID-19 Pandemic

Demographic characteristics of participants were collected in this study, including gender, age, emotional status, BMI, city of residence, the location of the school they attended, major of study, vaccination status, and degree type. During the COVID-19 pandemic, the general situation of international students who studied online included advantages and disadvantages of online learning, time difference, average daily study duration, average daily sleep duration, the frequency of physical exercise, the frequency of socialization, primary ways to relieve stress, measures to deal with infection risk, expected teaching modes in coming semesters, concerns about COVID-19 infection, and subjective ratings of the online learning experience. The significant advantages and disadvantages of online learning, the primary ways to relieve stress, and the primary measures to deal with the risk of infection were multiple-choice questions. Participants chose at least one of these multiple choices and could choose up to five. The subjective score of online learning experience during the COVID-19 pandemic was 10 points, with 0 points for completely dissatisfied and 10 points for completely satisfied.

Measurement of Anxiety

Gad-7 is one of the most reliable measures of generalized anxiety disorder. Anxiety-related psychological problems were assessed on the Likert-4 scale, with options ranging from "totally uncertain=0," "a few days =1," "more than half the time=2," and "almost every day =3" on a scale of 0 to 21. The threshold of anxiety was set to higher than 5 based on the Gad-7 score (Ahn et al., 2021; Park et al., 2021; Yoo et al., 2021).

Statistical Analysis

SPSS software (version 23.0) used to perform all statistical analysis. The Chi-square test was used to analyze the difference in anxiety degree among groups. Anxiety was assessed using a binary variable (anxiety or non-anxiety, measured on the GAD-7 scale). The variables included in multivariate logistic regression analysis included age, city of residence in China, subjective experience score of online learning, the frequency of socialization, and expected teaching method, all of which were two variables. When the two-tail *p*-value was less than 0.05, the result was considered to be statistically significant.

RESULTS

Demographic Characteristics and Prevalence of Anxiety Among International Students Who Studied Online During the COVID-19 Pandemic

Our study found anxiety in 707 (64.9%) of 1,090 international students. 1,101 international students participated in the survey, of which 1,090 were valid questionnaires with an effective rate of 99.0%. *The general situation of international students and their opinions toward online learning are shown in* **Table 1**. Students from schools in Europe and Hong Kong, Macao, and Taiwan accounted for 37.8 and 27.1%, respectively, while those from schools in Oceania accounted for less than 10%(6.3%). The top three majors chosen by international students were economics and finance, management, and engineering, accounting for 21, 15, and 12%, respectively. History, agriculture, and military science were the least popular, accounting for less

TABLE 1 | General situation of 1,090 Chinese international students who studied online during the COVID-19 pandemic.

Variables	Frequency	Chi-square	<i>p</i> -value
The location of schools			
North America	151(13.9)	1945.68	0
Europe	412(37.8)		
Asia	163(15)		
Oceania	69(6.3)		
Hong Kong, Macao and Taiwan	295(27.1)		
Major of study	200(2111)		
Philosophy	13(0.01)	702.04	0
Economics and finance	230(0.21)	102.01	0
Law	39(0.04)		
Pedagogy	122(0.11)		
Literature	123(0.11)		
History	12(0.01)		
Science	101(0.09)		
Engineering	133(0.12)		
Agronomy	10(0.01)		
Medicine	61(0.06)		
Management	166(0.15)		
Art	79(0.07)		
Military science	1(0)		
Advantages of online learning			
Saving living and commuting expenses	747(0.69)	1369.86	0
Saving commuting time	751(0.69)		
Effectively reduce the risk of COVID-19 infection	872(0.8)		
No extra time needed to get used to the new environment	387(0.36)		
No social fear	329(0.3)		
Online courses can be played repeatedly for easy understanding	582(0.53)		
and review	382(0.33)		
Online courses are fast paced and more efficient	130(0.12)		
Translation software/plug-ins can be used to solve the language	206(0.07)		
barrier	296(0.27)		
Online courses may have higher grades	101(0.09)		
Disadvantages of online learning			
Time difference can easily lead to a chaotic daily routine	337(0.31)	918.7	0
The Difficulty of concentration	744(0.68)		
Poor network connection	557(0.51)		
Unable to interact with teachers immediately	552(0.51)		
Inconvenience to exchange ideas with classmates	560(0.51)		
The lack of campus atmosphere of studying abroad	768(0.7)		
Lack of social interaction	312(0.29)		
Inconvenience for scientific research	189(0.17)		
The trouble of Preparing for exams	129(0.12)		
The ways to relieve stress	120(0.12)		
Chatting with friends online	719(0.66)		
Watching TV series& movies			
	841(0.77) 539(0.49)		
Shopping and dining out			
Doing physical exercise	480(0.44)		
Playing video games	377(0.35)		
	125(0.11)		
Watching ASMR videos	96(0.09)		
rimary measures to address the risk of COVID-19 infection	22 (2 5 7)	1055 55	-
Vaccination	894(0.82)	1922.38	0
Wearing a mask	971(0.89)		
Washing your hands regularly	806(0.74)		
Keeping Social distance	832(0.76)		
Avoid visiting crowded places	772(0.71)		
Gap year/delay until the epidemic stabilizes	190(0.17)		
Drop out of school	33(0.03)		
Transfer to another schools in areas where the epidemic is stable	83(0.08)		

than 1%. The top three advantages of online learning were effectively reducing the risk of COVID-19 infection, saving living and commuting expenses, and saving commuting time,

with a cumulative selection rate of 80, 69, and 69%, respectively. The two significant disadvantages of online learning were the difficulty of concentration and the lack of campus atmosphere of studying abroad. The cumulative selection rate was 70 and 68%, respectively. In addition, primary ways for international students to release pressure were watching TV series & movies (77%) and chatting with friends online (66%), followed by dining out & shopping (49%) and physical exercise (44%). The primary measures for these international students to deal with the risk of infection were wearing masks (89%), getting vaccinated (82%), maintaining social distance (76%), washing hands frequently (74%), and reducing the times of visiting crowded places (71%), while only 11% of them chose to drop out (3%) or transfer to another school (8%).

Factors Influencing the Anxiety Among International Students Who Studied Online During the COVD-19 Pandemic

Students with GAD-7 scores higher than or equal to 5 were defined as the anxiety group, and the Chi-square test was used to analyze the influencing factors of anxiety among the international students who studied online due to the outbreak of COVD-19. The results are shown in Table 2. Among the international students who studied online, the incidence of anxiety was 68%(383/561) among the international students under the age of 22, compared with 61%(324/529) among those higher or equal to the age of 22. There was a statistical significance between the two groups (Chi-square = 5.893, p = 0.015). Among the international students who studied online, 67%(500/745) of those students living in first-tier and provincial capital cities and Hong Kong, Macao, and Taiwan (hereinafter referred to as big cities) felt anxious. In comparison, 60%(207/345) of international students living outside first-tier and provincial capital cities and in rural areas (hereinafter referred to as small cities and rural areas) felt anxious. There was a statistical significance between the two groups (Chi-square = 5.236, p = 0.02). Among the international students who studied online, 68%(512/756) of them who socialized three times or less monthly felt anxious about online learning, compared with 58%(195/334) of students who socialized three times or more monthly. There was a statistical significance between the two groups (Chi-square = 8.87, p = 0.003). Among the international students who studied online, the incidence of anxiety among those who wished for purely offline teaching or dual-track online and offline teaching was 64%(567/907), compared with 72%(131/183) among those who wished purely online teaching. There was a statistical significance between the two groups (Chi-square = 4.361, p = 0.037). Among the international students who studied online, 70%(341/484) students with a subjective score of online learning experience during the COVID-19 pandemic of 6 or less felt anxious, while 60%(366/696) of them with a subjective score of more than 6 felt anxious. There was a statistical significance between the two groups (Chi-square = 11.945, p = 0.001). However, gender, emotional status, BMI, vaccination or not, degree type, time difference, daily study duration, daily sleep duration, and frequency of physical exercise had no significant difference in the incidence of anxiety among international students who studied online.

Logistic Analysis of Factors Influencing the Incidence of Anxiety Among International Students Who Studied Online During the COVID-19 Pandemic

Our study combined age, the resident city in China, the frequency of socialization, expected teaching methods, and subjective experience score of online courses to construct a multi-factor Logistic regression equation (Table 3). We found that international students under the age of 22 were at increased risk of anxiety compared with those higher or equal to the age of 22, and the difference was statistically significant (OR = 1.186, 95%CI 1.045 - 1.347, p = 0.008). Compared with international students in small cities and rural areas, the students living in big cities were at increased risk of anxiety, and the difference was statistically significant (OR = 1.419, 95%CI 1.038-1.859, p = 0.01). Compared with the international students with a subjective score of online learning experience during the COVID-19 pandemic higher than 6, students with a subjective score less than or equal to 6 were at increased risk of anxiety, and the difference was statistically significant (OR = 1.25, 95%CI 1.099–1.422, p = 0.001). Compared with the international students who socialized more than three times a month, those who socialized less than three times per month were at increased risk of anxiety, and the difference was statistically significant (OR = 1.52, 95% CI 1.160 - 1.992, p = 0.002). Compared with the international students who wished for purely offline or online and offline dual-track teaching in coming semesters, those who wished for purely online teaching were at increased risk of anxiety, and the difference was statistically significant (OR = 1.525, 95%CI 1.069-2.177, *p*=0.02).

DISCUSSION

With the development of globalization and increasingly fierce competition in society, international students are increasing year by year. As a result, the mental health of this unique group is also attracting more and more attention. Previous studies have suggested that international students in higher education are prone to mental health problems, such as depression and anxiety (Wang et al., 2015). At the same time, international students are the vulnerable group with apparent mental health problems, which indicates that the research on international students' mental health is rapidly expanding and developing toward a new research direction (Han et al., 2013; Wang et al., 2015). We observed that 707 out of 1,090 Chinese international students participating in the study felt anxious, accounting for 64.86%. The prevalence of these international students significantly exceeds the post-pandemic incidence of anxiety among the general population (31.9%; Salari et al., 2020). Apparently, the prevalence of anxiety among these international students was twice that of the general population. Since universities in many countries have been forced to switch from offline to online teaching due to the high contagiousness of COVID-19, international students were forced to return to their home countries for online study. The mode of online

TABLE 2 Analysis of influencing factors on the incidence of anxiety during online courses for international student

	Non-anxiety n (%)	Anxiety n (%)	Total	Chi-square	<i>p</i> -value
Gender					
Male	95(0.37)	160(0.63)	255	0.665	0.48
Female	288(0.34)	547(0.66)	835	0.000	
Age	200(0.04)	347(0.00)	000		
≥22 years old	178(0.32)	383(0.68)	561	5.893	0.02
<22 years old	()	()	529	5.695	0.02
Relationship status	205(0.39)	324(0.61)	529		
Single	256(0.34)	500(0.66)	756	1.760	0.19
Non-single	127(0.38)	207(0.62)	334	1.760	0.19
BMI	127(0.30)	207(0.02)	004		
Low	103(0.31)	230(0.69)	333	3.734	0.16
Medium	242(0.37)	411(0.63)	653	3.734	0.10
Height	38(0.37)	66(0.63)	104		
City of residence in China	00(0.07)	00(0.00)	104		
Big cities	245(0.33)	500(0.67)	745	5.236	0.02
Small cities and rural areas	138(0.4)	207(0.6)	745 345	0.200	0.02
COVID-19 vaccination status	100(0.4)	207(0.0)	0+0		
COVID-19 vaccination status	306(0.35)	572(0.65)	878	0.162	0.69
Incomplete vaccination	77(0.36)	135(0.64)	212	0.102	0.09
Degree type	17(0.30)	133(0.04)	212		
Undergraduate and below	166(0.34)	318(0.66)	484	0.270	0.60
Postgraduate and above	217(0.36)	389(0.64)	484 606	0.270	0.00
Time difference in online course	. ,	369(0.04)	000		
With time difference	121(0.33)	250(0.67)	371	1.571	0.20
Without time difference	262(0.36)	457(0.64)	719	1:571	0.20
The average daily study duration		457(0.04)	119		
≤5h	236(0.35)	430(0.65)	666	0.067	0.80
≥5h >5h	147(0.35)	277(0.65)	424	0.007	0.80
The average daily sleep duration		217(0.03)	424		
≤6h	54(0.33)	111(0.67)	165	3.391	0.18
<u>≤</u> 011 6–8h	221(0.34)	432(0.66)	653	3:591	0.10
>8h	108(0.4)	164(0.6)	272		
	108(0.4)	104(0.0)	212		
Frequency of physical exercise No physical exercise	98(0.32)	210(0.68)	308		
1–2 times weekly	· · · ·	()	486	2.094	0.35
>3 times weekly	178(0.37) 107(0.36)	308(0.63) 189(0.64)	486 296	2.094	0.35
Frequency of socialization (e.g.,	()	· · · ·	230		
\leq 3 times monthly	244(0.32)	512(0.68)	756	8.870	0.00
≤3 times monthly	139(0.42)	195(0.58)	334	0.070	0.00
The expected teaching mode in		· · · ·	334		
Pure offline teaching/online	COLLING SELLESIELS (2021 IGH	a zuzz spinny			
and offline dual-track	331(0.36)	576(0.64)	907	4.361	0.04
teaching	331(0.30)	370(0.04)	907	4.001	0.04
Pure online teaching	52(0.28)	131(0.72)	183		
The concerns about the risk after	· /	()	100		
Worry	341(0.34)	652(0.66)	993	3.112	0.08
	42(0.43)	55(0.57)	993 97	3.112	0.08
No worry Subjective score of the experier	()	()			
, , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , ,	• •		,	11.945	0.00
<u>≤</u> 6	143(0.3)	341(0.7)	484	11.945	0.00
>6	240(0.4)	366(0.6)	606		

teaching can be a challenge for many international students. This survey was conducted 1 year after the outbreak of COVID-19 in China, mainly to understand the situation of international students from China after 1 year of online learning and the influencing factors of anxiety.

Our research showed that international students from schools in Europe (37.8%) and Hong Kong, Macao, and Taiwan (27.1%) accounted for the majority, while those from schools in Oceania accounted for less than 10% (6.3%). From the perspective of the regions chosen by international students, fewer international students chose schools in Oceania. Their choices may be affected by the border blockade policies of Oceanian countries, such as Australia and New Zealand. As a result, many international students can only study online in China for a long time and therefore do not consider Oceania as their first choice. In addition, our results showed that the proportion of international students who chose to study in Asia (Hong Kong, Macau, Taiwan, and other parts of Asia) was as high as 42.1%. It is not hard to see that Asia has become one of the new education centers, attracting more international students. According to our results, the top TABLE 3 | Logistic regression analysis of the incidence of anxiety during online courses for international students.

	_	Wald p-value		<i>p</i> -value	OR-value	95% confidence	
	В	Chi-square value		-	Interval		
Age							
≥22 years of age* <22 years of age	0.171	6.931	0.008	1.186	1.045	1.347	
City of residence							
Small cities and rural							
areas*	0.35	6.449	0.01	1.419	1.083	1.859	
Big cities							
Subjective score of the online	e learning (from	1 to 10)					
>6*	0.223	11.52	0.001	1.25	1.099	1.422	
<u>≤</u> 6		11.02	0.001				
Frequency of socialization							
>3 times monthly*	0.419	9.204	0.002	1.52	1.16	1.992	
≤3 times monthly							
The expected teaching mode	e in coming sem	esters					
Offline teaching or							
online and offline	0.422	5.414	0.02	1.525	1.069	2.177	
dual-track teaching*							
Pure online teaching							

*Is the control group.

three majors chosen by international students were economics, management, and engineering, accounting for 21, 15, and 12%, respectively. History, agriculture, and military sciences, by contrast, accounted for less than 1%. The distribution of majors chosen by international students is relatively consistent with the popular majors chosen by Chinese college students (Wu et al., 2021).

The top three advantages of online learning were effectively reducing the risk of COVID-19 infection, saving living and commuting expenses, and saving commuting time, with the cumulative selection rate of 80, 69, and 69%, respectively. Online learning, where students are primarily at home, can effectively reduce the probability of COVID-19 infection by avoiding gatherings (Wu et al., 2021). At the same time, since the price of necessities in Europe and the United States is much higher than that in mainland China, students can save a lot expenses. The two most significant disadvantages of online learning were the difficulty of concentration and the lack of campus atmosphere of studying abroad, with a cumulative selection rate of 70 and 68%, respectively. It can be seen that online courses without face-to-face supervision by teachers and the atmosphere of studying together with other students is likely to cause distraction in class, which is consistent with the research of Mukhtar et al. (2020). This is why online learning places higher demands on self-discipline of students. At the same time, online learning, as the scope of activity for international students is mainly at home, international students who were unable to experience campus life have become the who studied online regret of those during the COVID-19 pandemic.

Nevertheless, international students can make up for this by interacting with their peers in China. Gradually, with the control of COVID-19 and the resumption of offline classes, It is believed that these international students taking online courses during the COVID-19 pandemic will cherish campus life more after returning to campus. Therefore, in the long run, short-term online learning may play a positive role in promoting international students to experience the campus culture and atmosphere.

Watching TV series & movies and chatting with friends accounted for 77 and 66%, respectively. However, the proportion of dining out & shopping and physical exercise was only 49 and 44%, respectively. According to our study, international students tended to choose leisure activities that can be completed at home and on the Internet, such as watching TV series and movies and chatting with friends online, while those that need to be completed outdoors, such as dining out and shopping and physical exercise were relatively low. On the one hand, affected by the COVID-19, students may purposely avoid gathering. On the other hand, most students may like to stay alone. With the COVID-19 pandemic under control, students can subjectively increase some recreational ways to interact with others.

The top five measures to deal with risk of COVID-19 infection were wearing a mask, getting vaccinated, maintaining social distance, washing hands frequently, and reducing visits to crowded places (89, 82, 76, 74, and 71%, respectively). It is not hard to see that more than a year after the outbreak of COVID-19, with the exception of vaccination, other anti-epidemic measures were consistent with the measures taken at the beginning of the COVID-19 outbreak (Liguori and Winkler, 2020). At the same time, the results of this study are consistent with the results of another study on Chinese college students (Shen et al., 2021). Combining the two studies, it can be concluded that Chinese college students, whether studying in China or abroad, have high support and compliance for non-drug intervention (NPI) prevention.

Our research (**Table 2**) showed that age, geography, the frequency of socialization, expected teaching methods, and subjective experience of online learning were influencing factors for international students' anxiety. These related factors were also the core of this study, which can provide part of the basis

for colleges and universities to quickly screen international students with a high risk of anxiety. Colleges and universities can carry out early intervention for students with risk through health promotion and psychological education so that the limited psychological consultation resources can reach the students who are most likely to benefit and then reduce the occurrence of anxiety among international students (Gladstone et al., 2021).

Age Factors

Our findings suggested that age was strongly associated with positive psychological responses. The prevalence of anxiety was higher among the international students under the age of 22 (68%) than those higher or equal to the age of 22 (61%), suggesting that younger age may be a risk factor for anxiety among these international students who studied online during the COVID-19 pandemic. Our result is consistent with previous studies showing that younger age is a risk factor for anxiety (Brenes, 2006; Guo et al., 2016; Xiong et al., 2020). Compared with older students, young international students have less social cognition and future prediction because young international students tend to have less social practice and experience. With lower self-regulation and psychological resilience, the younger group tends to be worried about the uncertain future and negative academic impact of online teaching in the context of COVID-19, such as the acceptance of online courses by future employers. Conversely, due to their rich social experience and cognition, international students in the older group have stronger psychological endurance. As a result, they are less worried about negative impacts. Therefore, schools should pay more attention to young international students or carry out psychological counseling to relieve the anxiety of younger international students.

Geographical Factors

Our study also found that geographical factors were an influencing factor for anxiety. Previous studies have pointed to a higher prevalence of anxiety disorders in the urban area of China (7.6%) than in rural China (4.66%; Guo et al., 2016). Our result is also in line with the high incidence of anxiety disorders in cities during the COVID-19 pandemic (Ren et al., 2020). Living in big cities was a risk factor for anxiety for international students who studied online during the COVID-19 pandemic. In addition, according to our survey data, most of these international students (745/1090) came from big cities, which is also related to the developed economy, high education level, and active thinking. This phenomenon reflects that the distribution of educational resources in China is relatively concentrated in big cities. International students from big cities live in more developed regions, where talent concentration leads to greater competition, thus increasing risk factors for anxiety.

Moreover, the cost of living in big cities, such as housing prices, is higher than in relatively small cities and rural areas, which may also increase the stress of international students. Faced with the pressure from fierce competition and high living costs, these international students who studied online in big cities may worry about the lack of competitiveness caused by online learning or other factors, thus increasing the risk of anxiety. Therefore, schools and health professionals should pay more attention to the mental health of international students from big cities.

The Frequency of Socialization

In this study, the frequency with which international students socialized with others (such as shopping and dining out and watching movies) 3 times or less a month was a risk factor for anxiety. Among international students who studied online during the COVID-19 pandemic, the lower frequency of socializing outside to some extent reduces the space and channels for releasing stress, thus increasing the perception of stress, anxiety, and other negative emotions. For these international students, instead of staying in one environment for a long time, going out and socializing with friends to get outside support is an effective way to relieve and vent stress. Previous studies have suggested that social support may reduce genetic and environmental vulnerability and imbue resilience to stress through its effects on the hypothalamic-pituitary-adrenal cortex (HPA) system, the norepinephrine system, and the central oxytocin pathway, so social support is essential for maintaining physical and mental health (Ozbay et al., 2007). Conversely, those international students with low frequency of socialization, lack of social support, and longterm exposure to the same environment cannot relieve the stress from online learning, thus increasing anxiety. Compared with the frequency of socialization, the difference in daily sleep duration, the frequency of physical exercise, and daily study duration was not significantly correlated with anxiety. Our result also suggested that the improving lifestyles, including sleep duration, physical exercise, and study duration, was not as effective as increasing the frequency of socialization in reducing anxiety. Our study is partially consistent with a Malaysian study of Malaysian university students (Mohamad et al., 2021). Our research suggested that active participation in social activities can reduce anxiety in students. The difference is that local studies in Malaysia have shown that sleep quality and BMI were the influencing factors of anxiety. In contrast, in our study, there was no correlation between sleep and BMI and anxiety among international students. On the one hand, this may be due to sample selection bias. On the other hand, it also indicated that increasing social frequency could be more significant for international students in alleviating anxiety than for local students. Therefore, international students should increase the frequency of social activities as possible, instead of staying in the same environment every day, to relieve anxiety.

Expected Teaching Mode

In this study, the expectation that the teaching mode of the coming semesters (2021 fall & 2022 Spring) would be purely online was a risk factor for anxiety of these international students. Notably, students expecting purely online teaching were more anxious, suggesting that the main factor causing anxiety among these students is not the online learning themselves but the risk of COVID-19 infection brought by face-to-face classes. Compared with those who expected pure face-to-face teaching and online and offline dual-track teaching, international students who expected purely online teaching may be more worried about their health risks caused by the COVID-19 pandemic due to some reasons, such as poor physical fitness

or other psychological problems. That is because online classes, compared with offline courses, provide a platform for international students to avoid the risk of infection. In the coming semesters, many schools have announced the resumption and mandatory offline classes, which may increase the anxiety of these students. Therefore, the school had better make special teaching arrangements, such as online and offline dual-track teaching, for those who cannot participate in offline teaching for various reasons rather than forcing completely face-to-face teaching to relieve their anxiety.

Subjective Experience of Online Learning

In this study, poor subjective experience of online learning (rating the subjective experience of online courses less than 6 out of 10) was a risk factor for anxiety of these international students. Among the international students who studied online during the COVID-19 pandemic, some were upset due to various inconveniences from online classes, such as poor Internet connection and the inability to interact with instructors immediately. These international students may be anxious about their grades or the recognition of their qualifications gained through online teaching by future employers due to poor experiences of online learning. In contrast, international students who rated the experience of online learning higher than 6those who were more adaptable to online learning-were less likely to experience anxiety. Moreover, there may be a correlation between psychological stress, coping style, adaptability, and mental health (Zimmermann et al., 2012; Zhou et al., 2017). International students with pessimism or anxiety are also more likely to experience poor online teaching.

On the contrary, students with solid adaptability tend to have a better experience of online learning. Our result is also consistent with previous studies that whether students adapt to online courses significantly affects anxiety (Zhao et al., 2021). In addition, people with positive coping styles have better mental health than those with negative coping styles (Wu et al., 2020). Students with high psychological resilience can better understand the meaning of positive coping styles, thus effectively overcoming difficulties in adversity (Hartley, 2011). Therefore, schools should continue to upgrade the facilities for online learning and take other measures to improve the online teaching experience. At the same time, schools can also increase communication with students, genuinely understand the factors that affect students' online teaching experience and make appropriate corrections. While improving students' experience of online courses, it is also possible to improve students' learning efficiency, enthusiasm, academic performance, and mental health. During the COVID-19 pandemic, students with anxiety should also seek outside support during online study, such as reaching out to instructors or seeking psychological counseling (Ozbay et al., 2007).

LIMITATIONS

Some limitations should be acknowledged. Firstly, data were collected through online questionnaires on social platforms, leading to information bias and misclassification. Participants may not have provided accurate information, either included in the study or quickly completed the survey. Therefore, it is necessary to clean and filter the collected questionnaires, check the consistency and logicality of the answers, and adjust invalid and missing values. Due to the international students who participated in this study from the Internet, they did not complete it face-to-face. Secondly, due to the groups to which the questionnaire was collected, the number of international students in each region was not evenly distributed, hence affecting the overall results.

CONCLUSION

In conclusion, younger age, living in big cities, low frequency of socialization, the expectation of purely online teaching, and poor subjective experience of online courses were the risk factors for anxiety of these international students who studied online during the COVID-19 pandemic. To minimize the negative impacts of these risk factors of international students who studied online requires the joint efforts of the school and students. The school should provide psychological assistance to the corresponding groups in time and continuously upgrade the facilities to provide a better experience for online learning. At the same time, students should socialize and communicate more with their friends, trying to get more external support to relieve anxiety and stress.

DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

The original contributions presented in the study are included in the article/supplementary material, further inquiries can be directed to the corresponding author.

ETHICS STATEMENT

The studies involving human participants were reviewed and approved by Medical Ethics Committee, Xiangya Hospital, Central South University. The patients/participants provided their written informed consent to participate in this study.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

JK, YT, and ZW were responsible for the study design. YT was responsible for collecting the data. YT and JK were responsible for the explanation of the data, data analysis, and drafting the manuscript. XQ, YL, LP, YG, SL, JD, QT, JW, XP, JL, and MS were responsible for the revision of the manuscript. All authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

FUNDING

This research was supported by Education Reform Research Project of Central South University, No. 2020JY165.

REFERENCES

- Ahn, J., Lee, J., Hong, Y., Park, J., and Chung, S. (2021). Stress and anxiety to viral epidemics-6 for medical students: psychometric properties of the anxiety measure for the COVID-19 pandemic. *Front Psychiatry* 12:705805. doi: 10.3389/fpsyt.2021.705805
- Asmundson, G. J. G., and Taylor, S. (2020). How health anxiety influences responses to viral outbreaks like COVID-19: what all decision-makers, health authorities, and health care professionals need to know. J. Anxiety Disord. 71:102211. doi: 10.1016/j.janxdis.2020.102211
- Bandelow, B., and Michaelis, S. (2015). Epidemiology of anxiety disorders in the 21st century. *Dialogues Clin. Neurosci.* 17, 327–335. doi: 10.31887/ DCNS.2015.17.3/bbandelow
- Brenes, G. A. (2006). Age differences in the presentation of anxiety. Aging Ment. Health 10, 298–302. doi: 10.1080/13607860500409898
- Choi, E. P. H., Hui, B. P. H., and Wan, E. Y. F. (2020). Depression and anxiety in Hong Kong during COVID-19. Int. J. Environ. Res. Public Health 17:3740. doi: 10.3390/ijerph17103740
- David, D., Cotet, C., Matu, S., Mogoase, C., and Stefan, S. (2018). 50 years of rational-emotive and cognitive-behavioral therapy: a systematic review and meta-analysis. J. Clin. Psychol. 74, 304–318. doi: 10.1002/jclp.22514
- Dong, L., and Bouey, J. (2020). Public mental health crisis during COVID-19 pandemic, China. Emerg. Infect. Dis. 26, 1616–1618. doi: 10.3201/eid2607.200407
- Eseadi, C. (2019). Rational-emotive behavioral intervention helped patients with cancer and their caregivers to manage psychological distress and anxiety symptoms. World J. Clin. Oncol. 10, 62–66. doi: 10.5306/wjco.v10.i2.62
- Gao, J., Zheng, P., Jia, Y., Chen, H., Mao, Y., Chen, S., et al. (2020). Mental health problems and social media exposure during COVID-19 outbreak. *PLoS One* 15:e0231924. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0231924
- Gautreau, C. M., Sherry, S. B., Sherry, D. L., Birnie, K. A., Mackinnon, S. P., and Stewart, S. H. (2015). Does catastrophizing of bodily sensations maintain health-related anxiety? A 14-day daily diary study with longitudinal follow-up. *Behav. Cogn. Psychother.* 43, 502–512. doi: 10.1017/ s1352465814000150
- Gladstone, T. R., Rintell, L., Buchholz, K. R., and Myers, T. L. (2021). Adaptation of an evidence-based online depression prevention intervention for college students: intervention development and pilot study results. *Soc. Sci.* 10:398. doi: 10.3390/socsci10100398
- Gómez-Salgado, J., Andrés-Villas, M., Domínguez-Salas, S., Díaz-Milanés, D., and Ruiz-Frutos, C. (2020). Related health factors of psychological distress during the COVID-19 pandemic in Spain. *Int. J. Environ. Res. Public Health* 17:3947. doi: 10.3390/ijerph17113947
- González-Sanguino, C., Ausín, B., Castellanos, M., Saiz, J., López-Gómez, A., Ugidos, C., et al. (2020). Mental health consequences during the initial stage of the 2020 coronavirus pandemic (COVID-19) in Spain. *Brain Behav. Immun.* 87, 172–176. doi: 10.1016/j.bbi.2020.05.040
- Görgen, S. M., Hiller, W., and Witthöft, M. (2014). Health anxiety, cognitive coping, and emotion regulation: a latent variable approach. *Int. J. Behav. Med.* 21, 364–374. doi: 10.1007/s12529-013-9297-y
- Grecucci, A., Pappaianni, E., Siugzdaite, R., Theuninck, A., and Job, R. (2015). Mindful emotion regulation: exploring the neurocognitive mechanisms behind mindfulness. *Biomed. Res. Int.* 2015:670724. doi: 10.1155/2015/670724
- Guo, X., Meng, Z., Huang, G., Fan, J., Zhou, W., Ling, W., et al. (2016). Meta-analysis of the prevalence of anxiety disorders in mainland China from 2000 to 2015. *Sci. Rep.* 6:28033. doi: 10.1038/srep28033
- Hagger, M. S., Koch, S., Chatzisarantis, N. L. D., and Orbell, S. (2017). The common sense model of self-regulation: meta-analysis and test of a process model. *Psychol. Bull.* 143, 1117–1154. doi: 10.1037/bul0000118
- Han, X., Han, X., Luo, Q., Jacobs, S., and Jean-Baptiste, M. (2013). Report of a mental health survey among Chinese international students at Yale University. J. Am. Coll. Heal. 61, 1–8. doi: 10.1080/07448481.2012.738267
- Hartley, M. T. (2011). Examining the relationships between resilience, mental health, and academic persistence in undergraduate college students. J. Am. Coll. Heal. 59, 596–604. doi: 10.1080/07448481.2010.515632
- Hu, G., Rao, K., Hu, M., and Sur, Z. (2007). Preparing for and responding to public health emergencies in China: a focus group study. J. Public Health Policy 28, 185–195. doi: 10.1057/palgrave.jphp.3200130

- Huang, Y., and Zhao, N. (2020). Generalized anxiety disorder, depressive symptoms and sleep quality during COVID-19 outbreak in China: a webbased cross-sectional survey. *Psychiatry Res.* 288:112954. doi: 10.1016/j. psychres.2020.112954
- Jin, J., and Fung, S.-f. (2021). Social physique anxiety scale: psychometric evaluation and development of a Chinese adaptation. Int. J. Environ. Res. Public health 18:10921. doi: 10.3390/ijerph182010921
- Kamangar, F., and Islami, F. (2013). Sample size calculation for epidemiologic studies: principles and methods. Arch. Iran. Med. 16, 295–300.
- Kola, L. (2020). Global mental health and COVID-19. Lancet Psychiatry 7, 655-657. doi: 10.1016/s2215-0366(20)30235-2
- Liguori, E., and Winkler, C. (2020). From offline to online: challenges and opportunities for entrepreneurship education following the COVID-19 pandemic. *Entrepreneurship Educ. Pedagogy.* 3, 346–351. doi: 10.1177/2515127420916738
- Liu, Y., Guo, N., Li, T., Zhuang, W., and Jiang, H. (2020). Prevalence and associated factors of postpartum anxiety and depression symptoms among women in Shanghai. *China. J. Affect Disord.* 274, 848–856. doi: 10.1016/j. jad.2020.05.028
- Magson, N. R., Freeman, J. Y. A., Rapee, R. M., Richardson, C. E., Oar, E. L., and Fardouly, J. (2021). Risk and protective factors for prospective changes in adolescent mental health during the COVID-19 pandemic. J. Youth Adolesc. 50, 44–57. doi: 10.1007/s10964-020-01332-9
- Mirhosseini, S., Dadgari, A., Basirinezhad, M. H., Mohammadpourhodki, R., and Ebrahimi, H. (2020). The role of Hope to alleviate anxiety in COVID-19 outbreak among community dwellers: an online cross-sectional survey. *Ann. Acad. Med. Singap.* 49, 723–730. doi: 10.47102/annalsacadmedsg.2020341
- Mohamad, N. E., Sidik, S. M., Akhtari-Zavare, M., and Gani, N. A. (2021). The prevalence risk of anxiety and its associated factors among university students in Malaysia: a national cross-sectional study. *BMC Public Health* 21, 1–12. doi: 10.1186/s12889-021-10440-5
- Mukhtar, K., Javed, K., Arooj, M., and Sethi, A. (2020). Advantages, limitations and recommendations for online learning during COVID-19 pandemic era. *Pak. J. Med. Sci.* 36, S27–S31. doi: 10.12669/pjms.36.COVID19-S4.2785
- Ozamiz-Etxebarria, N., Dosil-Santamaria, M., Picaza-Gorrochategui, M., and Idoiaga-Mondragon, N. (2020). Stress, anxiety, and depression levels in the initial stage of the COVID-19 outbreak in a population sample in the northern Spain. *Cad. Saude Publica* 36:e00054020. doi: 10.1590/0102-311x00054020
- Ozbay, F., Johnson, D. C., Dimoulas, E., Morgan, C. A., Charney, D., and Southwick, S. (2007). Social support and resilience to stress: from neurobiology to clinical practice. *Psychiatry (Edgmont)* 4, 35–40.
- Park, C. H. K., Ju, G., Yi, K., Lee, S., Suh, S., and Chung, S. (2021). Application of stress and anxiety to viral epidemics-6 items (SAVE-6) to public workers for measuring their anxiety response during the COVID-19 pandemic. *Front. Psychiatry* 12:701543. doi: 10.3389/fpsyt.2021.701543
- Ren, Y., Qian, W., Li, Z., Liu, Z., Zhou, Y., Wang, R., et al. (2020). Public mental health under the long-term influence of COVID-19 in China: geographical and temporal distribution. J. Affect Disord. 277, 893–900. doi: 10.1016/j.jad.2020.08.045
- Salari, N., Hosseinian-Far, A., Jalali, R., Vaisi-Raygani, A., Rasoulpoor, S., Mohammadi, M., et al. (2020). Prevalence of stress, anxiety, depression among the general population during the COVID-19 pandemic: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Global Health* 16:57. doi: 10.1186/s12992-020-00589-w
- Schäfer, J., Naumann, E., Holmes, E. A., Tuschen-Caffier, B., and Samson, A. C. (2017). Emotion regulation strategies in depressive and anxiety symptoms in youth: a meta-analytic review. J. Youth Adolesc. 46, 261–276. doi: 10.1007/ s10964-016-0585-0
- Shen, D., Liu, D., Cai, M., Chen, P., Wang, Z., Zhang, Y., et al. (2021). Association between supportive attitude and adoptive practice of control strategy against COVID-19 amoung college students in China: a cross-sectional study. *BMC Public Health* 21, 1–8. doi: 10.1186/s12889-021-10752-6
- Wang, C. C., Andre, K., and Greenwood, K. M. (2015). Chinese students studying at Australian universities with specific reference to nursing students: a narrative literature review. *Nurse Educ. Today* 35, 609–619. doi: 10.1016/j.nedt.2014.12.005
- Wang, C., Pan, R., Wan, X., Tan, Y., Xu, L., Ho, C. S., et al. (2020). Immediate psychological responses and associated factors during the initial stage of the

2019 coronavirus disease (COVID-19) epidemic among the general population in China. *Int. J. Environ. Res. Public Health* 17:1729. doi: 10.3390/ ijerph17051729

- Wu, A., Maddula, V., Singh, J., Sagoo, M., Chien, C., Wingate, R., et al. (2021). Alternatives to student outbound mobility-improving students' cultural competency skills online to improve global health without travel. *Med. Sci. Educ.* 1-11, 1–11. doi: 10.1007/s40670-021-01332-9
- Wu, Y., Yu, W., Wu, X., Wan, H., Wang, Y., and Lu, G. (2020). Psychological resilience and positive coping styles among Chinese undergraduate students: a cross-sectional study. *BMC Psychol.* 8:79. doi: 10.1186/s40359-020-00444-y
- Xiong, J., Lipsitz, O., Nasri, F., Lui, L. M. W., Gill, H., Phan, L., et al. (2020). Impact of COVID-19 pandemic on mental health in the general population: a systematic review. J. Affect Disord. 277, 55–64. doi: 10.1016/j.jad.2020.08.001
- Yang, Y., Peng, F., Wang, R., Yange, M., Guan, K., Jiang, T., et al. (2020). The deadly coronaviruses: the 2003 SARS pandemic and the 2020 novel coronavirus epidemic in China. J. Autoimmun. 109:102434. doi: 10.1016/j.jaut.2020.102434
- Yoo, S., Lee, J., Ju, G., Lee, S., Suh, S., and Chung, S. (2021). The schoolteachers' version of the stress and anxiety to viral epidemics-9 (SAVE-9) scale for assessing stress and anxiety during the COVID-19 pandemic. *Front. Psychiatry* 12:712670. doi: 10.3389/fpsyt.2021.712670
- Yue, H., Bai, X., Wang, J., Yu, Q., Liu, W., Pu, J., et al. (2020). Clinical characteristics of coronavirus disease 2019 in Gansu province, China. Ann. Palliat. Med. 9, 1404–1412. doi: 10.21037/apm-20-887
- Zhang, X., Wen, D., Liang, J., and Lei, J. (2017). How the public uses social media wechat to obtain health information in china: a survey study. BMC Med. Inform. Decis. Mak. 17:66. doi: 10.1186/s12911-017-0470-0
- Zhao, L., Sznajder, K., Cheng, D., Wang, S., Cui, C., and Yang, X. (2021). Coping styles for mediating the effect of resilience on depression among medical students in web-based classes during the COVID-19 pandemic:

cross-sectional questionnaire study. J. Med. Internet Res. 23:e25259. doi: 10.2196/25259

- Zhou, H., Peng, J., Wang, D., Kou, L., Chen, F., Ye, M., et al. (2017). Mediating effect of coping styles on the association between psychological capital and psychological distress among Chinese nurses: a cross-sectional study. J. Psychiatr. Ment. Health Nurs. 24, 114–122. doi: 10.1111/jpm.12350
- Zimmermann, L., Unterbrink, T., Pfeifer, R., Wirsching, M., Rose, U., Stößel, U., et al. (2012). Mental health and patterns of work-related coping behaviour in a German sample of student teachers: a crosssectional study. *Int. Arch. Occup. Environ. Health* 85, 865–876. doi: 10.1007/s00420-011-0731-7

Conflict of Interest: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's Note: All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Copyright © 2022 Tan, Wu, Qu, Liu, Peng, Ge, Li, Du, Tang, Wang, Peng, Liao, Song and Kang. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.



Improving the Behavioral Intention of Continuous Online Learning Among Learners in Higher Education During COVID-19

Wei Xu¹, Zhi-Yi Shen^{1*}, Shi-Jia Lin¹ and Jia-Chen Chen²

¹ College of Educational Science and Technology, Zhejiang University of Technology, Hangzhou, China, ² College of Management, Zhejiang University of Technology, Hangzhou, China

The COVID-19 pandemic caused colleges and universities to rely heavily on online learning to continue knowledge dissemination to learners. This study used the secondgeneration model of unified theory of acceptance and use of technology (UTAUT2) to comprehensively analyze the mediating effects of self-efficacy, which affects learners' effective use of online tools for learning, and capability of metacognition and selfregulation, which can independently adjust learning progress into the UTAUT2 model, on the learner's willingness to continue online learning [i.e., their behavioral intention (BI)] by constructing a UTAUT2-based e-learning model. This study administered questionnaires to undergraduates in universities in East China to collect data. The effects of performance expectancy, effort expectancy (EE), social influence (SI), and facilitating conditions (FCs), hedonic motivation (HM), price value (PV), and habits on BI (directly or through mediators) were analyzed through data analysis and structural equation modeling, and the UTAUT2-based e-learning model was accordingly modified. The results indicated that the self-efficacy enhanced the effects of EE, SI, FCs, HM, and PV on learners' BI; that metacognition and self-regulation (MS) capabilities enhanced the effects of EE on learners' BI; and that habits had a direct and strong effect on BI. This study also provided some suggestions to enhance higher education learners' willingness to continue online learning, such as improving social recognition and support, careful design of teaching content, easy-to-use technology, financial support. These results and suggestions may guide colleges and universities in conducting, continuing, or enhancing online education, particularly as the pandemic continues.

Keywords: COVID-19, UTAUT2, online education, capability of metacognition and self-regulation, self-efficacy

INTRODUCTION

During the COVID-19 pandemic that commenced in 2020, online learning helped overcome the social distancing restrictions to ensure that educational activities at all levels and types of schools could proceed. Colleges and universities have been required to exploit the advantages of online learning and promote the integration of online and offline teaching (Zhong and Nan, 2021). The strict supervision of education departments can partly guarantee the quality of the course content and teaching implementation. Nevertheless, many challenges remain, such as low satisfaction

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

David Aparisi, University of Alicante, Spain

Reviewed by:

Urvashi Tandon, Chitkara University, India Muhammad Zulqarnain Arshad, Universiti Utara Malaysia, Malaysia

> *Correspondence: Zhi-Yi Shen shenzhiyi1018@163.com

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Educational Psychology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Psychology

Received: 19 January 2022 Accepted: 04 April 2022 Published: 26 April 2022

Citation:

Xu W, Shen Z-Y, Lin S-J and Chen J-C (2022) Improving the Behavioral Intention of Continuous Online Learning Among Learners in Higher Education During COVID-19. Front. Psychol. 13:857709. doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2022.857709

86

with online learning, low participation, low readiness for online learning, low attention input, and poor completion rates (Li Y.Y. et al., 2020; Li Y. et al., 2020; Wan et al., 2020; Li et al., 2021). Some scholars have argued that external and objective aspects, such as teachers' learning ability and teacher support, should be improved to enhance the learning outcomes of online teaching (Jia et al., 2021; Jing et al., 2021). However, irrespective of the optimization of external objective conditions, learners' willingness to accept online learning and their internal psychological willingness to continue online learning constitute the core internal drive that determines learning outcomes (Clay et al., 2008).

The unified theory of acceptance and use of technology (UTAUT) can be used to predict the learner's behavioral intention (BI) (Liu et al., 2007). The second-generation model of UTAUT (UTAUT2) has the highest explanatory power for the acceptance and continuous use of individual technology among the existing models (Venkatesh et al., 2012). Mittal et al. (2021) extended the UTAUT which can highlight the determinants of the adoption of online teaching during COVID-19 with three new constructs, namely facilitative leadership, regulatory support and project team capability. This study extended the UTAUT2 by incorporating self-efficacy (SE), which affects learners' effective use of online tools for learning, and the capability of metacognition and self-regulation (MS), which can independently influence learning progress, as mediating variables. This extended model is called the UTAUT2-based e-learning model.

Tandon et al. (2021) identified the facilitators and inhibitors for the adoption of e-learning for the undergraduate students by structural equation modeling (SEM), found that all the identified facilitators emerged significant except social influence (SI) and price value (PV), and technology risk emerged insignificant while all other inhibitors had significant impact on BI to adopt e-learning. Several researchers from different countries have explore the effectiveness and learners' perceptions of online learning in higher education during COVID-19 (Al-Karaki et al., 2021; Packmohr and Brink, 2021; Peimani and Kamalipour, 2021; Ranjan et al., 2021). The purpose of this study is to validate the UTAUT2-based e-learning model to comprehensively explore learners' intention to continue online learning during COVID-19 in China, which is different from the previous studies. This study used questionnaires to collect data and a structural equation model (SEM) to verify the results and make suggestions for improving the learners' willingness to continue online learning.

OVERVIEW OF UTAUT2

Development From Unified Theory of Acceptance and Use of Technology to UTAUT2

Venkatesh et al. (2003) comprehensively analyzed eight models and extracted four independent variables—performance expectancy (PE), effort expectancy (EE), SI, and facilitating conditions (FCs)—to predict the BI and user behavior of users' continuous use of certain technologies, thereby forming the UTAUT. Studies have explored various fields of technological application using diverse approaches, such as single model, model expansion, model combination, and model integration (Zhang et al., 2018). A meta-analysis of 161 studies published from 2007 to 2016, revealed that the four independent variables of the UTAUT had moderate or even low effect values on BI and user behavior (Han, 2017). Venkatesh et al. (2012), who first proposed the UTAUT, added three independent variables to construct the UTAUT2 model: hedonic motivation (HM), PV, and habits (**Figure 1**). Compared with the UTAUT, the explanatory power of BI increased from 56 to 74% and user behavior increased from 40 to 52% in UTAUT2, which is the highest among the existing models (Wong et al., 2013).

Related Studies on Unified Theory of Acceptance and Use of Technology and UTAUT2

The UTAUT can predict BI in ordinary individuals and in learners (Liu et al., 2007; Yang et al., 2014). **Table 1** provides a summary of related studies that employed the UTAUT model to predict BI of continued use for a technology or product.

Most studies have explored learners' BI for using a technology or product based on the UTAUT model, but few have used the UTAUT2 model. Furthermore, multiple studies have integrated other influencing factors associated with learners, such as SE, metacognition, and self-regulation. Online learning relies on various synchronous and asynchronous teaching technology tools to achieve time and space flexibility. Teachers must provide a learning space for independent learning and meet the needs of learners for personalized learning. Therefore, the effect of online learning is largely dependent on the learners' SE related to using technology tools and their ability for self-regulation.

RESEARCH DESIGN

Model Reconstruction

Rodgers et al. (2002) verified the beneficial effect of SE on BI by using confirmatory factor analysis. Shiau and Chau (2016) employed a multimodel comparison approach and revealed that SE positively affected the BI of learners using cloudcomputing classrooms. In addition, students have high SE and MS capabilities when learning online (Yuan, 2014). Chen and Hwang (2019) demonstrated that college students' willingness to use networks was indirectly influenced by MS capabilities.

Therefore, this study selected the UTAUT2 model, which has high explanatory power, and included SE and MS as the two mediating variables to explore their mediating effect on BI—that is, willingness of college learners to continue online learning. Considering that user behavior in the UTAUT2 model can be reflected by BI (Yang, 2016), this study considered BI as the independent variable. **Figure 2** presents the reconstructed UTAUT2-based e-learning model.

In the UTAUT2-based e-learning model, the independent variables affecting the willingness of college learners to continue



online learning were PE, EE, SI, FC, HM, PV, and habits; the mediating variables were SE and MS; and the relevant variables were gender, year of study, and experience.

Behavioral intention in this study was used to refer to the learners' willingness to continue online learning both during subsequent routine learning or emergency situations when they must remain at home after online learning during the pandemic period.

Performance expectancy refers to an individual's expectation that using a given technology would help improve their performance. In this study, PE was used to refer to the expectation of learners that online learning would improve their academic performance. The more the online learning meets their expectations, the stronger their BI is.

Effort expectancy refers to the difficulty of mastering a technology. In this study, EE was used to refer to the difficulty learners experience in mastering the use of online learning. When learners feel that technical problems in online learning can be addressed in a simple and rapid manner, BI is enhanced.

Social influence reflects the impact of others' beliefs or the external environment on an individual's willingness or behavior. In this study, SI was used to refer to the view of the learner's social group regarding the learner's online learning; if external factors are positive regarding the learner's choice to learn online, BI is enhanced.

Facilitating condition refers to the degree of support that individuals believe they receive in terms of organization and technological systems for their use of new technologies. In this study, FC was used to refer to the ability of learners to obtain guidance on objective conditions, such as resources, technologies, and tools, used to support their online learning. The stronger the perceived guidance and support is, the higher the BI is.

Hedonic motivation refers to the individual using technology that stimulates their intrinsic motivation to improve BI. In this

study, HM refers to the extent to which learners experience enjoyment during online learning. The more enjoyment they experience while learning, the stronger their BI is.

Price value refers to the trade-off between benefits and sacrifices. The stronger the BI is, the lower the monetary cost is for online learning and the greater the learning gain is.

Habits reflect the degree of automation of individual behavior. In this study, learners' repeated engagement in online learning behavior or the cultivation of habits related to online learning has a positive impact on BI.

Self-efficacy refers to the degree of confidence that individuals have in their skills to complete a certain task, which is a non-intellectual factor. In this study, the higher the SE is, the stronger learners' interest and motivation in online learning is for achieving learning goals, thus leading to higher BI.

MS refers to individuals' subjective judgment of their cognitive activity and ability to acquire knowledge and skills and clarify their learning paths during online learning to improve their BI.

Hypotheses

On the basis of the existing UTAUT2 model and related studies, this study proposed the following hypotheses:

- H1: The UTAUT2-based e-learning model would explain the learners' willingness to continue their online learning, and the factors would have significant effects on the dependent variable (BI).
- H2: The effects of the independent variables on the dependent variable (BI) would be enhanced through the mediating effect of SE.
- H3: The effects of the independent variables on the dependent variable (BI) would be enhanced through the mediating effect of MS.

TABLE 1 | Related studies.

References	Technology or product	Influencing factor
Wong et al., 2013	Interactive electronic whiteboard	PE, EE, SI, FC, and applicability of the UTAUT model
Yang et al., 2014	E-learning	PE, EE, SI, FC, and information technology adoption
Wang and Mao, 2016 Yang, 2016	MOOC MOOC	PE, EE, SI, and FC Intrinsic motivation, basic psychological demand factors (perceptual autonomy, perceptual ability, perceptual relationship), MOOC design factors (content quality, autonomy, social interaction), extrinsic motivation (perceptual usefulness), satisfaction, and expectation confirmation
Shiau and Chau, 2016	Cloud-computing classroom	Attitude, compatibility, SE, quality of cloud service, perceived behavioral control, perceived ease of use, perceived interest, perceived usefulness, result presentation, subjective specification, quality of applied service, and visibility
Raja Yusof et al., 2017	Real-time visualization system using radio-frequency identification	PE, EE, SI, and FC
Chen and Hwang, 2019	Online learning behavior	Metacognition and self-regulation, motivational self-regulation, PE, EE, and SI
He and Zhang, 2019	College students' English mobile learning	PE, EE, SI, and FC
Zeng, 2019	Mobile language learning	PE, EE, SI, FC, HM, PV, habits, experience, year of study, and major

Tools

The questionnaire (49 items) was divided into three parts: the first part (6 items) investigated the relevant variables of learners, namely gender, experience, year of study, and dependent variable BI; the second part (23 items) investigated seven independent variables in the UTAUT2 model (Venkatesh et al., 2012; Zeng, 2019); and the third part investigated learners' SE (8 items) and MS (12 items), with questions adapted from the motivated strategies for learning questionnaire developed by Pintrich et al. (1993). All items except those related to the relevant variables (gender, experience, and year of study) were measured using a 5-point Likert scale. All statistical analyses were conducted using SPSS v21.0 and SPSS AMOS for Windows v21.0 (IBM, Armonk, NY, United States).

DATA ANALYSIS AND RESULTS

Participant Information

Because of the widespread suspension of in-person classes in the universities in East China, online teaching has been



extensively promoted. Therefore, questionnaires were issued to 45 universities in East China from September to December 2020 through various channels. The inclusion criteria were undergraduate students (freshmen, sophomores, juniors, or seniors) aged 19–22 years; 566 valid questionnaires were retrieved (response rate: 89.8%).

Of them, 227 (40.1%) were from male learners and 339 (59.9%) from female learners. In terms of year of study, the distribution was comprehensive, with 173 freshmen (30.6%), 168 sophomores (29.7%), 179 juniors (31.6%), and 46 seniors (8.1%) responding to the questionnaire. The majors were widely distributed, including philosophy, economics, law, education, literature, science, engineering, agriculture, medicine, management, art, and historiography. Overall, the research sample was evenly distributed in terms of gender, year of study, and major; the sample can thus represent average university learners in East China.

Difference and Correlation

Analysis of Relevant Variables for Gender, Year of Study, and Experience

The Cronbach's alpha of variables in the questionnaire were shown as **Table 2**, which were all above 0.7, implying high confidence. The Kaiser–Meier–Olkin measure of sampling adequacy was 0.935, which is greater than 0.70, and the results of the Bartlett's test of sphericity was p < 0.01, indicating the favorable validity (Clark and Watson, 2019).

Differences in BI of different genders and learning experience were tested with an independent samples *t*-test. Significant difference were observed in BI to continue online learning among male and female learners (p = 0.000 < 0.01), and whether learners had experience with online learning resulted in significant differences in BI (p = 0.002 < 0.01; **Table 3**). ANOVA was used to examine the difference between the 4 years of study;

TABLE 2 | Reliability statistics.

Variables	Cronbach's alpha			
PE	0.877			
EE	0.899			
SI	0.896			
FC	0.918			
HM	0.851			
PV	0.896			
Habits	0.853			
BI	0.864			
SE	0.929			
MS	0.900			

no significant difference in BI was observed between the different years of study (p > 0.05).

Correlations Between Variables

Correlation refers to an association between two elements that cannot be explained directly (Liang et al., 2016). The results of the correlations between the variables in the UTAUT2-based e-learning model are presented in **Table 4**.

Correlation analysis revealed that PE, EE, SI, FC, HM, PV, habits, SE, and MS all had significant positive correlations with BI. Therefore, a multivariate analysis of these variables was performed using an SEM.

Model Inspection and Modification

Structural equation modeling is a key multivariate analysis tool; in structural equation modeling, the covariance matrix of variables is used to analyze correlation (Cheng, 2006). This study applied the maximum likelihood method to implement estimates of the relevant parameters of the UTATU2-based e-learning model (Figure 3).

Model Fit

Fitness indices are typically used to evaluate the appropriateness of an SEM. The model exhibits a favorable fit when 2/df is <3, root mean square error of approximation is <0.08, and fitness indices such as the goodness of fit index, adjusted goodness of fit index, normed fit index, incremental fit index, and comparative fit index are >0.9 (values of 0.8–0.9 are considered acceptable). According to the results in **Table 5**, this model exhibited a favorable fit.

Inspection of SEM

Under the influence of the relevant variables (gender, experience, and year of study), EE, SI, HM, PV, and habits had significant positive effects on BI, whereas PE and FC had no significant effect on BI (**Table 6**).

Mediating Effect

In addition to the effect of the seven variables in the UTAUT2 model on BI, SE and MS also have significant positive effects on BI. To assess the mediating effect of these two variables on BI, this study used the bootstrap method; **Table 7** presents the 14 paths.

Regarding SE's mediating effect, except for the EE–SE–BI and habits–SE–BI paths (p > 0.05), the interval range in other mediating paths did not contain 0 (p < 0.05), thus indicating the existence of a mediating path. In addition, the estimate value of 0.035 indicates that SE had the largest mediating effect on the association between SI and BI.

Regarding MS's mediating effect, except for the PE-MS-BI and PV-MS-BI paths (p > 0.05), the interval range in other

	t	df	Sig. (two	o-tailed)	Mean difference	Std. error diffe	erence	95% Confidence interval of the difference			
								Lower		Upper	
Gender	3.694	564	0.0	000	0.269	0.073		0.126		0.412	
Experience	3.254	113.545	0.0	002	0.360	0.111		0.141		0.579	
TABLE 4 C	orrelations	between va	ariables.								
	PE	I	EE	SI	FC	НМ	PV	Habits	SE	MS	BI
PE	1										
EE	0.287**		1								
SI	0.447**	0.3	366**	1							
FC	0.433**	0.3	302**	0.565**	1						
HM	0.296**	0.3	306**	0.383**	0.321**	1					
PV	0.331**	0.3	308**	0.412**	0.344**	0.511**	1				
Habits	0.202**	0.2	219**	0.214**	0.246**	0.496**	0.504**	1			
SE	0.474**	0.3	396**	0.605**	0.564**	0.494**	0.544**	0.370**	1		
MS	0.192**	0.2	258**	0.315**	0.301**	0.295**	0.238**	0.251**	0.256**	1	
BI	0.361**	0.3	380**	0.480**	0.428**	0.510**	0.533**	0.473**	0.560**	0.335**	1

**Correlation is significant at the 0.01 level (two-tailed)



mediating paths did not contain 0 (p < 0.05), thus indicating the existence of a mediating path. In addition, the estimate value of 0.015 indicates that MS had the largest mediating effect on the association between SI and BI.

Model Modification

Some paths in the null hypothesis model were false. EE, SI, HM, PV, and habits in the UTAUT2-based e-learning model had significant positive effects on BI, verifying the paths of EE \rightarrow BI, SI \rightarrow BI, HM \rightarrow BI, PV \rightarrow BI, and habits \rightarrow BI in the null hypothesis. PE and FC had no significant effect on BI, rejecting the paths of PE \rightarrow BI and CF \rightarrow BI. SE had a mediating effect in the association of PE, SI, FC, H M, and PV with BI, rejecting the paths of EE \rightarrow SE \rightarrow BI and habits \rightarrow SE \rightarrow BI in the null hypothesis. MS had a mediating effect in the association of EE, SI, FC, HM, and habits with BI, rejecting the paths of PE \rightarrow BI and Habits \rightarrow SE \rightarrow BI and PV \rightarrow BI \rightarrow BI and PV \rightarrow BI \rightarrow B

Thus, first modifications were applied to the null hypothesis model (i.e., the UTAUT2-based e-learning model; Figure 2), and the path coefficient of each existing path is marked on the relevant lines in Figure 4A. The effects of the independent

variables on the dependent variable had up to three branches. For example, the path coefficients of SI directly affecting BI was 0.098, of SI affecting BI through SE was 0.283, and of SI affecting BI through MS was 0.104. In comparison, SI had the greatest effect on BI through the mediation of SE. Similarly, EE had the greatest effect on BI through the mediation of MS, FC through the mediation of SE, HM through the mediation of SE, and PV through the mediation of SE; habits had the greatest effect on BI directly. The secondary modification to the model is presented in **Figure 4B**

DISCUSSION AND SUGGESTIONS

Attach Great Importance to the Educational Status of Online Learning and the Independent Initiative of Learners

The study results revealed that PE and FC in the UTAUT2 model had no effect on the learners' willingness to continue

TABLE 5 | Model fit.

Model	CMIN/df	GFI	AGFI	NFIDelta1	IFIDelta2	TLIRho2	CFI	RMSEA
Default model	1.702	0.887	0.872	0.895	0.954	0.949	0.953	0.035
Saturated model		1.000		1.000	1.000		1.000	
Independence model	14.894	0.185	0.151	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.157

online learning (BI), but the mediating effect of SE enhanced the significant effects of PE and FC on BI. The effectiveness of online learning should not be judged merely according to improvements in learning performance. The performance output of higher education is long-term work; colleges and universities should reexamine the function of online learning and focus on cultivating students' core qualities related to their personal and social development. Packmohr and Brink (2021) found that students during the pandemic were more critical of the effects on their learning success, and this could cause great pressure

TABLE 6 Inspection of SEM.									
Hypoth	pothetical relationship		Unstanda	ardized	Standardized	Label			
			Estimate	р	Estimate				
SE	\rightarrow	BI	0.106	0.026	0.132	True			
MS	\rightarrow	BI	0.102	0.014	0.096	True			
PE	\rightarrow	BI	0.029	0.489	0.031	False			
EE	\rightarrow	BI	0.070	0.019	0.094	True			
SI	\rightarrow	BI	0.098	0.016	0.135	True			
FC	\rightarrow	BI	0.039	0.246	0.057	False			
HM	\rightarrow	BI	0.140	0.009	0.141	True			
PV	\rightarrow	BI	0.168	***	0.188	True			
Habits	\rightarrow	BI	0.188	***	0.184	True			

Bold terms and values refer that p > 0.05 and there is no significant difference. ***p < 0.001.

TABLE 7 | Mediating effects of study variables.

Parameter (standardized)	Estimate	Lower	Upper	р
PE-SE-BI	0.017	0.001	0.048	0.038
EE-SE-BI	0.010	0.000	0.032	0.054
SI-SE-BI	0.035	0.001	0.084	0.044
FC-SE-BI	0.029	0.002	0.068	0.037
HM-SE-BI	0.017	0.002	0.049	0.032
PV-SE-BI	0.029	0.002	0.072	0.042
Habits-SE-BI	0.004	-0.007	0.027	0.350
PE-MS-BI	-0.003	-0.019	0.006	0.390
EE-MS-BI	0.011	0.002	0.031	0.012
SI-MS-BI	0.015	0.002	0.040	0.012
FC-MS-BI	0.014	0.002	0.034	0.011
HM-MS-BI	0.013	0.001	0.037	0.021
PV-MS-BI	-0.004	-0.024	0.008	0.383
Habits-MS-BI	0.013	0.002	0.039	0.020

Bold terms and values refer that p > 0.05 and there is no significant difference.

on learners making low PE. Thus PE had no significant effect on learners' BI.

The result that FC in the UTAUT2 model had no effect on the learners' willingness to continue online learning is consistent with Tandon et al. (2021), they found that technology risk as an inhibitor emerged insignificant. However, Al-Karaki et al. (2021) believed that technical needs were related to students' satisfaction and success in distance learning, absence of the proper infrastructure would hinder the operation especially in courses with hands-on components. This is related to the applicability of the model, which was originally applied in the commercial field, mainly to predict users' acceptance of new technologies (Venkatesh et al., 2003). Online learning is not a new concept, although various new technologies such as artificial intelligence and mixed reality are being studied by researchers and introduced in the educational field as online learning technology continues to evolve, the technical equipment that supports students in online learning is actually exceedingly simple from the perspective of knowledge dissemination. Thus FC had no significant effect on learners' BI. Online learning supports the bring your own device concept and diversified forms of knowledge dissemination and enables functions such as asynchronous distribution of resources and assignments; thus, online teaching can be realized in colleges and universities. For learners, online learning is easy to master without instructional materials, particularly for younger generation of learners who are digital natives.

Online learning cannot replace in-person teaching in colleges and universities, while during the COVID-19 it is a very good alternative solution to face-to-face approach (Al-Karaki et al., 2021). Improving academic performance is not the original intention of online learning, and advanced and expensive technical equipment cannot maintain learning enthusiasm over extended periods (Chen, 2021). The core of online learning is the careful design of teaching content, which front-line teachers are encouraged to explore scientifically and logically and to conduct on-demand teaching on the basis of learners' existing knowledge, enabling learners to leverage their strengths in online learning. In other words, when learners' SE is enhanced, PE and FC have a substantial effect on BI.

Lower Barriers to Learn Online and Stimulate Learners' Learning Motivation

As expected, EE, SI, HM, PV, and habits had a direct effect on BI, which were contrary to the results of Tandon et al. (2021), which showed that SI and PV did not emerge significant. Moreover, the significant effect of EE on BI was enhanced through the mediating effect of MS, and the effect of SI, HM, and PV on BI was enhanced through the mediation of SE. However, the



effect of habits on BI remained very strong without the mediation of SE and MS.

During the pandemic period, some educational institutions encouraged teachers to use popular teaching tools, including some commonly used social software (e.g., QQ and WeChat) to ensure learning could proceed. In addition, network communication companies have been cooperating with universities to reduce the costs associated with online learning, and each online learning platform also provides full technical support to ensure successful learning progress. Therefore, learners can engage in online learning without changing their habits, investing additional effort (EE), or incurring high costs (PV); this is vital because lower barriers would increase learners' BI to continue online learning. Before the pandemic, massive open online courses (MOOCs) were already changing people's traditional view of online teaching (SI), for online learning becoming students' preference that made the amalgamation of knowledge, human force (teacher) and technological force (Ranjan et al., 2021). Online learning is no longer the traditional form of non-formal education but a teaching form in which high-quality teaching resources are shared. Learners regard online learning as more enjoyable (HM) than face-to-face learning, thereby stimulating their learning motivation, which directly affects their BI.

Meanwhile, this study considered the added factors' mediating effect, that was the effect of EE on BI was higher under the mediating effect of MS than when EE affected BI directly. This result indicates that online learning through familiar technology enables learners to expend less effort and focus more on how to regulate themselves to adapt to the online learning process. The enhanced learning experience does not increase their cognitive load, thus promoting their willingness to continue online learning. Similarly, the effects of SI, HM, and PV on BI were enhanced through the mediating effect of SE. This result indicates that when the value of online learning is recognized by society, learners spend less on experiencing a pleasant online learning process and believe that they have adequate social support, learning energy, and financial means to complete online learning. Thus, learners' SE is improved, learning motivation is stimulated, and they are more willing to continue online learning in the future.

Stimulate Positive Public Opinion and Improve the Social Recognition of Online Learning

The results revealed that compared with the other independent variables, the mediating value of SE and MS on the effect of SI on BI was the largest (0.035 and 0.015, respectively). SI refers to the view of social groups around individuals on the learners' online learning. The external approach of learning drive involves effectively changing the learners' motivation from "teachers want you to learn" to "you yourself want to learn" (Wang et al., 2020).

The teaching content in college and university courses is closely linked to students' future employment. Therefore, higher education can be regarded as an economic behavior. To improve the quality of curriculum implementation, some studies have highlighted the necessity of enhancing the social and cultural environment of campuses (Chen and Miao, 2020). For positive public opinion regarding online learning, the public's beliefs, attitudes, and emotions regarding online learning should be improved (Xu and Zhang, 2008). General social recognition directly affects the training quality and employment rate of parttime postgraduates (Li X. et al., 2020).

Similarly, a positive attitude of the general public toward online learning can effectively improve the learners' BI. If society in general and elders in the family in particular recognize online learning as a formal type of learning, learners are more likely to realize their learning potential; this can be achieved by considering their capability of completing the complex tasks of online learning, improving their SE, or making an effort to regulate cognitive strategies to adapt to the progress of online learning to gain the praise of their elders (Cook and Ausubel, 1970). Therefore, compared with other independent variables, SI results in a greater increase in confidence related to online learning and expectation of future use of online learning through the mediating effects of SE and MS.

CONCLUSION

This study used a literature review and questionnaire survey and modified the UTAUT2 model to form the UTAUT2 e-learning

model to integrate the two mediating variables, SE and MS. By investigating the first round of online learning for undergraduates during the COVID-19 pandemic, the direct and mediating factors affecting learners' willingness to continue online learning (BI) were analyzed through data analysis and structural equation modeling; on the basis of the results, the UTAUT2-based e-learning model was modified.

The results indicated that SE enhanced the effects of EE, SI, FC, HM, and PV on learners' BI; that MS enhanced the effects of EE on learners' BI; and that habits have a direct and strong effect on BI. This study also provided some suggestions to enhance higher education learners' BI to continue online learning, which can serve as reference for colleges and universities to conduct, continue, or enhance online education, particularly as the pandemic continues.

This study had certain limitations. The UTAUT2 e-learning model was developed from the UTATU2 model, the discussion could only compared with the studies regarded to UTATU2 model. Meanwhile, the real thoughts of learners might be different with what examined in the questionnaire, thus more participants are needed to test the validity and accuracy of the UTAUT2 e-learning model. Future research can add different variables which may effect the learning willingness and behavior as mediating factors or dependent variables to innovate the model.

REFERENCES

- Al-Karaki, J. N., Ababneh, N., Hamid, Y., and Gawanmeh, A. (2021). Evaluating the effectiveness of distance learning in higher education during covid-19 global crisis: uae educators' perspectives. *Contemp. Educ. Technol.* 13, e311. doi: 10.30935/cedtech/10945
- Chen, M. Y. (2021). Deficiencies of school-enterprise cooperation in applied colleges and universities and ways to improve. *Modern Enterp.* 12, 166–167.
- Chen, P., and Hwang, G. (2019). An empirical examination of the effect of selfregulation and the unified theory of acceptance and use of technology (UTAUT) factors on the online learning behavioral intention of college students. *Asia Pac. J. Educ.* 39, 79–95. doi: 10.1080/02188791.2019.1575184
- Chen, Q., and Miao, Y. M. (2020). Research on university curriculum implementation process based on social embeddedness theory. *Chin. J. Syst. Sci.* 3, 65–69.
- Cheng, K. M. (2006). Characteristics and application of structural equation model. *Stat. Decis.* 10, 22–25.
- Clark, L. A., and Watson, D. (2019). Constructing validity: new developments in creating objective measuring instruments. *Psychol. Assess.* 31, 1412–1427. doi: 10.1037/pas0000626
- Clay, M. N., Rowland, S., and Packard, A. (2008). Improving undergraduate online retention through gated advisement and redundant communication. J. Coll. Stud. Retent. 10, 93–102. doi: 10.2190/CS.10.1.g

Cook, H., and Ausubel, D. P. (1970). Educational psychology: a cognitive view. Am. J. Psychol. 83, 497–498. doi: 10.2307/1421346

- Han, X. (2017). A meta-analysis of the UTAUT model: based on 10 years of research literature in China. *J. Intell.* 8, 150–174.
- He, H. M., and Zhang, H. (2019). A study of the influencing factors of college students' english mobile learning behavior based on unified theory of acceptance and use of technology. J. Southwest Univ. Sci. Technol. 26, 73–79.
- Jia, W. J., Huang, Y. Z., and Chen, W. Y. (2021). Online learning experience of college students: influencing factors and improvement strategies. J. High. Educ. 3, 60–69.

DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

The raw data supporting the conclusions of this article will be made available by the authors, without undue reservation.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

WX and Z-YS designed and carried out the research and conducted the data analysis and summary. S-JL and J-CC issued the questionnaires, conducted the research, and participated in the data analysis. All authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

FUNDING

This research was funded by the National Social Science Fund Youth Project (Grant No. 17CTQ050), Zhejiang University of Technology's 2021 first-class undergraduate course cultivation project "Teaching Micro Video Design and Development," and 2021 Zhejiang Provincial Teacher Education Innovation Experimental Zone Construction Project "Research on the Construction of Excellent Vocational Teachers' Practical Teaching Environment with Time-space Connection, Three Interconnections, and Virtual Reality Combination."

- Jing, Y. J., Li, X., and Jiang, X. (2021). Analysis of factors that influence behavioral intention to use online learning and enlightenment in the post COVID-19 education. *China Educ. Technol.* 6, 31–38.
- Li, S., Zheng, Q. H., and Wang, S. (2021). The relationship between online learning attention engagement characteristics and learning completion degree- analysis based on click stream data. *China Educ. Technol.* 2, 105–112.
- Li, X., Wei, Y. H., and Zhang, H. (2020). Rational examination on social recognition of part-time postgraduates and reflection on present institutional system: based on an analysis of public opinions on the equal right of employment of part-time postgraduates after graduation. *J. Graduate Educ.* 4, 20–26. doi: 10.19834/j.cnki. yjsjy2011.2020.04.04
- Li, Y. Y., Zhang, H. M., and Zhang, H. Z. (2020). Model construction and empirical test of college students' satisfaction with online learning during epidemic prevention and control period: based on the survey of 15 universities in Shanghai. Open Educ. Res. 4, 102–111. doi: 10.13966/j.cnki.kfjyyj.2020.04.012
- Li, Y., Chen, X. Y., Chen, Y. X., and Zhang, F. (2020). Investigation of college students' online learning experience during the pandemic and its enlightenment: taking Chu Kochen honors college, Zhejiang University as a sample. *Open Educ. Res.* 5, 60–70. doi: 10.13966/j.cnki.kfjyyj.2020.05.006
- Liang, J. Y., Feng, C. J., and Song, P. (2016). A survey on correlation analysis of big data. *Chin. J. Comput.* 1, 1–18.
- Liu, M., Kostiwa, Marchewka, J. T., Chang, L., and Kostiwa, K. (2007). An application of the utaut model for understanding student perceptions using course management software. *Nuclear Instrum. Methods Phys. Res.* 7:93. doi: 10.1016/j.nima.2008.11.125
- Mittal, A., Mantri, A., Tandon, U., and Dwivedi, Y. K. (2021). A unified perspective on the adoption of online teaching in higher education during the covid-19 pandemic. *Inform. Discov. Delivery* [ahead-of-print] doi: 10.1108/IDD-09-2020-0114
- Packmohr, S., and Brink, H. (2021). "Comparing Pre- and Intra-Covid-19 students' perception of the digitalization of higher education institutions," in *Proceedings of the Seventh International Conference on Higher Education Advances* (Valencia: Universitat Politecnica de Valencia). doi: 10.4995/HEAd21. 2021.13044

- Peimani, N., and Kamalipour, H. (2021). Online education and the COVID-19 outbreak: a case study of online teaching during lockdown. *Educ. Sci.* 11:72. doi: 10.3390/educsci11020072
- Pintrich, P., Smith, D., Garcia, T., and Mckeachie, W. (1993). Reliability and predictive-validity of the motivated strategies for learning questionnaire (mslq). *Educ. Psychol. Meas.* 53, 801–813. doi: 10.1177/001316449305300 3024
- Raja Yusof, R. J., Qazi, A., and Inayat, I. (2017). Student real-time visualization system in classroom using RFID based on UTAUT model. *Int. J. Inform. Learn. Technol.* 34, 274–288. doi: 10.1108/IJILT-03-2017-0018
- Ranjan, R., Jl López, Lal, K., Saxena, S., and Ranjan, S. (2021). Adopting a new hybrid force model: a survey during covid-19 in indian higher education. *Int. J. Emerging Technol. Learn.* 16:169. doi: 10.3991/ijet.v16i16.23371
- Rodgers, W. M., Hall, C. R., Blanchard, C. M., McAuley, E., and Munroe, K. J. (2002). Task and scheduling self-efficacy as predictors of exercise behavior. *Psychol. Health* 17, 405–416. doi: 10.1080/0887044022000004902
- Shiau, W., and Chau, P. Y. K. (2016). Understanding behavioral intention to use a cloud computing classroom: a multiple model comparison approach. *Inform. Manage.* 53, 355–365. doi: 10.1016/j.im.2015.10.004
- Tandon, U., Mittal, A., Bhandari, H., and Bansal, K. (2021). E-learning adoption by undergraduate architecture students: Facilitators and inhibitors. *Eng. Construct. Architec. Manage.* [ahead-of-print] doi: 10.1108/ECAM-05-2021-0376
- Venkatesh, V., Morris, M. G., Davis, G. B., and Davis, F. D. (2003). User acceptance of information technology: toward a unified view. *MIS Q.* 27, 425–478. doi: 10.2307/30036540
- Venkatesh, V., Thong, J. Y. L., and Xu, X. (2012). Consumer acceptance and use of information technology: extending the unified theory of acceptance and use of technology. *MIS Q.* 36, 157–178. doi: 10.2307/41410412
- Wan, K., Zheng, X. D., and Ren, Y. Q. (2020). Does large-scale online learning prepare: the thinking of online intelligent learning in the post-epidemic period. J. Distance Educ. 3, 105–112. doi: 10.15881/j.cnki.cn33-1304/g4.2020. 03.011
- Wang, F., Hao, X. J., Zhang, D., and Liu, H. (2020). Analysis of design and effect of external guidance strategy for internal drive of online learning. *E-educ. Res.* 08, 67–73. doi: 10.13811/j.cnki.eer.2020.08.009
- Wang, Q. Y., and Mao, H. B. (2016). An analysis of the factors that affect MOOC learning behavior based on UTAUT model. *E-educ. Res.* 06, 43–48. doi: 10. 13811/j.cnki.eer.2016.06.006

- Wong, K., Teo, T., and Russo, S. (2013). Interactive whiteboard acceptance: applicability of the UTAUT model to student teachers. Asia Pac. Educ. Res. 22, 1–10. doi: 10.1007/s40299-012-0001-9
- Xu, X., and Zhang, C. Z. (2008). Research on application and analysis of internetmediated public sentiment. *Inform. Sci.* 26, 1194–1200.
- Yang, G. F. (2016). Factors affecting the continued use of MOOC user behavior. Open Educ. Res. 1, 100–111. doi: 10.13966/j.cnki.kfjyyj.2016.01.012
- Yang, Q., Li, C. J., and Yan, Y. J. (2014). Impacting factors on university students' E-learning adoption intention based on UTAUT model. *Sci. Technol. Industry* 6, 68–73.
- Yuan, X. (2014). The Effect of College Students' Online Motivational Beliefs on Engagement and Metacognitive Regulation: the Mediation effects of Motivational Regulation. Master's thesis. Wuhan: Central China Normal University.
- Zeng, J. (2019). A study on user acceptance of mobile-assisted language learning based on UTAUT2. *Technol. Enhanced For. Lang. Educ.* 6, 16–24.
- Zhang, Y., Xu, Y. L., Cheng, H. P., and Jin, L. (2018). Analysis on the current status of empirical study on the adoption of IT/IS by applying UTAUT model in China. J. Modern Inform. 38, 123–129.
- Zhong, B. L., and Nan, X. P. (2021). Overall reflections on the development of China's higher education in the post- pandemic era. *Educ. Res.* 5, 108–116.

Conflict of Interest: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's Note: All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Copyright © 2022 Xu, Shen, Lin and Chen. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.



Fear and Challenges of Nursing Students Being in Hospital for Clinical Posting During the COVID-19 Pandemic: An Exploratory Survey

Nimarta Rana[†], Nipin Kalal^{*†} and Suresh K. Sharma[†]

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

David Aparisi, University of Alicante, Spain

Reviewed by:

Ivan Herrera-Peco, Alfonso X El Sabio University, Spain Ali A. Abdulkareem, University of Baghdad, Iraq

*Correspondence:

Nipin Kalal kalalnipin@gmail.com

[†]ORCID

Nimarta Rana orcid.org/0000-0001-8615-0816 Nipin Kalal orcid.org/0000-0002-1392-1787 Suresh K. Sharma orcid.org/0000-0003-1214-8865

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Psychology for Clinical Settings, a section of the journal Frontiers in Psychology

Received: 01 February 2022 Accepted: 23 March 2022 Published: 09 May 2022

Citation:

Rana N, Kalal N and Sharma SK (2022) Fear and Challenges of Nursing Students Being in Hospital for Clinical Posting During the COVID-19 Pandemic: An Exploratory Survey. Front. Psychol. 13:867606. doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2022.867606 College of Nursing, All India Institute of Medical Sciences Jodhpur, Jodhpur, India

Background: The world is facing unprecedented challenges in the face of a global pandemic (COVID-19). The institutions resumed nursing students' clinical experiences as an earlier part of their curriculum, which was transitioned to a virtually delivered format due to global disaster. Therefore, working through this pandemic in hospital posting is challenging and fearful for nursing students. The aim of this study was to measure the fear of COVID-19 and the challenges faced by nursing students when posted in hospitals during the COVID-19 pandemic.

Methods: A web-based exploratory survey was conducted on 185 participants from March 2021 to April 2021. Participants were selected through a web-based survey (Google form) by non-probability purposive sampling technique. The Fear of COVID-19 Scale and self-structured questionnaires with the Likert-type scale were used to measure the fear of COVID-19 and the challenges faced by nursing students when posted in hospitals during the COVID-19 pandemic, respectively. Descriptive and inferential statistics were used for the analysis of data with IBM SPSS version 27.

Results: A significant number (61.1%) of participants had moderate fear of COVID-19 infection, one-third of them (28.1%) had mild fear, and very few participants (10.8%) had an extreme fear of COVID-19 infection. The majority of participants (64.9%) faced moderate challenges, 27% faced high challenges, and very few study participants (8.1%) did not face any challenges when posted in the hospital during the COVID-19 pandemic. The fear due to COVID-19 is not associated with demographic variables, but the challenges faced due to COVID-19 are significantly associated with demographic variables, variables, such as the age, batch, and duration of clinical posting (*p*-value = 0.01).

Conclusion: Study data indicated that respondents reported fear of COVID-19 infection and also experienced a variety of challenges in hospital posting during the COVID-19 pandemic.

Keywords: challenges, clinical posting, COVID-19 pandemic, fear, hospital, nursing students

INTRODUCTION

The nationwide coronavirus (COVID-19) pandemic and the ensuing lockdown have forced schools and institutions across India to temporarily shut down to prevent the spread of the virus. This unprecedented move had created a big gap in the education system despite the central and state governments doing their best to provide support for e-learning and online education. The crisis in the world scenario, caused by COVID-19, has demanded prompt changes in the way of teaching in institutions. Several institutions in the country started online education to help students to continue their education from home (Dewart et al., 2020).

Consequently, the pandemic has elicited significant distractions in the implementation of programs across educational institutions, and the most affected are the students (De Los Santos et al., 2021). The disruption of education for nursing students had been unanticipated by the students (Aslan and Pekince, 2021). In addition, nursing students also retracted from a clinical practicum in March 2020, specifically because of the possibility that a nursing student, who was an asymptomatic or mildly symptomatic carrier of COVID-19, could return to their community and spread the infection further. If nursing students were exposed to COVID-19 in a clinical environment, they put not only their health at risk but also the health of their families (Dewart et al., 2020). Lira et al. (2020) performed a reflection analysis using a theoretical approach in which they explored the challenges and perspectives of nursing education in times of the COVID-19 pandemic. Long-standing problems have arisen as a result of the pandemic, and the processes of acceleration, change, and paralysis have marked education in these times (Lira et al., 2020). De Los Santos et al. (2021) conducted a cross-sectional study on fear of COVID-19, poor quality of sleep, irritability, and intention to quit school among nursing students. According to the results of the report, first-year nursing students are the most fearful of the group.

Fear of COVID-19 is linked to high irritability, poor sleep quality, and a desire to drop out of nursing school. As we all know, the COVID-19 vaccination drive is currently taking place across the world. In addition, the institutions restored nursing students' clinical experiences as an earlier part of their curriculum, which was transitioned to a virtually delivered format due to the global disaster, the COVID-19 pandemic. Thus, working through this pandemic in hospital clinical posting is challenging and fearful for nursing students because of the fear of contracting the disease and the risk of transmitting it.

Nursing students, without a doubt, become familiar with quickly adjusting, routing through areas, and moving promptly from one challenge to the next. Working through a pandemic has changed all aspects of the general population's lives as well as of nursing students.

Hence, this study was conducted to assess the fear of COVID-19 and the challenges faced by nursing students being in hospital for clinical posting during the COVID-19 epoch. TABLE 1 | Frequency and percentage distribution of demographic variables.

Variables	Frequency (%)
Age	
\leq 20 Years	65 (35.1)
\geq 21 Years	120 (64.9)
Batch	
Fresher (1st Year)	45 (24.3)
Intermediate (2nd and 3rd Year)	96 (51.9)
Interns (4th Year)	44 (23.8)
Religion	
Hindu	181 (97.8)
Others (Muslim/Sikh)	04 (2.20)
Did you ever had history of COVID-19 i	nfection?
Yes	18 (9.70)
No	167 (90.3)
Did any of your family member had CO	VID-19 infection?
Yes	10 (5.4)
No	175 (94.6)
Duration of clinical posting during COV	/ID-19 pandemic
\leq 2 Week	132 (71.40)
\geq 3 Week	53 (28.60)

N = 185.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Research Design

A web exploratory survey was conducted to find out the fear and challenges of nursing students being in hospital for clinical posting during the COVID-19 pandemic.

Setting and Data Collection

The study was conducted among undergraduate nursing students in March 2021 in western Rajasthan, India. The study aimed to measure the fear of COVID-19 and challenges faced by nursing students when posted in hospitals during the COVID-19 pandemic. The survey link was forwarded to participants *via* WhatsApp. The researcher followed up on the status of data collection a week after the survey link was delivered.

Participants

The sample size was estimated by using Slovin's formula: $n = N/(1 + Ne^2)$, where n is the number of samples, N is the population size (total students: 255), and e is the margin of error of 5%, with 95% CI, and the minimum estimated sample size needed is 154. After considering the withdrawn participants, 20% of preliminary participants, approximately 185 subjects, were enrolled in the study. The students were recruited *via* a non-probability purposive sampling technique following the inclusion criteria, where only undergraduate students who have consented to participate were included in the study. A survey link (Google form) was shared and circulated among participants *via* a WhatsApp group to facilitate data collection. Duplication of data was restricted since one student can submit the response through only one e-mail ID.

TABLE 2 | Participants' fear related to COVID-19.

Fear of COVID-19 Items	Strongly disagree Freq. (%)	Disagree Freq. (%)	Neutral Freq. (%)	Agree Freq. (%)	Strongly agree Freq. (%)
I am afraid of coronavirus-19	12 (6.49)	39 (21.09)	40 (21.62)	80 (43.25)	14 (7.57)
It makes me uncomfortable to think about coronavirus-19	16 (8.65)	46 (24.87)	50 (27.02)	67 (36.21)	06 (3.25)
My hands become cold and clammy when I think about coronavirus-19	34 (18.38)	80 (43.25)	35 (18.91)	33 (17.84)	03 (1.63)
I am afraid of losing my life because of coronavirus-19	29 (15.68)	66 (35.68)	39 (21.08)	42 (22.70)	09 (4.87)
When I watch news and stories about Corona Virus, I become nervous or anxious	15 (8.10)	44 (23.79)	42 (22.70)	73 (39.45)	11 (5.95)
I cannot sleep because I'm worried about getting COVID-19	52 (28.10)	92 (49.73)	27 (14.60)	13 (7.03)	01 (0.55)
My heart races or palpitates when I think about getting COVID-19	41 (22.17)	77 (41.63)	33 (17.84)	31 (16.76)	03 (1.63)
Mean (SD) of total score: Fear of COVID-19	18.78 (5.58)				
Level of fear related to COVID-19	Mild fear score (7–15)	Moderate fea	ır score (16–25)	Extreme fear s	score (26–35)
	52 (28.1)	113 (61.1)		20 (10.8)	

N = 185.

TABLE 3 | Participants' challenges faced due to COVID-19.

Challenges faced due to COVID-19 statements	Never Freq. (%)	Sometimes Freq. (%)	Always Freq. (%)
Problem in carrying out assessment and care of patients because of constant fear of infection	32 (17.3)	102 (55.1)	51 (27.6)
Difficulty in continue handling of personal protective equipment (PPE)	10 (5.4)	37 (20.0)	138 (74.6)
Hindrance in interaction and communication because of facemask/PPE	15 (8.1)	107 (57.8)	63 (34.1)
Skin irritation/problem because of frequent use of hand rub and hand washing	32 (17.3)	106 (57.3)	47 (25.4)
Issues in handling of patients' records and clinical assignments due to fear of contracting infection	31 (16.8)	105 (56.8)	49 (26.5)
Dealing with continue stress, fear and mental exhaustion due to COVID-19 pandemic	67 (36.2)	91 (49.2)	27 (14.6)
Ineffective clinical skill learning due to fear of COVID- 19 infection and limited clinical exposure	27 (14.6)	109 (58.9)	49 (26.5)
Lack of effective clinical supervision by teachers due to fear of contracting infection	83 (44.9)	79 (42.7)	23 (12.4)
Difficulty in completing clinical assignments like case study, case presentation and nursing care plan	16 (8.6)	62 (33.5)	107 (57.8)
Problem in counseling patients and family due to fear of infection	32 (17.3)	104 (56.2)	49 (26.5)
Mean (SD) of total score: Challenges faced due to COVID-19	21.39 (3.6)		
Level of challenges faced due to COVID-19	Low challenges	Moderate	High challenges
	score (10-16)	challenges score (17–23)	score (24–30)
	15 (8.1)	120 (64.9)	50 (27.0)

N = 185.

Data Collection Instruments

Three questionnaires section were used to assess the main variables of the study.

Part I: Demographic Variables

The first questionnaire includes 6 items related to the demographic variables of the respondents: age, batch, religion, history of COVID-19 infection, family history of COVID-19 infection, and duration of clinical posting in the pandemic.

Part II

The fear of COVID-19 was assessed using the Fear of COVID-19 Scale by Ahorsu et al. (2020). The participants

indicated their level of agreement with the statements. It has a list of seven items on a five-item Likert-type scale. Answers included "strongly disagree," "disagree," "neutral," "agree," and "strongly agree." The minimum score possible for each question is 1, while the maximum is 5. A total score could be calculated by adding up each item's score (ranging from 7 to 35). The scale has composite reliability of 0.88, which indicates good reliability in measuring the fear construct.

Part III

The third section intended to measure the challenges faced by nursing students when posted in hospitals during the COVID-19 pandemic. The tool was prepared after conducting TABLE 4 | Independent t-test and ANOVA for association of fear and challenges due to COVID-19 with demographic variables among participants.

Demographic characteristics		Fear of COVID-19		Challenges faced due to COVID-19				
	$\text{Mean} \pm \text{SD}$	t-value/F-value	<i>p</i> -value	$\text{Mean} \pm \text{SD}$	t-value/F-value	<i>p</i> -value		
Age								
≤20 Years	18.32 ± 4.37	0.921	0.35	20.46 ± 3.77	2.255*	0.01*		
\geq 21 Years	19.04 ± 6.14			21.90 ± 3.42				
Batch								
Fresher (1st Year)	18.04 ± 4.25	1.25	0.28	20.08 ± 3.63	4.34*	0.01*		
Intermediate (2nd and 3rd Year)	18.64 ± 6.05			21.65 ± 3.72				
Interns (4th Year)	19.86 ± 5.65			22.15 ± 2.98				
Religion								
Hindu	18.82 ± 5.63	1.414	0.22	21.38 ± 3.62	0.386	0.72		
Others (Muslim/Sikh)	17.25 ± 2.06			22.00 ± 3.16				
Did you ever had history of COVID	-19 infection?							
Yes	18.87 ± 5.67	0.742	0.46	21.38 ± 3.68	0.162	0.87		
No	18.00 ± 4.63			21.50 ± 2.81				
Did any of your family member had	d COVID-19 infection	1?						
Yes	18.74 ± 5.50	0.377	0.71	21.41 ± 3.62	0.383	0.71		
No	19.60 ± 7.07			21.00 ± 3.33				
Duration of clinical posting during	COVID-19 pandemi	C						
≤2 Week	18.43 ± 5.42	1.329	0.18	20.97 ± 3.56	2.532*	0.01*		
≥3 Week	19.67 ± 5.90			22.43 ± 3.52				

N=185.

*Significant (p < 0.05).

three focussed group discussions (FGD) of 15–20 min with undergraduate students of different batches. This scale was validated by experts and found to be 80% reliable with Cronbach's $\alpha = 0.81$. The content validity ratio (CVR) for the scale was 0.89, showing an acceptable level of internal consistency of the scale. It has a list of 10 items on a three-item Likerttype scale. Answers included "always," "sometimes," and "never." The minimum score possible for each question is 1, and the maximum is 3. A total score could be calculated by adding up each item's score (ranging from 10 to 30). The higher the scores interpreted, the higher the challenges faced by nursing students. The score given for the "always" response will be 3, the "sometimes" response will be 2, and the "never" response will be 1. The total score could be calculated by adding up each score (ranging from 10 to 30).

Data Analysis

SPSS version 27, IBM Corp., Armonk, NY, United States was used to aid in the analysis of the variables. The data were analyzed using both descriptive and inferential statistics. Frequency and percentage were calculated for demographic variables, fear, and challenges. Mean and standard deviation was considered for the assessment of fear and challenges due to COVID-19 in all domains. The normality of the data was checked with the help of Kolmogorov-Smirnov. It was found that data are normally distributed. An independent *t*-test and ANOVA tests were used to find the association of demographic variables with fear and challenges due to COVID-19 among participants. The data significance was set to less than 0.05.

RESULTS

Table 1 displays the demographic variables of study participants. A total of 185 participants participated in the study. A majority of the participants [120 (64.9%)] were aged more than 21 years, and one-third of them [65 (35.1%)] were aged less than 20 years. The maximum numbers of participants [96 (51.9%)] were from the Intermediate level (second year and third year) and around half of the study participants [45 (24.3%) and 44 (23.8%)] were freshman (first year) and interns (fourth Year), respectively. In regard to religion, the maximum number of participants were Hindu [181 (97.8%)] and only few participants [4 (2.2%)] were from other religions (Muslim/Sikh). The maximum number of participants [167 (90.3%)] had no history of COVID-19 infection and only few participants [18 (9.7%)] had a history of infection with COVID-19. The maximum number of participants' [175 (94.6%)] family members had no COVID-19 infection and only a few participants' [10 (5.4%)] family members had COVID-19 infection. The of study participants, 132 (71.4%), had 2 weeks of clinical posting during the COVID-19 pandemic and less than half of the participants, 53 (28.6%), had 3 weeks of clinical posting during the COVID-19 pandemic.

Table 2 depicts the fear of participants related to COVID-19; more than half [113 (61.1%)] of the study participants have a moderate fear of COVID-19 infection, one-third of study participants [52 (28.1%)] have mild fear, and only a few participants [20 (10.8%)] have an extreme fear of COVID-19 infection. The mean score (*SD*) of fear of COVID-19 was 18.78 (5.58). **Table 3** presents the challenges faced by participants due to COVID-19, with the majority of study participants [120 (64.9%)] having faced moderate challenges due to the COVID-19 pandemic, one-third of them [50 (27%)] having faced high challenges, and few study participants [15 (8.1%)] having faced no challenges when posted in hospital due to the COVID-19 pandemic. The mean score (*SD*) of challenges faced due to COVID-19 was 21.39 (3.6).

Table 4 depicts the association of fear and challenges due to COVID-19 with demographic variables among the study participants, that is, age, batch, religion, history of infection with COVID-19, history of family member infection with COVID-19, duration of clinical posting during COVID-19 pandemic. It was found that fear due to COVID-19 is not significantly associated with these demographic variables, while age, batch, and duration of clinical posting were found to be significantly associated with the challenges faced due to COVID-19 (*p*-value = 0.01).

DISCUSSION

The primary purpose of this study was to find out the fear and challenges of nursing students being in hospital for clinical posting during the COVID-19 pandemic. In this study, we found that a significant number of study participants, 113 (61.1%), had moderate fear of COVID-19 infection, similar findings have been reported for other studies where it was determined that 68.1% of students were worried about being infected with COVID-19 (Aslan and Pekince, 2021).

Another consideration is the finding of Huang et al. (2020) who found that nurses at the frontline exhibit stronger anxiety, fear, sadness, and anger than nursing students. In one study, four predictors for the fear of the coronavirus, i.e., health anxiety, regular media use, social media use, and risks for loved ones, were reported, which are similar to the findings of the present study, and 84 (45.4%) participants of that study agreed to becoming nervous or anxious when they watched news and stories about COVID-19 (Mertens et al., 2020).

De Los Santos et al. (2021) revealed in their study results that there is a moderate to high fear of COVID-19 among students across all year levels. Notably, the first-year students displayed the greatest fear among the group (M = 21.47, SD = 6.49). It was also revealed that fear of COVID-19 negatively affects the students' sleep quality ($\beta = -0.124$, p = 0.045) (De Los Santos et al., 2021). In the present study, the majority of the study participants, 120 (64.9%), faced challenges due to the COVID-19 pandemic, which was replicated in a similar study, which found that longstanding challenges have emerged with the pandemic, and the processes of acceleration, change, and paralysis have marked education in these times (Lira et al., 2020).

The findings of the present study are also similar to a study conducted in China, which found that healthcare providers were challenged by working in a totally new context, exhaustion due to heavy workloads and protective gear, fear of becoming infected and infecting others, feeling powerless to handle patients' conditions, and managing relationships in this stressful situation (Liu et al., 2020).

Our study findings which explicate that increasingly watching news and stories about COVID-19 is related to fear of COVID-19 is replicated in a similar study in which they found that more media exposure is related to more fear (Van den Bulck and Custers, 2009; Garfin et al., 2020). Galehdar et al. (2020) revealed the fear and challenges of nursing students through their qualitative data analysis, that is, death anxiety, anxiety due to the nature of the disease, fear of infecting the family, distress about wastingtime, the emotional distress of delivering bad news, fear of being contaminated, the emergence of obsessive thoughts, the bad feeling of wearing personal protective equipment, which is similar to the finding of the current study, that is, 138 (74.6%) participant faced challenges due to difficulty in continue handling of personal protective equipment (PPE), and participants [84 (45.4%)] becoming nervous or anxious when they watch news and stories about COVID-19.

STUDY LIMITATIONS

This study has several limitations. Generalizability issues are also raised because of the limited sample of participants included. The study was limited to one institution. The study was limited only to female students, and data were collected after 2–4 weeks of clinical posting during the COVID-19 pandemic. Data were collected through a web survey.

RECOMMENDATIONS

Future researchers are encouraged to gather a bigger sample size to derive more generalized findings. A qualitative assessment of fear and challenges faced by nursing students during the COVID-19 pandemic and its implication on their mental health may be useful to augment and better describe their lived experience with the COVID-19 pandemic.

CONCLUSION

This study revealed that a significant number of nursing students had moderate fear and faced challenges due to the COVID-19 pandemic while being in hospital for clinical posting. The demographic variables such as age, batch, and duration of clinical posting were found to be significantly associated with the challenges faced due to COVID-19. COVID-19 is not going to end soon as per the existing scenario, so we require innovative stratagems or plans for nursing students in this critical time, where fear and challenges faced by students can be prevented.

DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

The original contributions presented in the study are included in the article/supplementary material, further inquiries can be directed to the corresponding author.

ETHICS STATEMENT

The studies involving human participants were reviewed and approved by Institutional Ethical Committee AIIMS Jodhpur. Undergraduate students and who have consented to participate were included in the study. The patients/participants provided their written informed consent to participate in this study.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

NR considered and designed the study, conducted research, provided research materials, and collected and organized data. SS

REFERENCES

- Ahorsu, D. K., Lin, C. Y., Imani, V., Saffari, M., Griffiths, M. D., and Pakpour, A. H. (2020). The Fear of COVID-19 Scale: development and Initial validation. *Int. J. Ment. Health Addict.* 27, 1–9. doi: 10.1007/s11469-020-00270-8
- Aslan, H., and Pekince, H. (2021). Nursing students' views on the COVID-19 pandemic and their percieved stress levels. *Perspect. Psychiatr. Care* 57, 695–701. doi: 10.1111/ppc.12597
- De Los Santos, J. A. A., Labrague, L. J., and Falguera, C. C. (2021). Fear of COVID-19, poor quality of sleep, irritability, and intention to quit school among nursing students: a cross-sectional study. *Perspect. Psychiatr. Care* 58, 71–78. doi: 10. 1111/ppc.12781
- Dewart, G., Corcoran, L., Thirsk, L., and Petrovic, K. (2020). Nursing education in a pandemic: academic challenges in response to COVID-19. *Nurse Educ. Today* 92:104471. doi: 10.1016/j.nedt.2020.104471
- Galehdar, N., Kamran, A., Toulabi, T., and Heydari, H. (2020). Exploring nurses' experiences of psychological distress during care of patients with COVID-19: a qualitative study. *BMC Psychiatry* 20:489. doi: 10.1186/s12888-020-02898-1
- Garfin, D. R., Silver, R. C., and Holman, E. A. (2020). The novel coronavirus (COVID-2019) outbreak: amplification of public health consequences by media exposure. *Health Psychol.* 39, 355–357. doi: 10.1037/hea0000875
- Huang, L., Lei, W., Xu, F., Liu, H., and Yu, L. (2020). Emotional responses and coping strategies in nurses and nursing students during Covid-19 outbreak: a comparative study. *PLoS One* 15:e0237303. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0237303
- Lira, A. L. B. C., Adamy, E. K., Teixeira, E., and Silva, F. V. D. (2020). Nursing education: challenges and perspectives in times of the COVID-19 pandemic. *Rev. Bras. Enferm.* 73(Suppl. 2):e20200683 doi: 10.1590/0034-7167-2020-0683

analyzed and interpreted data and did the final editing. NK wrote the initial and final draft of the manuscript and provided logistic support. All authors have critically reviewed and approved the final draft and are responsible for the content and similarity index of the manuscript.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

We are thankful to the institutional ethical committee for approval for conducting the research study and to the nursing students who have participated in this study.

- Liu, Q., Luo, D., Haase, J. E., Guo, Q., Wang, X. Q., Liu, S., et al. (2020). The experiences of health-care providers during the COVID-19 crisis in China: a qualitative study. *Lancet Glob. Health* 8, e790–e798. doi: 10.1016/S2214-109X(20)30204-7
- Mertens, G., Gerritsen, L., Duijndam, S., Salemink, E., and Engelhard, I. M. (2020). Fear of the coronavirus (COVID-19): predictors in an online study conducted in March 2020. J. Anxiety Disord. 74:102258. doi: 10.1016/j.janxdis.2020.102258
- Van den Bulck, J., and Custers, K. (2009). Television exposure is related to fear of avian flu, an Ecological Study across 23 member states of the European Union. *Eur. J. Public Health* 19, 370–374. doi: 10.1093/eurpub/ckp061

Conflict of Interest: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's Note: All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Copyright © 2022 Rana, Kalal and Sharma. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.



Effects of Water, Sanitation, and Hygiene on the School Absenteeism of Basic Level Students in the Government School of Nepal

Mohan Kumar Sharma1* and Ramesh Adhikari2

¹ Health Education Department, Faculty of Education (FOE), Graduate School of Education (GSE), Tribhuvan University, Kirtipur, Nepal, ² Geography and Population Department, Tribhuvan University, Kirtipur, Nepal

This study assesses the effect of improved water, sanitation, and hygiene (WASH) services on students' absenteeism in government basic schools for 10-19 years old in Nepal. This study applied an ex post facto research design on two groups of students: with and without improved school WASH services. This study showed that students in schools with improved WASH services were more likely to be regular in attendance (80%) compared to those without (58%), p < 0.001. There was an association between students' school absenteeism and student grades, p < 0.05. Moreover, the caste, religion, and grades of students were also associated with students' school absenteeism, p < 0.001. The analysis further showed that students with improved WASH were more likely to be regular [crude odds ratios (COR) = 0.353; 95% confidence interval (CI); 0.256–0.487, p < 0.001] than those without. This trend was maintained across all demographics. It was significant even after the inclusion of all sociodemographic characteristics and increased rapidly [adjusted odds ratio (AOR) = 0.508; 95% CI; 0.334–0.773, p < 0.01]. The Brahmin/Chhetri-Terai and the Dalit students were more likely to be absent (COR = 0.315; 95% CI; 0.153-0.648, p < 0.01and AOR = 0.274; 95% CI; 0.139-0.542, p < 0.001, respectively) than Brahmin/Chhetri-Hill, Janajati, and other castes. This study underscores the importance of WASH services in schools in reducing students' school absenteeism. Access to WASH services is recommended with several awareness programs to reduce absenteeism and increase students' school regularity.

Keywords: effect, water, sanitation, hygiene, student, absenteeism, Nepal

INTRODUCTION

Absenteeism is one of the major barriers to achieving quality education (Monse et al., 2013). Among school-age children, approximately 75% of all absences are attributed to illness (Kathleen, 2002). Marriage is the most common reason for girls in low- and middle-income countries for quitting school. Dropouts due to marriage range from the 5th to 10th grade, and married girls are 10 times more likely to quit school compared to unmarried girls (Sekine and Hodgkin, 2017). However, illness-related absences have been shown to lead to adverse educational and economic outcomes; for instance, a sick child may fall behind in his or her coursework and suffer academically

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

David Aparisi, University of Alicante, Spain

Reviewed by:

Manoja Kumar Das, INCLEN Trust, India Ranjit Kumar Dehury, University of Hyderabad, India Chet Kant Bhusal, Universal College of Medical Sciences and Teaching Hospital, Nepal

> *Correspondence: Mohan Kumar Sharma dycsharma@gmail.com

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Educational Psychology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Education

Received: 05 February 2022 Accepted: 31 May 2022 Published: 04 August 2022

Citation:

Sharma MK and Adhikari R (2022) Effects of Water, Sanitation, and Hygiene on the School Absenteeism of Basic Level Students in the Government School of Nepal. Front. Educ. 7:869933. doi: 10.3389/feduc.2022.869933

102

(Miller et al., 2008). As hands are a crucial mode of infectious disease transmission among school-going children, hand hygiene with water and soap is critical to reduce illness-related absences (Goldmann, 2021). Moreover, handwashing has been recognized as one of the most cost-effective health interventions to reduce the burden of disease (Bartram and Cairncross, 2010) and as the most effective process that is considered as the key measure to trim down the potential transmission of infection through contact with people and things (Sharma et al., 2022).

Information regarding absenteeism was defined and collected differently in several studies. Its duration was defined as the "number of days absent due to a single cause, with at most 2 days of attendance or a weekend between events and was recorded based on the number of absences due to infectious causes as reported by students, teachers, and parents" (Joshi and Amadi, 2013). The number of absences caused by illness per 100 studentweeks was recorded based on the number of illness-related absences as reported by parents and school records (Talaat et al., 2011) and the number of illness- and non-illness-related absences from both parents and teachers (Nandrupbus and Visitor, 2009). Overall, illness-related absences (Kathleen, 2002), which is largely attributed to respiratory and gastrointestinal infections (Lau et al., 2012).

Grant et al. (2015) concluded that one-third of female students missed at least 1 day of school during their menstrual period. Further, menstruation accounts for only a small proportion of all female absenteeism and does not create a gender gap in absenteeism. An impact study in Nyanza province, Western Kenya, by O'Reilly et al. (2008) concluded that the provision of safe drinking water, handwashing facilities, and hygiene education in primary schools reduced student absenteeism by 35%. A study in the USA by Guinan et al. (2002) showed a reduction in absenteeism following the implementation of the use of hand sanitizers, hygiene education, or a combination of these interventions. The baseline study in Kenya illustrated that fecal contamination of the school environment was high because many schools have few latrines, inadequate water supplies, poor quality of water sources, water storage in containers that permit hands to touch and contaminate the stored water, and a lack of handwashing facilities. The research further revealed that, in addition to impacting school attendance, the burden of diarrheal diseases and parasitic infections harms students' growth, nutritional status, physical activities, cognition, concentration, and school performance.

Several studies have been carried out to access school absenteeism caused by specific illnesses, such as the prevalence of diarrhea, acute respiratory infections (ARI), asthma, headache, and abdominal pain (Saps et al., 2009), and social and physical causes, such as social pressures, family responsibility, poverty, parental occupation, and physical and mental disability (Besculides et al., 2005; Uppal et al., 2010). However, research on the effect of water, sanitation, and hygiene (WASH) services in schools on students' absenteeism is scarce. Therefore, we undertook a causal-comparative study in schools to assess the effect of school-based WASH facilities on students' school absenteeism.

In this study, absenteeism accounts for at least a full day of absenteeism from school. It was not retained if students bunked or left school after half a day even after a class. Furthermore, according to the GoN Flash-I Report 2076 (2019-2020), the promotion rate to the lower basic level (1-5) was 90%, with 89.4% boys and 90.7% girls. The dropout rate was 3.6-4.1% for boys and 3.3% for girls. There was a slightly lower promotion and a slightly high dropout rate for boys compared to girls. Similarly, at the basic upper level (6-8), the promotion and dropout were 92.5% and 3.8%, respectively. A slight difference was noted: boys had a 91.9% and girls had a 93.1% promotion rate. Similarly, boys had a higher dropout rate of 4.1% compared to that of 3.3% for girls. Thus, girls had a higher promotion rate and lower dropout rates at the upper basic level than boys (MoE, 2019). In this context, research is oriented to examine the effect of WASH services on student absenteeism using ex post facto research.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Research Design

This is quantitative research, which applied a nonexperimental *ex post* facto/causal-comparative research design. It was conducted between January and March 2021 in four basic Governmental schools in the Dhanusha and Chitwan districts of Nepal. Each district consists of two schools: one with improved WASH facilities and another without.

The study population constituted the total number of students n = 1,342 from four basic schools studying in grades 6–8 in two districts: Dhanusha and Chitwan of Nepal. The data were collected in person by administering paper-and-pencil survey questionnaires to the students in a single phase.

Sample Size and Sampling Techniques

The sample size was calculated using the standard statistical formula $S = \frac{z^2 \times p \times (1-p)}{a^2}$ for an infinite population (Sharma et al., 2021). So, the calculated sample size was 384; however, to make a more representative sample and minimize sampling errors (Sharma and Adhikari, 2022), the calculated sample size was multiplied by the design effect of two. Hence, the final sample size for this study was 768. These respondents were equally distributed in each stratum: improved and unimproved schools. The intent of this distribution was to obtain optimum results from a larger number of respondents. For the selection of schools, whether they are considered improved or unimproved WASH facilities, the researchers consulted closely with the Education Development Coordination Unit (EDCU) in the study area. In close consultation with the EDCU, we purposively selected two schools: one improved and another without improved WASH facilities from Janakpurdham sub-metropolitan city of Dhanusha and Ratnanagar municipality of Chitwan district in Nepal. Thereafter, it was verified through the researcher's selfobservation based on the Joint Monitoring Program (JMP, 2018) guidelines (Sharma and Adhikari, 2022). Based on the JMP (2018) guidelines, schools are divided into two stratums: improved and without improved WASH facilities. Hence, four schools were purposively selected from the study area. The number of students

was proportionally calculated from each of the grades from 6 to 8 in the selected basic level schools through a stratified sampling method, while students were randomly selected.

Data Collection and Analysis

The researcher collected data using survey research tools from students through the face-to-face method. Absenteeism of at least 1 day was measured. The data were carefully checked, rechecked, coded, and analyzed by applying Statistical Package of Social Science (SPSS) version 25.00. Three types of analysis, viz., univariate, bivariate, and multivariate, were used in this study. The univariate analysis was performed to show the frequency and percentage of the respondents' participation in this study. The bivariate analysis was performed through the Chi-squared test to show the association between two variables (Sharma, 2020), and all variables were entered into the multivariate analysis to show the effect between more than two variables.

Ethical Consideration

Ethical approval was obtained from the Nepal Health Research Council (NHRC), Nepal and 8541-2020 PhD. Initially, written consent was obtained from school authorities like the school administration to conduct this study in the school. Initially, written consent was obtained from school authorities like school administration to conduct this study in the school. In addition, the researcher took written consent from all students over 18 years of age. For those under 18 years of age, assent/consent was received from the school head teacher as she/he is the legal guardian while students are at the school. No incentives, such as money or any goods, were offered to the students, and only those who agreed to be a part of this study voluntarily participated (Van Teijlingen and Hundley, 2001). Confidentiality was maintained by providing a unique code to each of the schools and students instead of their actual identity.

RESULTS

This section depicts students' school absenteeism by background characteristics. In addition, it examines whether there is an association between sociodemographic variables of the respondents; school WASH situations, age, sex, grade, caste, and religion with students' school absenteeism.

Sociodemographic Characteristics of Students

The total sample size of 768 consists of an equal number of students in two groups, i.e., 384 (50%) participated in schools with improved WASH facilities and an equal number participated from schools without improved WASH facilities. **Table 1** shows that the majority (82%) of students aged 10–14 (47%) were from improved school WASH facilities. The largest number of respondents were girls (53%) and 28% were from unimproved school WASH facilities. Respondents fairly equally represented grades six to eight. Brahmin/Chhetri-Hill (29%) and Brahmin/Chhetri-Terai (27%) castes had higher respondents than Dalit (19%), Janajati (16%), and other castes (9%). The improved school had a quarter of Brahmin/Chhetri-Hill and a few (2%) other caste respondents. The majority (20%) of Brahmin/Chhetri-Terai and a few (4%) Brahmin/Chhetri-Hill respondents were found in unimproved school WASH facilities. The majority (82%) were Hindus, fairly equally represented in the improved and unimproved school WASH facilities (**Table 1**). In this study, the non-Hindus consist of Buddhists, Christians, and Muslims.

School Absenteeism by Students' Background Characteristics

Table 2 showed that students in schools with improved WASH services were less likely to be absent (20%) than those in schools without improved school WASH services (42%, p < 0.001). One-third of respondents aged 15–19 years were found to be absent in the school while less than one-third of them (30%) between the ages of 10–14 years were found to be absent in the school, p = 0.517.

Overall, respondents were fairly equally represented from grades six to eight and there was an association between school grade and students' school absenteeism, p < 0.05. There was a strong association between the caste of the respondents and school absenteeism, p < 0.001. Next, the religion of the respondents had a statistical association with students' school absenteeism, p < 0.01.

Logistic Regression Analysis

Table 3 illustrates the prediction of students' school absenteeism based on sociodemographic characteristics through multilevel modeling. As shown in the first model, school WASH services had a statistically significant association with students' school absenteeism. The result depicts that students who came from schools with improved WASH services were more likely to be regular [crude odds ratios (COR) = 0.353; 95% confidence interval (CI); 0.256–0.487, p < 0.001] than those who came from schools without improved school WASH services. In the same way, students' regularity in terms of school attendance was significant even after the inclusion of all sociodemographic characteristics in model 2, and [adjusted odds ratio (AOR) = 0.508; 95% CI; 0.334-0.773, p < 0.01] it increased rapidly after the inclusion of sociodemographic covariates. Furthermore, in model 2, students with Brahmin/Chhetri-Terai (COR = 0.315; 95% CI; 0.153-0.648, p < 0.01) and Dalit identities (AOR = 0.274; 95% CI; 0.139-0.542, p < 0.001), respectively, were more likely to be absent in school than other castes, including Brahmin/Chhetri-Hill, Janajati, and other castes.

DISCUSSION

This study assesses the effects of school WASH services on basic level students' school absenteeism in urban Nepal. This study found that students' school absenteeism was higher in schools that did not have improved WASH services compared to those that had. The findings of this study were similar to those of a study in China, which showed that the school WASH

TABLE 1 | Sociodemographic characteristics of students.

Variables		School W/				
	Impro	Improved		roved	Total	
	n = 384	%	n = 384	%	n = 768	100%
Age group						
10–14	360	46.9	273	35.5	633	82.4
15–19	24	3.1	111	14.5	135	17.6
Sex						
Boys	190	24.7	170	22.1	360	46.9
Girls	194	25.3	214	27.9	214	53.1
Grade/Class						
Grade six	183	23.8	49	6.4	232	30.2
Grade seven	117	15.2	135	17.6	252	32.8
Grade eight	84	10.9	200	26.0	284	37.0
Caste/Ethnicity						
Brahmin/Chhetri-Hill	190	24.7	34	4.4	224	29.2
Brahmin/Chhetri-Terai	54	7.0	152	19.8	206	26.8
Janajati	73	9.5	52	6.8	125	16.3
Dalit	49	6.4	95	12.4	144	18.8
Other castes	18	2.3	51	6.6	69	9.0
Religion						
Non-Hindu	73	9.5	65	8.5	138	18.0
Hindu	311	40.5	319	41.5	630	82.0
Total	384	50.0	384	50.0	768	100

TABLE 2 School absenteeism by students' background characteristics.

		Absenteeism at school			Total		χ2	Р	
		Y	Yes		No		%		
		n	%	n	%				
School WASH situation***	Improved	78	20.3	306	79.7	384	100.0	40.93	0.000
	Unimproved	160	41.7	224	58.3	384	100.0		
Age group	10–14	193	30.5	440	69.5	633	100.0	0.42	0.517
	15–19	45	33.3	90	66.7	135	100.0		
Sex	Boys	111	30.8	249	69.2	360	100.0	0.08	0.930
	Girls	127	31.1	281	68.9	408	100.0		
Grade of the student*	Grade 6	61	26.3	171	73.7	232	100.0	7.08	0.029
	Grade 7	73	29.0	179	71.0	252	100.0		
	Grade 8	104	36.6	180	63.4	284	100.0		
Ethnicity/Caste of the students***	Brahman/Chhetri-Hill	38	17.0	186	83.0	224	100.0	63.81	0.000
	Brahman/Chhetri-Terai	78	37.9	128	62.1	206	100.0		
	Janajati	21	16.8	104	83.2	125	100.0		
	Dalit	68	47.2	76	52.8	144	100.0		
	Other castes	33	47.8	36	52.2	69	100.0		
Religion of the students**	Hindu	199	31.6	431	68.4	630	100.0	16.1	0.001
	Budhhism	7	13.7	44	86.3	51	100.0		
	Muslim	21	51.2	20	48.8	41	100.0		
	Christianity	11	23.9	35	76.1	46	100.0		
Total	-	238	31.0	530	69.0	768	100.0		

*** $p < 0.001, \ ^{**}p < 0.01, \ and \ ^*p < 0.05.$

program reduced the number of missed school days by 54% per year and reduced absenteeism by 42% (Bowen et al., 2007). Another study in Philippines found that school WASH services

reduced school absenteeism by 27% (Bella et al., 2008); in India, a sanitation program helped increase girls' enrolment by one-third and enhanced boys' and girls' academic performance

TABLE 3 | Adjusted odds ratios (AOR) from a multivariate logistic regression assessing school absence by students predicting the school's WASH services and other socio-demographic covariates.

Selected predictors		Model I		Model II		
	cOR	95% CI		aOR	95% CI	
School WASH services						
Without improved	1.00			1.00		
With improved	0.353***	0.256	0.487	0.508**	0.334	0.773
Age group						
10–14				1.00		
15–19				1.481	0.945	2.320
Sex of students						
Boys				1.00		
Girls				1.027	0.740	1.427
Class/Grade of students						
Six				1.00		
Seven				0.839	0.524	1.342
Eight				0.709	0.476	1.056
Caste/Ethnicity						
Brahmin/Chhetri-Hill				1.00		
Brahmin/Chhetri-Terai				0.315**	0.153	0.648
Janajati				0.689	0.359	1.323
Dalit				0.274***	0.139	0.542
Other castes				1.086	0.603	1.892
Religion						
Non-Hindu				1.00		
Hindu				1.068	0.603	1.892
Constant	0.722**			0.858		
Cox & Snell R ²	0.054			0.103		
2 Log likelihood	909.895			868.620		

***p < 0.001 and **p < 0.01. Non-Hindus consist of Buddhists, Christians, and Muslims.

by 25% (United Nations Children's Fund Regional Office for South Asia, 2015). UNICEF highlighted a beneficial effect of hygiene intervention, significantly reducing absenteeism due to infectious causes during and after the intervention (United Nations Children's Fund, 2013).

Additionally, our analysis found that students' school grade, caste, and religion have a significant association with students' school absenteeism. Even among students in the same school WASH facilities, the prevalence of school absenteeism varies as a function of home environment, WASH handling behavior, food consumption behavior, family economic status, and individual and family perception toward the school and education in different caste and religion groups. Further, different interests of students and parents may have contributed to the low attendance rate. In support of the present study, Nandrup-bus and Visitor (2009) concluded that female students were more likely to be absent from school compared to male students in schools with inadequate WASH services. A systematic review by Joshi and Amadi (2013) concluded, in line with the present findings, that school-based WASH programs, especially hygiene facilities and hand hygiene instruction in the school, improved student attendance in public elementary schools during the flu season. Furthermore, the benefits of school WASH services were

more pronounced for girl students. Consistent with the present findings, United Nations Children's Fund (2013) stated that adequate school WASH services significantly reduce students' school absenteeism, especially for girls of menstruating age and that have hygiene-related diseases. The same UNICEF report further noted that WASH in schools promotes equity as all children are entitled equal access to WASH facilities; all children benefit from improved hygiene practices promoted by WASH in schools' activities (United Nations Children's Fund, 2013).

The present study found no strong statistical evidence to support the existing narrative claiming an association between students' age and sex to students' school absenteeism. The research further noted that improved schools are equipped with separate sanitation facilities for girls including menstrual hygiene management (MHM) rooms that have running water and a dustbin for disposal of used sanitary materials. However, other materials required during the period like sanitary materials, hooks for hanging the clothes/table, soap for cleaning, lighting within the room, and healthcare facilities within the schools, were not found. Improved schools are served with some WASH packages, whereas unimproved schools have a fair to poor level of services. Toilets have no running water in unimproved schools; students should bring water outside toilets if they desire to use toilets. Furthermore, toilets are not suitable for the disabled and children, and cleaning materials like brush and toilet cleaners, such as Harpic or detergent, are scarce. Though toilets are separate for girls and boys, no MHM rooms were found in unimproved schools. In addition, there were no fixed handwashing stations in unimproved schools. A study by Sharma et al. (2019) in the Rukum district reported identical findings that almost toilets in all schools had no running water and handwashing facilities with soap, including separate MHM rooms. Due to these inadequacies, most girls avoided using school toilets or avoided even going to the school during the period.

Differently, but in line with the findings of the present study, the US CIVIL Rights and Data Collection (CRDC) 2020–2021 reported that children with disabilities are more likely to have chronic absenteeism than children without disabilities, where sex and age of the children had no role in absenteeism. Similarly, children and youth with special healthcare needs were found to have more school absences than children without (Reuben and Pastor, 2013). In a similar vein to the present findings, Graitcer (2011) and Johnson et al. (2015) concluded that students' health condition is closely associated to absenteeism instead of students' age and sex. Thus, the causes of students' school absenteeism vary depending on the specific communities. However, in line with the findings of this study, there is no sufficient evidence to support the claim that students' age and sex have much to do with absenteeism.

We found evidence that students with Brahmin/Chhetri-Terai and Dalit identities were more absent from school than those from Brahmin/Chhetri-Hill, Janajati, and other castes. In contrast to the present findings, Ranabhat et al. (2019) presented no association between caste/ethnicity and school absenteeism in the Kalikot district of Nepal. However, the same study revealed that disadvantaged Janajati adolescent girls were nearly three times more likely and relatively advantaged Janajatis girls were almost two times more likely to be absent from school during the menstruation period than upper caste groups. The higher proportion of school absenteeism among these groups might be due to poor socioeconomic status and perceptions of education within these ethnic groups.

Limitations and Strengths of This Study

In a truly scientific spirit, we would like to disclose the known limitations of this study. The researcher obtained self-reporting information from the respondents, and the underreporting of school absenteeism by teachers and parents may have an important limitation. Similarly, the incidence of absence was lost based on the socioeconomic status of the family and family structure of the students. Another limitation of this study may be the generalization of the findings obtained in only four schools. A unique strength of this study was that it was an adequate assessment of school-based WASH facilities: with and without improved WASH facilities in 768 students from grades 6–8 in Nepal. We were also able to use a causal-comparative/*ex post* facto research design; controlling for several critical matching variables is important from the nonexperimental designs of this study.

CONCLUSION

This study found that school absenteeism was significantly higher among students who were fortunate to enjoy an improved WASH system. This is true for all sociodemographic characteristics. While the school grade, caste, and religion of students have an association with school absenteeism, the findings underscore the importance of access to WASH services and compulsory instruction and practices of WASH behavior in government schools. Therefore, the school needs to ensure access to WASH services throughout the school day and avail handwashing and sanitation lessons at least one time a month.

DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

The original contributions presented in this study are included in the article/**Supplementary Material**, further inquiries can be directed to the corresponding author.

ETHICS STATEMENT

The studies involving human participants were reviewed and approved by Nepal Health Research Council (NHRC), Nepal. Written informed consent to participate in this study was provided by the participants' legal guardian/next of kin.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

MKS led the manuscript. RA did overall supervision for the research. Both authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

FUNDING

This work was carried out as part of the Ph.D. study of MKS, supported by the UGC, Nepal; Ph.D./075/076-Edu-2, Young.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

We thank the University Grants Commissions (UGC) of Nepal for providing research grants. We further thank all study participants. We would like to thank the management and staff of all four schools in the study area of Nepal for their technical support and for allowing us to conduct this study. Our sincere gratitude also goes to Uttam Gaulee, for his intensive language editing.

SUPPLEMENTARY MATERIAL

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/feduc.2022. 869933/full#supplementary-material

REFERENCES

- Bartram, J., and Cairncross, S. (2010). Hygiene, sanitation, and water: forgotten foundations of health. *PLoS Med* 7:1000367. doi: 10.1371/journal.pmed. 1000367
- Bella, M., Naliponguit, E., Belizario, V., Benzian, H., and van Palenstein Helderman, W. (2008). Essential health care package for children-the 'Fit for School' program in the Philippines. *Int. Dent. J.* 60, 85–93. doi: 10.1922/IDJ_ 2420Monse09
- Besculides, M., Heffernan, R., Mostashari, F., and Weiss, D. (2005). Evaluation of school absenteeism data for early outbreak detection, New York City. BMC Public Health 7:1–7. doi: 10.1186/1471-2458-5-105
- Bowen, A., Ma, H., Ou, J., Billhimer, W., Long, T., Mintz, E., et al. (2007). A clusterrandomized controlled trial evaluating the effect of a handwashing-promotion program in Chinese primary schools. Am. J. Tropologic. Hyg. 76, 1166–1173.
- Goldmann, D. A. (2021). Transmission of infectious diseases in children. *Pediatr. Rev.* 13, 283–293.
- Graitcer, S. B. (2011). Characteristics of patients with oseltamivir-resistant pandemic (H1N1) 2009, United States. *Emerg. Infect. Dis.* 17, 255–257. doi: 10.3201/eid1702.101724
- Grant, M. J., Lioyd, C. B., and Mensch, B. S. (2015). Menstrual and School Absenteeism: Evidence From Rural Malawi. U.S. National Library of Medicine National Institutes of Health.
- Guinan, M., McGuckin, M., and Ali, Y. (2002). The effect of a comprehensive handwashing program on absenteeism in elementary schools. Am. J. Infect. Control 30, 217–220. doi: 10.1067/mic.2002.120366
- JMP. (2018). ANNUAL REPORT. Available online at: https://www.unwater.org/ publication_categories/whounicef-joint-monitoring-programme-for-watersupply-sanitation-hygiene-jmp/ (accessed 2019).
- Johnson, R. C., Boni, G., Barogui, Y., Sopoh, G. E., Houndonougbo, M., Anagonou, E., et al. (2015). Assessment of water, sanitation, and hygiene practices and associated factors in a Buruli ulcer endemic district in Benin (West Africa). *BMC Public Health* 15:801. doi: 10.1186/s12889-015-2154-y
- Joshi, A., and Amadi, C. (2013). Impact of water, sanitation, and hygiene interventions on improving health outcomes among school children. J. Environ. Public Health 2013:984626. doi: 10.1155/2013/984626
- Kathleen, M. (2002). Illness among schoolchildren during influenza season: effect on school absenteeism, parental absenteeism from work, and secondary illness in families. Arch Pediatr. Adolesc. Med. 156, 986–991. doi: 10.1001/archpedi. 156.10.986
- Lau, C. H., Springston, E. E., Sohn, M., Mason, I., Gadola, E., and Damitz, M. (2012). Hand hygiene instruction decreases illness-related absenteeism in elementary schools: a prospective cohort study. *BMC Pediatr.* 12:52.
- Miller, A. C., Seymour, H., King, C., and Herman, T. G. (2008). Loss of seven-up from Drosophila R1/R6 photoreceptors reveals a stochastic fate choice that is normally biased by Notch. *Development* 135, 707–715. doi: 10.1242/dev.016386
- MoE (2019). Sustainable development goal 4: Education 2030. Nepal National Framework. Kathmandu: Ministry of Education, Science and Technology.
- Monse, B., Benzian, H., Naliponguit, E., Belizario, V., Schratz, A., van Palenstein Helderman, W., et al. (2013). The fit for school health outcome study: a longitudinal survey to access health impacts of an integrated school health programme in the Philippines. *BMC Public Health*. 13:256. doi: 10.1186/1471-2458-13-256
- Nandrup-bus, I., and Visitor, H. (2009). Mandatory handwashing in elementary schools reduces absenteeism due to infectious illness among pupils: a pilot intervention study. Am. J. Infect. Control 37, 820–826. doi: 10.1016/j.ajic.2009. 06.012
- O'Reilly, C. E., Freeman, M. C., and Hoekstra, M. R. (2008). The impact of a school-based safe water and hygiene program on knowledge and practices of students and their parents: Nyanza Province, Western Kenya. *Epidemiol. Infect.* 136, 80–91. doi: 10.1017/S0950268807008060

- Ranabhat, D. R., Nepal, S., and REgmi, B. (2019). Menstrual hygiene practice and school absenteeism among rural adolescent girls of Kalikot district. *Nepal Med. Coll. J.* 21, 258–264. doi: 10.3126/nmcj.v21i4.27614
- Reuben, C. A., and Pastor, P. N. (2013). The effect of special health care needs and health status on school functioning. *Disabil. Health J.* 6, 325–332. doi: 10.1016/j.dhjo.2013.03.003
- Saps, M., Seshadri, R., Sztainberg, M., Schaffer, G., Marshall, B. M., and Di Lorenzo, C. (2009). A prospective school-based study of abdominal pain and other common somatic complaints in children. J. Pediatr. 154, 322–326. doi: 10.1016/ j.jpeds.2008.09.047
- Sekine, K., and Hodgkin, M. E. (2017). Effect of child marriage on girls' school dropout in Nepal: analysis of data from the multiple indicator cluster survey 2014. *PloS One* 12:e0180176. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0180176
- Sharma, M. K. (2020). Street children in nepal: causes and health status. J. Health Promot. 8, 129-140. doi: 10.3126/jhp.v8i0.32992
- Sharma, M. K., and Adhikari, R. (2022). Effect of water, sanitation, and hygiene on health status among basic level students' in Nepal. *Environ. Health Inisghts* 16:117863022210950. doi: 10.1177/1178630222109 5030
- Sharma, M. K., Adhikari, R., and van Teijlingen, E. (2022). Handwashing stations in Nepal: role of wealth status in establishing handwashing stations at home. *World Med. Health Policy* 1–16. doi: 10.1002/wmh3.523
- Sharma, M. K., Khanal, S. K., and Adhikari, A. (2019). Menstrual hygiene management among girls in rural schools of rukum Nepal. EC Gynaecol. 8, 962–970.
- Sharma, M. K., Khanal, S. P., Acharya, D., and Acharya, J. (2021). Association between handwashing knowledge and practices among the students in Nepal. *Prithvi Acad. J.* 4, 7–17. doi: 10.3126/paj.v4i0.37005
- Talaat, M., Afifi, S., Dueger, E., El-ashry, N., Marfin, A., and Kandeel, A. (2011). Effects of hand hygiene campaigns on incidence of laboratory-confirmed influenza and absenteeism in schoolchildren, Cairo, Egypt. *Emerg. Infect. Dis.* 17, 619–625. doi: 10.3201/eid1704.101353
- United Nations Children's Fund. (2013). 'Water, Sanitation and Hygiene Annual Report 2015'. New York, NY: UNICEF, 24.
- United Nations Children's Fund Regional Office for South Asia. (2015). 'WASH for School Children: State-of-the-art in Afghanistan, Bangladesh, Bhutan, India, Maldives, Nepal, Pakistan and Sri Lanka', Provisional Draft. Kathmandu: UNICEF ROSA, 9–42.
- Uppal, P., Children, S., Paul, P., Hospital, S., and Vishnubhatla, S. (2010). School absenteeism among children and its correlates: a predictive model for identifying absentees. *Indian Pediatr.* 47, 925–929. doi: 10.1007/s13312-010-0156-5
- Van Teijlingen, E., and Hundley, V. (2001). *The Importance of Pilot Studies, Social Research Update*, ed. N. Gilbert (Guildford: University of Surrey).

Conflict of Interest: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's Note: All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Copyright © 2022 Sharma and Adhikari. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

